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Preface

Financial Statistics is a monthly publication that brings together the key financial and 
monetary statistics of the United Kingdom. This Explanatory Handbook provides background 
notes to the many tables in Financial Statistics, ft explains their purpose, how they are compiled, 
and shows the relationship between tables and provides further references. Together, the two 
publications are major reference documents for people and organisations concerned with the flow 
of investment furxJs, saving media, government Income and expenditure, institutional investment, 
company finance and financial markets generally.

To foster a full appreciation of the value of the financial accounts the Introduction 
places them in the context of the national accounting system as a whole and the diagram on 
page 7 gives a birds-eye view. Although the standardised capital and financial accounts in 
Section 1 are in a sense the cornerstone of the publication, tables in other sections which are 
either derived from the financial accounts or from the current and capital accounts are often more 
useful to those interested in particular sectors of the financial scene.

IN THIS HANDBOOK TABLE NUMBERS RELATE TO THE TABLES AS THEY 
APPEAR IN ISSUE N0.365 FOR SEPTEMBER 1992. Any subsequent changes to table 
numbers, and notes on new tables are included in Supplementary Information section of the 
monthly Financial Statistics publication.

Many of the figures in Financial Statistics are available on the CSO Databank. This is 
a collection of macro-economic time series which is sold to the public in computer-readable form. 
The Databank contains longer runs of data than appear in Financial Statistics, In many cases 
starting in 1963. and the latest figures are available about a week earlier. Details of the service 
are given in the Supplementary Information section of Financial Statistics.

The Central Statistical Office shares responsibility for financial statistics with several 
government departments and in particular the Bank of England, and is very grateful for the help 
given by colleagues in these organisations in preparing this Handbook.

Central Statistical Office 
Great George Street 
London SW1P 3AO
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Introduction
Layout of Handbook

This handbook closely follows the layout of the 
fourteen sections which appear monthly in Financial 
Statistics. Typically, each section opens with general 
Introductory information (including, in the case of 
Sections 2-10, a definition of the coverage of the sector 
of the economy in question). This is followed by 
explanatory notes on each table or, when appropriate, 
each group of tables, numbered as in the September 
1992 issue. Major changes made since the last edition of 
this handbook are sidelined.

These sections follow this introduction which explains 
the relationship between the national accounts and 
financial accounts. Series shown in the summary table at 
the front of Financial Statistics are described in the 
appropriate section. In addition there are two annexes 
covering:

explanatory notes to the supplementary tables 
which appear regularly in Financial Statistics 
a table showing the codes by which the series 
in the financial accounts matrix (table 1.1) may 
be identified in the CSO Databank. (See 
Preface.)

The national accounts
The financial accounts together with the income and 

expenditure accounts are compiled using the principles 
of the national accounts. A broad appreciation of the 
national accounts and their breakdown into sector 
accounts is helpful in gaining an understanding of the 
financial accounts and financial statistics generally. Most 
sector accounts are included in Financial Statistics, but 
the national income and expenditure accounts are not - 
they are found in United Kingdom National Accounts - 
the CSO ‘Blue Book'and in regular features in Economic 
Trends. In spite of their absence from Financial Statistics 
we thought it helpful to include the following general 
outline of the national accounts in this handbook. For a 
more definitive and far more comprehensive description 
of the national accounts it is necessary to refer to United 
Kingdom National Accounts: Sources and Methods 
(HMSO, 1985). For an alternative introduction to the 
national accounting system, The Natbnal Accounts: A 
Short Guide (HMSO, 1981) and the introduction in the 
United Kingdom National Accounts (the Blue Book)
(HMSO, annually) since the 1987 edition are 
recommended.

No discussion or analysis of the nation’s economic 
health can get very far without resort to the national 
accounts, but the layman turning, for instance, to the 
Blue Book’, is often daunted by the apparent complexity 
of the information that he finds there, and is perplexed by 
much of the terminology. For instance, take gross 
domestic product at constant factor cost - one of the 
most frequently quoted statistics. In what sense is it 
gross rather than net? Why domestic product - is national 
product the same? What does product actually mean, 
and what is constant factor cost? This section tries to set 
out in relatively simple terms what such statistics as this 
are actually trying to measure, and to show that the 
system of national accounts is in principle both simple 
and logical. In the process we deal with those parts of 
the national accounts which need to be understood in

order to make proper use of the financial accounts.

Three measurements
The national income can be thought of as the total of 

all Incomes earned by the residents of the United 
Kingdom - whether by way of wages, salaries, profits, 
rent or whatever - from productive activity in a given 
period. By productive activity we mean the production of 
goods, like cars or shirts, and the production of services, 
like bus rides or medical care. We can also arrive at the 
same total figure by two other routes. Firstly by 
aggregating the value added in each industry producing 
goods and services; secondly by adding together all the 
expenditure on final purchases of goods and services 
(i.e. excluding intermediate purchases which are for use 
in productive activity) and deducting imports of goods 
and services and taxes on expenditure, and adding back 
subsidies (the distinction between final and intermediate 
expenditure is explained below). In other words, the total 
value of the nation’s output is equal to

the total of all incomes earned in producing it. 
the sum of the value added in all industries, or 
the total of all spending on the finished or final 
goods and services produced 
less the cost of imports 
less taxes on expenditure 
plus subsidies.

To appreciate what this means, and to understand the 
framework of the national accounts as a whole, we need 
to look in turn at each of these ways of measuring the 
nation’s productive effort.

National income and total domestic income
As already stated, the national income is the sum of 

all incomes of UK residents, whether individual or 
corporate, which are derived from the current production 
of goods and services. Such incomes are termed lactor 
incomes’, being incomes received by the so-called 
■factors of production’ - land, labour and capital goods
i.e. rent, income from employment and profits. Other 
forms of income, like retirement pensions, family 
allowances, cannot be regarded as payments for current 
economic activity. They are described as ‘transfer’ 
incomes, being paid for from the proceeds of, for 
example, national insurance contributions or taxation. In 
other words, they amount to a redistribution of income 
earned from economic activity. Transfers are excluded 
from the calculation of the national Income, for to include 
them would be to count the same income twice.

Again, as already mentioned, the national income of 
the United Kingdom is the income of UK residents. Some 
of this income arises from property held abroad, including 
interest as well as profits earned abroad. In the same 
way some of the income arising in the United Kingdom 
is earned by non-residents. What in practice is done to 
arrive at a figure for national income is to calculate the 
total of all income earned in the United Kingdom by 
residents and non-residents alike (total domestic factor 
incomes), and then add property income from abroad, 
and subtract property income earned here by non
residents. The difference between these two last items is 
net property income from abroad.
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Domestic product and national product
As domestic income is the sum of all incomes from 

productive activity, it can provide a basis for valuing that 
production. For example, the total value of the output of 
a firm making shirts must be income to someone - 
whether to managers, shareholders, employees, 
suppliers or whatever. From this point of view it can be 
seen that the same total is obtained by adding up the 
contribution to domestic product of each producing unit 
In the country. But, as in the case of income, we cannot 
arrive at total domestic product simply by adding up the 
value of production by every industry in the country. To 
do so would be to count the same output more than 
once. For example, if we include in our calculation of 
domestic product not only the total value of the sales of 
suits by a tailor, but also the output of the weaver who 
supplies him with cloth, and the output of the spinner 
who provides the necessary yarn, then we have counted 
the value of the yarn three times over. What we need Is 
a measure of the value added at each stage of 
production. In this sense, the value of the product of the 
weaving industry consists of the value added in the 
process of transforming yarn into cloth, and the value of 
the tailor’s output consists of the further value added by 
turning cloth into suits, ft Is worth noting that, since the 
domestic product includes only the value added within 
the country, it must exclude the value of imported goods 
and services, which are part of the domestic products of 
other countries. Domestic product of course includes 
goods and services exported, also the additions to work 
in progress and goods in stock.

The domestic product is the sum of value added by all 
industries in the United Kingdom and is the counterpart 
of the total of domestic factor incomes. As in the case of 
incomes, the national product is derived by adding net 
income from abroad.

National expenditure
Since the national income is equivalent to the value of 

goods and services which are produced by the economic 
activity of the nation, it can be measured not only as the 
sum of factor incomes, or the total value added in 
production, but also as the sum of expenditure on the 
goods and services produced. Broadly speaking, national 
expenditure can be divided between consumption and 
adding to wealth. Consumption is taken to comprise all 
kinds of current expenditure on goods and services, 
whether by private individuals or by collective bodies, 
including the government. Adding to wealth is taken to 
mean the net additions to the stock of capital assets. 
Assets in this sense comprise both physical assets - the 
stock of factories, machinery, houses and so on - and 
financial assets in the form of holdings of securities and 
other claims, and in the form of currency or bank 
deposits. But every financial asset or claim is necessarily 
a liability of someone else (including currency which is 
regarded as a liability of the issuing authority). Hence, 
within the nation, financial assets must be offset exactly 
by financial liabilities. Adding to wealth, or investment, by 
the nation as a whole thus means net additions to the 
nation’s stock of physical assets together with any net 
addition to the total claims by residents of the nation on 
residents of other nations, in the form of gold, foreign 
exchange, holdings of shares in non-resident enterprises,
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trade credit, etc.
The net addition to claims on non-residents will result 

from the difference between the value of goods and 
sen/ices we sell abroad and those we import and from 
property income earned abroad less property income 
paid abroad.

Just as the national income is not simply the sum of 
all incomes, the national expenditure is not the sum of all 
purchases. It is defined to exclude the transactions that 
occur, for example, when a commodity (yam for weaving) 
or a service (the carriage of yarn from spinner to weaver) 
is sold for the production of a suit. This amounts to 
drawing a distinction between final and intermediate 
purchasers and transactions. The suit is a final product; 
its purchaser, the consumer, is a final purchaser; and his 
purchase from the tailor is a final transaction, and a part 
of final expenditure. The transactions conducted between 
the tailor and the spinner, the spinner and the weaver, 
the weaver and the transporter, and so on, are all 
intermediate purchases reflected in the final price of the 
suit and must be excluded. Thus all purchases of goods 
and services for use in current production and 
subsequent resale are intermediate purchases. Note the 
difference between this treatment from the expenditure 
point of view and the treatment from the product side. 
We calculate total domestic product by summing the 
value added by each industry, but total domestic 
expenditure by summing only final purchases.

There is one exception in the expenditure accounts to 
the exclusion of intermediate transactions: goods added 
to stock and additions to work in progress during the 
period, for example a year, must be regarded as 
additions to wealth within that year, and are accordingly 
treated as final expenditure.

National expenditure is thus another aspect of the 
national income and national product, and in a cbsed 
economy, that is to say, an economy having no 
international trade, the total of all final expenditures - 
total final expenditure - would equal the domestic product 
and would relate to the same collection of final goods 
and services. In these circumstances, too, final 
expenditure would consist solely of final expenditure by 
residents of the nation - total domestic expenditure. In an 
open economy, however, final expenditures also include 
expenditure on goods and services by residents of other 
countries (i.e. expenditure on exports), so that total final 
expenditure comprises not only total domestic 
expenditure but also exports of goods and services. 
Moreover, many final goods and services contain 
imported materials: final expenditure on such goods and 
services therefore generates income and product not 
only in the domestic economy but also in the overseas 
countries from which the imports are bought. Thus total 
final expenditure also equals domestic product plus 
imports of goods and services.

in estimating national expenditure it is not in fact 
practicable to eliminate the import content from each kind 
of expenditure, for example, from consumers’ 
expenditure. The statistics from which the estimates of 
consumption and investment are derived relate to the 
total value of the final goods and services concerned, 
including their import content, and the estimate of 
national expenditure is arrived at by subtracting from this 
total value of final products the total value of imported
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goods and services. Thus, national expenditure is 
calculated from total expenditure by residents of the 
nation on all final goods and services, including their 
import content • in other words total domestic 
expenditure ■ plus exports of goods and services less 
imports of goods and services, plus net property income 
from aibroad. It is identical with the value of goods and 
senrices becoming available as a result of the nation's 
economic activity, and thus with the national income and 
the national product.

In practice there are errors and omissions in the 
measurement of all three approaches to gross domestic 
product. Published GDP as shown in the summary table 
of Financial Statistics is an average of the income, 
expenditure and output measures of gross domestic 
product at current market prices.

Gross versus net national product: 
allowance for capital consumption

The process of production and the passage of time 
involve a gradual using up of the nation’s productive 
assets - its buildings and machinery. This capital 
consumption, or depreciation, should clearly be taken 
into account in calculating the net annual additions to the 
nation's stock of wealth, and should accordingly be 
regarded as a deduction from income, product and 
expenditure - from income and product, because the 
using up of assets is a necessary cost of earning the 
income or producing the output; from expenditure, 
because depreciation of capital represents a reduction in 
national wealth. But the main aggregates are shown 
before deducting depreciation, mainly because estimates 
of ft can be made only on the basis of convention or of 
some arbitrary principle of calculation. The difficulty 
arises from the fact that the cost of using up fixed capital 
cannot be measured directly; K is not represented by 
actual transactions. In business accounting, this 
unrecorded element in current costs of production is met 
by provisions for depreciation. These provisions are 
generally not of the kind needed for national income 
accounts because in the past they have usually been 
made in terms of the original cost of the asset; in other 
words, they provide for the setting aside of the original 
money outlay during the assumed life of the asset. For 
the national accounts the current charge for the use of 
assets must be calculated in terms of current prices - the 
prices, that is, at which other transactions in the accounts 
are measured. Capital consumption allowed for in the 
national accounts should be related to the current value 
of resources used up in production as this is the only 
way both of securing internal consistency between the 
cost of using capital and other current costs of 
production, and of treating consistently the uses of 
different kinds of capital assets. The estimates of capital 
consumption are based on broad assumptions about the 
expected lives of capital assets and their pattern of 
utilisation. Assets are assumed to render their services 
in equal amounts in each year of their life - the 'straight 
line’ basis of depreciation.

What all of this amounts to is that the allowance for 
capital resources used up in production is not a unique 
or readily measurable quantity, and that even if it were, 
estimates of income and product before deducting it 
would still be needed for some purposes. The statistics

accordingly give precedence to measurements of gross 
income, product and expenditure, before making 
allowance for depreciation.

To preserve the true significance of the expressions 
national income, national product and national 
expenditure, the terms used to describe the estimates 
before deduction of capital consumption are national 
income plus depreciation, gross national product and 
gross national expenditure. The estimates after deduction 
of capital consumption are described as national income, 
net national product and net national expenditure. In 
published tables the terms generally used are gross 
national product for the gross concept and national 
income for the net concept.

Stock appreciation
A special problem in measuring additions to the 

national wealth arises when allowing for changes in 
stocks. The concepts adopted for the measurement of 
national income and wealth require a measure of the 
change in stocks valued in the same way as other 
transactions in the system, that is at the prices of the 
period concerned. Business accounting methods, which 
provide most of the statistics actually used for reckoning 
incomes and changes in stocks, adopt a convention 
which results in a rather different valuation in times of 
substantial changes in prices. By this method, profits 
earned by a trading enterprise in a given period are 
calculated by treating stocks taken over from the 
preceding period as a purchase, while stocks handed on 
to the following period are treated as a sale. As a result, 
any increase in the value of stocks between the 
beginning and the end of the period will enter into the 
accounting profit, together with the excess of sales to 
outsiders over the sum of purchases from outsiders, 
payments for labour and depreciation charges. 
Expenditure during the year in purchasing materials is 
allowed as an operating expense, entering the calculation 
of profit only to the extent that the money value of stocks 
and work in progress at the beginning of the year is 
maintained. Any increase in stocks resulting from 
purchases in excess of this will appear as a form of 
investment, in other words, as a use of profits.

If this definition of profit were accepted in national 
income measurement, it would mean that any increase 
over a year in the money value of stocks would be 
treated as adding to wealth, even if the physical volume 
of stocks remained constant or declined. But for a 
measurement of income and stock changes consistent 
with the other flows dealt with in the system of national 
income statistics, it is desirable that additions to wealth 
should include only additions arising from the economic 
activity of the period; any increase in the physical volume 
of stocks should be included, but not an increase in the 
money value of stocks due to a rise in the prices at 
which stocks are valued. The effect of traditional 
accounting methods is that In times of rising prices the 
money value of stocks increases by more than the 
physical volume valued at the prices of the year, and 
book profits thus incorporate an amount which from the 
present point of view must be regarded as a capital gain, 
not as income. The difference is described as stock 
appreciation. In reckoning the national income, product 
and expenditure, the estimated amount of stock
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appreciation is subtracted from the estimate of incomes 
and stock changes derived from accounting data. The 
stock change after this adjustment is described as the 
Value of the physical increase in stocks'. K prices are 
rising, stock appreciation is positive; if prices are falling, 
it is negative. In the sector accounts, consideration of 
stock appreciation is most important in the appropriation 
account of industrial and commercial companies (table 
8.1) where it is distinguished within the figures of gross 
trading profits. See also pages 74 and 75.

Market prices and factor cost
From the point of view of the purchasers, K is most 

appropriate to value the various forms of final output at 
the prices which are actually paid for that output. But, 
notwithstanding the equality between expenditure and 
income, the aggregate value of goods and services 
calculated in this way will not in general be equal to the 
sum of factor incomes arising from production. This is 
because the price paid by the purchaser often includes 
an indirect tax or a subsidy which accrues to, or is paid 
by, the government and cannot be identified with any 
specific goods or services which the government 
provides, or receives, in return.

There are, therefore, two different ways of valuing 
national expenditure and the national product: at market 
prices, including all taxes on expenditure, and excluding 
all subsidies; or at factor cost, representing only the sum 
of the incomes of factors of production.

in the official statistics of the United Kingdom, the 
national product is usually expressed at factor cost. In 
the case of national expenditure, the components are 
shown at market prices (the basis on which the statistics 
are naturally compiled), and total national expenditure at 
factor cost is derived by summing the components in 
terms of market prices and then deducting indirect taxes 
and adding subsidies.

Expenditure and output at constant prices
For many purposes, the comparison of estimates of 

gross domestic product over time is of more interest 
when the effects of changes in prices are eliminated. 
Accordingly, estimates of the gross domestic product and 
its components are made not only in 'current prices’, (the 
prices of the period concerned) but in ‘constant prices’, 
that is to say, the average prices of some selected base 
year. Estimates of gross domestic product at constant 
factor cost or constant market prices in principle show 
the growth of the volume of output over some period. It 
should be noted that most tables in Financial Statistics 
are in current price terms.

Accounts by sector and type of activity
If national income and national expenditure are by 

definition equal, then it follows that the statistics can be 
presented in the form of a balanced account, showing for 
example the various kinds of national expenditure on one 
side of the account and the forms of income on the 
other, the two parts adding to the same total. A natural 
extension of this is to show balanced accounts 
summarising the transactions of particular groups or 
entities within the economy. The principal advantage of 
such a framework is that it displays relationships 
between different parts of the economy and different
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forms of economic activity. The division of the economy 
into sectors is accordingly a primary feature of a national 
accounting system and this is the main emphasis in
Financial Statistics.

The national income and expenditure accounts and 
the financial accounts are organised in terms of a few 
consolidated sectors. In principle, these sectors are 
defined in such a way that economic units in each one 
can be expected to behave in broadly similar ways and 
transactions between the sectors have special economic 
significance. The choice of sector boundaries is crucial, 
for in most presentations flows within sectors are omitted. 
In practice, limitations in the available data restrict, to 
some degree, the definitions used. The detailed 
definitions of sectors are given in the respective sections 
of this publication.

Such a system also requires a method of classifying 
transactions which can be applied consistently to the 
various forms of economic activity. There are two points 
of view from which transactions are classified. First, all 
economic activity can be grouped under three headings: 
production, consumption and adding to wealth. A 
production account records the transactions involved in 
the production and supply of goods and services. A 
consumption account (or income and expenditure 
account) records the current expenditure out of the 
income generated in production or received by transfers. 
An account for adding to wealth (or capital account) 
records the use of savings derived from an income and 
expenditure account.

Secondly, all transactions can be divided between:

payments made for the supply of goods or 
services
other payments, i.e. transfer payments such 
as taxes, grants, gifts, interest and payment 
for the acquisition of financial assets.

Only the first are relevant to the national product. 
Transfer payments to and from abroad affect the national 
disposable income and the balance of payments.

The production account corresponds roughly to the 
trading account of a firm. The main elements on the 
expenditure side are the current costs of production such 
as materials, rent, wages and salaries and so on and the 
receipts side comprises principally the revenue from 
current sales, together with any subsidies received and 
any additions to the value of stocks and work in 
progress. The balance is trading profits. In the United 
Kingdom national accounts a production account is 
compiled for only one sector, public corporations, and is 
found only in the ‘Blue Book’.

The surplus (or trading profit) derived from the 
production account of a trading enterprise is carried into 
its income and expenditure account. In the case of 
corporate enterprises this is described as an 
appropriation account. The receipts of income, both from 
its own production account and from other sources, such 
as investments, are shown as distributed to the 
shareholders, the debt-holders, or in taxes to the 
government. What remains, the undistributed income, is 
the enterprise’s saving. Sectors consisting wholly of 
productive enterprises (the company sector and the 
public corporation sector) show no current purchases of 
goods and services on income and experrditure account
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The system of sector accounts
Table numbers in cells relate to the Septem ber 1992 issue of Financial Statistics

(a) described as a current account
(b) descnbed as appropriation account
(c) holdings of public sector debt (at nominal values) are published annually as Table S l 
((^ sources and users of funds presentation
(e) selected assets and liabilities of groups of institutions only 
(0 selected assets and babHities only

since they are not regarded as final consumers. Their 
spending comprises distribution of income by transfer 
payments of interest and dividends, grants, or taxes. The 
purchases of goods and services of a productive 
enterprise are wholly on production account or capital 
account.

The analogous income and expenditure account of 
persons mostly contains similar items. Income includes 
the trading profits of unincorporated enterprises (income 
from self-employment and rent) and the factor Income of 
employed persons (income from employment), and 
current transfers, mainly grants from the government. 
There is a big difference on the expenditure side 
because persons are final consumers and the bulk of the 
sector's outlay is devoted to consumers’ expenditure. 
Interest payments are much less important and in some 
presentations are not shown as part of expenditure, but 
are netted off from interest income. The other important 
expenditure items are taxes on income and national 
insurance contributions. As in the case of other sectors, 
what remains after accounting for all expenditure is

annual balance sheets
selected assets and liabilities only. A fuller statement of assets and liabilities is given 

annually in United Kingdom Balance o f Payments- Pink Book 
assets defined as 'money (tables 11.1 -11.2,11.4) 
includes building societies

saving, and is carried forward to the capital account. 
(Sectors can of course, spend more than their income in 
some periods and in these cases a negative item, dis
saving, goes to the capital account.)

The sum of the saving of each sector represents the 
total of national saving available for adding to wealth.

The capital account for the nation as a whole shows 
this sum of domestic sectors' saving as a receipt, 
together with any net capital transfers from the rest of the 
world. These total receipts are balanced by spending on 
additions to wealth, both in the form of physical assets 
(fixed assets or stocks) and financial assets, in the form 
of financial claims on the rest of the world. (UK residents’ 
financial claims on each other cancel out as far as the 
nation as a whole is concerned.)

The capital account for each sector shows as receipts 
the savingon its income and expenditure account, capital 
transfers received both from other domestic sectors and 
from overseas and financial liabilities contracted to other 
sectors. This is balanced on the expenditure side by 
capital transfers paid, the increase in the sector's



physical assets and financial assets acquired as claims 
on other sectors. It is often convenient to restrict the 
capital account to the acquisition of physical assets and 
to show only one net Hern for financial assets acquired 
less liabilities contracted. This financial surplus or 
finandal deficit is the balance of capita! receipts over 
capital payments. Financial transactions are then shown 
separately in a financial account. For some sectors both 
capital and financial transactions are also shown in a 
combined account, showing sources and uses of funds 
and in this form of presentation, the intermediate balance 
financial surplus or deficit does not appear.

Conceptually, the sum of the financial surplus or deficit 
by the domestic sectors is equal to the net acquisition of 
financial claims on the rest of the world, although in 
practice estimation errors obscure this equality. Physical 
assets held abroad are regarded as financial assets (in 
the same way as physical assets in the United Kingdom 
owned by non-residents are regarded as financial 
liabilities), and the sum of the net acquisition of financial 
assets for all domestic sectors is then equal in concept 
to net investment abroad.

The financial surplus or deficit is the balance carried 
forward from the sector capital account to the sector 
financial account. Ck)nceptually, the sum of each sector’s 
transactions in financial assets and liabilities is equal to 
this balance. The financial account shows the changes in 
various financial liabilities, such as borrowing and the 
issue of securities and in various financial assets, such 
as loans made, deposits with banks and holdings of 
stocks and shares.

The location of the various types of accounts and 
presentations for each sector is displayed in the previous 
table.

The theoretical relationship between the financial 
accounts and the national accounts can be expressed 
symbolically, as shown in the diagram at the end of the 
Introduction. In practice this has to be modified to take 
account of deficiencies in the available data, which brings 
about a residual error in the national accounts and a 
balancing item in each sector account (see page 24).

Summary analysis by sector
The table opposite summarises the current, capital 

and financial accounts for 1990 appearing in the various 
sector accounts throughout the 'Blue Book’. Three 
groups of transactions - inter-sector transfers, capital 
transfers and financial transactions - balance out to zero 
as they represent transactions between sectors. The 
other Items of income and expenditure which appear in 
the Tofa/column combine to produce the income-based 
and expenditure-based measures of gross domestic 
product at factor cost or market prices. Thus the income- 
based measure at factor cost comprises the sum of the 
first six entries in the total column (see box A). Adding 
taxes on expenditure and deducting subsidies converts 
this to a market price basis. The expenditure-based 
measure of gross domestic product at market prices is 
shown in box B. Deducting taxes on expenditure and 
adding subsidies converts this total to a factor cost basis. 
The estimates of gross national product can be derived 
from gross domestic product by adding net receipts of 
interest, profits and dividends from the rest of the world 
• this appears in the overseas sector column (see box C,

Introduction

with arithmetic signs reversed).
The summary analysis highlights many of the other 

important economic aggregates. It enables the inter
relationships between the economic aggregates to be 
seen. Boxes D and E show personal disposable income 
and personal consumption respectively, both of which 
contain elements contributing to the income and 
expenditure measures of gross domestic product. The 
current balance in the balance of payments accounts 
appears on the saving row in the overseas sector 
column. In the financial accounts the PSBR and money 
supply M4 are shown in boxes F and G respectively.

Balance sheets
The financial transaction accounts on their own give 

only a partial indication of the behaviour of the various 
sectors. In many cases the reasons for financial flows 
between sectors include a desire to alter the composition 
of a balance sheet. For example, a transaction is often 
undertaken to change the owner’s stock of an asset - 
perhaps as a reaction to, for instance, a change in the 
value of that asset - and should be interpreted in that 
light.

The analysis of the flow transactions of a sector in 
these terms requires additional data on the levels or 
stock of Its assets and liabilities. In these terms, the cash 
transactions of a sector over a period will depend not 
only on the amount of new funds flowing in and on such 
influences as actual or anticipated shifts in the relative 
yields of competing investment outlets, but also on the 
overall pattern of the sector’s asset portfolio and of its 
liabilities.

For such analysis we require estimates of the levels of 
Important assets and liabilities for various sectors 
covering not only financial Herns but also physical assets. 
Such comprehensive sector balance sheets need to be 
integrated as far as possible with the cash flow figures in 
the flow of funds accounts by dividing the changes in 
levels between cash flows, changes in market values, 
and other changes (in sector boundaries, for example).

Provisional balance sheets for all sectors of the 
economy, covering both financial Hems and physical 
assets, were first presented in an article by C W 
Pettigrew in November 1900 issue of Economic Trends.

National and sector balance sheets for end-years are 
published in United Kingdom National Accounts (the Blue 
Book). Quarterly estimates of financial assets and 
liabilities of the non-bank private sector are given in 
Financial Statistics chapter 14. Where other figures of 
stocks of financial assets and liabilHies appear in 
Financial Statistics this is shown in the diagram on page 
5.

Quality of data
Among the many series published in Financial 

StatisticsXhe qualHy of the data varies considerably. The 
Handbook endeavours to give for each table or group of 
tables an indication of the reliabilHy of the constHuent 
series. For economic and financial series in general the 
statistical measures of standard errors and variances do 
not apply. For financial transactions, a classification 
based on methods of estimation is used (see Section 1, 
page 25).

Some series (principally foreign exchange rates.
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CURRENT TRANSACTIONS 
Factor Incomes:

Income from employment 
Income from self-employment 
Gross trading profits, etc 
Rent
Imputed charge for capitat consumption 
less slock appreciation

Inter-sector transfers:
Earnings on direct 

investment overseas 
Earnings due abroad 
Dividends and interest:

receipts 
payments 

Taxes on income 
Social security contributions 
Social security benefits 
Community charge 
Other current grants by government:

receipts
payments

Other current transfers: receipts
payments

Royalties and licence fees on oil and 
gas production

Factor cost adjustment:
Taxes on expenditure 
Subsidies

Expenditure:
Consumption
Exports of goods and services 
Imports of goods and services

Balance = Saving^

CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS 
Gross domestic fixed capital formeition 
Value of physical increase in stocks 

and work in progress'*
Taxes on capital 
Other capital transfers:

receipts
payments

Balance = Financial surplus or deficit

Personal
seclor

D
329 806

57 507

34 134
600

-371

160
-128

67 526
-51 197-
-57 370
-36 643
57 578
-8 162

14 189

2 188
-2 544

■367 853

39 422

17 564

FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS 
Notes and coin 
Sterling treasury bills and 

government securities 
National savings and tax instruments 
Issue Department's transactions in 

commercial bills
Other government domestic transactions 
Government overseas transactions 
Local authority debt 
Public corporations' debt 
Deposits with banks:

Sterling sight 
SterTing time 
Foreign currency 

Deposits with building societies 
Bank lending (excluding public sector) 
Other lending 
Trade and retail credrt 
UK and overseas securities and 

unit trust units 
Other domestic mslruments 
Other overseas instruments 
Accrucils adjustments

Total financial transactions

BALANCING ITEM

-1 961 
-26 272 

•66

-3 651 
26 174 

32 
2410

23 207

-5 643

Industrial and 
commercial 
companies

Banks and Other
building fincincia! Public

societies institutions corporations
Central

government
Local Overseas 

authorities seclor TOTAL

80 144 
4919

-2 374

-258

-581

34 191

-10715

19 470 
711

- • - • 329 808
* - * 57 507

3 119 -457 576 - 63 912
607 122 3 599 - 44 092

• 1 650 2 240 - 4 490
•80 • -2 825

13 623 -316 •

-6 764 1 043 •

11 654 133 147 865
-50 465 -105 976 -1 722
-15 707 -1 556 -472

9 665 
•16 340 
75 105 
36 643 
•58 291

962 
-5 409

C i'

s
_  ft

t-13 467
5 849

t
•  i

71 491) 295 310
-64 201 > -295 310

4 894 
59 348 

370
-56

- 713
8 162 • -

47 730 5 230 72 043
-7 801 -4 894 -72 043

- 2 200 4 758
* •1 900 -4 758

581

82 905 
-5 298

118
-580

-74 442 -47 457
135 115 
140 415

83 023 
-5 878

-489 752 
-135 115 
140 415

7 527 2317 -2 241 2 140 6 321 89 677

-23 479 -49 663 •6 179 -3 928 -7 042 -5 131 • •95 442

293 5 169 A -8 -151 5 303
-2 622 -574 -100 - 3 296 - -

3 966 447 m 2 528 2 667
■  > %

-16 -265 • -137 -8 106 -1 084 - t

1 248 772 -14 244 -1 408 6 321 -462

420 37 -166

568 475 -692
2 160 •70 53

• •950 -4
-33 15 -1 113

• - 37
103 -60 -43

-110 - 10

5 501 896 -4 755
581 4 127 7 189

6 -1 2 l7 10 157
i  17 345 1 707 1 -22 253

2 709 
-8

-592
-9

-490
-161
149

5 849
1 433

1 921 
-773 
-160

10 897 
10 439

2 483 
-1 295

•18 856 
26 505

-14 198

8 754 
369 

-853 
-435

3 904

-13 563 
870 
-79

37 959 
-41 164 

7 821 
-1 173

-2 969

3 483

F

-111 -219 •

-81 -7 507 -6
67 -2 202 •

A 1 774
192 -42 990

- 1 032 •

• 1 1 069 -640
114 -115 1

19 -427 -347
657 ■15 -1 682
-75 65 17

6 95 -228
181 - -

-18 -9 019 -9
1 313 -1

42 632 •

-478 710 261

515 -13 856 -1 852

35

4 534

•228

-52 
-9 170 

-14 802 
1 768 

32 459 
-203 
124

-23 119 
24 747 

-10 157

5 249

313 257 -388 444 1 072 -462

1 Figures as published in the 1992 CSO Blue Book.
2 Excluding tax credits. 3 A ^ r  providing for stock appreciation but before providing for additions to 

dividend and tax reserves.
4 A  positive figure indicales a decrease stocks.
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interest rates and security prices) are accurate at the 
time and place at which they are measured, but users 
should remember that they vary at intermediate dates or 
in other markets.

Other publications
Quarterly sector accounts are also published in 

Economic Trends, as supporting tables to the quarterly 
national income article and. in certain cases, in the 
regular tables. Economic Trends also includes 
information on financial transactions.

Sector accounts, including financial accounts and 
balance sheets, for a long run of annual periods are 
published in United Kingdom National Accounts (the

‘Blue Book).
The Bank of England publishes an annual article in the 

Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin each year 
commenting on sector financial transactions in the 
previous year.

As well as presenting UK quarterly sector accounts, 
Financial Statistics includes a range of general financial 
statistics. Most of these are published elsewhere, often 
in more detail, or more quickly. References to these 
other sources are given in the notes to individual tables.

Data in Financial Statistics can be obtained in 
computer readable form via the CSO Databank service, 
and long runs of some financial series are published in 
Economic Trends Annual Supplement (HMSO, 
annually).

W
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Section 1
Financial accounts

The financial accounts set out the transactions in 
financial assets and liabilities which accompany each 
economic sector’s current and capital transactions. They 
provide a statistical framework for the analysis of 
financial transactions and enable those of one sector to 
be directly related to those of other sectors. Many of the 
tables in the remaining sections of Financial Statistics 
provide raw material to compile these accounts.

A summary of the financial accounts is given in table 
1,1. This shows a two-way classification of financial 
transactions, analysing them by type of transaction and 
by sector for the latest quarter for which data are 
available. This makes it possible to relate a sector’s 
transactions in a particular financial instrument to its 
transactions In other instruments and to the transactions 
by other sectors.

The first five lines of table 1.1 are a summary of the 
sectors' capital accounts, starting with each sector’s 
saving from its current account. The table therefore 
provides an outline statistical framework for a complete 
system of accounts, covering the financial and non- 
financial transactions of the different sectors.

The matrix presentation in table 1.1 is necessarily 
restricted to a single time period. Tables 1.2 to 1.12 give 
details of financial transactions of individual sectors for a 
run of periods. Line numbers against types of transaction 
in table 1.1 are repeated in column headings in tables
1.2 to 1.12 to help show how the tables are connected.

A feature of the financial accounts is that transactions 
in a particular financial instrument, or group of 
Instruments, by all sectors sum to zero. The sum across 
sectors for each line in table 1.1, for example, Is zero. 
This is because each purchase of a financial asset or 
lending is matched by another sector’s sale or borrowing. 
Tables which exemplify this principle can be drawn up for 
a run of periods for particular financial instruments. 
Tables 3.5, 3.7 and 3.11 are on these lines for three 
types of central government instrument. Similar tables 
are also given for UK company securities, loans for 
house purchase and SAVE contracts.

An alternative format of each sector’s financial account 
is included in the relevant section of Financial Statistics. 
The relationships between the categories of financial 
transaction in Section 1 and those in other sections are 
set out in the table on page 27.

Use of financial accounts
The financial accounts show how each sector's 

financial transactions are related to its saving and capital 
expenditure and how financial transactions generally are 
related to each other within and between sectors. The 
accounts are therefore a basis for examining the financial 
effects of economic policy and for helping to decide 
future policy. They can be used, for example, to 
investigate factors influencing the money supply or other 
holdings of financial instruments, in particular effects of 
changes in interest rates. They can also help companies 
and others to understand the financial surroundings in 
which they are operating, for example by helping them to 
assess competition in the market for funds.

The figures for financial institutions give details of the 
large amounts which are channelled through them as 
financial intermediaries. The scale of this activity makes

it important to know changes in their sources of funds 
and in how the funds are used, for example, how much 
is used to take up government debt, lent for house 
purchase, purchases of overseas securities, etc. The 
transactions of the financial institutions affect the liquidity, 
current and capital expenditure of other sectors, and the 
financing of the public sector borrowing requirement.

The financial accounts are helpful to anyone who 
wants to link together the mass of otherwise disjointed 
economic and financial developments reported In the 
press. They also help in assessing the relative 
importance of particular kinds of institution and financial 
instrument.

Underpinning these uses, the accounts provide a 
discipline which requires the constituent statistics to be 
defined and compiled consistently. Aggregates within the 
accounts such as the public sector borrowing 
requirement, consumer credit, and measures of the 
money supply are consistent with each other and with all 
the other transactions in the accounts.

The current, capital and financial accounts provide a 
complete set of flow accounts for each sector. In 
principle, flows into and out of each sector should exactly 
balance. In practice, a balancing item is needed, 
reflecting errors and omissions anywhere in the three 
types of account. The sizes of the balancing items and 
their variation from period to period are helpful in 
assessing the quality of the statistics and may indicate 
need for new sources of data or improvements in 
methodology.

Forecasting
The accounts are particularly useful in forecasting, for 

they permit one not onty to discern past relationships 
between economic and financial variables, and 
extrapolate them into the future, but also to assemble the 
various elements of such a forecast in a framework 
which allows them to be tested against each other for 
consistency and plausibility.

The merit of the financial accounts matrix in the 
forecasting process is that it keeps the various elements 
of the forecast in touch with each other and compels the 
forecaster to take explicit numerical account of all the 
implications of a change. For example increased 
borrowing necessary to satisfy a higher public sector 
borrowing requirement must be found from other sectors, 
and the forecast has to allow for funds being made 
available by them. Perhaps they lend less for other 
purposes, in which case the ripples spread even further, 
for the borrowers thus deprived will have to find funds 
elsewhere or cut back their own activities.

Classification of assets
Financial assets have several attributes which can be 

used as a basis for classification. Among these are:

type of instrument, i.e. loan, security, deposit, 
etc.
marketability - possible, e.g. with a listed 
security but nearly impossible with a building 
society deposit
capital certainty - the ability to recover the full 
amount advanced at least In money value



terms
liquidity - the remaining maturity, irredeemable, 
long, medium or short, at the time (as well as 
original maturity * the period for which an 
Instrument is to stand from the time it Is 
created)
terms of payment of Interest - periodicity; 
whether optional, fixed or variable 
terms of repayment of capital - instalment, 
variable or fixed
type of record - registered or unregistered 
issuing sector - the sector for which the claim 
is a liability

It would be helpful to classify on all of these attributes 
but this would mean a very detailed classification, which 
would absorb too many resources, both private and 
public.

The UK classification is based mainly on three criteria 
and then is not fully rigorous. These are the institutional 
sector upon which the asset is a claim (h), the type of 
instrument (a), and the relative degree of liquidity of the 
assets (encompassing the characteristics (b), (c) and (d) 
above). The most liquid assets are notes and coin and 
the least liquid are long-term assets such as loans and 
mortgages. But it is not always easy to decide on the 
relative liquidity of different assets; an asset may have a 
long period to maturity but be a liquid asset in the sense 
that ft is readily marketable, although at some risk of 
capital loss. A classification by issuing sector is 
particularly convenient for financial accounts because 
many assets are the liability of only one sector.

In the UK system, the liquidity detail is Incomplete, 
thus British government securities are not divided 
according to their period of maturity, which varies from 
less than a year to irredeemable. Also, transactions in 
company and overseas securities are not divided 
between debenture, preference shares and ordinary 
shares. Overseas assets are generally classified on a 
sector basis because of their importance in considering 
international capital movements. Liabilities of the three 
components of the public sector are also distinguished in 
order to help to show how the public sector borrowing 
requirement is financed. Even with these limitations, 
nearly forty categories are shown in the financial 
accounts. The main purpose of this amount of detail is to 
provide building blocks for users to adapt to their own 
needs.

Net presentation
The presentation in the financial accounts is 'net’ in 

several respects. This involves some loss of information 
but makes for simpler presentation, and gross data are 
not always available.

First, all transactions within a sector - for example 
between one bank and another, or one person and 
another - are, as far as possible, consolidated; that is 
they are netted out and not included in the accounts. 
Only those transactions crossing sector boundaries are 
recorded. Obviously the greater the aggregation of 
sectors, the fewer transactions are recorded in the 
accounts.

Secondly, the level of aggregation in the classification 
of assets affects the presentation of the accounts. More 
information is revealed if fifty asset categories are

Financial Accounts

identified rather than twenty. In particular, more 
information would be revealed if primary transactions (i.e. 
new issues) were shown separately from secondary 
transactions (i.e. those in existing assets), but virtually no 
data of this kind are available.

Thirdly, for each type of asset identified in the 
accounts, the total shown for each quarter is the net flow 
- i.e. the overall effect of a large number of transactions 
in offsetting directions. For example, in a particular 
quarter the figure in the accounts for deposits by the 
personal sector in building societies might be £500 
million. This net figure summarises a very large number 
of deposits and withdrawal transactions by many 
individuals. Typically it hides the fact that gross flows are 
very much larger I.e. the £500 million could well have 
been the outcome of £2,800 million deposits /ess £2,300 
million withdrawals. It so happens, that for building 
societies’ deposits (and loans) these gross figures are 
available (table 6.8) but this is the exception rather than 
the rule. Other examples where gross figures are. 
available are national savings instruments (table 3.10) 
and Instalment credit granted by retailers (table 9.3). 
Figures of gross flows are rarely available analysed by 
sector and for most types of financial asset gross figures 
are not available at all. Gross data in this sense are not 
particularly important in the case of assets which are 
characterised by large numbers of highly reversible 
transactions, such as for short-term financial assets in 
the money markets. They would be useful when new 
borrowing and redemptions are determined by different 
sets of underlying forces, or in describing the behaviour 
of borrowers.

Lastly, the financial transactions are aaoreoated over 
a period, usually one quarter, and only the outcome of 
many individual transactions during that period is shown. 
For example, large purchases of a particular kind of 
security by sector in the first month of a quarter, followed 
by sales of these securities in the third month are not 
recorded in a quarterly system of accounts.

Sign convention
A sector’s balance on its current and capital accounts,

i.e. its financial surplus or deficit, is matched by the 
balance of its total financial transactions. In Chapter 1 
the convention is to give these balances the same sign. 
Net financial surpluses are shown with positive sign, and 
so are net purchases of assets and net reductions in 
liabilities. Conversely, net financial deficits are negative 
and so are net sales of assets and net Increases in 
liabilities.

Sources and uses of funds
Tables 1.1 to 1.12, do not put any emphasis on the 

distinction between a sector’s transactions in its financial 
liabilities and transactions In Its financial assets. The 
accounts are rearranged In this way In table 7.1 (for 
other financial institutions), table 8.2 (industrial and 
commercial companies) and table 9.2 (personal sector). 
The last two are extended to Include the capital account. 
These tables are described as sources and uses of funds 
accounts. In these tables transactions in liabilities (I.e. 
net borrowing) of the sector are regarded as sources of 
funds, and transactions in assets of the sector (i.e. net 
lending, including Investments In liquid assets) are

BIS

F

fi

s

10



Financial Accounts

e.

regarded as uses of funds.
The terms sources and uses in this presentation are 

somewhat ambiguous. No attempt is made to allow for 
the fact that repayment of borrowing on the sources side 
is actualiy an outflow and that run down of assets on the 
uses side is actually an inflow.

A similar presentation for the banks' sector is shown 
in table 6.2. where transactions are split between 
deposits and lending, and In tables 3.3, 4.3 and 5.3 for 
central government, local authorities and public 
corporations, where transactions are split in broad terms 
between those in financial liabilities (including the 
borrowing requirement) and those in financial assets. The 
relationships between these tables and those in Section 
1 are shown in the table on page 27.

In these presentations, the sign convention used in 
Chapter 1 does not apply to changes in liabilities (ie 
borrowing) which are positive when increasing, negative 
when decreasing.

Valuation
In the UK financial accounts, the object is to value 

each transaction at the price at which the asset is 
exchanged, which means that when an asset is sold, the 
value recorded is the amount received from the sale, and 
when an asset is acquired, the value is the amount paid 
by the purchaser. These recorded transactions are then 
consistent with, for instance, any corresponding changes 
in bank balances. Transactions are thus recorded on a 
cash value basis.

Unrealised capital gains and losses are not recorded 
in the financial accounts, and realised capital gains and 
losses are not distinguished. A person may sell a block 
of shares for £1,000 after having paid, say £900 for them 
at an earlier date and so make a capital gain of £100. 
The financial accounts will record only the cash 
transactions - the purchase of stock for £900, and the 
sale of stock for £1,000. Some unrealised gains and 
losses are included unavoidably because, in a few cases, 
it is not possible to obtain figures for transactions directly 
and estimates are entered as changes in the value of 
holdings. For short-term sterling assets this is not serious 
because their value does not change, or moves only 
within narrow limits. For securities and foreign currency 
items changes in holdings will often be very different 
from the cash transactions. In practice most of the 
figures for securities are reported transactions and 
estimates are made of valuation changes in most foreign 
currency items.^

Timing of transactions
The current, capital and financial accounts are 

intended to be on a common time base. This involves the 
problem of recording transactions between sectors in the 
same account period for both sectors and of recording
accompanying transactions within sector in the same 
account period.

Within sector accounting is, in principle, a double entry 
system with timing arranged as follows. Transactions in 
the current and capita! accounts are generally recorded 
when change of ownership takes place and/or amounts 
become due. These transactions where completed in the 
account period (i.e. payment made) and transactions 
which are entered as payments are accompanied in the

financial account by transfers of bank deposits, notes 
and coin, or other means of settlement. Transactions 
which are not completed in the account period are 
accompanied in the financial account by entries in trade 
credit (for items which derive from the production 
account) or in accruals adjustment (for other items, such 
as interest which has accrued but not yet been paid). 
When these transactions are completed in later time 
periods, the timing adjustments are reversed and the 
amounts included in bank deposits, notes and coin, etc.

Timing consistency therefore depends on consistency 
between measurements of change of ownership, 
payment, timing adjustment and settlement. These span 
a wide range of data sources whose consistency is 
difficult to assess. For example, the financial surplus or 
deficit of industrial and commercial companies includes 
their profit figures derived ultimately from tax 
assessments. Their trade credit entries include data 
drawn from export credit guarantees. Figures for their 
bank deposits are obtained from data provided by banks. 
It is unlikely that these sources will always measure 
associated transactions in the same account period. 
Timing consistency of the trade credit figures, however, 
is overshadowed by their poor coverage.

Bank deposits are measured, in principle, at the time 
cheques are banked, standing orders and giro transfers 
deducted and direct debits credited. When the 
measurement is made, some of these transactions are 
not yet cleared through the banking system and appear 
as 'items in transit’ in the aggregate banks sector 
balance sheet. These are approximately allocated to 
deposits and lending to produce data as though 
clearance had been instantaneous. (On the basis of 
occasional studies, the net excess of debit over credit 
items is allocated to the industrial and commercial 
companies sector; 60% is deducted from its deposits and 
40% added to its advances.) The effect of this, for 
cheque payments for example. Is that receipts in the 
current account are probably recorded a day or two later 
than payments because of postage time and associated 
movements of bank deposits are probably recorded a 
little later again, since not all cheques will be banked on 
the day they are received.

In the financial accounts, transactions in instruments 
other than timing adjustments and means of settlement, 
are recorded broadly when ownership changes, but the 
distinction from when payment is made Is less sharp than 
in the current and capital accounts. Many loans, for 
example, come Into existence only when the amount is 
paid. For many other instruments settlement is quick if 
not instantaneous. Transactions in government securities, 
for example, are settled the following day.

Much of the data for company securities are directly 
reported by 'other financial institutions’. They are asked 
to measure their transactions according to contract date. 
Payments may be awaiting settlement day, so the 
institutions are also asked to report amounts due to or 
from stockbrokers, which are included in the financial 
accounts in miscellaneous domestic instruments and 
which provide the required timing adjustment. _

Timing consistency between sectors is affected by 
similar measurement problems. Where the sources differ 
for accompanying entries they are unlikely to be 
completely consistent. Timing inconsistencies between

11



Financial Accounts

-  EW

§  “

T

measures of income and expenditurejj.onfribute to the 
residual error in the national accounts. Inconsistencies 
between sectors in other items contribute to the 
balancing items of the two sectors immediately 
concerned and of any residual sector. For many entries, 
particularly in the financial accounts, inconsistencies 
between sectors are avoided by estimating both ends of 
a transaction from the same source. For example, 
deposits with building societies are estimated from 
building society data for both the other financial institution 
sector and the personal sector.

Timing discrepancies, can cause distortions in gross 
flows over a shorter (e.g. monthly) account period but are 
less important the longer the account period. They are 
likely to be small compared with gross flows during a 
quarter. This is not always quite so likely for the net flows 
measured in the financial accounts. Timing 
discrepancies, nevertheless, tend to even out over 
successive periods, and care is taken to ensure that 
specific large transactions, such as arise when there is 
a major privatisation, are entered consistently.

Timeliness
Until the end of 1992, the full financial accounts 

appeared in Financial Statistics at the end of the fourth 
month after the quarter concerned, although certain 
sectoral data were published in the third month by means 
of press notices. The accounts are now being finalised 
by the end of the third month. During the early part of 
1993 the publication dates of Financial Statistics are 
being advanced so that the full accounts appear some 
three weeks earlier than in the past.

A general outline of sources and 
methods for the financial accounts

The sources and methods for estimating sector 
transactions in each kind of asset identified in the 
financial accounts are described separately on pages 15 
to 27. However, it is useful first to consider these details 
against a background of general principles, beginning 
with an entirely theoretical ideal system of data collection 
and then explaining how for practical reasons it is 
necessary to depart from this ideal in a number of ways, 
all of which reduce the comprehensiveness and accuracy 
of the accounts.

An ideal system of data collection - involving scarcely 
any estimation and assuming no cost constraints - could 
be envisaged as follows.

The system would be mandatory, quarterly or more 
frequent reporting by every economic unit (including 
every individual person) of details of every financial 
transaction in a period, giving details of the other party to 
the transaction in each case. All reports of these 
transactions would be made to a single central authority, 
which maintained a continually updated register or list of 
all economic units, each classified to a sector. Given the 
full co-operation of respondents the compilation of 
statistics would thus be a gigantic arithmetical operation. 
Because financial accounts are a subsystem within the 
national accounts, it is likely that such a system would 
operate as part of a comprehensive system of data 
collection of details of current account and capital 
investment transactions (including balance of payments

statistics), thus pushing the onus for establishing full 
articulation between various parts of the accounts down
to the level of the reporting unit.

In practice such a system is not feasible because the 
reporting burden and administrative costs would make It 
completely impractical to operate. Nevertheless, 
envisaging such a system provides a useful conceptual 
starting point to discuss problems that arise over 
departures from this ideal system, all of which are at risk 
to increase the size of the balancing items in the 
accounts. A brief list of these departures on the financial 
side (but not on the national income side) is given below, 
together with problems that are likely to arise in each

1. No two-way check.

The ideal system outlined would involve reporting by 
each party to the transaction, thus providing a two-way 
check in each case, and providing an opportunity to 
resolve discrepancies with the economic unit concerned. 
If for a sector there is no direct reporting then one is 
dependent on reporting by counterpart sectors only and 
this check cannot operate.

2. Sampling.

Sampling is usual in some areas and introduces 
errors, particularly where It is not possible to select and 
operate a properly representative sample or to develop 
a good grossing up method. The departure from 100% 
coverage reduces the opportunity to employ a two-way 
check on the individual transactions.

3. Non-coincident periods.

Error arises when economic units report in respect of 
periods which are not exactly coincident with the 
calendar quarters used in the national accounts. This 
tends to occur when reporting units draw up their books 
for dates other than calendar quarter dates and it is not 
possible for them to make returns for the proper dates.

4. Timing errors.

As noted above, timing errors occur - and might do so 
even with our ideal system - when the two parties to a 
financial transaction do not regard their involvement in 
the transaction to be on the same day. This arises, for 
example, as explained earlier, because there is a delay 
between the initiation and completion of transactions 
through the banking system^-Thus at the end of the- 
period there are ‘items in transit'. In some cases, transit 
items are roughly allocated by sector.

5. Inconsistent sector classification.

In cases where reporting units classify other parties to 
financial transactions to sectors there are strong 
possibilities of error; the reporting unit may misclassify 
the counterpart unit because it does not know its correct 
sector or, for example, where funds are borrowed 
through an agent, it is not sure of the counterpart’s 
identity. The fact that the information is then returned in
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Financial Accounts

aggregated form means that the opportunity for checking 
individual transactions is reduced.

6. Non-coverage of some financial transactions.
This occurs when there is no direct reporting from two 

or more sectors, for there is then no means of knowing 
about transactions between these sectors; this is most 
acute In respect of the personal and industrial and 
commercial company sectors. It can also happen in the 
case of direct reporting when respondents are unable to 
give details of certain financial transactions or cannot do 
so without excessive work.

Sources and methods in practice
In setting up a system of financial accounts the first 

source of data for an official statistician Is naturally the 
central government Itself, which can provide information 
on its own transactions and often on the counterpart 
sectors. Generally, information from central government 
records is of high quality, although not ideally suited 
necessarily for use in the national and financial accounts. 
Information for the rest of the public sector is slower and 
less complete; not all public corporations report their 
financial transactions, for example. Much use is made of 
counterpart sources and a number of estimates have 
also to be made.

Another very important source Is the balance of 
payments statistics, which, with a certain amount of 
adjustment and rearrangement, are used in the financial 
accounts (see Overseas sector below).

For those transactions which take place entirely 
between the private domestic sectors, undoubtedly the 
most cost effective way of capturing many of them is to 
send forms to the banks and other financial institutions, 
for them to provide analyses of the sector sources of the 
funds they borrow and receive, the sector recipients of 
the funds they lend and their holdings of different types 
of securities. But these methods do not of course capture 
the transactions that by-pass the financial system, that is 
those between the personal sector and industrial and 
commercial company sector. Transactions in marketable 
securities by those sectors are one example; issuing 
institutions have little or no information about transactions 
in the negotiable securities which they issue, which have 
to be indirectly estimated. Some other transactions 
between these sectors (e.g. trade credit) are left 
unrecorded. All this is because, with the exception of 
some minor enquiries to industrial and commercial 
companies, there are no direct statistical enquiries to 
these sectors that produce results which are 
comprehensive and usable in the financial accounts. For 
a number of reasons published accounts cannot be used 
as a source. For individuals, experience suggests that 
direct enquiries, even sample surveys, on financial flows 
are unlikely to be fruitful in the context of the financial 
accounts. The following is a sector by sector outline 
description of statistical sources; there are more detailed 
descriptions in the notes to Sections 2 to 10.

Central government
Details of financial transactions of central government 

are based on quarterly returns by government 
departments and the accounts of the Treasury. These 
returns are generally supplementary to various detailed

statistics which are available, such as the accounts of the 
Consolidated Fund and National Loans Fund, the 
Estimates, appropriation accounts. Northern Ireland 
government accounts. National Insurance Funds 
accounts. Exchange Equalisation Account (EEA) 
transactions and a host of other mostly minor accounts. 
These accounts are generally prepared annually and 
relate to years ending 31 March. They form the basic 
sources for information on central government 
transactions but few of the figures used in the national 
accounts are readily identifiable in these sources. The 
national Income accounts present the results of a fairly 
elaborate process first of consolidation, to eliminate many 
types of internal transactions, and then of rearrangement. 
But the calendar year figures and quarterly figures are 
derived from the monthly returns mentioned above. For 
the latest year or quarters some figures are based on 
provisional estimates and may be revised later.

Local authorities
The best source of information for local authorities is 

the statutory annual returns for fiscal years which are 
summarised for England In Local Government Financial 
Statistics (there are similar publications for Scotland, 
Wales and Northern Ireland). These have two drawbacks 
however; first, they do not provide calendar year or 
quarterly data and secondly they are returned well in 
arrears. To make estimates for quarters and the most 
recent periods, special quarterly returns have been 
established. Loans to other local authorities are netted 
out in the local authority accounts. Figures for direct 
transactions with central government, for example loans 
from central government, are taken from the central 
government account. Changes in bank deposits are 
obtained from figures supplied in returns from the banks 
sector (see Banks sector below).

Public corporations
A certain amount of information is available from 

published accounts but these do not provide data for 
quarters or the latest periods, so quarterly returns from 
the larger public corporations have been established to 
cover their financial transactions. Other information in the 
public corporation account comes from counterpart 
sources e.g. central government loans from central 
government accounts and bank advances and changes 
in bank deposits from information supplied in returns by 
the banks sector. Statistics of borrowing under the 
exchange cover scheme are derived from administrative 
records maintained for the scheme in the Treasury and 
from Bank of England data on the Exchange Equalisation 
Account.

Banks sector
Statistics of assets and liabilities of the banks sector 

are compiled by the Bank of England from returns made 
by recognised banks and licensed deposit-taking 
institutions. The returns provide details of assets and 
liabilities at the end of calendar quarters, including sector 
analyses of deposits and of advances and loans. An 
extensive reform of banking statistics was implemented 
in 1975, the sector was enlarged at the end of 1981. A 
further extensive review was implemented in 1982 and 
one is currently being implemented for 1992/93.
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Building societies
Data for building societies are compiled from quarterly 

returns to the Building Societies Commission and the 
Bank of England.

Other financial institutions
Figures of transactions in financial assets and liabilities 

by the main groups of other financial institutions are 
compiled from returns of their financial activities and from 
returns of UK banks.

Industrial and commercial companies
The Central Statistical Office Financial and Liabilities 

Survey (formerly The Survey of company liquidity) (see 
table 8.6), is restricted to a selection of large companies 
but the results are used for the financial accounts where 
no better information is available. Direct returns on some 
overseas financial transactions received for the balance 
of payments accounts are used in the financial accounts 
and retailers report their instalment credit lending. An 
alternative direct source is the published company 
accounts. Until 1991 these were analysed and 
aggregated by the Central Statistical Office and the 
results published in Business Monitor MA3. There are 
problems to using this source for the financial accounts; 
for example the mixture of accounting years, the 
inclusion of overseas branches and subsidiaries, the lack 
of detail on transactions in financial assets, and the lack 
of timeliness.

Personal sector
No direct returns are received from the personal sector 

and estimates of its financial transactions are generally 
based either on information provided by other sectors or 
on assumptions about the sectoral distribution of 
particular financial assets. Details of how the estimates 
are made are given later in this section, which describes 
how estimates are made for each asset. There seems 
little prospect of introducing direct sources of information 
on financial transactions by the personal sector as a 
whole. Sample surveys of households asking about their 
transactions are costly and not very reliable; one difficulty 
is the need to include a relatively large number of 
households in the higher income groups. Furthermore the 
personal sector includes various other bodies such as 
universities and charities. Figures are obtained on assets 
and liabilities held by persons from the administration of 
capital transfer tax and capital gains tax by Inland 
Revenue, but for various reasons they are not suitable 
for estimating transactions over a period.

Overseas sector
The items appearing in the financial account for the 

overseas sector are mainly taken from the balance of 
payments capital account described in Section 10, and 
set out in detail In the annual 'Pink Book - United 
Kingdom Balance of Payments. A substantial part of this 
account is compiled from sources used for other sectors’ 
accounts also, namely the banking statistics, statistical 
inquiries to other financial institutions and central 
government records together with information available 
within the Bank of England on various other official 
transactions. Other statistics, specifically required for 
balance of payments purposes, are derived from inquiries

into the overseas direct investment of companies (with 
separate inquiries to oil companies); inquiries into 
international portfolio investment transactions by dealers 
in securities; various sources of international trade credit 
information including the Export Credits Guarantee 
Department, public corporations and companies; data on 
United Kingdom non-banks' transactions with banks 
overseas, available from the IMF. A reconciliation 
between the financial accounts and the balance of 
payments accounts is published as a supplementary 
table and last appeared, with figures for 1991, in the 
September 1992 issue of Financial Statistics.

Table 1.1
Transactions in financial assets

This table presents financial transactions analysed in 
matrix format by type of financial asset. The sum of each 
sector’s transactions over all financial assets is shown in 
the line total financial transactions and the arithmetical 
difference between it and the sector's financial surplus or 
deficit, as measured from the current and capital 
accounts, is described as the balancing item. The nature 
of the unidentified transactions is discussed separately 
on page 23 and in the diagram on page 24.

The list of assets running in rows down the page is 
ordered first generally by liability sector, beginning with 
those financing the public sector borrowing requirement 
(lines 6 to 21 of the matrix) and secondly broadly from 
the more liquid to the less liquid assets.

As the financial assets are classified in uniform way 
for each sector, it is possible to relate the acquisition of 
a particular financial asset by one sector to the 
associated changes in the assets and liabilities of each 
of the other sectors. Financial accounts time series for 
each of the sectors are given In tables 1.2 to 1.12. An 
overall guide to reliability of the estimates is given on 
page 25.

Annex 2 gives the four digit identifiers for table 1.1. 
Similar codes appear on all tables in Financial Statistics, 
showing the relationships between the series and 
enabling ease of reference.

Tables 1.2 to 1.12
Sector financial accounts

These tables are concerned with each of the nine 
sectors Identified in the matrix table 1.1, which presents 
the various financial transactions in the form of time 
series. There are also extra tables for the public sector 
and financial companies and institutions sector as a 
whole. The tables provide a summary of each sector’s 
financial activities over time. The asset categories are 
consistent with the matrix and are broadly comparable 
from one table to another, though more detail is shown 
for individual financial Instruments where the transactions 
are particularly important to the sector. The line numbers 
in the matrix are repeated in the headings of the time 
series tables to show how the asset categories 
correspond.
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Tables 1.1 to 1.12
Scope of headings: by line of
matrix

In the notes which follow, the number in each heading 
relates to the line of the matrix. Some information about 
the reliability of estimates Is included in the notes, but an 
overall guide to reliability is shown on page 25.

6 Notes and coin
Because the issue department of the Bank of England 

is classified as part of central government, the issue of 
Bank of England notes is a source of finance for the 
central government, as Is the issue of coin by the 
Treasury. The figures for the central government relate 
to net issues of notes and coin less changes in the 
amounts held by the Bank of England banking 
department, the latter being included in the item net 
government indebtedness to the banking department, 
described on page 16.

The figures for public corporations mainly reflect 
working balances held by the Post Office. The figures for 
the banks sector (which here excludes the Bank of 
England banking department as far as issue department 
notes are concerned) relate to changes in its holdings of 
notes and coin less changes in notes issued by the 
Scottish and Northern Ireland banks plus changes in 
banks' holdings of Scottish and Northern Ireland bank 
notes. The figures for the overseas sector are estimated 
from balance of payments data.

One special adjustment allows for the fact that the 
amount of notes and coin held by companies is high 
Thursday and the amount held by persons is high on 
Fridays. In addition to these day-of-week adjustments, 
another adjustment reflectsthe build up of persons' notes 
and coin over the Easter period. There are no figures as 
yet for local authorities.

7 Sterling Treasury bills
These comprise sterling marketable Treasury bills 

other than those held by the National Debt 
Commissioners, the Exchange Equalisation Account, 
central government departments and the Bank of 
England. The counterpart of most transactions between 
central banks in support of the reserves in the form of 
swaps against sterling is included in other government 
debt to overseas. Bills held by the Bank of England as 
the sterling counterpart of foreign currency deposits 
arising from central bank assistance are excluded, but 
the foreign currency deposits are included in government 
foreign currency debt

Net sales by central government constitute the 
increase in sterling market Treasury bills outstanding. 
Information is available about transactions by local 
authorities, public corporations, banks, building societies, 
other financial institutions and non-residents. The figures 
for the overseas sector exclude the sterling counterpart 
of inter-central bank swap transactions. Holdings by the 
personal sector are known to be relatively small. The 
industrial and commercial companies sector has in the 
past been regarded as the residua! sector for this 
financial instrument. However, the new Financial Assets 
and Uabilrties survey of industrial and commercial 
companies is now used as a source and the residual is

spread between the overseas sector (to allow for direct, 
rather than custodial, holdings) and other financial 
institutions (in respect of non-reporting institutions).

The reliability of total net official sales is graded A. 
Local authority transactions are graded B, though they 
are generally zero. Because the coverage is incomplete 
public corporations are graded C. Other financial 
institutions are graded C because the figures for private 
sector pension funds are based on an unrepresentative 
sample and many of the less important groups of 
institutions are not yet covered by returns.

8 British government securities
These comprise British government securities and 

sterling government-guaranteed marketable securities of 
nationalised industries. The figures for central 
government sales comprise total cash issues less 
redemptions, (including the purchases by government 
sinking funds) and less net purchases by the Bank of 
England and the National Debt Commissioners. (Net 
purchases by the banking department of the Bank of 
England are included in the deduction since they are 
brought in at line 11 of the matrix net government 
indebtedness to the banking department.) The figures for 
the rest of the public sector comprise identified 
purchases by public corporations and local 
authorities.Issues and redemptions analysed by individual 
stocks are shown In table 3.6; an analysis of net 
purchases by maturity and by sector is shown in table 
3.5.

The figures for the banks’ sector and for other financial 
institutions are derived from the quarterly returns made 
by each of the various groups of Institutions. Figures for 
industrial and commercial companies are grossed-up 
estimates based on changes in holdings (at book value) 
reported by large companies in the Central Statistical 
Office’s Financial Assets and Liability survey, and 
previously the Survey of Company Liquidity (see table 
8.6). The figures for the overseas sector come from 
balance of payments statistics. Adjustments are made 
when necessary to convert the figures of external 
liabilities from a nominal to a cash transactions basis. 
The residual difference between government net sales 
and identified transactions of other sectors is attributed 
to the personal sector.

The reliability grading of net official sales is A; the 
figures for local authority, banks and other financial 
institutions are based on surveys and are graded B; the 
less complete figures for public corporations are graded 
C.

9 National savings
This Is defined in the same way 

comprises the following items:
in table 3.4 and

Deposits Changes in outstanding deposits, 
including estimated accrued interest, with the 
ordinary departments of the National Savings 
Bank, the NSB investment account from 
January 1981 and Trustee savings banks up 
to third quarter 1979. Note: The deposits with 
the NSB investment account up to December 
1980, the new department of the Trustee 
savings banks up to third quarter 1979



and the whole of the Trustee savings 
banks from fourth quarter 1979 to the 
end of 1981, when they joined the banks' 
sector are included under deposits with 
other financial institutions.
Certificates and bonds. Net sales or 
repayments of income bonds, deposit bonds, 
premium savings bonds, British savings bonds 
(removed from sale on 31 December 1979), 
national savings stamps, gift tokens, national 
savings certificates SAVE contracts and Yearly 
plan agreements, plus increase in accrued 
interest and index-linked increase on national 
savings certificates, deposit bonds, SAVE 
contracts and Yearly plan agreements. Ulster 
savings certificates are included under 
Northern Ireland central government debt.

Most national savings instruments are treated as 
financial claims by the personal sector on the central 
government, but National Savings Bank investment 
accounts, income bonds and deposits bonds are also 
taken up by other sectors, in particular other financial 
institutions and industrial and commercial companies. 
Figures for public corporations are included from second 
quarter 1982 which reflect changes in the working 
balance held by the Post Office on account of its national 
savings business.

More detailed national savings figures are shown in 
tables 3.9 and 3.10.

10 Tax instruments
These are certificates of tax deposit and, in earlier 

periods, tax reserve certificates, and tax deposit 
accounts. An analysis of issues and surrenders is shown 
in table 3,11. Transactions not identified by sector are 
entered under industrial and commercial companies. For 
further information see the notes to table 3.11.

11 Net government indebtedness to the 
banking department

All transactions between the central government and 
the Bank of England banking department, which is 
included in the banks sector, are recorded under this 
heading. The central government debt held by the 
banking department includes ways and means advances. 
Bank of England notes, tax instruments, British 
government and government-guaranteed securities. 
Treasury bills and Treasury interest-free notes. Netted off 
against these instruments are changes in Paymaster 
General and National Loans Fund deposits with the 
department, including money market balances held by 
the NLF under Section 12 of the National Loans Act.

12 Northern Ireland central government debt
This Item consists of transactions in Northern Ireland 

government securities. Northern Ireland treasury bills, 
Ulster savings certificates and Ulster development bonds, 
together with bank and savings bank advances to the 
Northern Ireland central government. Northern Ireland 
borrowing from the European Investment Bank, however, 
is Included in government foreign currency debt. 
Transactions other than those identified as by financial 
institutions are allocated to industrial and commercial
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companies (Treasury bills) or the personal sector.

13 Government liabilities under the 
exchange cover scheme

Repayments of foreign currency borrowing under the 
exchange cover scheme are recorded at current 
conversion rates, as are the corresponding transactions 
in the official resen/es. However, the local authorities and 
public corporations which make the repayments purchase 
the foreign currency from the Exchange Equalisation 
Account at the original conversion rates. The difference 
between the repayment and the actual cost to the 
authorities and corporations is entered as a change in 
central government liabilities under the scheme. A more 
detailed description of the scheme is given on page 93.

14.1 Other public sector financing; non- 
marketable government debt

Various central government liabilities, namely ways 
and means advances by the National Coal Board (up to 
fourth quarter 1980), the National Savings Bank 
Investment account, repayments by the Fund for the 
Banks for Savings to the Trustee savings banks, and 
deposits by public corporations with the National Loans 
Fund and the Paymaster General.

14.2 Other public sector financing: short
term assets

For local authorities, from second quarter 1979, the 
figures comprise short-term assets other than Treasury 
bills as measured by the financial inquiry to local 
authorities. The results of this are shown in table 4.8. 
Before second quarter 1979 only figures for local 
authorities’ short-term assets with some other financial 
institutions are included, as measured by inquiries to 
these institutions. For public corporations the figures 
comprise transactions in commercial bills and overseas 
short-term assets Identified by the inquiry to nationalised 
industries and some other public corporations. There is 
no central government component in this series.

15 Issue department’s transactions in bills, 
etc.

Market purchases and sales of commercial bills and 
shipbuilding credit promissory notes by the issue 
department of the Bank of England are treated as 
increases or decreases in central government claims on 
industrial and commercial companies. Also included 
(formerly in line 17) are transactions in Export Credits 
Guarantee Department backed promissory notes which 
are treated as central government claims on the 
overseas sector. These transactions are broadly matched 
by reductions or increases in banks' claims on 
companies or overseas, which are included against bank 
lending.

16 Government foreign currency debt
Includes foreign currency borrowing by HM 

government from UK banks and under bank euro-dollar 
facilities from governments and central monetary 
authorities abroad (including foreign currency deposits), 
issues and redemptions of British government foreign 
currency bonds, net issues of treasury bills denominated
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■ S i t  .



Financial Accounts

under the

■ non-

*ty ways 
rd [up to 
s Bank 
for the 

Iks. and 
Loans

short-

179, the 
reasury
0 local 
}le 4.8.
1 local 
nandat 
iries to 
figures 
'erseas 
lalised 
here is

Is and 
issue 

ed as 
ms on 
eluded
jredits
v̂ ich
n the
Itched 
IS on 
[bank

in ECU’s, drawings from the IMF and borrowing by the 
Northern Ireland central government from the European 
Investment Bank under the exchange cover scheme.

17 Other government overseas financing
Covers all central government transactions with 

overseas not elsewhere Included (n.e.i.), which finance 
the CGBR, such as sterling borrowing from governments 
or from central monetary authorities in the form of 
assistance with a sterling counterpart invested in 
Treasury bills (aid bills), amounts swapped forward into 
later months against sterling with overseas monetary 
authorities in 1971 and 1972, transfers from the 
Government’s dollar portfolio into the reserves, gold 
subscriptions to the IMF, changes in IMF holdings of 
non-interest bearing notes other than those arising from 
drawings or subscriptions, allocation of SDRs, the 
Exchange Equalisation Account’s loss on forward 
commitments entered into before devaluation in 1967 
and part of Official short-term capital transactions in the 
balance of payments.

18 Official reserves
Transactions In gold and convertible currencies and 

IMF Special Drawing Rights by the Exchange 
Equalisation Account (a central government account) 
together with, from July 1972, changes in the UK reserve 
position in the IMF. From July 1979 reserve holdings 
include european currency units (ECU) acquired from 
swaps with the European Monetary Co-operation Fund. 
From 23 August 1971, total official reserves are valued 
In sterling at end-period market rates of exchange; 
therefore from the third quarter of 1971 the sterling 
valuation of the transactions is not the same as the 
difference between the opening and closing levels.

Table 10.3 shows the composition of official reserves 
and the relationship between figures for holdings and the 
transactions figures used in the financial accounts and 
the balance of payments.

19 Local authority debt
The figures relate to all borrowing by local authorities. 

Borrowing in total is taken from returns made quarterly 
by local authorities in the United Kingdom (see notes to 
tables 4.4-4.8), and this is sectorised by using a 
combination of local authority and counterpart sources, 
with borrowing from persons the residual category. Local 
authority debt is divided between:

temporary borrowing, which covers money 
originally borrowed for less than twelve 
months, including borrowing on bills, bank 
overdrafts and longer-term borrowing 
repayable within one year by invoking a break 
clause;
foreign currency borrowing, directly from 
overseas and from UK banks, both under the 
exchange cover scheme and non-guaranteed 
borrowing, including bonds; 
sterling securities, which are stocks and
sterling negotiable bonds listed on the Stock 
Exchange;
other sterling debt, which includes borrowing 
from local authority pension funds, ‘over-the- 
counter’ bonds, mortgages, syndicated loans

and borrowing from the Public Works 
Loan Board.

Borrowing from central government mainly comprises 
long-term loans by the Public Works Loan Board and 
transactions in local authority bills, temporary deposits 
and sterling securities by the Bank of England issue 
department and, through the National Debt 
Commissioners, certain central government funds, 
particularly the National Insurance Fund. The figures are 
taken from central government accounts.

Borrowing from public corporations - mainly temporary 
deposits - is that identified by local authorities, 
supplemented by certain additional transactions identified 
by public corporations. A correction is also made up to 
fourth quarter 1981, to include temporary deposits made 
by public corporations through the agency of monetary 
sector institutions, thought to be classified by local 
authorities as borrowing from banks.

Local authority debt acquired by the banks’ sector 
comprises overdrafts, market loans and advances plus 
the sector's acquisition of local authority bills and of listed 
securities. The figures are based on returns provided by 
banks. In the matrix table 1.1 the figure for temporary 
debt is built up from: temporary debt (other than bills) ’ 
obtained from the local authorities’ returns; and local 
authority bills identified from the banks’ sector returns; 
with a correction complementing the one described in the 
previous paragraph for misreported public corporation 
deposits. Figures for sterling securities are taken from 
banks returns and figures for foreign currency borrowing 
from banks and central government accounts. 
Transactions In other longer term debt are a residual.

Statistics of lending by other financial institutions are 
taken from their returns and include loans by local 
authorities' superannuation funds. Figures of temporary 
and other long-term borrowing from Industrial and 
commercial companies are those identified by local 
authorities on their returns. Figures are not available for 
transactions In bills and listed securities by industrial and 
companies.

Transactions in local authority debt by the overseas 
sector are from balance of payments sources. They are 
included in the balance of payments accounts under 
Overseas portfolio investment in UK and Other external 
liabilities of general government (table 10.2.)

The residual between total net borrowing as reported 
on the local authorities returns and identified borrowing 
by other sectors is allocated to the personal sector. A 
separate temporary borrowing figure is estimate, also by 
residual. The take-up of foreign currency debt by the 
non-bank private sector is allocated to other financial 
institutions. Figures for transactions in listed securities by 
persons are not available. Persons’ transactions in other 
longer-term debt are also calculated by residual.

In general, the sector splits should be treated with 
caution. For instance local authorities may enter 
borrowing from companies under banks when these are 
investments of funds by corporate clients of the banks.

20.1 Public corporations’ foreign currency 
debt

Corporations’ borrowing in foreign currencies from UK 
banks and from banks etc. overseas, both under the 
exchange cover scheme, including foreign currency
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bonds and bills, and non-guaranteed borrowing.

20.2 Public corporations’ sterling debt
Consists of central government lending to public 

corporations (which includes net issues of public dividend 
capital), government-guaranteed stock (redemption), 
other sterling stock issues less redemptions and other 
sterling borrowing, i.e. borrowing in sterling from banks 
and overseas, including loans to finance imports (but not 
other trade credit), borrowing from pension funds and 
certain other borrowing from persons, industrial and 
commercial companies and local authorities.

21 Deposits with banks
These are all deposits held with institutions classified 

to the banks sector (briefly referred to as 'banks', but 
from 1982 including recognised banks, licensed deposit 
takers and certain other institutions). The figures include:

deposits with the Bank of England banking 
department, other than from banks (inter- 
sector deposits) and the balances of the 
National Loans Fund and Paymaster General 
(included in net government indebtedness to 
the Bank of England banking department); 
deposits from overseas offices of banks; 
certificates of deposit, commercial paper, 
promissory notes, bills and other short-term 
negotiable paper issued by banks in both 
sterling and foreign currency: 
inter-bank difference (sterling and foreign 
currency).

They exclude the institutions' share capital, internal 
funds and all transactions between the institutions. The 
increase in the banks' liability to other sectors Is 
measured as the increase in other sectors’ deposits with 
the sector less 60% of the increase in debit items less 
credit items in transit (see notes to Section 6). The 
adjustment for items in transit has been assigned to 
industrial and commercial companies sterling sight 
deposits as it is believed that most of the changes in the 
figures arise from transactions between these 
companies.

Figures are compiled by the Bank of England from 
returns provided by the institutions classified to the sector 
since 1963. Only from third quarter 1975 are figures 
available and shown separately for sterling sight 
deposits, sterling time deposits and foreign currency 
deposits.

Net issues of sterling certificates of deposit are 
obtained from returns by banks. Transactions in the 
certificates are reported by local authorities, public 
corporations and other financial institutions. Transactions 
by the overseas sector are obtained from balance of 
payments sources. The residual is allocated to industrial 
and commercial companies.

Net issues of foreign currency certificates of deposit 
are also obtained from returns by banks. Transactions In 
foreign currency certificates are obtained from returns by 
some public corporations, other financial institutions and 
some industrial and commercial companies operating in 
the secondary market, with the residual allocated to the 
overseas sector. The foreign currency Inter-bank

difference (see page 57 misclassified accounts) is 
attributed to overseas and OF[ on an 85:15 split starting 
in 84q1.

The deposits series used in the financial accounts are 
consistent with the series included in Section 6 (which 
shows further analyses of bank deposits) and Section 11 
(which shows the deposits as part of the various 
measures of the money stock). The only exception is that 
certain public sector deposits placed on the Inter-bank 
money market between 1975 and 1978 have been 
excluded from the measures of money stock in Section 
11.

The reliability grading would be B throughout, but 
sterling sight deposits are graded C because of the 
somewhat arbitrary allocation of items in transit, and the 
difficulty of allocating certificates of deposit between 
sectors. Deposits in foreign currency are graded C 
because of the need to estimate an adjustment to 
exclude valuation changes from changes in the levels of 
these deposits.

22 Deposits with building societies
This comprises shares, deposits and (from 1969) 

receipts under SAVE contracts on which building 
societies pay interest net of tax (i.e. 'retail' deposits) plus 
certificates of deposit (from second quarter 1983) and 
time deposits (from fourth quarter 1983) on which the 
societies pay interest gross of tax (i.e. “wholesale’ 
deposits), less public sector transactions which are 
removed from this line and included in other public sector 
financing: short-term assets (line 14.2). The retail 
deposits include interest credited to depositors’ accounts. 
Also included are commercial paper and other short-term 
paper issued by building societies. The figures do not 
include building society negotiable bonds, which are 
included in UK company securities (matrix line 31).

The figures are based on a system of returns from the 
societies operated by the Building Societies Commission. 
(See notes to tables 6.8 and 6.9.) Banks transactions in 
certificates of deposit and time deposits, however, are 
taken from banks returns and the remaining transactions 
in these Instruments allocated to the Industrial and 
commercial companies sector because the available 
information suggests that transactions by other sectors 
are negligible.

The figures can be reconciled with the sector analysis 
of retail and wholesale deposits shown in table 6.9 by 
removing the public sector element from the analysis. 
The figures are consistent with those in table 6.8 and 
6.9, but table 6.8 Includes only retail deposits and the 
wholesale deposits in table 6.9 include the public sector 
element.

23 Deposits with other financial institutions
This line is no longer applicable since only banks are 

now licenced to take deposits.
Earlier figures comprise:

deposits with finance houses and other 
consumer credit companies (to the end of 
1981, when institutions which did not join the 
banks’ sector ceased taking deposits). 
Deposits from banks and bills discounted with 
banks were never included in this item but in
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bank lending; other finance house 
borrowing Is included in miscellaneous 
domestic instn/ments. The figures were 
based on the returns to the Central 
Statistical Office by the larger finance 
houses and a selection of the smaller 
ones, which accounted for about nine- 
tenths of the business of all hire 
purchase finance companies, to which 
estimates were added for companies not 
making returns. See notes to table 7.4. 
deposits with savings banks. This Includes 
deposits and accrued interest with the National 
Savings Bank investment account (up to the 
end of 1980, when It was reclassified to the 
central government sector), the Trustee 
savings banks new departments and, from 
fourth quarter 1979, Trustee savings banks 
ordinary departments (up to the end of 1981, 
when the Trustee savings banks joined the 
banks' sector).
deposits with certain other Institutions, 
including the Crown Agents (until end-1979, 
when they became a public corporation) and 
the Central Trustee Savings Bank (until 
end-1981, when It joined the banks’ sector), 
based on returns made to the Bank of 
England.

24 Bank lending
Lending by banks through advances, loans and 

commercial bills. All transactions between these 
institutions are excluded, as is lending to central 
government by the banking department (which Is 
included in net government indebtedness to the Bank of 
England banking department!, loans for house purchase 
(which are shown separately on line 27), lending to local 
authorities (which is included under local authority debt), 
lending to public corporations (which is included in public 
corporations debt) and lending to the Northern Ireland 
government.

The entries for the banks’ sector and industrial and 
commercial companies for sterling lending are adjusted 
by adding 40% of the net change in transit items (see 
notes to Section 6).

Further analyses of bank lending are shown in 
Section 6, particularly in tables 6.1, 6.2 and 6.6.

25 Credit extended by retailers
The figures include only credit transactions by durable 

goods retailers (including gas and electricity showrooms), 
department stores (including co-operative society stores), 
general mail-order houses and other general stores. The 
figures relate to hire purchase agreements and to certain 
other forms of credit including sales on budget accounts, 
credit sale agreements and personal loans repayable by 
instalments. Credit advanced by retailers in the form of 
trading checks exchangeable only in their own shops is 
included, but credit advanced by check traders as such 
is not covered. The figures also exclude monthly 
accounts and sales on bank credit cards such as Access 
and Visa (included in bank lending as well as (probably 
large) amounts of unpaid bills (included in trade credit, in 
so far as they are identified) and credit extended by other

types of retailer (see notes to Section 7).
Estimates are derived from the figures of new credit 

extended and repayments, adjusted to exclude charges, 
taken from regular returns made to the Central Statistical 
Office by retailers in the kinds of business listed above.

The figures for the public sector relate to credit given 
by public corporations through gas and electricity 
showrooms. The figures for the personal sector relate to 
the debt of individual consumers.

The grading B given to these estimates relates to 
restricted coverage described above.

26 Identified trade credit
Domestic is limited to certain public corporations’ and 

central government credit and to certain credit given to 
local authorities. Figures for the former are derived from 
quarterly returns and prior to 1972 the annual accounts 
of the corporations. The personal sector allocation 
represents a proportion of trade debtors of gas and 
electricity boards and British Telecom, i.e. unpaid gas, 
electricity and telephone bills. Since the privatisation of 
British Gas (1986) and British Telecom (1984) there are 
no data for outstanding gas and telephone bills. The 
residual sector is industrial and commercial companies. 
Transactions in connection with advance payment for 
BNOC oil are Included from first quarter 1980.

Central government trade credit figures comprise 
credit given by central government trading bodies. These 
figures are derived from annual accounts; the debtors are 
industrial and commercial companies. Local authority 
trade credit figures are derived from the balancing item 
in the sector accounts; the creditors are industrial and 
commercial companies.

Import and export credit comprises suppliers’ trade 
credit and associated advance and progress payments 
on exports and imports, identified in the balance of 
payments accounts from 1963 onwards other than import 
credit of public corporations, but including advance 
payments by public corporations. Also included are 
refinanced export credit. The Central Statistical Office’s 
inquiry into overseas trade credit given and received by 
non-bank private sector companies was discontinued at 
end-1982 so these data are excluded from 1983.

No estimates are included for other forms of trade 
credit, in particular for credit extended by industrial and 
commercial companies to the personal sector, variations 
in which are probably sizeable. The reliability gradings 
given to these estimates relate only to the small 
proportion of trade credit actually identified and recorded 
under these headings.

27 Loans for house purchase
Building societies comprises mortgage advances made 

by building societies. Figures are based on complete 
accounting year, monthly and quarterly returns made by 
a sample of building societies to the Building Societies ■ 
Commission.

Other comprises loans by:

Local authorities. Mortgage advances for 
house purchase and improvements, including 
loans for the purchase of council houses by 
tenants and loans to housing associations. 
Quarterly figures are obtained from returns 
made to the Department of Environment
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(England) and the Welsh Office (Wales). 
Figures for Scotland are interpolated 
from financial year totals.
Other public sector. Loans made by the 
central government under the Housing Act, 
1961 and Housing (Scotland) Act, 1962 to 
private housing associations, loans made by 
the Housing Corporation to housing societies 
and loans by new town corporations.
Banks. Compiled from returns to the bank of 
England.
Financial Institutions. Loans by insurance 
companies and pension funds, and by the 
Trustee savings banks (to end-1981). 
Estimates for insurance companies and 
pension funds are taken from quarterly 
returns. Miscellaneous financial institutions 
comprise banking institutions in the Channel 
Islands and the Isle of Man which are not in 
the banks' sector and UK companies 
specialising in the provision of mortgage 
finance or in the purchase of extant mortgages 
held by other Institutions.

Figures of gross advances and repayments of principal 
for building societies, central government, local 
authorities, insurance companies and pension funds, and 
of net loans by banks are shown in table 9.4.

Apart from small amounts of building society advances 
attributed to industrial and commercial companies from 
the third quarter 1978, it is assumed that the personal 
sector received these loans.

28 Other public sector lending
The figures relate to net lending by the central 

government to building societies under the House 
Purchase and Housing Act, 1959 (allocated to other 
financial institutions) and to industry and trade, including, 
from September 1972, shipbuilding credits re-financed 
from voted funds (allocated to industrial and commercial 
companies) and other miscellaneous loans for education 
and other services (allocated to the personal sector). 
Also Included are net lending by public corporations to 
the private sector, other than for house purchase 
(allocated to Industrial and commercial companies), loans 
to overseas governments (net) and net lending to 
international lending bodies (allocated to overseas 
sector). The figures are taken from the detailed capital 
accounts of the central government and public 
corporations, and from balance of payments sources.

29 Other lending by financial institutions
Includes instalment credit, other loans and advances 

by finance houses and other consumer credit companies, 
other than those included in the banks' sector, (excluding 
loans for house purchase) and loans made to their 
parent organisation by private sector pension funds. Also 
included are loans made by insurance companies and by 
special finance agencies. Loans made by public 
corporation pension funds to their parent organisation are 
included in public corporations debt: other. Loans made 
by local authority pension funds to their parent authorities 
are Included in local authority debt: sterling securities.

The 1991 Blue Book introduced the charge in

treatment of finance leasing from the “owner" to the 
“user" basis. Other lending by financial institutions now 
includes the imputed lending (net of repayments) under 
finance leasing.

Counterpart figures for groups of institutions are 
allocated to persons or to Industrial and commercial 
companies as appropriate.

30 Unit trust units
Sales less repurchases of unit trust units are provided 

by the Unit Trust Association. Unitisations of investment 
trusts are excluded. All transactions other than those 
identified on returns from financial institutions are 
assumed to be with the personal sector.

Figures of gross sales and repurchases of units are 
shown in table 7.7.

Total issues have a reliability grading A but the take 
up by other financial institutions has a grading B.

31 UK company securities
This item is built up from capital issues in the UK, 

foreign currency issues by UK companies and other 
transactions.

Capital issues in the UK. The estimates are compiled 
by the Bank of England and comprise issues by UK 
companies listed on the Stock Exchange; issues on the 
Stock Exchange’s unlisted securities market (from fourth 
quarter 1980); some figures for issues outside the Stock 
Exchange: and special issues taken up by central 
government and the National Enterprise Board. Issues by 
listed UK companies relate to new money raised through 
ordinary shares, preference shares and loan capital 
(public issues, offers for sale, issues by tender, placings, 
and issues to shareholders and employees), issues to 
shareholders are included only if the sole or principal 
share register is maintained in the United Kingdom. 
Estimates of issues are based on the prices at which 
securities are offered on the market. Subscriptions are 
included in the periods in which they are due to be paid. 
More detailed figures for issues by listed and unlisted 
companies are shown in Section 12

The figures for issues outside the Stock Exchange are 
partly from returns by financial institutions with rough 
estimates derived from published accounts of industrial 
and commercial companies.

The special issues taken up by central government 
and the National Enterprise Board include issues by 
British Leyland in 1980 which were taken up by the 
National Enterprise Board and issues by British Leyland 
and Rolls Royce from 1981 which were taken up by 
central government.

It is not possible to provide an analysis of capital 
issues by the sector acquiring them; these acquisitions 
are included with other transactions in company 
securities.

The reliability grading of capital issues as a whole is 
influenced by the rough estimates for some unlisted 
issues.

Foreign currency issues by UK companies. These are 
taken from institutional returns and balance of payments 
sources.

Other transactions. These are all other transactions in 
listed and unlisted securities which can be identified. 
They include the take-up of new issues.

u
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Transactions by the public sector are taken from the 
accounts of the central government and public 
corporations. The central government figures include 
privatisations, when these take the form of selling 
company securities. They also include purchases from 
the National Enterprise Board of shares in Rolls Royce 
(£234 million in third quarter 1980) and British Leyland 
(£1,228 million in first quarter 1981), when the board 
repaid the same amounts of public dividend capital. The 
latter is included in line 20.2 public corporations sterling 
debt. The acquisitions of steel securities in exchange for 
government stock on re-nationalisation of companies are
excluded.

Figures for banks and other financial institutions are 
net transactions in both listed and unlisted securities and 
those from other financial institutions are, from 1968, 
adjusted for estimated costs incurred in share 
transactions. The figures are based on quarterly returns 
of cash transactions.

For the overseas sector, figures are taken from 
balance of payments statistics. The derivation of figures 
for 1986 is shown in the reconciliation given as 
supplementary table S9 in the November 1989 issue of 
Financial Statistics.

Information about transactions in UK company 
securities by industrial and commercial companies 
relates to their estimated cash expenditure on acquiring 
subsidiaries and unincorporated businesses as going 
concerns (from Central Statistical Office sources), to their 
purchases of trade investments (roughly estimated from 
published company account statistics), and to overseas 
direct investment in UK company securities (from 
balance of payments sources). When a subsidiary is 
acquired or a trade Investment is made by way of a 
share exchange, no transaction is recorded in these 
tables.

The estimates of transactions in UK company 
securities by the personal sector are derived as a 
residual. They are obtained as the difference between 
total UK capital issues and the aggregate of the 
transactions by all the other sectors. Because of this, 
they are subject to a wide margin of error. In particular, 
any errors in the estimates for the acquisition of 
securities by industrial and commercial companies, which 
could be large, are reflected in the residual figure for the 
personal sector and will affect the size of the unidentified 
items for both sectors. Table 8.7 shows transactions by 
all sectors and includes details of capital issues which 
are not shown separately in Section 1.

In constructing UK national and sector balance sheets, 
holdings of securities are, as far as possible, recorded at 
market values. Changes in the holdings reflect capital 
gains or losses, as well as transactions. A measure of 
unrealised gains and losses can therefore generally be 
obtained by netting off the net acquisitions of the 
financial assets during the period from changes in the 
market values of holdings over a period.

An annual share register survey covering all UK 
shares listed on the London Stock Exchange is 
conducted by the CSO. This provides an important cross 
check on estimates derived from the above sources and 
which is used to adjust the data on both balance sheets 
and flows by sector as necessary.
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32 Overseas securities
Figures for banks from 1963 to 1978 are taken from 

banks sector returns, but from 1979 are based on 
balance of payments data. Figures for other financial 
institutions are net transactions based on quarterly 
returns (involving deduction of estimates of costs 
incurred in share transactions) and include estimates of 
direct investment in the form of securities (share and 
loan capital). Transactions by the central government 
comprise the sale of Suez Canal shares in 1976 and 
1979. Figures for industrial and commercial companies 
are for direct investment and oil investment in the form 
of securities (share and loan capital) from the balance of 
payments statistics. The overseas sector figures consist 
of total UK direct investment overseas in share and loan 
capital plus portfolio investment in overseas securities. 
The estimates of transactions by the personal sector are 
derived as a residual, being the difference between the 
aggregate of the transactions of all other sectors and are 
therefore subject to a wide margin of error. Further 
details of other financial institutions’ portfolio investment 
are shown in table 7.1, and tables 7.2 and 7.3 give 
details of turnover in securities and institutional 
investment respectively.

In constructing UK national and sector balance sheets, 
holdings of securities are, as far as possible, recorded at 
market values. Changes in the holdings reflect capital 
gains or losses, as well as transactions. A measure of 
unrealised gains and losses can therefore generally be 
obtained by netting off the net acquisitions of the 
financial assets during the period from changes in the 
market values of holdings over a period.

33 Life assurance and pension funds
This series consists of:

the net surplus of current income over current 
expenditure of these funds. In the national 
accounts, the life assurance and pension 
funds are regarded as the property of the 
personal sector, but the investments of the 
funds (including purchases of property) are 
included in the transactions of other financial 
institutions. The articulation of the financial 
accounts is maintained by showing the funds' 
surplus as an increase in the financial claim of 
the personal sector on other financial 
institutions. Annual estimates of the net 
increase in the funds are taken from their 
revenue account, which is published in table 
4.10 of United Kingdom National Accounts] 
quarterly estimates are based on the quarterly 
returns of investment by insurance companies 
and pension funds to CSO, which are 
described in the notes to tables 7.10 to 7.12. 
transactions concerning certain public sector 
pension schemes. These are net receipts by 
the central government from those public 
sector schemes for which no separate pension 
fund is maintained. These receipts are taken 
from the financial account of the central 
government, and are regarded as part of the 
personal sector's claims on the central 
government.
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The sectoral treatment of these funds is explained in 
more detail in the notes to Section 9.

34 Miscellaneous domestic instruments
This series includes the following miscellaneous items. 
For the public sector;

repayments by nationalised steel under
takings of a loan from industrial and 
commercial companies made before 
nationalisation;
import deposits. The scheme was introduced 
in November 1968 and the last of the deposits 
were repaid by the end of September 1971; 
advance payments (net) on oil sales by 
BNOC;
compensation payments relatingtotransferred 
assets (see notes to Table 4.3).

For financial Institutions;
increases in certain assets and liabilities given 
in the returns made by financial institutions, 
including assets due to and from stockbrokers 
(with a contra entry in the personal sector), 
borrowing by finance houses other than in the 
forms of deposits (with a contra entry in the 
industrial and commercial sectors) and, from 
1972 to 1980, their special deposits with the 
Bank of England banking department and 
sterling commercial paper issued by financial 
institutions other than banks and building 
societies;
property unit trust units sold to charities.

For industrial and commercial companies:
sales of shares in retail co-operative societies.

The reliability grading given to these estimates relates 
to the assets identified but there will be other assets that 
have not been identified and their net Issues of sterling 
commercial paper.

35 Direct and other investment abroad
This is equal to the balance of payments account 

figures of private direct investment abroad, other than 
that in the form of securities (share and loan capital).

36 Overseas direct and other investment in 
UK

The figures for the overseas sector comprise overseas 
investment in the UK private sector other than 
transactions in company securities (which are entered on 
line 31). They include figures for direct investment, 
obtained from the direct investment inquiries, investment 
by oil companies, obtained from similar inquiries to oil 
companies, and miscellaneous investment, which mainly 
consists of identified transactions in real estate.

The figures for banks are obtained from banking 
sector returns. Those for other financial institutions are 
estimates of overseas borrowing obtained from the 
inquiries to other financial institutions. Those for persons 
are the transactions in real estate, which are estimated 
by Inland Revenue from stamp duty information. The 
figures for industrial and commercial companies are 
estimated by residual.

The transactions in real estate are believed to be 
carried out mainly by individuals resident overseas. As 
well as being treated as overseas financial investment in 
the personal sector, these transactions are included 
indistinguishably in the personal sector’s figures for gross 
domestic fixed capital formation.

37 Miscellaneous overseas instruments
This covers sterling commercial paper issued by 

overseas residents and those transactions from the 
analysis of capital transactions of the balance of 
payments which are not allocated elsewhere in the 
financial accounts, viz.

For the central government;

part of external liabilities of general 
government and official short-term capital, 
contributions to the European Coal and Steel 
Community reserves.

For public corporations; long-term net lending and 
investment abroad. (Short-term lending abroad is 
included in line 14.2.)

For financial institutions: net short-term assets held 
abroad.

This item also includes discrepancies between figures 
obtained from balance of payments sources and those 
from other sources, the counterpart of which is entered 
under industrial and commercial companies. These 
discrepancies include timing and coverage differences.

The reliability grading D of the overseas sector Is due 
to this being a residual in the overseas sector column. 
The industrial and commercial companies figure is 
graded D because it is a residual in the line.

38 Accruals adjustment
Several series in the national accounts are on an 

accruals basis (i.e. they are entered when ownership 
changes hands and when amounts become due), 
whereas payments in the financial accounts are entered 
when they occur. The accruals adjustment accounts for 
the difference between these two bases. It represents the 
difference between accruals and the corresponding cash 
payments for, e.g. income tax, value added tax, purchase 
tax, selective employment tax, national insurance 
contributions, central government current expenditure on 
goods and services. North Sea oil royalties, local 
authority rates (and their successors the community 
charge and National non-domestic rates), and some 
interest flows - including those under the fixed rate export 
and shipbuilding credit schemes - which are recorded on 
an accruals basis in the income and expenditure and 
appropriation accounts. The allocation of the difference 
to other sectors has been made item by item but should 
be considered approximate.

40 Balancing item (errors and omissions)
The national income and expenditure accounts are the 

output of a system that attempts to record all 
transactions adding to gross domestic product. The 
sector accounts also show transfer payments (taxes, 
grants, dividends, interest etc.) and separately, in the 
financial accounts, financial transactions between sectors 
of the economy.

Gross domestic product is estimated In absolute terms
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by two different routes - the sum of factor incomes, and 
the sum of expenditure on goods and services produced. 
Because the sources upon which the income and 
expenditure measures are based are largely 
independent, the estimates differ by an amount termed 
the residual error.

In the sector accounts a balance is struck between 
current plus capital receipts and current plus capital 
expenditure (including transfer payments on both sides 
of the accounts) and this is called the financial surplus or 
deficit. The various transfer items net out over all sectors 
so that the sum of the financial surpluses and deficits in 
each sector is equal to the residual error. Below the 
financial surplus or deficit line the financial accounts 
record transactions in financial assets for each sector, 
and the difference between the sector’s financial surplus 
or deficit, as found from the income and expenditure 
accounts, and the sum of its transactions in 
financialassets is labelled balancing item. These 
balancing items arise from errors and omissions in both 
the income and expenditure accounts and the financial 
accounts. Like the transfer items above the line, financial 
transactions net out over all the sectors (since one 
sector's Increase in an asset is another sector’s increase 
in liability and the estimates are constrained in this way) 
so that the sum of the sector balancing items also equals 
the residual error.®

The unidentified entries, however, do not constitute 
allocation of the residual error between sectors. A 
sector’s contribution to the residual error is the error in 
the difference between its estimated income and 
expenditure and there is no firm reference against which

that can be measured. Current and capital transfers, 
which are liable to error, are taken into account before 
the financial surplus or deficit is struck, and although that 
can be compared with the sum of the sector’s financial 
transactions, they too  ̂are liable to error. Since these 
balancing items are needed to make the sector's inflows 
and outflows sum to zero, It is the net sum of the errors 
in all the identified flows, current, capital, and financial. It 
reflects the results of misallocations by sector as well as 
measurement errors and omissions. The balancing item 
line thus becomes the repository of all net errors 
throughout the system of the accounts.

It would be useful to be able to allocate the residual 
error by sector, but this is not possible because the 
difference between the receipts and expenditure for each 
sector is affected by various transfer items. In addition to;

components of the residual error ( i.e. wrongly 
recorded national aggregates of income or 
expenditure or both)
misallocation by sector of recorded national 
aggregates of income, expenditure and current 
and capital transfers, or errors in the figures 

sector balancing items Include: 
misallocation by sector of financial 
transactions
any financial transactions which have not been 
identified or for which the sources are poor.

The place of the balancing items and the residual error 
and their relationship can be seen symbolically in the 
table on page 24.
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Sector balancing items and the residual error

Financial Accounts

Domestic 
sector i

Nation plus plus
Overseas Errors/

omissions

equals
World

Capital account
Balance from income and expenditure account

(Le. saving)

plus:
Net capital transfers

less:
Gross domestic capital formation 

equals:
Financial surplus or deficit 

equals:
Financial account

Transactions in financial assets and liabilities 

plus:
Balancing Hern

(Y|-q) (Y-C) (M-X)

Ti T T„ Nil Nil

[ 1

Fi F Fo RE Nil

A-L Nil Nil

B; B RE

including current transfers
income
current expenditure 
physical investment (as opposed to investment in financial assets) 
capital transfer receipts less disbursements 
financial surplus/deficit 
changes in financial assets 
changes in financial liabilities 
exports of goods and services and other UK credits 
imports of goods and services and other UK debits 
balancing item in account of domestic sector i 
balancing Kern in balance of payments accounts 
residual error in the national income and expenditure accounts

in domestic sector i

excluding capital transfers

Z Y«Y z a » c z u i ZT.«T ZR=F Z (A-L,)=A-L

Balancing items and the residual error relate to all parts of the accounts and are shown below the financial account by 
convention.
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Financial accounts

Reliability gradings in the Tmancial accounts

ils
Id

by

If

CmnttmX 
govrim unt authoriti^a

Othor
Public BuildiAg fiAAnciftl

rporations Banks so c ia tia s  in stitu tio n s

In d u strial

and

riaaaeial surplus or d a f i c i t .........................

Hotas and coin....................................................
Starling Traasury b i l l s ...................................
B rltisb govarmant sa e u ritia s.......................
Hstional savings................................................
Tax in s tr a a n ts ..................... • • ................ .. • •
Nat govanmant Indabt adnass

to Banking Dapaxtnant....................................
Hortham Ireland cantcml govamnant d abt.. 
rrnrirnasnt L ia h ilitia s  undar

azehanga coaar s c h i s ....................................
Qthar public aactor financing:

Noft-aai^catabla dabt........................................
Short-tazm a sse ts............................................

Issue Dapartnant transactions in  b i l l s . . . .

Govarmant foreign currency d ^ t .................
other govamnant evarsaas fin an cin g.. . . . . .
O ffic ia l rasaxvas..............................................
local authority d ^ t :

Taaporaiy.........................................................
Foreign currency............................................
Starling se c u r itie s ........................................
other starlin g dabt........................................

Public corporations d ^ t :
foreign currency................................. * .........
S tarlin g............................................................

Deposits with banks:
starlin g s ig h t................... ............................
Starling tim e............................................. ..
foreign currency.....................................«. . .

Deposits with building s o c ia tia s .................
Deposits v lth  other fin an cial in stitu tio n s  
Bank landing (ax c l .  public sector):

foreign currency............................................
S tarlin g...........................................................

Credit extended by r e ta ile r s .........................
Id en tified  trade credit:

Doaastie...........................................................
laport and export..........................................

Loans for house purchase:
Building s o c ie tie s ............................. .
Other.................................................................

Other public sector lending...........................

Other lending by fin an cial in s titu tio n s . . .
Unit tru st u n its...............................................
UK coapany se c u r itie s ......................................
Overseas se c u ritie s ..........................................
L ife  assurance funds........... ............
Miscellaneous domestic 

Direct and other investment abroad.. . . . . . . .
^versaas d irect and other investeent in  UK. 
Miscellaneous overseas Instniments...............

Accruals adjustment..........................................

Total f i nancial transactions.........................

B

B
B

B

B

C

A
B

A
B

The table is intended to give rough assessments of reliability ol 
estimates for trartsactions in the various asset categories by each sector 
Four gradings have been used.Tbese primarily desertw the nature of 
the estimation process,although progressively greater margins of error 
are implied.The gradings are:
A = Accounting-type figures.relating to individual institutions mainly in 

central government.
B = Reliable figures.obtained by aggregating statistical returns (and thus 

prorw to coverage or reporting errors).
C 55 Figures based on returns but with some degree of estimation. 

estjmation.e.g.sampling.

c c D 0 D 0

c B B 0 D D D
B c B B B c C

B c B B C c D c

A B B A A A

c B B B c B

A
B C D D

A A A

A A A
C C C C C c

A A

A D A

A
A

c D C B B D D C
c B 0 B
c C B B B 0 D C
c D C B B D D C

B B D B
c B B C C D C

8 B B B B B B B
B B B C C C C C
B B B C C C c

B B c c B c
B B B B B

B C C C C
B B c c C c

B c c

D D D D D
C

B

C D

B

D

B B B B B
B B C C C C B

C c C c
B B

B B C C D D D
D c 0 D D

D
C C C C C C C C

C c C 0 C
c c c D c

c c D D D

0 D c c C D D

c C B B C D D D

0  s Figures involving a substantial amount of estimation.or 
where the coverage is known to be significantly incomplete.
The table refers to the reliability of quarterly figures,which are generally 

less reliable than the annual tigures;later periods are subject to greater 
revisions than earlier periods.Tbe notes to tables 1.2 to 1.12 contain 
some further guidance on certain items, especially where the grading is 
parlicuarly debateable.lt should be noted that while two sectors may each 
report a  transaction between them accurately,the timing may differ and 
figures for other sectors estimated by the residual method may be 
affected.
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Net inter sector financial flows Financial accounts
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This chart shows the net transactions in financial assets and liabilities or each sector.
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Financial Accounts

Relationship between asset categories in the financial account and certain other sector tables

Sector tables

Matrix
table
1.1

Line no.

Central
government

3.3

Local
authorities

4.3

Public
corporations

5.3

Other
financial

institutions
7.1

Industrial
and

commercial
companies

8.2

Person
9.2

Finarrdaj surplus or deficit 5 • • • a ,b a ,b

Notes and coin 6 C • •

Market Treasury bills 7 C e C d d
British government securities 8 c e C f • •

National savings 9 c e c d d •

Tax instruments 10 c c d d •

Net government indebtedness to
Banking Department 11 c

Northern Ireland central government debt 12 c f e e
Government liabilities under

exchange cover scheme 13 c g c
Other public sector financing 14

Non-marketable debt 14.1 c c h
Short-term assets 14.2 c d c P k k

issue Department transactions in
commercial bills 15 c

Government foreign currency debt 16 c
Other government overseas financing 17 c
Official reserves 18 c

Local authority debt. 19 b,c c d
Temporary 19.1 g d •
Foreign currency 1 9 2 g •
Sterling securities 19.3 g •
Other sterling debt 19.4 b.g.j • e

Public corporations debt: 20 b.c c e e
Foreign currency 20.1 s
Sterling 20.2 e h,k

Deposits with banks 21 c d c ♦ • •
Deposits with building societies 22 m d •
Deposits with other financial institutions 23 1 d,h,m d •
Bank lending (excluding public sector) 24 • 1 •

Credit extended by retailers 25 n 0 •
Identified trade credit 26

Domestic 26.1 1 a p k
Import and export 26.2 r n S a.o.q

Loans for house purchase 27 t •t • b
Other public sector lending 28 b.r.t •t b.n.t •u k k
Other lending by financial institutions 29 k a.h.k k
Unit trust units 30 h,v w
UK company securities 31 w w a ,b a ,b w
Overseas securities 32 w b • W
Life assurance and pension funds 33 • • •
Miscellaneous domestic instruments 34 1 n a,h,p a.h.k a.k.w
Direct and other investment abroad 35 s y
Overseas direct and other investment in UK 36 y

A
\i L

Miscellaneous overseas instruments 37 a.b.I.r r
&

a.s.z
7

a,b,k,s
FV

Accruals adjustment 38 a a a • • •
Balancing item 40 • • • • •

j,



Financial Accounts

The diagram opposite is intended to clarify the relationship between asset categories used in the financial accounts 
matrix (table 1.1) and certain other tables. It covers those tables in which financial transactions are shown as changes in 
liabilities and assets or as sources (liabilities) and uses (assets) of funds.

This treatment differs from that in the matrix where alt transactions are recorded on a net assets basis i.e. an increase 
in assets is shown as positive and an increase in liabilities as negative. The sign convention differs in the tables illustrated, 
in these both assets and liabilities are shown as increase positive.

The diagram shows where in these tables net assets series in the matrix are sub-divided into liability and asset 
categories and also where series from the matrix are combined under composite headings such as liquid assets or loans 
and mortgages.

Notes to diagram

• Series repeated as in Section 1 
Note: signs are reversed where series is 
shown as a liability or a source of funds.

Below are the headings under which the categories appear on their respective tables.

Split between assets and liabilities. 
Disaggregated.
Items financing the borrowing requirement - 
shown in more detail for central government in 
table 3.4.
Short-term or liquid assets.
Transactions in public sector debt, or public 
sector financial assets.
British government securities includes 
Northern Ireland central government debt. 
Borrowing from other sources.
Other financial assets - UK.
Bank borrowing.
Borrowing from central government.
Other loans and mortgages.
Other identified financial liabilities (net) 
Deposits received are shown by institutional 
group, deposits made by other financial 
institutions are in other liquid assets 
(short-term) or other UK financial assets 
(long-term).

r.

y-

Other assets.
Export and other credit given.
Other liabilities - UK.
Import and other credit received.
Lending to overseas sector or lending and 
investment overseas.
Other financial assets - overseas.
Net lending to private sector.
Described as official loans.
Unit trusts net sales of units less unitisations 
- purchases by other financial institutions are 
included in other financial assets - UK. 
Company securities etc., or cash 
expenditure on company securities.
Other investment overseas (uses) net of 
unremitted profits which is included in internal 
funds.
Other overseas investment (sources) net of 
unremitted profits which is included in internal 
funds.
Other liabilities - overseas.
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Section 2
General government and public sector finance

asset
Joans

and

The term general government Is used to describe the 
combined central government and local authorities 
sector. The concept of the public sector is wider, and 
includes public corporations as well as general 
government. Much of Section 2 is devoted to presenting 
the transactions leading to the public sector borrowing 
requirement (PSBB), which indicates the extent to which 
the public sector borrows from other sectors of the 
economy and overseas to finance the balance of 
expenditure and receipts arising from its various 
activities, tt is the most important of the balances of the 
public sector accounts; another important balance is the 
financial surplus or deficit.

The main financial ftows between different sectors of 
the economy associated with the financing of the public 
sector borrowing requirement are illustrated on page 34. 
This diagram is built up from information in tables 2.5, 
2.6 and 3.4 and a more detailed description of the flows 
shown here will be found in the notes to those tables.

This section includes some tables which combine or 
consolidate tables appearing separately for sub-sectors: 
central government (Section 3), local authorities 
(Section 4) and public corporations (Section 5); 
reference to tables in these sections is made where 
appropriate. For a detailed definition of the scope of 
general government and the public sector, see definitions 
of the component sub-sectors in Sections 3. 4 and 5; in 
particular note that public sector pension funds are 
excluded from the public sector and classified as other 
financial Institutions in Section 7.

Consolidation of accounts
In preparing accounts for general government and the 

public sector, transactions within the sector are generally 
eliminated. In principle, all transactions are eliminated 
except those in which the payment by one part of the 
sector falls within a different economic category from the 
receipt by another part. For example, taxes on 
expenditure levied by the central government which fall 
on local authorities' expenditure and payments by the 
central government in lieu of local authority rates are not 
eliminated. But all transfers and payments which form 
part of the same economic category are, as far as 
possible, eliminated. Examples of transactions eliminated 
from the accounts in the public sector are the grants from 
central government to local authorities and interest 
payments by local authorities to the central government, 
which are both relevant to consolidation at the level of 
general government. In some cases the consolidation is 
not complete because of lack of information. Financial 
transactions within the public sector are also eliminated 
on consolidation, so that borrowing by local authorities 
and public corporations from the central government 
does not form part of the public sector borrowing 
requirement.

Public corporations are generally not consolidated with 
central government and local authorities for transactions 
leading to the financial surplus or deficit. Consolidation is 
continued in the financial accounts, however, because 
although public corporations are productive enterprises, 
the products of which are sold commercially, their 
financing is heavily influenced by central government. For 
a discussion of this revised presentation see Government

income and expenditure in the national income accounts: 
a change of presentation, Economic Trends, March 1977. 
A consolidated public sector account is however given in 
table 2.7.

Layout of section
The section opens with the current account, table 2.1, 

the capital account, table 2.2 and the financial account 
and balancing item, table 2.3, of general government. 
Table 2.4 shows the link between general government 
expenditure shown in tables 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 and the 
definition of the public expenditure planning total which 
is used in the Public Expenditure White Paper. Tables 
2.5 and 2.6 are devoted entirely to the public sector 
borrowing requirement. Table 2.5 shows the contributions 
by the three sub-sectors to the borrowing requirement, 
also the large inter-sector financial flows which do not 
count towards the PSBR total. Table 2.6 shows the 
means by which the PSBR is financed, analysed both by 
financing sector and type of asset. Table 2.7 provides a 
consolidated current, capital and financial account for the 
public sector. It Is in the format to that used in the public 
sector transactions section of the Financial Statement 
and Budget Report and affords a direct comparison with 
the Budget forecasts. Supplementary table SI 3 shows 
the sub-sector components of this table for the latest 
complete financial year. Table 2.8 shows the detail and 
timing of privatisation proceeds over the most recent 
years.

Outstanding debt
Section 2 is concerned entirely with transactions or 

flow data; there are no figures of outstanding debt. The 
latter are compiled annually and appear as 
supplementary tables In Financial Statistics. Figures of 
national debt at the end of financial years appeared as 
supplementary table S4 in the July 1992 editbn of 
Financial Statistics. Figures of the more comprehensive 
aggregate of public sector debt are available much later. 
They are published as supplementary table SI in 
February Financial Statistics. For further information on 
the concepts and the relationship between figures of 
outstanding debt and the PSBR see article Public sector 
debt, Economic Trends, May 1977.

Tables 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3
General governm ent current, capital and 
financial accounts

These tables are built up from the current, capital and 
financial accounts of central government and local 
authorities. Transactions between the two sectors have 
been eliminated, except where the payment by one 
sector falls within a different economic category from the 
receipt by the other sector (see United Kingdom National 
Accounts: Sources and Methods).

Notes on the component items in tables 2.1, 2.2 and
2.3 are given in Sections 3 and 4 dealing with individual 
current and capital accounts of central government and 
of local authorities. Table 2.3 includes the balancing item 
of general government. Further details of financial 
transactions are shown in tables 1.2 and 1.3. See 
Sections 3 and 4 for notes on the quality of the data.
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Table 2.4
Public expenditure planning totai

This table shows a translation from general 
government expenditure on a national accounts basis to 
the definitions used for the public expenditure planning 
total.

The format of this table is currently aligned with the 
definition of the planning total introduced in the current 
Autumn Statement.

General government expenditure comprises the 
current and capital expenditure, net lending and cash 
expenditure on company securities of central and local 
government consolidated to exclude transactions 
between the two sectors.

The public expenditure planning total is the aggregate 
used by the Government for control purposes. Although 
it is based on the same fundamental national accounts 
concepts and definitions as general government 
expenditure there are a number of differences. The 
planning total excludes gross debt interest and non
trading capital consumption, but includes all the external 
finance of most public corporations not just the grants 
and loans they receive from central and local 
government. There are a number of other differences in 
coverage: these are shown in detail below.

The table reconciles the national accounts figures for 
general government expenditure with the public 
expenditure planning total in three stages.

First, the central government contribution to general 
government expenditure is adjusted to reach the planning 
total definition. The adjustments are as follows:

the imputed value of non-trading capital 
consumption included in the national accounts 
figures of central government is deducted, 
payments of debt interest by central 
government are deducted, 
grants and net lending by central government 
to certain public corporations and to 
Passenger Transport Executives and Land 
Authority for Wales are deducted, 
the refunds of VAT paid by central government 
on its own expenditure are deducted, 
notional contributions in respect of pension 
increases for teachers and National Health 
Service workers are deducted. The increased 
pensions payable under the Pensions Increase 
Act is counted in the national accounts as a 
notional contribution paid by the central 
government to teachers and certain central 
government employees, and their capital 
expenditure added,
the proceeds from privatisation (not offset to 
general government expenditure in the 
national accounts), are deducted, 
the adjustments in the national accounts to put 
certain government expenditure on an accrued 
basis, are deducted,
the effect of known differences in timing with 
British Coal, whose accounting year is based 
on a period from the day following the last 
Saturday in March rather than 1 April to 31 
March,
capitalised interest is deducted from central 
government housing grants.
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General Practice Finance Corporation stock 
issues are added to central government, until 
1989 quarter one,
timing adjustment on EC receipts 1985-86 to 
1986-87,
Crown Estates capital expenditure is 
deducted,
the rent received from private contractors for 
HM Dockyards is deducted, 
an adjustment is included occasionally in other 
adjustments incorporating known revisions to 
national accounts figures which are expected 
to be included in a subsequent quarterly 
update.

Second, the local authority component (central 
government support to local authorities) is calculated 
from:

central government current and capital grants 
to local authorities. Grants excluded from the 
planning total are largely VAT refunds, but 
also covers dog and gun licences, grants for 
loan charges and EC capital grants.
National non domestic rates (NNDR). These 
commenced from April 1990. The figures used 
in the table as proxy for earlier periods are of 
non domestic rates.
Credit approvals. These are central 
government permissions for an Individual local 
authority to borrow or raise other form of credit 
for capital purposes. They commenced in April 
1990. The figures used In this table for earlier 
periods are the proxy measures used in Cm 
879 Autumn statement 1989.

Finally, the table shows the addition of the capital 
expenditure of certain public corporations and the net 
borrowing by the nationalised industries, and other public 
corporations from the market and overseas.

Differences between general government expenditure 
and the public expenditure planning total are not entirely 
attributable to the differences in coverage described 
above. There are also differences in accounting 
conventions, classifications and sources. While the public 
expenditure planning total figures are on the same 
definitions and classifications for all years, namely those 
current when the latest Public Expenditure White Paper 
was being prepared. In the national accounts, bodies are 
classified by sector according to their status in each 
period of time shown in the accounts.

A supplementary table, S12, Treasury analysis of 
public expenditure, is included in the November 1991 
issue of Financial Statistics showing the analysis of 
public expenditure by the main spending programmes 
consistent with the definitions used in the most recent 
White Paper. A run of general government expenditure 
figures for the latest eleven calendar years is given in 
United Kingdom National Accounts - 'Blue Book - and 
the totals are analysed in detail by functional groups and 
economic categories. Longer runs are given in the 
Economic Trends Annual Supplement for total general 
government expenditure analysed by main economic 
category for the years from 1946.

For summary accounts showing revenue, expenditure 
and finance of the public sector see supplementary 
tables S23 and S24 included in the November 1991 issue.
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General government and public sector finance

Table 2.5
Public sector borrowing and contribution to 
the pubiic sector borrowing requirement

The public sector borrowing requirement (PSBR) 
indicates the extent to which the pubiic sector borrows 
from other sectors of the economy and overseas to 
finance the balance of expenditure and receipts arising 
from its various activities. In contrast to the accruals- 
based financial surplus or deficit, the flows which count 
towards the PSBR are measured on a cash basis (with 
a minor exception of interest on National Savings 
instruments). As well as current and capital account 
transactions, the PSBR also takes into account certain 
financial transactions, such as loans to the private sector, 
and the net acquisition of company securities. The PSBR 
can be defined in terms of the receipts and expenditure 
of the consolidated public sector accounts, but It is 
usually more helpful to consider It in terms of the 
borrowing requirements of the sub-sectors of the public 
sector: central government, local authorities and public 
corporations. In practice, the local authority and public 
corporation borrowing requirements are measured from 
the financing items rather than their receipts and 
expenditure because this information comes to hand 
more quickly and is regarded as more reliable.

A considerable part of the central government 
borrowing requirement is needed to finance central 
government on-lending to local authorities and public 
corporations: table 2.5 shows separately the amount 
central government needs to borrow on own account.

The PSBR can be built up as the central government 
borrowing requirement on own account plus the local 
authority borrowing requirement and the public 
corporation borrowing requirement. Alternatively the 
PSBR may be regarded as the total central government 
borrowing requirement plusihe local authority and public 
corporation 'contributions' to the PSBR, where 
‘contribution' is defined as borrowing (other than direct 
borrowing from central government), less net purchases 
of other public sector debt (i.e. for local authorities: 
central government and public corporation debt; for 
public corporations: central government and local 
authority debt).

A revised definition of the PSBR was announced by 
the Chancellor of the Exchequer on 10 February 1984. 
Under this definition changes in public sector bank 
deposits anb holdings of other liquid assets are regarded 
as financing the PSBR rather than contributing to it. 
These items are included in columns 1, 2, 4 and 10 of 
table Z5 and add through to columns 7, 8, 13 and 14.

Monthly estimates of the PSBR are shown in the 
supplementary table L2.5. Tables 3.4, 4.4 and S4 show 
the financing of the CG, LA and PC borrowing 
requirements respectively (Latest figures are shown in L 
versions of these tables). An article describing their 
derivation, their relationship with the quarterly figures and 
their likelihood of revision was published in the 
November 1983 issue of Economic Trends.

Seasonal adjustment
The seasonally adjusted series are constrained sothat 

financial year totals are equal to the financial year totals 
of the unadjusted series. Central government uses the 
financial year as its accounting year for planning and

control and the forecasts of PSBR and Its components 
which are published each year in the Financial Statement 
and Budget Report are for financial years. The financial 
year constrained seasonally adjusted series should be 
used when the quarterly outturns during the financial 
year are compared with these forecasts.

Erratic influences on the PSBR, particularly distortions 
caused by industrial disputes, recent privatisations, and 
changes to the timing of tax receipts have affected the 
series over the last few years, making the seasonally 
adjusted series less reliable as an indicator of the recent 
underlying trend. Seasonal adjustment seeks to remove 
only the effects of regularly recurrent influences and the 
evaluation of these are impeded when large erratic 
influences affect the series.

Local authorities net borrowing from other sources 
includes market transactions of the issue department of 
the Bank of England and National Insurance Fund in 
local authority debt.

Transactions in other public sector debt by public 
corporations include repayments of loans to regional 
water authorities and passenger transport executives.

Timeliness
Monthly estimates for the borrowing requirement of the 

public sector are released by press notice twelve working 
days in arrears. Figures Issued in the PSBR press 
notices are provisional and are subject to later revision.

Further references
An article describing the nature of the PSBR and how 

this is measured quarterly was published In the August 
1980 issue of Economic Trends. It explains how the 
PSBR is related to the national accounts, examines 
changes in Its composition since 1963 and its 
relationship with the money supply. A further article 
detailing changes appeared in Economic Trends, 
February 1984. Treasury Working Paper No. 57 Central 
Government Funds and accounts and the Central 
Government Borrowing Requirement, June 1990, defines 
the CGBR and explains the rule of the various central 
government funds and accounts in it's measurement. It 
also explains the relationship between the funds and 
accounts and the central government sector in the 
national income and expenditure accounts.

Estimates of the PSBR also appear in the Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin. A forecast of the PSBR and 
its make-up for the financial year is published at Budget 
time in the Financial Statement and Budget Report. 
Another forecast of the PSBR for the financial year is 
published annually in the Autumn Statement.

Financial accounts for the last eleven years are 
published in United Kingdom National Accounts, table 
11. 12.

Table 2.6
Financing of the public sector borrowing 
requirement

This table analyses the PSBR according to the 
sources of the funds borrowed; it shows who takes up 
the net issues of debt whereas table 2.5 shows who 
issues them. The table Is in two parts. The second part 
shows the three main ways in which the PSBR is 
financed: by sales of debt to the public outside the
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banks' sector (for example, gilts, national savings, local 
authority stocks and bonds); by borrowing from banks 
and building societies; and by transactions with the 
overseas sector, which include not only government 
borrowing but also the effect of changes in the reserves 
on the sterling value of the assets of the Exchange 
Equalisation Account. Financing also includes Issue 
department transactions in bills, repurchases and sales 
of ECGD - backed promissory notes and shipbuilding 
credit paper. The first part of the table Is a summary of 
the second part but includes a breakdown of the other 
private sector financing between other financial 
institutions, industrial and commercial companies and the 
personal sector. The data for this analysis are available 
one month later than data for the non-bank private sector 
as a whole.

The extent of overseas finance is largely the 
consequence of the balance of payments position. When 
an external deficit is financed by a fall in the foreign 
exchange reserves, the central government receives an 
inflow of sterling finance from sales of foreign currency. 
The fall in the reserves appears as overseas financing 
while the inflow of sterling reduces the finance that has 
to be raised domestically. Borrowing abroad by public 
corporations and local authorities usually increases the 
reserves since these bodies require sterling for their 
spending and the monetary authorities provide this in 
exchange for the foreign currency. Both the borrowing 
abroad and the increase in the reserves appear, off
setting each other, as overseas financing, but the need 
for sterling to buy the foreign exchange Increases the 
amount that the central government has to borrow 
domestically. Borrowing from banks will tend to 
Increase the money supply. Some methods of financing 
the PSBR without Increasing the stock of money were 
described in the Monthly Economic Assessment - 
Economic Progress Report, No. 58, January 1975.

Table 2.6 is built up from certain of the items of tables 
3.4, 4.4 and 5.4. Notes on these components appear in 
later sections under the relevant table number.

Table 2.7
Public sector accounts

This table gives a consolidated current, capital and 
financial account, for the public sector together with the

General government and public sector finance

financial transactions relevant for the PSBR. The 
presentation follows that in the ‘public sector 
transactions’ section of the Financial Statement and 
Budget Report - Red Book’ (table 6.9), enabling the 
forecast of the components leading to the PSBR to be 
monitored. The presentation in Financial Statistics will 
automatically change to accommodate changes in the 
Budget Red Book.

A sub-sector analysis of these figures for the most 
recent complete financial year is published in 
supplementary table S13. More detailed description of 
the data is shown there, and in respect of the relevant 
tables from Sections 3, 4 and 5.

Table 2.8
Privatisation proceeds

Table 2.8 shows the privatisation proceeds received 
monthly by Central Government since April 1990. The 
table on page 33 shows the privatisation proceeds 
received in financial years since 1979 (prior to this there 
was a sale of shares in BP in 1977). Privatisation 
proceeds are recorded net of expenses which include the 
cost of the sale (advisers' fees, underwriting, bank fees 
etc), the cost of collecting instalments (if applicable) and 
the cost of distributing bonus shares ( if applicable). 
Certain other transactions may also be netted off the 
gross proceeds of a sale, eg a cash Injection (as 
occurred on the Water Offers) or a payment to cover a 
deficit in a pension fund (as occurred on the sale of the 
National Freight Consortium).

Where a company issued debt to the government prior 
to privatisation, on redemption the capital being 
redeemed will be Included within privatisation proceeds.

Where a privatisation was a sale by a nationalised 
industry or other public body of a subsidiary, the 
proceeds will normally accrue to the parent body and 
consequently will not contribute to privatisation proceeds. 
The exception to this is where some of the proceeds 
were received by Central Government ( eg the sale of 
Wytch Farm by British Gas).

Privatisation proceeds are shown in greater detail in 
Table 8.4 in the Statistical Supplement to the Autumn 
Statement (cm 1920). This table also shows the 

I proceeds from the main sales of subsidiaries.
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PRIVATISATION PROCEEDS
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Year

1979-80

1980-81

Amount (£m)

1981-82

1982-83

1983-84

1984-85

1985-86

1986-87

1987-88

1988-89

1989-90

1990-91

1991-92

377

210

493

455

1139

2050

2706

4458

5140

7069

4219

5345

7923

Main Contributors

BP (£276m), National Enterprise Board holdings (£37m)

National Enterprise Board holdings (£83m), British Aerospace 
(£43m)

Cable and Wireless (£181m), Amersham International (£64m)

Britoil (£334m), Associated British Ports (£46m)

BP (£543m), Britoil (second instalment; £293m), Cable and Wireless 
(£263m)

BT (£1358m), Enterprise Oil (£384m), National Enterprise Board 
holdings (£168m)

BT (second instalment; £1246m), Cable and Wireless (£577m), 
Britoil (£426m), British Aerospace (£347m)

British Gas (including debentures; £2570m), BT (third instalment; 
£1081 m), British Ainways (£435m)

British Gas (second instalment; £1758m), Rolls Royce (£1029m), 
BP (£863m), BAA (£543m), British Ain/vays (£419m)

BP (second instalment; £3030m), British Gas (third instalment; 
£1555m), British Steel (£1138m), BAA (second instalment; £689m)

BP (third instalment; £1363m), British Steel (second instalment; 
£1289m), British Gas (debentures; £800m). Water (£496m)

Electricity England and Wales (E3628m), Water (second instalment; 
£1750m)

Electricity England and Wales (second instalment; £2303m), Water 
(third instalment; £1304m). Electricity Scotland (£1156m), Electricity 
(debentures; £1083m)
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Financing of the public sector borrowing requirement In 199V
£ billion, net flows

Banks and 
building 
societies

National j
1 a Gilts^

11 Othersavings | 4.4
11 2.52.2 •1 1
1 i

1  i

1
111 t

Overseas
Private sector other sector®

than banks and 3.7
building societies 1

4.2

L  .  1  .  J

(

Financing of the public sector borrowing requirement (PSBR)

0.7
PC contribution 
to PSBR

t
7.7

Central Government 
borrowing requirement 

(CGBR)

0.6
LA contributions to 

PSBR

Public
corporations

0.1 '

Direct lending by 
CG 1

1.2
Direct lending by CG

Central Government 
borrowing on own 

account

Local
authorities

1. Consistent with the September 1992 issue of Financial Statistics.
2. Changes in foreign currency reserves are recorded as 

financing the borrowing requirement.
3. British government securities.

Arrows pointing upwards indicate repayments by the public sector.

t
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Section 3
Central government

The central government embraces all bodies for 
whose activities a Minister of the Crown, or other 
responsible person, is accountable to Parliament. It 
includes, in addition to the ordinary government 
departments, a number of bodies administering public 
policy but without the substantial degree of financial 
independence which characterises the public 
corporations: it also includes certain extra-budgetary 
funds and accounts controlled by departments, of which 
the National Insurance Fund is the most important. The 
accounts of the Northern Ireland departments are 
combined with those of the government of Great Britain. 
The issue department of the Bank of England is regarded 
as an agent of the central government and its financial 
transactions on behalf of the central government are 
treated as though they were transactions of the central 
government itself.

The first three tables give the central government 
accounts on a national accounts basis, showing how the 
current, capital and financial transactions respectively 
lead to the central government borrowing requirement. 
Table 3.4 shows how the borrowing requirement is 
financed, by sector and by type of financial instrument. 
The section also includes further details of British 
government securities, tables 3.5 and 3.6, Treasury bills 
tables 3.7 and 3.8, national saWngs tables 3.9 and 3.10 
and tax instnjments, table 3.11. It should be noted that 
in 1979 the Trustee Savings bank (TSB) was moved 
from central government to the OFI sector, and at the 
end of 1981 from the OFI sector into the banks sector. 
Up to 31 December 1980 the investment accounts of the 
National Savings bank was not part of central 
government but was included in other financial 
institutions.

The financial account is shown in table 1.2 and figures 
for the latest quarter in the matrix of table 1.1.

The presentation of the accounts of the central 
government, in terms of the statutory funds and 
accounts, is given in summary form in tables 3.13 to 
3.17. Their relationship to the accounts of central 
government on a national accounts basis is outlined 
below. Further details may be found in United Kingdom 
Natbnal Accounts: Sources and Methods. Chapter IX.

All government revenue, other than borrowing and 
certain sums received by government departments in the 
course of their normal activities (known as 
appropriations-in-aid), is ultimately paid into an account 
with the Bank of England which forms the Consolidated 
Fund. With certain exceptions (the main ones being 
government loans and national insurance benefits), all 
expenditure by the government is paid out of Issues from 
this fund. All money raised by the creation of debt is paid 
into a separate cash account at the Bank of England - 
National Loans Fund (NLF) - together with receipts 
representing repayment of loans made by the State from 
the fund and interest on those loans. The National Loans 
Fund is the channel through which pass all the 
government’s borrowing transactions as well as most of 
its domestic lending transactions and the servicing (i.e. 
interest and expenses) of the 'national debt.’

The Consolidated Fund and National Loans Fund 
accounts are statements of cash flows through the UK 
government accounts with the Bank of England, and

show receipts and payments under headings which 
correspond to the requirements of Parliamentary control. 
Most transactions are with departments and other 
government bodies, and are thus internal to the central 
government sector. Examples of Consolidated 
Fund/Natlonal Loans Fund transactions with bodies 
outside the central government sector are interest on and 
management expenses of the national debt and 
transactions in marketable securities.

Departments and other government bodies have 
transactions direct with other sectors and although their 
accounts record these transactions in a good deal of 
detail, the accounts are not in a form suitable for national 
accounting purposes. Three principal operations have to 
be carried out to fit the large mass of data into the 
national accounts framework. In the first place the 
various accounts have to be consolidated so that only 
transactions of the government, considered as a whole 
with the rest of the economy remain; that is, many 
transactions internal to the central government sector - 
such as those with the Consolidated Fund and the 
National Loans Fund - have to be eliminated. Secondly, 
the transactions with the rest of the economy have to be 
classified according to the economic categories used in 
the national accounts. And thirdly, where the information 
is available, the figures shown in the central government 
funds and accounts, which represent cash flows, are 
adjusted on to a payable/receivable or accruals basis to 
make them consistent with other sectors of the national 
accounts.

In the first process of consolidation transactions 
between any two parts of the central government are, 
with certain exceptions, eliminated. In particular, most 
transactions between the Consolidated Fund, National 
Loans Fund and departments disappear. As an example, 
we may consider the case of taxes collected by the 
Inland Revenue. The department in due course passes 
the money it collects to the Consolidated Fund. On 
consolidating, the payment by the department to the 
Consolidated Fund disappears, so that the consolidated 
central government current account in general shows 
only receipts of taxes by the department from other 
sectors. Similarly issues of money from the Consolidated 
Fund to departments to finance departmental expenditure 
{supply services in table 3.13) disappear in the process 
of consolidation, and only payments by departments 
made outside the central government appear in the 
consolidated account. Departmental receipts and 
payments, as recorded in the consolidated account of the 
central government constructed for national accounts 
purposes, may therefore differ significantly from the 
receipts and issues as recorded in the accounts of the 
Consolidated Fund and National Loans Fund because of 
timing differences. Internal transactions are not 
eliminated when the economic category of the payment 
by one part of the government differs from that of the 
receipt by the other part; they are recorded twice, as 
both income and expenditure. Thus national insurance 
contributions paid by the government in respect of its 
employees, although effectively internal, form part of 
government expenditure on wages and salaries and are 
also included in the total receipts of national insurance 
contributions. Similarly taxes on expenditure forming part
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of expenditure on goods and services by the government 
are not eliminated in the process of consolidation.

The object of the second main process applied to the 
accounts of the central government departments and 
bodies is to present the transactions of the government 
in categories which are economically significant and to 
relate the government's activities to those of the rest of 
the economy. This calls for a reclassification of 
government transactions, as set out in the accounts 
presented annually to Parliament (i.e. by function or 
programme), into economic categories in accordance 
with the principles adopted for national income 
accounting as a whole. Although the nature and purpose 
of most government transactions is fairly clear, in some 
cases the distinctions are not easy to draw. A principal 
consideration, however, is that the classification should 
be consistent with the treatment of these transactions in 
other sectors of the economy, and It may thus be 
influenced by the data available for other sectors.

The third process concerns the basis of recording 
transactions. For reasons connected with the 
maintenance of Parliamentary control, the accounts of 
central government departments, bodies and funds are 
recorded entirely on a cash basis. The figures appearing 
in the central government current and capital accounts, 
on the other hand, though based on the cash statements 
presented to Parliament, refer only in part to cash 
payments and receipts; certain items are adjusted from 
a cash basis to a payable/receivable, or accruals, basis 
to be more consistent with the figures in the 
corresponding accounts of the sectors concerned in 
transactions with the government. It is worth noting that 
the difficulties of obtaining consistency between the 
government accounts and those of the rest of the 
economy do not arise in the case of activities for which 
accounts are prepared on a commercial, or 
payable/receivable, basis. These include the transactions 
for central government trading activities. Further details 
of the accruals adjustments are given in the notes to 
tables 3.1 to 3.3. In addition to the accruals adjustments, 
the natbnal accounts also include the consumption of 
non-trading capital, which is an imputed item not 
appearing in the cash accounts of central government 
departments, bodies and funds.

Quality of data
A note on the reliability of the data is given in United 

Kingdom Natbnal Accounts: Sources and Methods, 
paragraph 9.168.

Tables 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3
Current, capital and financial accounts

The figures are derived mainly from returns giving 
cash payments and receipts for the various funds and 
accounts; but in order to maintain consistency with the 
basis on which certain transactions are recorded in other 
sectors it is necessary to replace some items' cash 
figures with accrued figures. These items are identified 
in the notes below.

The transactions in these tables are shown seasonally 
adjusted as well as unadjusted. The adjustments are 
such that the calendar year totals of the seasonally 
adjusted series are equal to those of the unadjusted 
series, i.e. the seasonally adjusted series is calendar 
year constrained.
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Table 3.1
Current account receipts

Taxes on incomecoyers income tax, surtax, petroleum 
revenue tax. supplementary petroleum duty, corporation 
tax less overspill relief and IBA levy. Income tax is 
recorded on an accruals basis consistent with the way it 
is recorded in the accounts of the other sectors, i.e. as 
the tax deductions from income are actually made. The 
difference between these accruals and the actual 
amounts received by the Inland Revenue is included in 
the financial account as an accruals adjustment.

Taxes on expenditure consists of taxes which enter 
into costs of production auid distribution, such as taxes 
on tobacco, value added tcu. selective employment tax, 
national insurance surcharge, etc. Also treated as taxes 
on expenditure are taxes on final buyers associated with 
the purchase, possession or use of particular goods, for 
instance motor vehicle licence duties and stamp duties 
on the transfer of property. The figures for selective 
employment tax. national insurance surcharge, purchase 
tax, value added tax. car tax. gas levy, customs and 
excise revenue on beer, alcoholic drinks, tobacco, 
hydrocarbon oils, customs duties and EC agricultural 
levies and Northern Ireland rates represent the amount 
of these taxes accruing during the period rather than the 
actual receipts. From 1990 second quarter National Non- 
Domestic-Rates are included. These replaced local 
authority non-domestic rates in April 1990 and were then 
classified as a Central Government tax. Details of the 
various taxes are shown annually in United Kingdom 
Natbnal Accounts.

Natbnal insurance, natbnal health. Redundancy Fund 
and Maternity Pay Fund contributbns are the aggregate 
of the estimated employers’ and employees’ contributions 
and premiums associated with the minimum state 
pension scheme. Following the introduction of the system 
of earnings-related contributions in April 1975, they are 
shown in the account on an accruals basis. Contributions 
by employers under the Statutory sick pay scheme are 
included from April 1983 and for the maternity fund from 
April 1967. Collectively these contributions are shown as 
Social security contributions.

Gross trading surplus is the balance of trading receipts 
overtrading expenditure before deducting any provision 
for depreciation and interest charges, ft excludes the 
income arising from the ownership and letting of land, 
buildings, and other fixed assets which appears as rent, 
but includes income from the ownership of property used 
for government trading activities.

Rent and royalties, etc. comprises, along with rent, 
licence fees and accrued royalties on North Sea oil and 
gas production. From 1990 royalties are on a cash basis.

Interest and dividends etc. comprises interest from: (a) 
local authorities i.e. on loans, the premium payable under 
the exchange cover scheme, and the income of the 
National Insurance Fund and the Issue Department of 
the Bank of England in respect of their investment in 
local authorities debt; (b) public corporations i.e interest 
on loans, dividends on public dividend capital and the 
premium payable under the exchange cover scheme and 
(c) Interest on loans to the private sector, dividends on 
share holdings and the investment income of certain 
extra-budgetary funds received from outside the public 
sector. Includes debenture receipts by British 
Telecommunications (Statutory Corporation) from British
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Telecommunications to finance its excepted liabilities 
relating to deficiencies in the Post Office and British 
Telecommunications pension funds in respect of service 
before 1969.

Miscellaneous current transfers comprise receipts from 
driving licences, public service vehicle licence fees, 
passport fees, dog and gun licences, and fines and 
penalties in Magistrates and Scottish courts.

Imputed charge for consumption o f non-trading capital. 
The provision of non-trading activities requires the use of 
capital assets. The amortisation of these assets is 
charged to current expenditure as capital consumption 
and generates an equal notional receipt.

Current account expenditure
Final consumption relates to non-trading activities, and 

consists of payments for the service of employees, 
capital consumption, and purchases of goods and 
services other than purchases of fixed assets and stocks. 
For certain items cash payments do not accurately 
represent the expenditure being incurred, since they are 
subject to either random fluctuations of timing (e.g. 
military defence purchases of goods and services) or 
periodic payments (e.g. rates on government property) 
and are likely to be inconsistent with the transactions 
recorded by other sectors. The method of dealing with 
this problem is to redistribute the cash figures over the 
financial year generally assuming a smooth trend of 
expenditure during the year. This treatment for military 
defence was stopped in 1983.

Subsidies are payments to a producer or trader having 
the effect of reducing selling prices to final buyers. For 
consistency with the accounts of other sectors, certain 
subsidies are recorded on an accruals basis. It also 
includes receipts and payments from the banks of any 
excess income arising from their fixed rate credit scheme 
lending; this is recorded on an accrued basis.

Social security benefits comprise national insurance 
benefits excluding payments to non-residents which are 
treated as current grants paid abroad. Plus redundancy 
and maternity fund benefits and other non-funded social 
security benefits such as war pensions and allowances, 
family benefits and supplementary benefits.

Other cument grants to personal sector mainly consist 
of grants to universities, colleges etc. and various 
employment benefits such as the Youth Training 
Scheme.

Current grant to tocal authorities includes from April 
1990 National-non-Domestic Rate distribution. Separate 
figures are shown in table 4.1.

Debt interest relates to central government debt held 
by other sectors. The payments include those made to 
local authorities and public corporations arising from 
guaranteeing interest payments on borrowing under the 
exchange cover schemes; interest paid on public 
corporations’ deposits; from September 1981 the indexed 
additions to principal of index-linked gilts which are offset 
by accruals adjustments. Includes payments to the Post 
Office and British Telecommunications pension funds by 
the British Telecommunications (Statutory Corporation) 
of interest received by them relating to deficiencies in the 
pension fund in respect of service before 1969.

Table 3.2
Capital account

This table shows non-financial capital receipts and 
expenditure leading to the balance, financial surplus or 
deficit.

The receipts consist of:

Current surplus brought forward from the current 
account.

Taxes on capital. The main Items are death duties and 
taxes on capital gains, and in 1981 and 1982, the special 
tax on banking deposits.

Other capital receipts comprise mainly receipts from 
certain public corporations on disposal of assets.

Capital account payments comprise:
Gross domestic fixed capital formation is distinguished 

from final consumption in that it creates physical assets 
which will provide services in the future. It includes 
financial leasing.

Increase in value of stocks including trading bodies, 
mainly the net cost of purchases by the Intervention 
Board for Agricultural Produce, and emergency and 
strategic stocks.

Capital transfers to private sector, local authorities, 
public corporations and to overseas.

Table 3.3
Financial account and balancing item

Accruals adjustments. These are the adjustments 
made to the central government cash figures of receipts 
and expenditure for consistency with the basis on which 
the transactions are recorded in other sectors. Accruals 
series are converted to a cash basis by subtracting the 
accruals adjustment. The accruals adjustments are 
shown separately classified as financial liabilities or 
assets as appropriate.

Transactions concerning certain public sector pension 
schemes are mainly the net receipts of total pension 
contributions less pensions actually paid in respect of 
notionally funded pension schemes. They include 
notional payment in respect of employers’ contributions 
under the Pensions Increase Act for teachers and 
National Health Service workers. In table 1.2 they are 
shown under life assurance and pension funds.

Borrowing for financial leasing comprises borrowing 
less capital repayments for finance leasing. See notes to 
1991 United Kingdom National Accounts for details.

Other identified financial liabilities (net), which toss the 
balancing item was formerly miscellaneous financial 
receipts. Included are transactions with BNOC in 
connection with its advance sales of oil up to 1981 
quarter tour, deposits into Courts Funds, and 
compensation payments relating to the transfer of fixed 
assets to the National Health Service from local 
authorities up to 1983 first quarter (see notes to table 
4.3). The difference between accrued military defence 
purchase and cash payments are included as identified 
trade credit prior to 1983.

Borrowing requirement indicates the extent to which 
the government borrows from other sectors of the 
economy to finance the balance of expenditure and 
receipts arising from its various activities. A sizeable part 
of the borrowing is used to finance central government 
lending to local authorities and public corporations. The
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borrowing requirement is measured by reference to the 
transactions by which central government finances its 
borrowing; details of how the borrowing is financed are 
given in tables 3.4, 3.6, 3.8 and 3.9.

Net lending to private sector includes refinanced 
shipbuilding credits.

Net lending to public corporations excludes 
transactions in connection with writing off debt. Public 
dividend capital which is a form of long-term finance for 
public corporations, earning dividends rather than 
interest, and other special advances to public 
corporations are shown separately.

Public dividend capital etc. reflects redemption of 
public dividend capital by the National Enterprise Board 
and purchase from the National Enterprise Board of 
shares in Rolls Royce and British Leyland for the same 
amount {£234 million relating to Rolls Royce in the third 
quarter of 1980 and £1,228 million relating to British 
Leyiand in first quarter 1981).

Net lending overseas includes refinanced export 
credits.

Company securities includes receipts from sales of 
assets. The government’s main privatisation sales are 
included here.

Timeliness
The statistics are normally published in the fourth 

month after the end of the quarter.

Further references
The central government current account with an 

accompanying commentary is also published in the 
January, April, July and October issues of Economic 
Trends; a longer run of quarterly data appears in the 
October issue.

Further information is included in Chapter IX United 
Kingdom National Accounts: Sources and Methods and 
in the notes to the United Kingdom Natbnal Accounts 
‘Blue Book’. Annual figures for the latest eleven years, 
giving a detailed analysis of a number of the items, are 
published in the 'Blue Book’.

Table 3.4
Financing of the central government 
borrowing requirement

Table 3.4 shows the main financial instruments 
through which the central government borrows to finance 
the central government borrowing requirement (CGBR). 
The table is in two parts: the first gives details of the 
changes in the financial liabilities and assets of the 
central government which in aggregate match the 
borrowing requirement. The second part shows the 
changes in the net indebtedness of the central 
government to other sectors, changes in the official 
reserves being included in the figure for the overseas 
sector. The estimated changes in net indebtedness 
recorded in the second part of the table arise not only 
from transactions between the central government and 
other sectors, but also from transactions between the 
other sectors. As in the financial accounts, notes and 
coin acquired by Scottish and Northern Ireland banks to 
cover increases in notes issued by them, are excluded 
from the figures for the banking sector and included in 
the figures for the other sectors. In table 3.4 increase in
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assets are shown as negative, decreases as positive.

Liabilities
Notes and coin: the increase in notes in circulation 

(that is the increase in the fiduciary note issue less the 
increase in the holding of notes in the Banking 
Department of the Bank of England) plus the increase in 
issued coin.

Treasury bills. The change in Treasury bills 
outstanding excluding those held by the Bank of 
England, government departments and the National Debt 
Commissioners. The change in Treasury bills outstanding 
also excludes changes in those holdings of overseas 
monetary authorities which are the counterparts of 
central t»nk assistance in support of the resen/es in the 
form of swaps against sterling: these changes form part 
of other government overseas financing.

British government securities. Total cash issues of 
British government and government-guaranteed 
securities less redemptions including the operations of 
government sinking funds, and less net purchase of 
government and government-guaranteed securities by 
the Bank of England (including those under purchase 
and resale agreements) and the National Debt 
Commissioners.

Natbnal savings comprise the total contribution to the 
financing of the CGBR from national savings as shown 
in table 3.9. See that table for further details.

Tax instruments: These consist primarily of certificates 
of tax deposits - net receipts from deposits less 
withdrawals plus items in transit. These certificates were 
introduced in October 1975 (see notes to table 3.11), 
small repayments of tax reserve certificates (whose 
issues stopped after June 1973) are also included and 
between April 1973 and October 1974 tax deposit 
accounts.

Net indebtedness to the Bank of England, Banking 
Department. The government usually has a net liability to 
the banking department of the Bank of England, which 
holds government debt of various kinds and at the same 
time has liabilities to the government in the shape of the 
balances of the National Loans Fund and the Paymaster 
General at the Bank of England. Transactions are also 
classified here when the Banking Department has a 
surplus.

This item comprises the sum of the increases in the 
Banking Department’s holdings of notes and coin, tax 
instruments, British government securities and Treasury 
bills, less increases in the liabilities of the 
Banking Department to the government (i.e. in the 
balances of the National Loans Fund and Paymaster 
General at the Bank of England).

The government's net indebtedness to the Bank of 
England changes as a result of the Bank’s central 
banking operations. A rise in the government’s net 
indebtedness helps to finance the government’s 
borrowing requirement.

Northern Ireland central government debt. This item 
consists of net sales of Northern Ireland government 
securities. Northern Ireland Treasury bills, Ulster saving 
certificates and Ulster development bonds together with 
the increase in bank and building society advances to the 
Northern Ireland central government. Borrowing by the 
Northern Ireland government under the exchange cover 
scheme is included under government foreign currency
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debt
Cost of exchange cover scheme on repayment of 

pnncipal. There are two ways in which borrowing in 
foreign currency can be undertaken, direct from overseas 
or through the UK banks. Certain foreign currency 
borrowers have access to this scheme; these are 
primarily public corporations but also Include local 
authorities and some private sector companies 
(particularly privatised former public corporations). If they 
do, central government guarantees to cover any addition 
to the sterling cost of Interest payments and repayments 
of the loan arising from a fall in the exchange rate 
between the time the loan is negotiated and the time it is 
repaid (conversely central government would benefit in 
the event of sterling appreciation). Losses and gains 
arising on interest payments are included under central 
government expenditure: debt interest in table 3.1. Only 
the cost of guaranteeing repayments of principal is 
recorded in table 3.4.

It is important to note that, in practice, no payments as 
such occur, i.e. the exchange losses or gains are purely 
notional. Under the exchange cover scheme, the 
beneficiary is entitled to purchase the foreign currency 
needed to repay the loan (interest) at the original 
exchange rate from the Exchange Equalisation Account. 
However in the local authorities’, the public corporations’ 
and company accounts (tables 4.4, 5.4 and 8.2) 
repayments of borrowing are shown at the current market 
exchange rate in line with the balance of payments 
statistics. The item cost of exchange cover scheme on 
repayments of principal is needed as an adjustment to 
bring the figures back to an original exchange rate basis. 
A charge is made by central government for the 
guarantee. This is included under central government 
receipts: interest and dividends etc. in table 3.1.

Other public sector financing: central government 
comprises ways and means advances by the National 
Coal Board, the British Gas Corporation, and the Crown 
Agents Holdings and Realisation Board, and repayments 
by the Fund for the Banks for Savings to the Trustee 
savings banks and deposits by public corporations with 
the National Loans Fund (including a repayment to a 
corporation after it was privatised), and balances of 
certain trading funds (classified as public corporations) 
with the Paymaster General.

Government foreign currency debt includes foreign 
currency borrowing by HM government under bank euro
dollar facilities from governments and central monetary 
authorities abroad (including foreign currency deposits), 
issues and redemptions of British government foreign 
currency bonds, drawings by the IMF and borrowing by 
the Northern Ireland central government from the 
European Investment Bank under the exchange cover 
scheme. HMG’s dollar floating rate note issues are also 
included here.

Other government overseas financing covers all 
central government transactions with overseas not 
elsewhere included, such as sterling borrowing from 
governments or from central monetary authorities in the 
form of assistance with a sterling counterpart invested in 
Treasury bills (aid bills), amounts swapped forward into 
later months against sterling with overseas monetary 
authorities in 1971 and 1972, transfers from the 
Government’s dollar portfolio into the reserves, gold 
subscriptions to the IMF, changes in IMF holdings of

non-interest bearing notes other than those arising from 
drawings or subscriptions, allocation of SDRs, the 
Exchange Equalisation Account's loss on forward 
commitments entered into before devaluation in 1967. 
Further details are shown in United Kingdom National 
Accounts table 7.4.

Assets
Issue dept, transactions in bills, etc. and indirect 

lending to other public sector. Market transactions by the 
Issue Department of the Bank of England, and by the 
National Debt Commissioners. It also includes the 
purchases and resales by the Issue Department of 
promissory notes relating to export credit backed by the 
ECGD and to shipbuilding finance and government- 
guaranteed stock (redemptions). The latter represents 
payments to the central government by nationalised 
industries for the redemption of their government- 
guaranteed stock at maturity. All redemptions of 
government-guaranteed stock held by the public are 
treated as being made by the central government which 
itself may hold (through the Bank of England issue 
department) amounts of stock purchased in the market 
prior to redemption. All transactions wKh the public in 
government guaranteed stocks (including purchases at 
redemption) are included in the item British government 
securities.

Net change in official reserves (other than the 
increases arising from the transfer of the government’s 
portfolio of dollar securities). Changes In sterling value 
due to changes in exchange rates (revaluation) are 
excluded. From 23 August 1971 valued in sterling at 
transactions rates of exchange, and previously at parity.

Deposits with banks. These figures are deposits by 
central government with the banks sector and are 
obtained from the banks sector statistics.

Timeliness
Quarterly figures for the net borrowing requirement are 

published in Financial Statistics one month after the end 
of the quarter to which they relate. The analysis by type 
of instrument is available two months in arrears, followed 
one month later by the sector analysis.

Tables 3.5 and 3.6
Government and government-guaranteed 
marketable securities

Table 3.5 starts with the cash value of net issues of 
British government and government-guaranteed 
securities by the National Loans Fund (NLF); after 
deducting net purchases by official holders one has the 
value of net official sales to the market which is split into 
conventbnal and index-linked stock. The table then 
shows official purchases of index-linked stocks and gross 
official sales of index-linked stocks. Finally the first half 
shows a maturity analysis of the figure for net official 
sales of conventional stock; figures are distinguished for 
redemptions, net official purchases of securities up to 
one year's residual maturity, transactions (of all 
maturities) under purchases and resale agreements 
(repos) and gross official sales which are shown in three 
maturity bands.

The second half of the table analyses by sector the 
net official sales. Details of how this is estimated are
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given in Section 1.
Table 3.6 analyses for each month the net issues by 

the NLF (shown quarterly in the first column of table 3.5) 
into gross issues and redemptions of individual 
securities, giving the name of the security and the cash 
amount received on issue or subsequent instalment or 
paid on redemption.

Timeliness
Quarterly figures are published in Financial Statistics 

three months in arrears.

Further references
This information with some additional detail is 

published in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

Table 3.7
Treasury bills

The table gives a sector analysis by holder at the end 
of period together with an analysis of transactions by 
sector of holder derived from the financial accounts; 
details are described in Section 1.

Market Treasury bills are the total of Treasury bills 
outstanding other than those held by the National Debt 
Commissioners (apart from those held on behalf of the 
National Savings Bank Investment Fund up to the end of 
1980), other government departments and the Bank of 
England. They comprise bills issued at the weekly 
tenders, other than those issued to the banking 
department of the Bank of England for its own account, 
plus any bills - including bills originally issued outside the 
tender (tap bills) • sold to the market by government 
departments or the Bank of England less any bills 
purchased from the market by such bodies.

Timeliness
Quarterly figures are published in Financial Statistics 

three months In arrears.

Further references
Quarterly transactions by holders are also available in 

the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin and the Bank of 
England Statistica} Abstract.

Table 3.8
Treasury bill tender

The figures relate to the weekly Treasury bill tender. 
Treasury bills are a short-term government liability 

normally having a life of ninety-one days. They are 
offered for sale by tender on the last working day of each 
week.

The members of the London Discount Market 
Association, by long standing agreement, tender each 
week for at least the full amount of the bills on offer.

Treasury bills are one of the instruments which the 
Bank of England purchases in its open market 
operations.

Tables 3.9 and 3.10
National savings

The figures relate to national savings products which 
are provided by the State, or are under State 
supervision. The main legislation is contained in the

National Loans Act 1968; the Trustee Savings Bank Acts 
1969 and 1976; the National Savings Bank Act 1971; the 
National Debt Act 1972; and In regulations deriving from 
these acts.

From the November 1979 issue no new figures are 
added to the Trustee savings banks (ordinary or new 
department) columns, with the amalgamation of the 
departments on 21 November 1979; for statistical 
purposes the change is being recorded from 30 
September. Combing figures for all Trustee savings 
banks are given in table 7.1 thereafter.

Table 3.9 shows the range of products on offer. The 
National Savings Bank (NSB) has an Ordinary Account 
and an Investment Account.

Trustee savings banks figures were included in British 
savings bonds and SAYE until May 1982; under other 
securities on the National Savings Stock Register (prior 
to 21 November 1979) and In Trustee savings banks’ 
ordinary department (prior to 30 September 1979).

From September 1979 the amount of £7.7 million is 
excluded from national savings stamps and gift tokens in 
respect of stamps deemed to be outstanding and written 
off on 15 August 1979.

Total contributions to the financing of the CGBR 
includes accrued interest and payments into NILO.

The financial accounts
The figures shown for national savings in the financial 

accounts and supporting tables (tables 1.1,1.2,1.5,1.9 
and 9.2) and in the financing of the central government 
borrowing requirement, table 3.4, relate to National 
Savings Certificates, SAYE, Yearly Plan, British Savings 
Bonds, Premium Savings Bonds, National Savings 
Stamps and Gift Tokens; the NSB Ordinary Account; the 
NSB Investment Account. Income Bonds, Indexed- 
Income Bonds Deposit Bonds, Capital Bonds, Children’s 
Bonus Bonds and First Option Bonds. Prior to January 
1981 the NSB Investment Account did not form part of 
the central government sector in the financial accounts; 
it was considered to be a financial institution. 
Consequently, deposits with it were not part of national 
savings as defined here, but were included in the other 
financial institutions as deposits with savings banks. 
Sales of stock from the National Savings Stock Register 
are included as public sector sales of British government 
securities to persons (tables 1.2,1.5 and 3.5).

Up to the end of the first quarter of 1977, transactions 
are deemed to relate solely to persons. From the second 
quarter of 1977 onwards the data take account of 
holdings by local authorities, building societies, pension 
funds and certain other non-profit making bodies in the 
NSB investment account. With effect from 1 October 
1981 the investment account was opened to investment 
by registered companies and other corporate bodies 
trading for profit. From 1 January 1990 new holdings are 
restricted to personal savers and trustees for individuals.

Figures for the personal sector (table 9.5), except for 
securities on the National Savings Stock Register, are 
split into two headings:

certificates, bonds and SAYE - National 
Savings Certificates. British Savings Bonds, 
Premium Savings Bonds, SAYE, Yearly Plan, 
National Savings Stamps and Gift Tokens, 
Income Bonds, Indexed-Income Bonds.
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Deposit Bonds, Capital Bonds, Children’s 
Bonus Bonds, and First Option Bonds.
Ordinary and Investment Account - National 
Savings Bank

The public sector figures (tables 1.2 and 1.5) are 
those in the central government borrowing requirement 
(table 3.4) and consist of the national savings figures, 
defined above for the personal sector. Deposits with 
savings banks, appear as part of the other financial 
institutions (OFI) sector transactions (tables 1.6 and 1.7).

Since November 1980 figures provided by DNS are a 
record of purchases and repayments as made by the 
public at post offices and other agencies (mainly banks) 
and not a record of the movement of monies into and out 
of the Director of Saving’s account with the Bank of 
England as previously.

The contribution to the CGBR records the net capital 
payment into the National Loans Fund in respect of 
certificates, bonds, SAVE etc. schemes, NSB deposits 
plus net accrued interest less any increases in ways and 
means advances of the DNS with the Paymaster 
General. The difference between this figure and the total 
national savings contribution to the PSBR is attributed to 
public corporations’ transactions in national savings and 
appears under that heading in Section 1 and as 
transactions in public sector (central government) debt in 
tables 2.5 and 5.4.

Definition of items
Net transactions (table 3.9) are the differences in the 

amounts outstanding, including interest between one 
period and the next.

Net receipts (table 3.10) are the net differences 
between new purchases plus capital uplift on Yearly Plan 
and repayments (see Yearly Plan below) in the period. 
For National Savings Certificates, SAYE and Yearly Plan 
the amounts of interest/bonus/index-linked increase 
repaid are included in repayments.

IndeX’ linked increase is the amount by which the 
capital invested, in order to retain its original value, would 
have to be increased by revaluing in line with the Retail 
Prices Index (RPI).

The columns in respect of National Savings 
Certificates in table 3.10 show purchases; repayments of 
principal and accrued interest/ index-linking/ bonuses/ 
supplements. Table 3.9 shows amounts of principal and 
accrued interest/ index-linking/ bonuses/ supplements 
remaining invested at the end of the period. The special 
features of the index-linked issues require separate 
presentation.

A total is given in table 3.9 for the amount outstanding 
for British Savings Bonds, other securities on the 
National Savings Stock Register as well as for National
Savings Stamps and Gift Tokens deemed to be in the 
hands of the public.

British Savings Bonds are shown together with 
National Savings Stamps and Gift Tokens as a net 
transaction on table 3.10.

Premium Savings Bonds, and Income Bonds and 
Indexed-lncome Bonds combined are analysed by 
purchases and repayments (table 3.10) and the amounts 
remaining invested at the end of the period (table 3.9).

In table 3.9 data for SAYE fixed interest, index linked 
and Yearly Plan are now shown separately. In table 3.10

SAYE fixed interest issues are shown together. For both 
tables capital refers to the amount subscribed for SAYE 
and the amount subscribed or the certificate value (the 
amount subscribed in the first year plus the interest 
earned in the first year) for Yearly Plans. The capital 
uplift column in table 3.10 refers to the amount of Interest 
earned by monthly subscriptions to Yearly Plan which is 
capitalised at the end of the first year and is counted as 
a net receipt of capital. The figures do not include SAYE 
administered by the building societies, see notes to 
tables 7.6 to 7.8. Figures for repayments of accrued 
index-linked increase up to 31 July 1980 are for sums 
paid in respect of deceased savers’ contracts; the 
amounts outstanding of accrued index-linked increase up 
to 31 July 1980 are for deceased savers' contracts which 
have not yet been repaid. From 1 August 1980 figures 
include index-linking on all contracts which have reached 
the fifth anniversary of the start date. Details of the 
number of contracts with DNS and TSBs combined, in 
force at the end of the period for the First, Second and 
Third issues, were included until July 1980.

Statistics for the NSB are split between the ‘Ordinary’ 
and the ‘Investment Account’ services for each of which 
deposits, withdrawals, accrued interest and balance at 
the end of the period are shown. The same information 
appears for Deposit Bonds, Capital Bonds, Children's 
Bonus Bonds and First Option Bonds in table 3.10.

Accruals
The gross accrued interest, index-linked increase, 

bonus, or supplement on any form of National Savings is 
the amount of interest, index-linking, bonus, or 
supplement that the central government could be called 
upon to pay out. It is therefore subject to step changes 
reflecting the terms of issue, and is not necessarily 
calculated according to a constant rate of growth at 
which the amount might be thought of as being gradually 
earned. Hence for example the index-linking on SAYE 
contracts (series ACUN and ACVP in table 3.9) does not 
begin to accrue until August 1980, five years after their 
introduction, in line with their terms of issue (see the 
Annex below); and the August 1980 figure represents 
five years growth in the value of the initial contracts.

Accrued interest can be calculated gross and net (i.e. 
after repayment of interest) for most National Savings 
products, but can only be calculated gross for savings 
bank deposits and deposit bonds for which repayments 
of principal and interest are indistinguishable.

Publication sequence
The previous calendar month’s estimated figures are 

first published in a press notice issued by the 
Department for National Savings (DNS) usually on the 
second or third Sunday in the month. The figures next 
appear, also towards the end of the month, in Financial 
Statistics with revised figures for the earlier months as 
more up to dale information becomes available.

At any point in time the most recent figures appearing 
in tables 3.9 and 3.10 are provisional estimates. After a 
few months, firm figures are substituted which, until April 
1986 were generally on a Post Office accounting month 
basis. Exceptions were data on savings bank accounts, 
deposit bonds, SAYE and Yearly plan where the data 
referred to calendar months. From 1 April 1986 all data 
are on a calendar month basis. Revisions to data are
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part of a continuous process.

Method of compilation
All statistics are obtained from official DNS sources 

and the Treasury. The figures are collated by DNS to 
provide the entries in tables 3.9 and 3.10. The data 
series were revised from April 1986 following the re- 
estimation of accrued interest on savings certificates 
which coincided with the adoption of an improved 
transaction accounting system.

Further references
Quarterly figures of both the number and value of 

SAVE accounts opened and closed, and balances 
outstanding, are shown for DNS in a quarterly 
supplementary table in Financial Statistics, together with 
information on SAVE transacted through building 
societies.

The Annual Abstract of Statistics, table 16.9 (1990), 
provides long annual series (usually covering the last ten 
years) of statistics on a financial year basis.

The Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin includes 
national savings statistics in the table 'Analysis of 
government debt* and the Bank of England Statistical 
Abstract, No 2 contains the same information for the 
years 1963 to 1975.

The Digest of Welsh Statistics, the Scottish Abstract 
of Statistics and the Digest of Statistics, Northern Ireland 
provide data on investment and repayments relating to 
the three areas.

Annex to Tables 3.9 and 3.10
Terms

Grvon below ere the current terms offered on the mein forms of netionaJ savings. Fi^ther 
details ere evailaUe from the Department for Netonel Savings. 375 Kensington High Street 
London W14 BSD.

NmUm m /  sw n ca  ceretfceres* in terest index*linked inaeases. bonuses and supplements 
are free of income tax and capM  gams tax.

ffxa d  intprwst issues: details of the terms on individual fixed interest issues from  1980 are 
set cut in  the table below.

bme wiQ repayment value be lees than purchase pnce. Manmum holding C l ,200.

Secondm dex^n^ed Issu r (on saie from  17 November I960 to  29 June 1965).
Terms ft mHar to retrrement ieeue except for age reathctone. Originafty restrided to persons

aged sixty years or over, but ir^n im jm  age reduced to fifty  years on 6 Apn1 1961. «>d age 
reeSKbon eompietely removed on 7 SapleiTfaer 1961 M axinum  holdng £10,000.

Issue
Period 
of sale

Compound 
interest 

guaranteed 
(M r five 

years
Value 

o f unit
Majdnum

hdding

25th 17/11/82-13^8^
(% P 8 )

7.51
(0
25

(0
5.000

26th 1S/&63-19/3/84 8.25 25 5.000
2^ h 5/4/84-7/8/84 7.25 25 5,000
28th 6/8/84-11/M 4 9.00 25 5.000
29th 15/10/84-12/2/85 800 25 5.000
30th 13/2 /8S -^M 5 885 25 5.000
31st 2 & 9 ^ 1 1 /1 1 /8 6 7.85 25 10.000
32nd 12/11/65-10/3/87 875 25 5.000
33rd 1/5/87-21/7/88 7.00 25 1.000
34th 22/7/68-16/6/90 7.60 25 1,000
35th 18890-14/3/91 9.50 25 1.000
36th 2/4/91-2^/92 8.50 25 10,000
37th 13/5/92-5/8/92 8.00 25 7.500
38lh 24/892 7.50 25 5.000

For 34th 35th 36(h 37th and 36lh Issue holders of previous matured oertficates may re
invest these certificates up to the vdue of £ 10,000 in addifion to  the maximum holdings

/ntfex-4nfced issues:
R0t f 0rm n i issue: (on sale from 2 June 1975 to 15 November 1980).
Avblafale to people of national retfrement pension age in £10 unrts. Repayment value 

related to the movement of the UK Retail Pnces Index (RPI) between purchase date and 
repayment, excepS that rf encashed within one yew  of purchase repayment at face value only. 
A bonus c4 £4% c4 the purchase phce was added to certificates on the fifth anniversary of the 
pcrchase date and then index-linked to the date of repayment A second bonus of £4% of the 
fifth anriversw y value w ill be added to cerfificates on the tenth anniversary of the pirchasa 
dale and ba indax-Nnked to  the date of rapayment. A supplement of £2.4% of the 30 October 
1962 vNue of the certificate was added to  certificates on 1 N ovenfiw  1983 and Index-Krtî ed 
to the date of repayment Simflar supplements o f £2 4%, £3%, £3%  £4%  £3% and £1.5% 
were added 1o certificates on 1 November 1984,1  N o v e n ^  1985,1 August 1966,1  August 
1987,1 August 1908 and 1 August 1989. No further annual supplements will be added At no

TTiirtf  ind0x^ink0d  (on safe fiom  1 July 1085 to  31 J i^  1066)
Avalable in  £25 u n fit up Id a maemum hotting o f £5,000. Each year the certificate v^ue 

grows by the annual inflation rale as measured by the RPI plus the e x ft  interest rale for thw  
yew  For this issue the amount of e iT a  im weat nses from £25%  in the first yew  Id £5.25% 
In the fifth  yew : overmfi £3.54% per annum above the inflation m e  ff the eertifica ti ie held for 
five k il yeers. C ertficatee held a ftw  motijoty w ill receive, in  addition le  indexJinlgng, exTa 
interest W the rate of £0.5%  a t the end o f each yew.

fc i£ ih  mtfax^finkad issue, (on safe from  1 August 1968 to  30 June 1660]
Tenrn sirn lar to third indexJirked issue except for a higher rale of in terest The amount 

o f exsa interest rises from  £3% in the firs t year to £6%  in the fifth  year: ovarsfl £4.04% par 
annum above the infiation rale If the certificate is held for five fu l yew s

Pitth rodax-ffnfiad (on sale from  2 J tiy  1600)
Availaba in £25 units and lo r the penod 14) to 20 March 1991. w ith a manmum holding 

of £5.000. The manmum holdng was increased to £10.000 with effect from 21 PAwch 1901. 
In addition to  the m ajdm jm  holdings, holders of previous motored Certificates (fixed or Index- 
U rked) and Yaarty Plan may re-invast these Certificates up to  a mabmum o f £10.000. A 
Cartificata held for ffve h il yaw s w i racarva in addtion to  indaxJinldng an axes iniw aet of 
£4 5% for each of the five years.

sayings bonds first issued 1 April 1968. Sold for £5 and nultip les of £5. Interest 
payable haff-yewfy end Is assessible for income tax; bonuses ere free of income tax, 
gans tax and corporation tax. No torther sales after 31 Decembar 1979. Fnsf issue reached 
matority in  August 1965 and has been repwd

^ tm u m  s trin g s  bonds: firs t issued 1 November 1956. Phxes w e free of income tax and 
capM  gains tax. The mnirTsim purchase is now £100. except for winners of £50 prues which 
they snO be able to ra irvest as long as their m axim jm  holdings does not exceed £10.000 a r^ 
purchases by pwants. ^andpw ents or guardians for children under 16 remain a t £10. The rale 
of interest form ng the prize fund is currentiy 6.5% ^ in g  approximalaly 200,000 pnzes per 
month The odds o f an individual £1 bond unit winning a prize is about 11.000/1 in any month.

tneorm  bon<b: First issued 2 August 1982 The asrem  terms are a m rirrtjm  inUM 
purchase of £2 .000, Iwger purchases and adcfitionsto edsting hd ifings in  muttiptfes of £1.000 
up to a madmum holding o f £50,000 The fife o f the bond inrtisfly sat at ten yews. The cash 
value cf the investment remains the same Interest is taxable but is paid in  toD without 
deduction of tax at source Interest is  payable monthly The rate can ba vw iad at dx weefri' 
nobca. Rapeymenis may be made at three months' notice.

/ndaxadJncome bonds: On sale from  11 November 1985 to  28 August 1967. Mnimum 
inrtiaf purchase c f £5,000 Iwger purchases and additions to  adsting hcfdings in multiples cf 
£1,000 ip  to a madmum o f £100,000 The life of the bond irrtiafly sat at ten yean. The 
indexed -income bond pays a 'start rale ' monthfy income fo r the first yea r tfes incorrw it  
in<7eased at the end c f each yaw  in line w ith movements in  the RPt (e g. stw t rate 8% then 
if the RPI increased by 5%  during the first year, tha interest pwd in the second year w ill b# 6 
x 1.05 ■ 84% ). The cash value o f the investment rem ans the same. Interest is taxable but Is 
pad in toll without deduction of tax at source Repayments may be made at tfra a  mcntfw' 
notice.

Y tw ty  ffa n . in trod jced 2 July 1984, A fixed Interest scheme involving monthly payments 
for one yew  after wNch the investor receives a certificate which has a guaranteed rate of 
Interest for the next four years provided It is not encashed during the time The m ritinum  a r^ 
madrrtom monthly payments are £20 and £400 respectively. Interest is  free of income tax and 
capital gams tax.

Save As You Ewn scham r Paraild schemas ware operated by the Oepam ient for 
National Savings and the Trustee Savings Barks, until the introduction of the index-finked issue 
which is adrrinisfered by the Department for National Savings only. InterasL index-fir*ed 
increase, bom bas and s^topiemante are free of income tax and capital gains tax.

First issue was on ta le  from  1 October 1969 to  30 June 1974; second issue from 1 J iiy  
1074 to  30 Ume 1975; deM s of terms applicable to these issue# are avwtaUe from  DNS.

Thirdissue(m dex-bnktd) was avaHable from 1 July 1975 to  31 May 1984 The lerrm  ware 
fixed monthly paymenu of £4 to  £20 (Increased to £50 on 1 May 1981) contî acted Icr five 
years. Each contributioo separately revalued in line wrth rrw em ent of the RPI figures 
applicafcia to the month of the start date No interest is paid on s a v ir^  withdrawn In tha first 
year, but thareaftsr if contributions have stopped, interest is  paid ati the rate of 6%  per annum 
compounded monthly on savings withdrawn up to the end of the seventh yew.

F dJth  issue (Shwe Opbon scheme). AvalaUe only in  cor^unction with an approved 
savings related shwe option scheme invofvir^ deduction from pay by tha employer Terms as 
fdlow s:

monthly 
payments (£s)

five yew  bonus 
equivalent 
monthly 
contii button

effective annual 
rale (%)

seven yew  bonus 
equivalent 
monthly 
contiibution

Series A
15/11/80-
31/10/83

Period of safe 
Senes 8
1/11/B3-
31/697

Series C
1/997-
31/890

Series 0
1/990
30/992

Series E 
1/1092

10-50 10-50 10-150 10-250 10-250

18 14 12 15 12.50

10.43 8 3 7.21 886 7.50

36 28 24 30 25



0

^ • ih

mhd̂
rchl9^
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•ftodrve mmM 
titi W
In tofM trato 
if wi tftorawn 
premifejr̂ ty totor 
one yMT (% p.a.)

1064 7-S5 0.15 763

6 6

to  with N M liontl S m iw  Bsnk a d n w v  recount «r>d. u n fl 20 N o vo f*e r 1079. 
7fus/M  M vin0i  te /O tf M fn » y  d^pm lnwni. Pylum um b iU nco  £10.000. T«x H #  ceneoeeion 
of £70 on occcun ti ir te rw l C u rtn l irto rM t r M  to 2.5%  on btooncot below £300. Provided 
accountt remton open tfroughem  the ctoeodar yeer 5%  to ped  on the w hde btoenoe ter each 
cofT^deto calendar month whh a balance of £500 o r mere. Imereet to ctoculaled on a monthly 
bMto and to aecfted groee to oocounta once a y e v  on 31 December.

wfih _ W ^g n jf_ g ^g g _ SaM  irweefmenf account Irto re e t which to paid ^oae. to 
ic e ^ ie  tor income ta x  Pytumum bafanoe £25.000. rnnim um  depovt £5. Intereel to 

c tooM ed d e ^  and created  to  accounte once a year on 31 December. Repoymenw may be 
made at one monthe noOee. For rata of in tve e t te e  t id e  13 J

D§po$it bontk. On u le  Oom 17 October 1063to 10 Narerrtoer 106a M rtm um  purchase 
£100: toger purchaeea end addhtone to  extotlr>g hddinge in m uhtolet o f £S0 to  a m axim jm  
hdding of £100.000. Tha IHe of the borto inittoHy eet a t t»r> ye vs . Interest to calcutated on a 
d ^  baato. starling from the dale of purchase end to added to  the caprtal vaKie on the 
anrvversa/y of the purchase date. Intareet to taxable arnf to paid w ithout deduction o f tax at 
source The rats can be vaned d  tox weeks notice. Repaym enti rrgy be made at three months 
notice.

Capffaf bonds:
Senes M * (On stoe from  4 January 1060 to  16 Jur>e 1000). 

pyirvmum p^chase £100 end additions to existing holdings in m itip fe s  of £100 with no upper 
G tot The He of the bond to set at five years. Interest a t a fixed rate (£12% per annum if held 
for five fJ I ye vs ) to added to  the Capitaf Value on the artnrversary of the purchase date 
I merest to tmxabi e ar>d to paid w ithout deductions a t source. Repayments may be made at three 
months notice Bonds repaid in  the first year do not earn in te rest Bonds are repaid efter five 
years

Senes y  (On safe from  25 June 1000 to 14 March 1001).
Terms p rriim  to series *A* except to r the m anrrum  holdings. The total m axinum  holdings 
(exdudng *A”)o ( a l other tosuee should not exceed £100.000. Inter eet was fixed at 13% per 
annum if held for five K i yevs.

Senes "C*: (On stoe from  2 April 1001 to  2 May 1002).
Terms s irriia r to series *B” Interest was fixed a l 11.5% per annum if held fo r five K il years.

Series *D*: (On stoe from  13 Pyfay 1902 to  5 August 1002).
Terms simAar to  series *6 *. Interest was fixed at 10.75% per annum if  held tor five fun years 

Series *£*: (On sale from 24 August 1002).
Terms sirrtiar to  senes *6 *. Interest ts fixed at 10% per annum H held tor five fu ll years

Children's Bothjs Bortds
The man n u n  holdings of aB tosues combned sh o iid  rtct exceed 40 units (£1.000).

Senes *A*: (On sale 6 July 1001 to 2 May 1002}
AvtolaUe to  chfidren and young persons under the age of 16 y e v s  on the purchase date 
Purchases are made in urvts of £25 with e matomum of 40 un rti (£1.000). Each urut w ill grow 
in va lu i at 5% compounded annuafty dunr>g the five years toUowmg the date of purchase, w ith 
a bonus of 47.36% of the purchase pnce on the Sth v^nrversary. This to equal to  compound 
im e re ito fl 1.64% pa over the five year period. Interest to tree of incoms tax and caprtal gains 
ta x

Senes "B r (On sale 2$ May 1002 to  5 August 1092)
Terms s im to  to series *A* with a bonus of 40.12% of the purchase price on the Sth 
anniversary, equal to  compound interest of 10 0%  pa o re r the five year period.

Series (On sale 24 August 1002)
Terms s irria r to  series *A* with a bonus of 34.16% of the purchase price on the Sth 
anrtfversary. equal to corrpoujnd interest of 10.1%  pa o re r the five year penod.

firs t ^ to o n  Bonds. On stoe from  7 July 1002. Bonds may be purchased by personal 
savers aged 1 6 o ro re r and by fu s t e a t for personto bene fid  anas. The irrterestrate is fixed and 
^Asranteed tor 12 months at a time The rd n m jm  purchase price to £1.000 srith a m axim jm  
hdding fin il c4 £250.000. A bond with a value which doee not M l below £20.000 b e fa e  the first 
annrversary will quakfy tor e borais. Tax to deducted (basic rate) from  the gross interest 
(induding ar^y borus) m source. W you v s  a non • ta j^eyer. or pay tax at a lower or a higher 
rMe. arrangements ter addticnto payments or e refund should be made via your tax office No 
interest to earned on repayments before the first armiversary. If a repayment is made between 
anniversary dates you w l be reptod the fuO value at the most recent, plus net interest at half 
the fixed rate for the period since that date Interest rtees were 7.75% mX (10 34% greet) with 
a bonus rate of 0 3%  rwt (0 4% groes) from 7 July 1002 and 7.25% net (9.67% gross) with a 
bonus rate of 0 3% net (04%  gross) from  21 J tiy  1092

Table 3.11
Tax instruments

Certificates of tax deposit. These certificates were 
introduced in October 1975 and are available to 
taxpayers generally. Minimum deposits of £2,000 are 
accepted by the Inland Revenue and, until further notice, 
will earn interest at varying rates when applied to 
payment of income tax (other than PAYE tax and 
amounts deducted from payments to sub-contractors), 
corporation tax (including advance corporation tax), 
capital gains tax, capital transfer tax/inheritance tax, 
development land tax, petroleum revenue tax, advance 
petroleum revenue tax. petroleum royalty and the gas

levy, and at a lower rate when withdrawn for cash. A new 
prospectus (Series 6) was introduced in October 1982. 
Under this series interest rates are set according to both 
the size of a deposit and the length of time for which it is 
held. Interest rates of existing deposits are revised 
annually. The interest is paid gross and is taxable. Table 
13.6 gives details of the interest rates.

For deposits held under earlier prospectuses which 
were surrendered in payment of a scheduled liability, a 
bonus was at times payable after six months in addition 
to the basic rate and a supplement was at times payable 
for the initial period of the deposit. The rates of interest 
paid were revised on each second anniversary.

The analysis by sector shows net transactions In 
certificates as identified in the financial accounts. The 
central government's transactions are the net payments 
to the National Loans Fund (with sign reversed) - the 
differences between these figures and net issues as 
recorded by the Inland Revenue are due to items in 
transit. From second quarter 1976 figures are included 
for public corporations and are based on transactions 
identified from returns from certain nationalised industries 
supplemented by data from Inland Revenue. Figures for 
banks are derived from the banking statistics, those for 
other financial institutions are mainly from building 
societies’ accounts, and those for industrial and 
commercial companies are the residual Item. Personal 
sector transactions are net issues of personal certificates 
as shown in the Inland Revenue accounts in the upper 
half of the table, adjusted for items in transit.

The estimates of holdings by sector included in this 
table are derived from the financial transactions figures.

Prior to 6 October 1975 tax instruments consisted of 
tax reserve certificates and tax deposit accounts. To 
present the maximum information available, via the 
Central Database, series codes ACRK to ACRS 
inclusive, ascribed to certificates o f tax deposit have 
been utilised for an analysis of tax reserve certificates 
between first quarter 1963 and first quarter 1975. From 
1963, series ACRU contains the total redemptions of tax 
reserve certificates and tax deposit accounts. At 
end-1990 the level outstanding of the former was £0.4 
million and the amount in respect of the deposit accounts 
was zero. Since then only very small amounts of tax 
reserve certificates have been redeemed in any time 
period.

Table 3.12
ownCentral government borrowing on 

account (CGBR(O))
This table shows Central Government Borrowing on its 
own account, excluding from the Central Government 
Borrowing Requirement (CGBR) measure (shown in 
tables 3.3 and 3.4) those borrowings which are on- 
loaned to local authorities and public corporations. The 
CGBR (0) is a net measure of all receipts and 
expenditure on Central Government funds and accounts, 
after excluding transactions which do not cross the 
Central Government boundary with the rest of the 
economy.

In addition to the Consolidated Fund and the National 
Loans Fund the main other central government funds 
and accounts which contribute to the measurement of the 
central government borrowing requirement are:

(a) the National Insurance Fund
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(b) the Exchange Equalisation Account
(c) the Paymaster General’s Account
(d) the National Debt Commissioner’s Accounts
(e) Northern Ireland Funds and Accounts

Treasury Working Paper No 57, published on 6 Juno 
1990, describes the system of Central Government funds 
and accounts in detail and their relationship with the 
CGBR. And it provides a full explanation of the design of 
this table.

Inland Revenue and Customs and Excise receipts. 
These receipts are on the same basis as the funds and 
accounts presentation in Table 3.13.

Social security contributions. Receipts which exclude 
contributions collected in Northern Ireland are on a cash 
basis, rather than the accruals basis used in the National 
Income and Expenditure Accounts (Table 3.1). Imputed 
flows on account of statutory sick and maternity pay are 
also excluded.

Interest and dividend receipts. As defined for the 
National Income and Expenditure Accounts (Table 3.1) 
except for small timing differences.

Other receipts largely comprises national non-domestic 
rates, vehicle excise duty, oil royalties and gas levy.

Interest payments. As defined for the National Income 
and Expenditure Accounts (Table 3.1) except that 
accrued uplift on index-linked gilts is excluded. There are 
also small timing differences.

Privatisation proceeds score as negative central 
government expenditure in the public expenditure 
planning total. Details of privatisation proceeds are given 
in Table 2.8.

Net departmental outiays includes most of Supply 
expenditure (excluding on-lending to public corporations), 
national insurance benefits, European Community 
contributions not in Supply expenditure and the funding 
of Northern Ireland expenditure. Net departmental outlays 
are measured on a cash flow basis as the money leaves 
the central government sector and the cheques are 
cleared rather than when the cheques are issued as is 
the case with Supply expenditure.

Table 3.13
Central government funds and accounts: 
transactions

These tables record receipts and payments on the 
Consolidated Fund and the National Loans Fund and 
changes in balances on some other central government 
funds and accounts e.g. the National Insurance Fund. 
The net result is the amount the central government 
needs to borrow i.e. the central government borrowing 
requirement (CGBR). The material Is analysed according 
to government accounting arrangements and may be 
contrasted with the analysis in tables 3.1 to 3.3 which is 
by economic category and In table 3.4 which shows the 
financing of the CGBR. Figures in table 3.13 are given 
for calendar months as well as for the normal periods of 
financial years and calendar years and quarters.

The basis and manner of operation of the 
Consolidated Fund is governed by the Exchequer and 
Audit Departments Act 1866 (as amended by the 
National Loans Act 1968) which provides that gross tax 
revenue {less repayments) and all other public monies 
payable to the Exchequer shall be paid into The Account
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of Her Majesty’s Exchequer’. The Consolidated Fund is 
at any point of time the amount standing to the credit of 
this Exchequer Account which is held at the Bank of 
England.

The National Loans Act 1968 provides that all money 
raised by the creation of debt is payable into the National 
Loans Fund together with receipts representing 
repayments of loans made from the Fund and interest on 
those loans. The majority of central government lending 
is made from the National Loans Fund which is thus the 
channel through which pass all the central government’s 
borrowing transactions and most of it’s domestic lending 
transactions. (Loans charged on votes continue to be 
met from the Consolidated Fund).

Consolidated Fund Revenue
Inland Revenue. Receipts of income tax, surtax, 

corporation tax. capital gains tax, development land tax. 
estate duty, capital transfer tax, stamp duties and 
petroleum revenue tax. details in table 3.14.

Customs and Excise. Receipts of duties on beer, 
wines, cider, perry and spirits, tobacco, betting and 
gaming, hydrocarbon oils, customs duties, value added 
tax. car tax etc, details in table 3.15.

Interest and dividends. This Includes receipts on loans 
issued from central government votes; dividends on 
public dividend capital of public corporations and trading 
funds, plus a miscellany of small receipts.

Other receipts. The largest items are National non 
domestic rates (from April 1990) and miscellaneous 
revenue on supply votes. Other sources of receipts 
included here are from the European Community, and 
some of the proceeds of special asset sales (see notes 
to table 2.4).

Expenditure
The major item is advances to central government 

departments to meet their requirements arising from 
monies voted by Parliament {supply services).

Debt interest (under standing services) is the extent to 
which the Consolidated Fund has had to be used in 
order to service the National Debt after the receipts of 
interest etc. accruing to the National Loans Fund have 
been exhausted. The principal and interest on 
government stock is a charge on the National Loans 
Fund, with recourse to the Consolidated Fund.

Surplus or deficit of the Consolidated Fund. The 
Consolidated Fund Is brought into balance each day by 
a transfer to or from the National Loans Fund and this 
column represents the net difference between receipts 
and payments over the period.

National Loans Fund
Interest receipts and profits of note issue. These 

receipts are mainly interest received on loans repayable 
to the National Loans Fund and payments representing 
the net profits of the issue department of the Bank of 
England.

Net lending is the net total of lending by, less 
repayment to, the National Loans Fund. Details are given 
in table 3.17.
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Other central government funds and 
accounts

The conventional accounts of the Consolidated Fund 
and National Loans Fund transactions are not in a 
convenient form for the purpose of general financial 
analysis, because transactions are categorised by types 
of debt rather than by sources of borrowing. Moreover, 
most of the transactions of the central government are 
with official funds and agencies which are themselves 
engaged in transactions with the public. For instance, 
national insurance payments and contributions are 
brought to account in the National Insurance Fund, all of 
whose capital is public sector debt. As the balance on 
this fund rises and falls, so the central government’s 
indebtedness to the fund is increased or diminished.

In order to arrive at a figure of borrowing by the UK 
central government from the figures given in the account 
of Consolidated Fund and National Loans Fund 
transactions, it is necessary to include changes in the 
central government’s net indebtedness to these various 
official funds and agencies.These are known collectively 
as other centra] government funds and accounts (which 
embraces Northern Ireland central government debt). 
The resulting total represents the central government's 
borrowing requirement which is the amount the 
government has to borrow less increase (or plus 
decrease) in its holdings of official reserves and other 
assets.

National Insurance Fund: the figures included here are 
the net totals of the changes in:

(a) investments by the National Investment and 
Loans Office on behalf of the Fund

(b) the Fund's balance with the Paymaster 
General.

Other National Insurance Fund balances are not 
included in this item. These are mainly sums due from or 
owing to government departments, the Post Office and 
overseas administrations arising out of the operation of 
the National Insurance scheme.

Departmental balances and miscellaneous. Among the 
items included are:

(a) changes in balances on the accounts kept by 
government departments, mainly with the 
Paymaster General;

(b) changes in the interest accrued on national 
savings securities and other items 
administered by the Department for National 
Savings (as recorded in table 3.9);

(c) changes in valuation of assets held by Bank of 
England issue department affecting the profits 
of the note issue;

(d) profKs and losses of the Exchange 
Equalisation Account including the profit or 
loss from interest payments on borrowing 
under the exchange cover scheme.

Timeliness and further references
See notes to table 3.17.

Table 3.14
Inland revenue duties

Net receipt figures for each period are the gross 
amounts of tax collected, as shown in the accounts of

the department’s various collecting offices, less 
repayments accounted for centrally in the same period. 
Figures are given for all main heads of duty: the total 
includes small amounts of various obsolete duties. 
Amounts collected by the Board of Inland Revenue on 
behalf of other departments, chiefly national insurance 
contributions, are excluded.

Remittances are passed to the Consolidated Fund 
daily as the banks pay over the proceeds of cheques 
lodged with them. Differences between the net receipts 
and the payments into the Consolidated Fund for a 
particular period reflect the differences between the 
amounts ‘in transit' at the beginning and end of the 
period.

Income tax. The majority is collected via the PAYE 
system. Tax is deducted by the employer and normally 
paid over to the Inland Revenue in the month after the 
income has been earned. From 1991-92 some small 
employers can pay the tax quarterly rather than monthly. 
Schedule D income tax from the self-employed is due in 
two instalments - on 1 January and 1 July. From 1986-87 
composite rate tax on interest paid by building societies 
was mainly due fourteen days after the end of the 3 
month periods (ending 31 May, 31 August, 30 November, 
and 28/29 February) in which the relevant interest was 
paid or credited. Composite rate tax on interest paid by 
banks and other deposit takers was normally due 
fourteen days after the calendar quarter in which the 
relevant interest was paid or credited. Composite rate tax 
was abolished on 6 April 1991 but basic rate tax 
deducted from interest paid or credited after this date is 
due in the same way that composite rate tax was 
previously. Schedule C tax on interest paid on British 
government securities is paid over directly the Bank of 
England, normally when the interest is paid. Regular 
monthly repayments are made to mortgage lenders 
under the MIRAS scheme, and to life offices under the 
Premium Relief by Deduction Scheme.

Corporation tax was introduced in 1965 (prior to this 
date companies were liable to income tax on their 
profits).

Advance corporation tax (ACT) is payable by the 
company on any qualifying distribution of profits (mainly 
dividends). The ACT rate.when expressed as the ACT 
divided by the sum of the ACT and the qualifying 
distribution, is equivalent to the basic rate of income tax. 
The dividend payment is accompanied by a tax credit for 
the ACT paid. Companies must account for ACT within 
fourteen days of the end of the return period - normally 
the calendar quarter - in which the distribution was made. 
Thus most ACT is paid on or around 14 January, 14 
April, 14 July and 14 October.

Mainstream corporatbn tax is normally payable nine 
months after the end of the company’s accounting period 
or within one month of the issue of an assessment, 
whichever is the later. However, until recently, companies 
which have been carrying on the same trade since 
before April 1965 were able to retain their original due 
dates. The provisions of the Finance Act 1987 brought 
the due dates of these companies into line with the 
majority over a three year period. Special provisions 
used to apply to most building societies but were also 
phased out following the Finance Act 1987. Broadly 
speaking, the nine month lag applies to all accounting 
periods ending in financial year 1990-91 and later years.
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Capital gains tax. Capital gains realised on the 
disposal of assets by individuals and trustees are 
charged to capita/ gains tax. (Realised capital gains of 
companies are charged to corporation tax.) Tax in 
respect of gains accruing in any tax year is payable on 
1 December following the end of that year, or one month 
after the date of assessment, whichever is the later.

Development land tax was introduced by the 
Development Land Tax Act 1975, and abolished by 
Finance Act 1985.

Estate duty was replaced by capital transfer tax in 
1975.

Inheritance tax (IHT) replaced Capital Transfer Tax 
(CTT) under the Finance Act 1906. CTT was payable 
both on lifetime gifts and on transfers of assets on death. 
IHT is levied mainly on assets transferred on death. The 
tax is normally required to be paid before a grant of 
probate Is made and, in any event. Is due at the end of 
the sixth month after death. However, the tax attributable 
to land and buildings and certain business assets may be 
paid by instalments over ten years. There may therefore 
be considerable time lags between the death and the full 
payment of IHT. IHT Is also payable on transfers made 
within seven years of death and on assets in 
discretionary trusts.

Stamp duties are charged mainly on documents. The 
bulk of receipts come from the following heads:

conveyances and transfers of land, buildings 
and other property excluding stocks and 
shares. These are chargeable to an 'ad 
valorem’ duty of 1%, subject to a threshold of 
£30,000. This threshold wastemporarily raised 
to £250,000 over the period 20 December 
1991 to 19 August 1992; 
transfers of stocks and shares. Most transfers 
since 27 October 1986 are chargeable at 
0.5%. Stamp duty reserve tax is chargeable, 
also at 0.5%, on certain transfers of stocks 
and shares which were previously exempt. It 
was Introduced on 27 October 1986. Also from 
that date transfers of stocks and shares in 
return for depository receipts are charged to 
duty at 1.5%:
grants of new leases of land, buildings and 
other property. These are charged to duty in 
respect of both the premium and the rent; 
capital duty 'Ad Valorem’ duty of 1%, was 
charged on the raising of capital by 
companies. It was abolished with effect from 
15 March 1988;
life insurance policies. Duty was charged at 
0.05% of the sum insured. It was abolished 
with effect from 1 January 1990.

Under the Finance Act 1990 the duties on transfers of 
stocks and shares will be abolished from a date 
appointed by Treasury order. This will coincide as far as 
possible with the introduction of the Stock Exchange’s 
system for paperless share transfers (TAURUS). Under 
the Finance Act 1991 stamp duties on transfers of 
property other than land and buildings will be abolished 
from the same date.

Petroleum revenue tax (PRT) is charged on the profits 
of winning oil and gas under licence in the United 
Kingdom, it’s territorial waters and designated areas of Its
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continental shelf. The charge is on the landed value of oil 
and gas less expenses incurred in discovery, extraction 
and processing and various other reliefs.

The tax is charged on profits arising in each six month 
chargeable period (the first or second half of the calendar 
year). Monthly instalment payments commence two 
months after the start of the period and equal one eighth 
of the total PRT payable on the previous period. Returns 
are submitted two months after the end of the period and 
any balance is then paid or repaid.

Advance petroleum revenue tax was charged (in six 
month periods up to 1986 on gross revenues) minus an 
allowance. Payments were credited against current or 
future PRT liability and were otherwise to be repaid after 
five years or sooner for certain fields.

Timeliness
Receipts of Inland Revenue duties at the Department's 

two Accounts Offices and various local offices throughout 
the country are balanced each day and the totals for 
each duty are reported weekly to the Department’s 
Finance Division for aggregation and reconciliation with 
the proceeds of cleared remittances, etc. Net receipt 
figures, i.e. after addition of amounts received centrally 
and deduction of repayments, are then produced weekly 
and monthly. Monthly figures are usually published in 
provisional form in the issue following that of the month 
to which they relate.

Further references
Detailed notes about the individual taxes may be 

found in Inland Revenue Statistics, which also contains 
annual figures of receipts back to 1908/09 (table 1.2) and 
a breakdown of Income Tax receipts (table 1.3).

Table 3.15
Customs and excise duties
General definitions and method of compilation 

The figures show the aggregate amounts of duty 
collected and brought into the department's accounts in 
the period less drawbacks and other repayments. The 
difference between the net receipts and payments into 
the Consolidated Fund is due to differences between 
balances. The balances consist of:

working balances held by collectors 
remittances in transit
advances out of revenue to meet expenditure 
under authority of the Exchequer and Audit 
Department Act 1866, Section 10.

Value added tax (VAT). Persons registered for VAT 
are required to make a tax return at intervals, generally 
quarterly. The quarterly tax periods are staggered in 
order to spread the flow of returns and revenue more 
evenly over the year. Thus one group has tax periods 
January to March, April to June etc, a second group has 
tax periods February to April etc, and a third group has 
tax periods March to May etc.

The VAT due is payable not later than one month after 
the end of the period. A taxable person who expects his 
input tax to exceed his output tax regularly (i.e. who will 
be claiming net refunds from the Department) may opt 
for monthly tax periods.

VAT is chargeable on imported goods, and must be
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Central government

paid either
at the time of importation or. under deferred payment 
arrangements similar to those in operation for customs 
duties, by direct debit an average of one month after 
importation.

More detailed information about VAT can be found in 
Notice 700: The VAT Guide, a copy of which can be 
obtained from any local VAT office.

Car tax. Most traders registered for car tax have tax 
periods March to May. June to August etc, and the tax is 
due not later than one month after the end of the tax 
period.

Excise duties are charged on hydrocarbon oil. tobacco 
products, alcoholic drinks, matches and mechanical 
lighters. They are applied alike to home-produced and 
imported goods.

Alcoholic drinks. The excise duties on home-produced 
beer, wine, made-wine, cider and perry are collected one 
month in arrears. Accordingly, changes in duty rates etc. 
are not fully reflected in receipts until after the month in 
which they became effective.

Tobacco products. The excise duty on tobacco is 
charged on the finished product and is collected a month 
in arrear.

Betting and gaming. Receipts under this heading are 
collected from the following:

(a) general betting duty
(b) pool betting duty
(c) gaming licence duty
(d) gaming machine licence duty, and
(e) bingo duty

item (c) does not apply in Northern Ireland.

Hydrocarbon oils are receipts from excise duties on 
petrol and derv, i.e. road fuels; and on other chargeable 
oils e.g. fuel oil. From 15 October 1985 provision came 
into effect permitting deferred payment of excise duty for 
hydrocarbon oils cleared from warehouse. As with other 
deferred duties, changes in duty rates etc. are not fully 
reflected in receipts until after the month in which they 
become effective.

Customs duties: these are charged under Section 5 of 
the European Communities Act 1972. For convenience, 
anti-dumping and other duties - excluding agricultural 
levies (see below) - charged under directly applicable 
Community Instruments, are included in this heading, 
e.g. certain generalised system of preference duties and 
compensatory levy.

Importers and their agents are allowed a 30 day 
deferment of payment of certain duties, of which the 
major item is customs duty.

Agricufturai levies are charged on a wide range of 
basic and processed agricultural products imported from 
outside the European Community. Positive Monetary 
Compensatory Amounts (MCAs) adjust for the variation 
between the value of the pound sterling at the spot rate 
and at the (green) rate fixed under the Common 
Agricultural Policy. Positive MCAs apply in addition to 
agricultural levies when the spot rate exceeds the green
rate; and these amounts are paid to the European 
Community.

Shipbuilders’ relief is authorised under Section 2 of the 
Finance Act 1966. This is a relief from hydrocarbon oil 
and motor vehicle licence duties which enter directly or 
indirectly into shipbuilding costs and is payable on

delivery of a ship.The amount shown in the table is the 
total payment made in the month less the contribution 
due from the Department of Transport in respect of the 
motor vehicle licence duty element in the original 
payments.

Other. This heading consists of receipts of duty on 
matches and mechanical lighters, petrol substitutes, and 
receipts from excise licences.

Timeliness
Payments of VAT and car tax are made directly to 

central units. Revenue from other customs and excise 
duties is collected and accounted for centrally, often by 
direct debit, or at collectors' offices throughout the 
country with daily balances notified to the central 
accounting officer at headquarters. Monthly figures are 
usually published in provisional form in the issue 
following that of the month to which they relate. Final 
figures are normally published in the following month, 
after audit and adjustment for incorrect and late data.

Further references
A monthly detailed analysis of duty receipts from 

betting and gaming is published on subscription from a 
distributing agent authorised by HM Customs and Excise. 
The address is as follows: Business Trade Statistics Ltd. 
Lancaster House, More Lane, Esher, Surrey KT10 SAP. 
(Telephone: 03724 63121).

The most detailed analyses of the Department’s 
financial year receipts, and the commodities and 
activities to which they relate, are published in the annual 
Reports of the Commissioners of HM Customs and 
Excise.

Table 3.16
Departmental revenue and expenditure on 
supply

Motor vehicle duties: net value of licences issued. 
Gross receipts less refunds from motor vehicle licences 
and driving licences. The figures differ from the amount 
paid into the Consolidated Fund by:

(i) remittances in transit
(ii) payments to HM Customs and Excise in 

respect of the motor vehicle licence duty 
element of export rebates, which are not 
deducted.

Oil royalties, licence fees, etc.: other. These figures 
cover oil and gas production and exploration licences 
and successful auction bids.

Gas levy: net receipts comprise cash receipts less 
refunds from the British Gas Corporation and British Gas 
pic under the Gas Levy Act 1981. The receipt recorded
for the second quarter of 1981 relates to gas purchased 
in 1980/81.

NatbnaJ insurance surcharge: levied on employers 
along with contributions paid in respect to employees by 
secondary Class 1 contributors. The tax base is the 
same as for national insurance contributions. Women 
paying reduced rate and the self-employed are exempt. 
The surcharge was abolished from 1 October 1984
except for local authorities where the surcharge remained 
until 5 April 1985.

Supply services are the amounts transferred each
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month from the Consolidated Fund to Departments’ 
accounts with the Paymaster General, for spending on 
Supply; supply expenditure is the amount paid out by 
departments from these accounts. Supply expenditure is 
usually close to the total of Supply services for the 
financial year as a whole, but there can be timing 
differences between the two during the year.

authorities; to the private sector including housing 
associations and British Nuclear Fuels Ltd; and within the 
central government, e.g. advances to the Northern 
Ireland Government.

Table 3.17
National Loans Fund: net lending

The loans are shown net of repayments. Loans to 
nationalised industries are classified by purpose; thus 
Transport covers British Railways Board and British 
Waterways Board.

Loans are also made to other public corporations for 
example new towns; to trading funds and local

Timeliness
The figure in tables 3.12,3.13 and 3.17 are published 

in the month following the period to which they relate. 
Some of the figures for other central government funds 
and accounts and the figure for the central government 
borrowing requirementwlW be provisional. Firm figures for 
these items are published in due course.

Further references
Selected figures are reproduced as table 17.1 in 

Monthly Digest of Statistics.
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Section 4 
Local authorities

Local authorities are defined in the national and 
financial accounts as those authorities obliged to make 
annual returns of income and expenditure under 
successive Local Government Acts. Local Government 
(Scotland) Acts and the District Councils of Northern 
Ireland Acts including residuary bodies set up under the 
Local Government Act, 1985. Before 1 April 1974 the 
local authority sector included bodies in England and 
Wales with special functions, such as water boards, river 
and drainage authorities and harbour boards. Under the 
Local Government Act of 1972 those are no longer within 
the scope of the local authorities sector and have been 
excluded from 1 April 1974. From the same date 
statutory harbour boards and harbour authorities (public 
trust ports) are excluded.

Local authorities borrow in anticipation of revenue to 
smooth their cash flow (limited by statute to the amount 
of outstanding revenue receivable) and to finance capital 
expenditure, from central government (almost entirely 
through the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB)), from 
other domestic sectors and from overseas.

Local authorrties can borrow only for purposes which 
have been authorised by Acts of Parliament and within 
the limits of loan sanctions issued by central government. 
Foreign borrowing requires Treasury consent. Under the 
Local Government Act 1972, which came into effect on 
1 April 1974, local authorities are allowed to borrow by 
means of temporary loans, bank overdrafts, foreign 
currency, capital and revenue bills, mortgages, stock 
issues, bonds and through the PWLB.

The tables in this section comprise a current account 
(table 4.1), a capital account (table 4.2), a financial 
account (table 4.3) and several tables (4.4 to 4.7) 
analysing various aspects of local authority borrowing. 
Table 4.8 shows local authority investments.

The financial account is also shown in table 1.3 and 
figures for the latest quarter in the matrix in table 1.1.

Table 4.1
Current account

Current grants from central government: National non
domestic rates distribution. National non-domestic rates, 
classified as a central government tax which is 
subsequently distributed to local authorities as a central 
government grant, replaced local non-domestic rates in 
Great Britain in April 1990. Local authorities collect most 
of the national rate on behalf of central government and 
the figures for quarterly distribution take account of the 
expected collection level.

Other comprises mainly the aggregate exchequer 
grant but also grants for specific purposes and 
repayments of VAT.

Community Charge and Rates are measured as 
accruals rather than payments and are net of rebates. 
Community charge replaced domestic rates in Scotland 
in April 1989 and in England and Wales in April 1990. 
From April 1990 local authority non-domestic rates in 
Great Britain were replaced by national non domestic
rates (see current grants from central government, 
above).

Gross trading surplus is the balance of trading income 
over operating expenditure before allowing for 
depreciation and interest charges. Housing is excluded

from this heading and included under rent Rent is 
defined in the same way as gross trading surplus and is 
therefore not equivalent to the rent charged to tenants.

Dividends and interest includes interest receipts on 
loans for house purchase, on invested balances and in 
respect of assets transferred to Regional Water 
Authorities where the tocal authority retained the debt. 
This heading also includes payments by central 
government under the exchange cover schemes (see the 
notes to Section 3 on page 37).

Imputed charge for consumption of non-trading capitat. 
the provision of non-trading activities requires the use of 
capital assets. The amortisation of these assets is 
regarded as final (current) consumption with an 
equivalent notksnal receipt.

Final consumption comprises current expenditure on 
non-trading fund services, VAT and the imputed value of 
capital consumption, net of sales and other recoupments. 
Certain elements of expenditure representing transfers to 
other sectors are excluded from this heading and treated 
as subsidies and grants.

Current grants to personal sector comprises mainly 
educational grants and rent rebates and allowances 
including since 1983, payments under the housing 
benefit scheme.

Subsidies comprises local authority support to housing 
and trading services plus current transfers to passenger 
transport organisations (which are classified as public 
corporations) and to British Rail.

Debt interest payments includes payments to new 
town development corporations for assets transferred to 
local authorities where the corporations have retained the 
debt.

Table 4.2
Capital account

Gross domestic fixed capital formation is the capital 
expenditure of housing, trading and non-trading 
accounts, net of sales of assets (such as sales of council 
housing) and includes VAT. Transfers and net lending, to 
other sectors, are shown separately in the capital and 
financial accounts respectively. Capital expenditure 
charged direct to revenue accounts in local authorities’ 
own accounts is Included here rather than under final 
consumptbn.

Table 4.3
Financial account and balancing item

Borrowing requirement, see notes on table 4.4.
Accruals adjustment measures the difference for the 

items identified between the accruals figures included in 
the current and capital accounts and the cash flow 
affecting financial transactions. The series for national 
non-domestic rates is the difference between the 
expected and the actual collection by Local Authorities.

Balancing item as its name suggests is the residual 
item in the local authority accounts.

Short-term assets consist mainly of changes in bank 
deposits and in identified deposits with other financial 
instKutions.

Transactions in other financial liabilities comprise (i) 
compensation in respect of repayment of debt associated 
with the transfer to local authorities of some new town
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corporations’ assets from 1978 and (ii) trade credit 
extended by the industrial and commercial companies 
sector to local authorities from 1989.

Transactions in other financial assets comprise 
compensation in respect of repayment of debt associated 
with certain assets transferred from local authorities to 
Regional Water Authorities, and to the National Health 
Service in 1974.

Method of compilation
The quarterly returns from other sectors are used as 

the sources for estimates of grants and borrowing from 
central government, purchases of public sector debt 
(mainly returns from certain public corporations) and 
short-term assets (from banks and certain returns from 
other financial institutions). Total net borrowing is 
reported on quarterly returns from the local authorities as 
described in the notes to tables 4.5 to 4.8.

Final estimates for other components of the accounts 
are based on financial year figures published in Local 
Government Financial Statistics (England and Wales) , 
and equivalent publications for Scotland and Northern 
Ireland which generally become available a year afterthe 
period to which they relate. Preliminary financial year 
figures are based on budget returns from local 
authorities.

Quality of data
Annual estimates are based on accounting information 

and are of good quality. Quarterly estimates of capital 
expenditure which are based on returns covering the 
whole sector are also of good quality. Quarterly 
estimates of final consumption (which are based on a 
sample return of salaries and wages), gross trading 
surplus, rent, subsidies and current grants to the 
personal sector (which are mainly interpolations of 
annual figures) are of rather poorer quality.

Timeliness
Figures are published in Financial Statistics three 

months after the period to which they relate.

Further references
For fuller details of the items in tables 4.1 to 4.3 see 

United Kingdom National Accounts: Sources and 
Methods, Chapter X and notes and definitions in United 
Kingdom Natbnal Accounts 'Blue Book'.

Table 4.4
Local authority borrowing requirement

This table provides a broad summary of local 
authorities borrowing. The latest monthly data are shown 
in table 4.4, which was introduced in June 1992. The 
monthly data in the table are grossed-up estimates 
based on a sample survey of 185 local authorities 
accounting for about half of the total outstanding debt. 
They are constrained to the quarterly totals which are 
obtained from a survey of all authorities. The monthly 
figures are therefore subject to sampling error and are 
less reliable than the quarterly figures.

Table 4.5
This table shows how the bcal authority borrowing 

requirement is financed by sector and the local

authorities' contribution to the public sector borrowing 
requirement.

The analysis in this table is on a different basis from 
table 4.4 and tables 4.6 to 4.8 which are largely derived 
from returns from the local authorities themselves. The 
quarterly data are based mainly on counterpart reporting 
by other sectors because local authorities cannot analyse 
their marketable debt by sector of holder. (In general, 
local authorities can identify accurately only holders of 
non-marketable debt and then only where the loans are 
direct, i.e. not made through banks or institutions acting 
as agents or through nominees.) The total for the 
quarterly data in this part is, however, derived from local 
authority returns, as are the figures for industrial and 
commercial companies, the figures for the personal 
sector being obtained by residual (and therefore including 
the take-up of debt by the other sectors through agents 
and nominees). It is the sector analysis in this table 
which is consistent with the financial accounts in Section 
1.

Borrowing requirement comprises direct borrowing 
from central government p/us total borrowing from other 
sources less transactions in short term assets and in 
other public sector debt.

Direct borrowing from central government comprises 
net advances from:

(a) the Public Works Loan Board
(b) the Northern Ireland Government Loans Board
(c) certain government departments, mainly for 

the financing of tunnels and bridges.

Figures are based on returns by the above
Other borrowing comprises all borrowing other than 

directly from central government. The major components 
are described bebw.

Other pubib sector comprises payments under the 
exchange cover scheme (see notes to table 3.4), local 
authority debt taken-up by the issue department of the 
Bank of England and. from the second quarter of 1975, 
by the National Insurance Fund; and borrowing from 
public corporations identified on the returns made by 
local authorities. The payment of claims under the 
exchange cover scheme is shown separately (see notes 
to Section 3 for a description of the exchange cover 
scheme).

Banks and building societies comprises advances and 
loans by the sector and their take-up of local authority 
bills and securities. The figures are based upon returns 
provided by the banks and building societies.

Other financial institutbns: figures are obtained from 
returns by the financial institutions.

Industrial and commercial companies: the figures are 
based upon returns from local authorities.

Personal sector is the residual item in the table.
Overseas sector: the figures are as estimated In the 

balance of payments accounts.
Total borrowing comprises direct borrowing from 

central government plus other borrowing. It is obtained 
from returns by local authorities and corresponds to the 
figure for total borrowing in table 4.5.

Transactions in short-term assets comprises lines 14.2 
{other pubib sector financing: short-term assets) and 21 
{deposits with banks) in the financial transactions matrix. 
Figures are obtained from returns by finarrcial institutions.

Transactions in other pubfb sector debt comprises
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lines 7 (treasury bills), 8 (British government securities), 
9 (national savings) and 20.2 (public corporations debt) 
in the financial transactions matrix. The figures are 
obtained from returns by local authorities.

Contribution to public sector borrowing requirement 
comprises borrowing other than direct from central 
government, less transactions in short term assets and 
in other public sector debt, ft is equivalent to the 
borrowing requirement /ess direct borrowing from central 
government.

Timeliness
The quarterly data are published about eight weeks 

after the end of the quarter, i.e. the data for the March 
quarter appear in the May issue of Financial Statistics .

The monthly totals are published about twelve working 
days after the end of the month, first in the public sector 
borrowing requirement press notice, and then in either 
table 2.5 or table S30.

Tables 4.6 to 4.7
Local authority borrowing

The tables give details of local authority borrowing for 
capital and revenue purposes from all sources outside 
the local authority sector, including borrowing from 
authorities' own pension funds, which are classified as 
other financial institutions in the financial accounts. As 
explained earlier, these tables differ from table 4.5 in that 
they are based on returns from local authorities whereas 
table 4.5 is mainly based on data provided by other 
sectors. The figures exclude borrowing identified by a 
local authority as being from another local authority. No 
allowance is made for the possible take-up of one local 
authority's listed securities or negotiable bonds by 
another authority.

The quarterly sun/ey on which the tables are based 
covers all local authorities in the United Kingdom.

The survey was initiated by the Central Statistical 
Office but has been administered from March 1977 by 
the Department of the Environment. Response to this 
survey covers about 98% of local authority debt and 
estimates for non-respondents are included based on 
outstanding debt.

Where more complete or more reliable information is 
available on particular aspects of borrowing from other 
sources, e.g. PWLB, such information is used instead of 
that reported in the survey.

Net borrowing refers to gross borrowing less 
repayments and is divided into temporary (table 4.6) and 
longer-term borrowing (table 4.7).

Temporary borrowing covers all loans repayable within 
one year of their inception (other than under a stress 
clause or on the death of the lender), including 
mortgages repayable by invoking a break clause. Longer- 
term debt with a residual maturity of less than one year 
is not included here but under longer-term borrowing.

Tables 4.6 and 4.7 show the outstanding debt for the 
latest few years. For longer-term debt the estimates are 
based on changes since a benchmark survey in 
December 1981. A new survey was carried out In 1991 
and will provide a new benchmark.

Revenue hills , usually for three months, are those 
authorised by the Bank of England.

Negotiable bonds are issued through a bank, discount

house, issuing house or broker. ‘Over-the-counter’ bonds 
are included under the heading personal sector.

Public Works Loan Board borrowing forms part of 
direct borrowing from central government in table 4.4

Central government comprises borrowing from central 
government sources other than the PWLB; it Includes the 
take-up by such sources as the National Debt 
Commissioners and the National Insurance Fund.

Public corporations are defined in the notes to Section 
5. They include nationalised industries and passenger 
transport executives.

The banks, building societies,and other financial 
institutions are as defined under the notes to Sections 
6 and 7.

Industrial and commercial companies Include 
cooperative societies.

Persons Include non-collecting friendly societies, trade 
unions, churches charities, universities and clubs, as well 
as individuals. 'Over-the-counter' bonds are assumed to 
be held entirely by persons.

Direct borrowing from abroad comprises loans from an 
overseas address or in the name of a person, company 
or other body with an overseas address. This includes 
borrowing In foreign currency or sterling in overseas 
markets. Amounts repaid by central government under 
the exchange cover scheme are not included.

Otrier includes borrowing from bank nominees where 
the original lender is unknown to the local authority, and 
unlisted investment trusts.

Timeliness
Data for the March, June, September and December 

quarters are normally published in the May, August, 
November and February issues respectively. Summary 
figures are included as a table in the public sector 
borrowing requirement press notice, published monthly.

Outstanding debt
Details of outstanding debt from 1974 for capital 

purposes are published in Annual Abstract of Statistics, 
table 16.13 (1990).

A residual maturity analysis of outstanding debt as at 
31 March each year (derived mainly from returns of 
outstanding debt made by local authorities to the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) 
is published periodically as supplementary table S10. 
Issues of Financial Statistics in which they appeared 
were;

Data fc r PS issue
31 M vch

1975.....................May 1977
1976.....................May 1977
1977 ...................December 1977
1978 ...................January 1979
1979 ...................January 1960
1660.....................January 1961
1681..^.................February 1982
1962............... ..... February 1983
1983.....................November 1983
1064 ....................December 1984
1985........... .........Decerdber 1965
1966 .................. Nterch 1987
1 9 6 7  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . PM iy 1 9 8 8
1 9 8 8 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . J J y  1 9 8 9
1669.....................November 1900
1990.....................December 1961
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Table 4.8
Local authority investments

This table gives details of local authority lending. This 
information has been collected since April 1979 on the 
same return as the borrowing survey referred to in the 
previous section. The figures are used to help compile 
the financial accounts of local authorities (tables 1.1,1.3

and 4.3) and the national and sector balance sheets. 
These figures, apart from investments in other long-term 
assets are included in the calculation of the local 
authority borrowing requirement; see table 2.5.

Alternative estimates of bank deposits are available 
from the banking sector. The latter source is used here 
in the financial accounts and in the local authority 
borrowing requirement.

3



Section 5
Public corporations

Public corporations as defined in the national accounts 
are public trading bodies, including the nationalised 
industries, which have a substantial degree of financial 
independence from the public authority (central or local 
government) which created them, including the powers to 
borrow and to maintain reserves. They are publicly 
controlled to the extent that the public authority appoints 
the whole or the majority of the board of management 
and that their borrowing is subject to limits laid down by 
Parliament.

Over recent years a number of public corporatbns 
have been privatised. In accordance with national 
accounting conventions, the transactions of these 
corporations up until the date of privatisation are retained 
in the accounts when privatisation occurs. The coverage 
of series in the tables consequently declines with that of 
public corporations sector.

There is a slight inconsistency in the public 
corporations accounts arising from the treatment of the 
Banking Department of the Bank of England and. until 
privatisation in July 1990, the Girobank. For these two 
organisations, their financial transactions are included in 
the monetary sector but their current and capital 
transactions form part of the appropriation and capital 
accounts of public corporations. The Issue Department 
of the Bank of England is included in the central 
government sector.

A list of the bodies comprising the public corporations 
sector is published in United Kingdom National Accounts 
and in the CSO booklet Sector classification for the 
National Accounts.

Table 5.1
Appropriation account

This table shows how the income of public 
corporations is made up and how it is allocated between 
interest and dividends etc, taxes on income and savings. 
The presentation is in the same form as the public 
corporations appropriation accounts in United Kingdom 
National Accounts, (the CSO ‘Blue Book), and in the 
quarterly national income article in Economic Trends.

The total gross trading surplus, with rent. Is the 
balance on operating account; it is calculated before 
making any charge for depreciation, stock appreciation, 
interest or taxation.

Subsidies mainly comprise grants by central 
government and local authorities to cover revenue 
deficits of the nationalised transport undertakings and 
government assistance to the coal industry. Central 
government payments to New Town Development 
Corporations and other corporations concerned with 
housing are shown separately as rent subsidies.

Payments of interest and dividends include interest 
payments on foreign currency borrowing under the 
exchange cover scheme valued at market exchange 
rates; the difference between these amounts and the 
sterling cost to public corporations is borne by central 
government and is included as a receipt of interest under 
rent and non-trading income.

Payments of interest and dividends to general 
government are shown separately and include, until their 
privatisation in December 1989 the interest payments by

water authorities to local authorities in respect of 
transferred assets and the charges paid by public 
corporations to central government for exchange cover 
guarantees. Also included are royalties and licence fees 
from oil and gas production paid by BNOC / Britoil until 
November 1982, and British Gas Corporation / Enterprise 
Oil (the latter until August 1984) to central government. 
They are shown separately in the Blue Book.

Payments of UK taxes on income comprises 
corporation tax, and, until mid-1984, petroleum revenue 
tax and supplementary petroleum duty paid by BNOC, 
the British Gas Corporation, and Enterprise Oil.

The balance on this account, undistributed income, is 
calculated before providing for depreciation and stock 
appreciation.

Table 5.2
Capital account

This table shows public corporations transactions on 
capital account, the balance being the financial surplus 
or deficit.

The table follows the form of. but is less detailed than, 
the corresponding presentation in the Blue Book.

Receipts comprise undistributed income brought 
forward from the appropriation account and capital 
transfers.

Capital transfers. The main transfers from central 
government cover investment grants, regional 
development grants, grants to rail and road undertakings, 
water supply and sewerage grants, grants for site 
development and factory construction, grants to 
development agencies and corporations and notional 
amounts of development land tax. Local author^^y grants 
are made in connection with local transport facilities. 
Transfers from the private sector are mainly contributions 
by consumers to the cost of connecting consumers’ 
premises to the gas and electricity supplies.

Expenditure comprises gross domestic fixed capital 
formation, increase in book value of stocks and work in 
progress, capital transfers to other sectors and taxes on 
capital.

Gross domestic fixed capital formation comprises 
expenditure within the United Kingdom on the 
replacement of, and additions and improvements to, fixed 
assets less the proceeds from the sale of fixed assets.

Increase in book value of stocks and work in progress 
includes stock appreciation as well as the value of the 
physical increase in stocks.

Capital transfers to other sectors consists of payments 
in respect of capital work undertaken on behalf of local 
authorities and grants to the private sector.

Taxes on capital was formerly included under the 
previous item. Taxes consist of payments of development 
land tax, payments by the Girobank of the special tax on 
banking deposits levied in 1981/82, and capital gains tax 
paid by British Gas in 1985/86 arising from the sale of 
Wytch Farm Oilfield.

Table 5.3
Financial account

This table shows how the financial surplus or deficit ot 
public corporations (carried over from the capital account

J
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in table 5.2) is financed. The entries are grouped into 
transactions in financial liabilities and transactions in 
financial assets. This amounts to a re-presentation of the 
figures in table 1.4 and, for the latest quarter, in column 
3 of table 1.1. The presentation is in fairly broad terms; 
the detailed financing of the corporations borrowing 
requirement, for example, is held over for presentation in 
table 5.4.

Transactions in financiai iiabilities (net)
Accruals adjustments. The difference between 

accruals of income tax on wages and salaries, purchase 
tax, selective employment tax, national insurance, 
national insurance surcharge, etc. contributions and 
value added tax (the basis on which these items are 
entered in the appropriation account or implied from the 
operating account) and the corresponding cash 
payments.

Borrowing requirement: see notes to table 5.4.
Trade creditors etc. comprises changes in trade credit 

received by nationalised industries, and advances 
received by British Aerospace (from 1977 to 1980). 
British Shipbuilders, and the Royal Ordnance Factories 
(now Royal Ordnance pic) up to April 1987, in connection 
with future work; and changes in amounts held by the 
Crown Agents as prefunding for the supply of goods and 
services overseas. The transactions by the British 
National Oil Corporation in connection with the 
Corporation’s advance sales of oil in 1980 and 1981 and 
compensation payments relating to the transfer of fixed 
assets to Regional Water Authorities from local 
authorities in 1974 are also included here.

Transactions in financial assets (net)
Accruals adjustments. The difference between 

accruals of local authorities rates and subsidies (the 
basis on which these items are entered in the 
appropriation account or implied from the operating 
account) and the corresponding cash payments or 
receipts.

Lending to private secfo/’ comprises mainly loans for 
house purchase {less repayments) by new Town 
Corporations and other housing bodies. Other lending to 
persons and companies by British Coal, British 
Technology Group and other corporations is also 
included.

Lending and investment overseas includes net lending 
and investment by the Commonwealth Development 
Corporation together with investment overseas by other 
public corporations.

Transactions in company securities comprises cash 
expenditure on acquisition of subsidiaries, trade 
investments and marketable company securities less 
receipts from the sale of these assets. The figures 
include the sale to central government by the National 
Enterprise Board of shares in Rolls Royce (£234 million 
in third quarter 1980) and British Leyland (£1,228 million 
in first quarter 1981).

Trade debtors comprise changes in trade credit 
extended by nationalised industries and advance 
payments for goods and services, other than imports.

Other assets comprises credit extended by retailers 
(gas and electricity showrooms), advance and progress 
payments on imports and, in 1980 and 1981, transac
tions in connection with advance payments on BNOC oil.

Public corporations

and compensation payments arising from the transfer of 
fixed assets to local authorities from New Town 
Corporations (see notes to table 4.3).

Balancing item
This is the difference between the financial surplus or 

deficit and total financial transactions. It represents the 
net sum of all the errors in the identified Kerns recorded 
in the appropriation, capKal and financial accounts.

Write offs
Transactions arising from wrKing off debt of public 

corporations are not included in tables 5.2 and 5.3 since 
they do not represent actual flows of funds; they would 
be reflected in a balance sheet table. These transactions 
are recorded as a memorandum Kern to the public 
corporations financial account in the Blue Book.

Table 5.4
Financing of the public corporations 
borrowing requirement

This table shows how the public corporations 
borrowing requirement is financed by sector and the 
public corporations’ contribution to the public sector 
borrowing requirement.

Borrowing requirement comprises direct borrowing 
from central government plus total borrowing from other 
sources less transactions in short-term assets and in 
other public sector debt.

Direct borrowing from central government comprises 
net loans from central government plus increases in 
public dividend capital (see notes to table 3.3).

The figures for public dividend capital include 
redemptions by the National Enterprise Board of £234 
million in third quarter 1980 (when central government 
bought shares in Rolls Royce from them for the same 
amount), and £1,228 million in first quarter 1981 (when 
central government bought shares in Brrtish Leyland from 
them for that amount). They exclude issues to the 
Girobank which are included in the banks’ sector.

Other borrowing comprises all borrowing other than 
directly from central government. The major components 
are described below.

Other public sector borrowing covers central 
government payment of claims under the exchange cover 
scheme (see notes to table 3.4), other borrowing from 
central government (mainly the National Investments and 
Loans Office) and borrowing from local authorities.

Banks and building societies includes advances, 
commercial bills, market loans, and transactions in public 
corporations sterling securKies obtained from the returns 
made by the sector.

Non-bank private sector comprises borrowing from 
other financial institutions, industrial and commercial 
companies (nil in recent years) and the personal sector. 
Longer-term borrowing from employees pension funds 
and temporary borrowing from pension funds is included 
in borrowing from other financial instKutions.

Overseas sector includes some direct overseas official 
financing in foreign currencies under the exchange cover 
scheme (i.e. other than via banks) and other net issues 
abroad, borrowing abroad from banks etc. not under the 
exchange cover scheme and import credit received on 
purchases of aircraft from overseas.
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Public corporations

Total borrowing comprises direct borrowing from 
central government plus other borrowing.

Transactions in short-term assets comprise deposits 
with the banks’ sector and other short-term assets.

Transactions in other public sector debt comprises 
identified transactions by the corporations in Treasury 
bills, British government securities, certificates of tax 
deposit and local authority debt, together with net 
deposits with central government funds. Net purchases 
by the corporations have a positive and net sales a 
negative sign.

Contribution to public sector borrowing comprises 
borrowing other than direct from central government less 
transactions in short-term assets and in other public 
sector debt. It is equivalent to the borrowing requirement 
less direct borrowing from central government

Method of compilation
The quarterly figures for tables 5.1 and 5.2 and certain 

of the items in tables 5.3 and 5.4 {trade creditors and 
debtors, net lending and transactions in company 
securities) are principally based on quarterly data from 
the nationalised industries and other major corporations; 
the series are adjusted in line with the published annual 
accounts of each corporation when these become 
available (see United Kingdom National Accounts 
Statistics: Sources and Methods, page 110). For 
transactbns with central government (interest payments, 
capital grants and loans) government accounting figures 
are used; estimates of borrowing abroad are based on 
balance of payments information; those of net purchases 
of public sector debt are taken from local authorities' 
borrowing returns (see Section 4). returns by 
nationalised industries and some other corporations and 
other sources. Figures for other transactions in financial 
assets and liabilities e.g. borrowing from pension funds, 
borrowing from banks, and bank deposits, are based on 
counterpart information from returns by banks and other 
financial institutions; retail credit extended by public 
corporations (through gas and electricity showrooms) is 
ascertained from inquiries to retailers.

Quality
The annual data, being based mainly on published 

accounts, are considered to be of reliable quality. The 
quarterly figures must be rated at a lower level of 
reliability even after they have been brought into line with 
the annual accounts since it is not possible to make an 
accurate allocation of annual adjustments over the four 
quarters of the year.

Further references
Annual figures for the public corporations sector 

covering a run of eleven years are published in United 
Kingdom National Accounts; in addition to operating, 
appropriation and capital accounts the sector 
contributions to gross domestic product by type of 
income and to gross domestic fixed capital formation by 
type of asset and broad industry group are shown.

The Statistical Supplement to the 1991 Autumn 
Statement (Cm 1920) has tables showing the financing 
of the capital requirements of each nationalised industry, 
with estimated outturn figures for the financial year just 
ending and forecasts for the following years and texts 
commenting on the investment programme of each 
industry and its financing figures.

Information on the outstanding debt of public 
corporations is not brought together in Financial Statistics 
although some items, e.g. lending by banks and own 
pension funds, are shown in the accounts for the 
counterpart sectors. Total debt outstanding is a 
component of public sector debt (see page 29) but these 
figures are not fully comprehensive; they comprise all 
lending by central government, banks, own pension 
funds, savings banks and borrowing abroad, both in 
sterling and foreign currency. Government-guaranteed 
stocks of nationalised industries are included in these 
statistics with liabilities of central government since they 
cannot be distinguished from British government 
securities in the sector analysis of holders. They are of 
course liabilities of the public corporations.
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Section 6
Banks and building societies

Banks and other financial institutions are the main 
channels through which funds from economic sectors 
that are in financial surplus are distributed to sectors in 
deficit. These institutions are therefore in many ways the 
focus of the financial accounts. Statistics for banks and 
building societies are also used in compiling the 
monetary aggregates and their counterparts (see 
Section 11).

While the activities of banks and building societies are 
very similar in many ways, and their deposits are treated 
identically in the measures of money stock M4, the 
separate accounts of the two sectors are also of interest. 
In this section, tables 6.1 to 6.7 relate to banks and 
tables 6.6 to 6.10 to building societies.

UK banks
Statistics collected from banks serve a variety of other 

purposes including administration of the system of 
monetary control, prudential supervision and general 
economic intelligence. All these needs are met by an 
integrated system of returns, the result of which is a 
weaith of statistical data.

This section includes considerable detail on sub
groups of institutions as well as breakdowns by financial 
instrument and by sector. Details of external liabilities 
and claims on banks are included in Section 10.

Definition of the banks sector
The UK banks’ sector (formerly the monetary sector, 

see Use of the terms ‘monetary sector' and 'private 
sector* on page 353 of the August 1989 issue of the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin) comprises the UK 
offices of all institutions authorised to take deposits under 
the Banking Act 1987, the Banking Department of the 
Bank of England, those institutions in the Channel 
islands and the Isle of Man which have opted to adhere 
to the monetary control arrangements introduced in 
August 1981 and, prior to their recognition as banks, the 
National Girobank and the Trustee Savings Banks. A full 
list of the institutions making up the banks’ sector was 
published in the February 1992 issue of the Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin. A list of additions and 
deletions is published in each successive Quarterly 
Bulletin. Before November 1981, the sector (then termed 
the banking sector) comprised the UK offices of all banks 
that agreed to observe a common reserve ratio and other 
credit control arrangements, together with the Banking 
Department of the Bank of England and the institutions 
which make up the money market dealing counterparties 
of the Bank of England which are authorised under the 
Banking Act 1987.

Monthly figures are generally collected only from those 
members of the banks' sector with eligible liabilities of 
£10 million or more or total liabilities of £100 million or 
more. (Before November 1981, all institutions in the 
sector reported monthly.) At end-December 1991. this 
amounted to 461 institutions out of a total of 553 in the 
sector; however, these institutions account for the vast 
bulk of the sector's business. All banks' sector institutions 
provide quarterly figures, including figures from the 
smallest institutions from the end of quarter one 1983.

start with the consolidated banks’ sector balance sheet 
and then to show detail relating to groups of institutions. 
Table 6.3 however, shows the balance sheet of the Bank 
of England as a central bank. Tables 6.1 and 6.2 give 
consolidated balance sheet levels of liabilities and assets 
held by the banks' sector. Table 6.1 also shows 
transactions in the period. The emphasis in these tables 
is on the sectoral analysis of deposits and lending; inter
bank transactions are excluded and adjustments are 
made for items in transit etc.

Tables 6.4, 6.6 and 6.7 include all monthly reporting 
UK banks, except money market dealing counterparties 
of the Bank of England, authorised under the Banking 
Act 1987, which are covered in table 6.5. The Banking 
Department of the Bank of England and the Trustee 
savings banks, which were formerly excluded from tables
6.4.6.6 and 6.7, were brought into them with effect from 
September 1983 (table 6.4) and November 1983 (tables
6.6 and 6.7).

Table 6.4 shows the aggregated balance sheet; in 
contrast to the sector analysis shown in the banks’ sector 
tables, the emphasis here is institutional and the main 
analysis is by instrument. These institutional tables are 
not constructed on a consolidated basis, and, besides 
deposits from and lending to other banks, these tables 
show details of suspense accounts and items in transit 
which do not appear in the consolidated banks’ sector 
tables. An analysis of bank lending to UK residents by 
Standard Industrial Classification at end-February, May. 
August and November is shown in table 6.6. T ^ le  6.5 
shows an aggregated balance sheet for the discount 
market.

Layout
Broadly speaking, the tables have been arranged to

Statistical sources
The basis of banking statistics is a system of 

integrated returns to the Bank of England. Until October 
1986 these returns mostly relate to the close of business 
on the third Wednesday of each month (second 
Wednesday in December) and the last working day of 
each calendar quarter; from October 1986 the monthly 
returns relate to the end of the month (see below). The 
keystone of the system is a balance sheet return which 
is completed monthly. This return is used to compile 
monthly transactions by UK banks in table 6.1 and 
amounts outstanding in tables 6.4 and 6.5. At the end of 
the calendar quarter, a further return is made giving 
sector breakdowns of liabilities and assets (used in 
tables 6.2,11.7 and 11.8). Also provided quarterly, but at 
the end of February, May, August and November (before 
November 1986 at the middle of these months), is an 
industrial analysis of bank lending to UK residents used 
to compile tables 6.6 and 6.7.

From October 1986, the reporting dates for monthly 
reporting institutions moved from mid-months to end 
months. The reasons for the change, and the method of 
construction of calendar monthly statistics from mid-1982 
to September 1986 (which involves a certain degree of 
estimation so that the resulting series are of less reliable 
quality), are set out in an article in the December 1986 
issue of the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

Details of the seasonal adjustment of banks’ figures 
are set out in Section 11.

The system of banking returns was substantially 
revised and improved in May 1975 and many of the
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Banks and building societies

series start at that date. These changes also affected the 
quarteriy series for the banking sector as a whole and, 
whereas many of these quarterly series can be traced 
back to 1963, the quality of earlier figures is lower and 
there are changes in coverage. An article describing the 
improvements to banking statistics was published in the 
Juno 1975 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin. Following the review of banking statistics which 
took place in 1981-82, a number of definitional changes 
to the statistics were introduced. An article in the March 
1983 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin 
gave details. An article in the August 1992 Bulletin 
described changes forthcoming from the latest review 
and from a review of building societies' statistics.

Quality of data
The quality of the quarterly series, being based on full 

coverage of the sector, is generally high.

Timeliness
The figures shown in table 6.3 are published weekly 

on Thursdays in the Bank Return.
The full institutional and monetary aggregate figures 

for the latest month are first published jn a Bank of 
England press release, around the end of the 
subsequent month, although provisional estimates of the 
monetary aggregates are published generally on the 
fourteenth working day after the month-end. The figures 
next appear in Financial Statistics and in the Bank of 
England Quarteriy Bulletin.

Sectoral banking figures for calendar quarters are first 
published in summary form in the Bank of England 
Quarterly Bulletin (table 5.1) and subsequently in more 
detail in Financial Statistics (tables 6.1 and 6.2). Sectoral 
figures including the business of building societies as 
well as of banks are published in the Bank of England 
Quarterly Bulletin and then revised as necessary in the 
Bank's monthly Monetary statistics release and in 
Financial Statistics (tables 11.7 and 11.8).

The quarterly analysis of bank lending to UK residents 
is issued to the public approximately six weeks after 
reporting day and is published in the following month’s 
Financial Statistics (tables 6.6 and 6.7) and in the Bank 
of England Quarterly Bulletin (table 4).

Further references
Longer runs of figures can be found in the Bank of 

England Statistical Abstract, Number 1 (1970) and 
Number 2 {^975) and the 1992 edition. However, there 
are a number of breaks in these series which make 
consistent series impossible for table 6.4. The most 
important of these was in 1975 when there was a major 
revision in the coverage of banking statistics. Further 
details of this break can be found in the June 1975 issue 
of the Bank of England Quarteriy Bulletin. An article 
describing the main features of the November 1981 
break was published in the December 1981 issue of 
Bank of England Quarteriy Bulletin. See also Breaks in 
Monetary Series, a Bank of England Discussion Paper, 
February 1989, Long Runs of Monetary Data, Bank of 
England, July 1991 and Volume 2 of the Bank of 
England Statistical Abstract 1992.

The Economic Trends Annual Supplement, 1992 
edition shows: bank lending to UK residents (Table 43, 
pages 218 and 219) seasonally adjusted quarterly from 
1963 first quarter to 1991 second quarter and summary
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analysis of UK bank loans, advances and acceptances to 
UK residents from February 1978 to August 1991 (Table 
44, page 220).

The Annual Abstract of Statistics, 1992 edition 
contains annual figures from a selection of the Financial 
Statistics series in most cases covering the period 1978 
to 1990.

Tables 6.1 and 6.2
UK banks* sector

The figures in these tables are designed to show the 
position of the banks’ sector as a whole in relation to 
other sectors; transactions between institutions within the 
sector are excluded.

Consolidation adjustments
1. Transit and suspense items
Gross figures for deposits and advances are adjusted 

to allow for sterling trans'rt Hems. These transit items 
appear in an individual bank’s balance sheet both as 
credit items (e.g. standing orders) and debit items (e.g. 
cheques in course of collection). When figures are 
aggregated, these items may give rise to double counting 
of deposits received from customers outside the banks' 
sector or, where overdrawn or loan accounts are 
concerned, to the undervaluing of total lending made to 
such customers. In accordance with the treatment 
originally adopted for the calculation of reserve ratios 
(see Reserve ratios: further definitbns on page 482 of 
the December 1971 issue of Bank of England Quarteriy 
Bulletin), it is assumed that 60% of the total value of 
debit less credit items affects deposits. This proportion Is 
therefore deducted from gross deposits and the 
remaining 40% is added to advances, the adjustment 
being applied to deposits of. and lending to, the UK non
bank private sector (specifically, industrial and 
commercial companies) in tables 6.1 and 6.2. From mid- 
May 1975 sterling suspense accounts on both sides of 
institutions' balance sheets, which are unclassifiable by 
sector, are added to transit items and treated in the 
same way. Figures for 60% of net debit transit items are 
shown in table 11.2 (levels) and table 11.3 (changes). As 
for foreign currency transit (and suspense) Hems, all 
debit items less all credit items are deducted from foreign 
currency deposits of the overseas sector.

2. Misclassified accounts
When excluding transactions between banks’ sector 

institutions, residual errors can arise, i.e. inter-sector 
transactions as measured on the asset side of the 
consolidated balance sheet do not always equal inter
sector transactions measured on the liabilities side. Any 
sterling inter-sector residual errors are allocated to non
deposit liabilHies (net) in table 6.1; currency residuals are 
included as an adjustment to foreign currency deposits of 
the overseas sector in this table (but in the financial 
accounts a small part is allocated to the OFI sector).

Breaks in series
Significant breaks sometimes occur in the series after 

a change in the number of contributors to the statistics or 
changes in the data collected. The standard method of 
dealing with such breaks in Financial Statistics is that, in 
tables showing amounts outstanding, two estimates are 
given at the changeover date i.e. before and after. Where
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changes in balances (or derived net transactions) are 
displayed, they exclude the effect of the difference in 
coverage in the period in which it occurred. In the banks’ 
sector statistics the following changes have yielded 
significant discontinuities in the series:
End-March 1972 
End-March 1973 
Mid-May 1975

Mid-November 1981

End-March 1983

October 1986

July 1989

Additional contributors. 
Additional contributors. 
Introduction of more 
comprehensive banking 
statistics.
Introduction of monetary 
sector.
Additional quarterly
contributors.
Start of calendar monthly 
reporting.
Abbey National (see below).

Other minor breaks have occurred from time to time. 
The transactions figures have been adjusted to take 
account of these breaks but two levels have not been 
shown. Figures were incorporated in table 6 for the first 
time in the June 1985 Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin 
forthose smaller institutions which complete less detailed 
quarterly returns; these figures are now included in levels 
with effect from 1983 first quarter and transactions in 
periods from 1983 second quarter. Further details are 
given in the notes and definitions to table 6 in the March 
1985 Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

The sectoral classification of securities dealers 
changed at end-September 1986. Prior to that date, 
securities dealers were included within the industrial and 
commercial companies sector, or within 'unincorporated 
businesses’ in the personal sector, as appropriate. From 
September 1986 they are included within the OFI sector. 
Banks recorded the amounts reclassified at end 
September 1986 (see the December 1986 issue of the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, page 519, for details) 
so that the levels of sterling deposits from and sterling 
lending to the OFI, ICC and personal sectors can be 
shown both on the old and the new bases. Sterling flows 
are calculated according to the old sectoral definitions up 
to and including 1986 quarter three, and on the new 
definitions thereafter, in the case of currency lending, 
estimates had been made of the securities dealers' 
transactions with the monetary sector from 1984 quarter 
one onwards. For these series therefore, the breaks in 
the levels series occur at end December 1983.

The Abbey National Building Society became a public 
limited company on 12 July 1989, and was authorised 
under the Banking Act 1987 from that date. As such, it is 
classified as a bank, rather than a building society. This 
change of classification involves large breaks in most 
series artd for further information see details in the 
August 1989 Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, pages 
352 and 353, Statistical consequences of the conversion 
of the Abbey National Building Society to a public limited 
company.

Valuation adjustments
From the second calendar quarter of 1975, the 

changes in assets and liabilities in foreign currencies 
shown in table 6.1 have been adjusted to exclude the 
estimated effect of movements in exchange rates. To the 
extent that the total of adjustments made to foreign 
currency assets does not equal the total of adjustments

Banks and building societies

to foreign currency deposits, a net adjustment is made to 
non-deposit liabilities; in principle this adjustment 
removes from banks’ capital and reserves any change 
which is due to a book profit/loss in sterling terms as a 
result of exchange rate movements, so that the 
remaining change in non-deposit liabilities is in principle 
a genuine flow. From this date, changes in foreign 
currency Kerns may not equal the differences between 
the amounts outstanding; they will, however, more 
accurately reflect InstKutions’ transactions.

From the second quarter of 1975 up to and including 
the third quarter of 1981, similar differences between 
levels outstanding and transactions arise In certain 
sterling Kerns. This applies mainly to investments in the 
quarterly series, where changes were reported directly as 
cash transactions while levels reflected changes in the 
market value of certain assets. The counterpart of a 
change in the value of investments caused by a change 
in market prices is a change In a bank's reserves: a net 
adjustment was therefore also made to non-deposK 
liabilities.

In the second quarter of 1992 adhoc break- 
adjustments were introduced to bank lending and non- 
deposK liabilKies flows to offset the depressing effect of 
bank wrKe offs. Where identKied and deemed signKicant 
adjustments (increases) to lending and non-deposK 
liabilKies flows were taken back to 1986. For further 
details, see August 1992 Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin.

Scope of headings
Non-deposit liabilities(net) comprise the banks’ sector’s 

capKal and other non-deposK liabilKies less their 
investments in UK banks and other non-financial assets 
both in sterling and in other currencies: this Kern also 
includes some residual errors arising from the exclusion 
of transactions between instKutions wKhin the sector, and 
the valuation adjustments described in previous sections.

Domestic deposits in foreign currencies. Before the 
introduction of the new returns in May 1975, all UK 
residents’ deposKs in foreign currencies were allocated 
to the private sector.

Personal sector. In table 6.2, the figures for the 
personal sector are further desegregated to show 
separately deposits by and lending to persons, 
households and individual trusts. The rest of the personal 
sector includes unincorporated businesses of sole traders 
and partnerships (e.g. soiicKors), farms, universKies, 
trade unions, clubs, charKies and churches.

Overseas sector deposits. Include estimates of 
overseas holdings of certKicates of deposK. The foreign 
currency figures also include residual errors arising from 
the exclusion of UK interbank transactions, as these 
errors are believed mainly or wholly to represent 
misreporting of transactions wKh overseas banks.

The sectoral allocation of certificates of deposK and of 
other paper of up to five years’ original maturity issued 
by banks (which is included in deposKs) Is partly 
estimated. Domestic holdings of dollar certificates were 
IdentKied, for the first time, from end-March 1973.

Relationship between table 6.1 and the 
financial accounts

The banks' sector statistics used to compile the 
quarterly transactions in table 6.1 are also used in the 
financial accounts (Section 1), but wKh extra detail not
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shown in table 6.1.
Public, private and overseas sector sterling deposits in 

table 6.1 each agree with the relevant figures in lines 
21.1 and 21.2 in the financial accounts, though the 
financial accounts show more sector detail and the spirt 
between sight and time deposits. Public, private and 
overseas sector foreign currency deposits in table 6.1 
likewise, each agree with the relevant figures in line 21.3 
in the financial accounts.

Sterling fending to the public sector in table 6.1 is the 
sum of the banks' sector’s lines 6, 7, 8,10,11,12,14.1, 
19.1, 19.3, 19.4 and 20.2 in the financial accounts. 
Foreign currency tending to the public sector in table 6.1 
is the sum of the banks' sector’s lines 16,19.2 and 20.1.

The remainder of table 6.1 (lending to the private 
sector and overseas sector and non-deposit liabilities 
(net)) cannot be reconciled with the remaining banks' 
sector lines in the financial accounts, even in total, 
because lending to the private sector \s spread between 
various matrix lines as described in the note to tables 
11.7 and 11.8 and non-deposit liabilities (net) include 
elements of banks' sector lines 31,34, 35,36 and 38. as 
well as the banks’ sector’s balancing item and financial 
surplus or deficit, for which no separate quarterly 
estimate is made. (The banks' sector and other financial 
institutions are combined in the quarterly financial surplus 
or deficit and balancing item estimates.)

Table 6.3
Bank of England

This table provides in summary form the balance 
sheet of the Bank of England, which is divided, for 
accounting purposes, between the Issue Department and 
the Banking Department. (The Bank’s activities were 
divided in this way by the Bank Charter Act 1844, so as 
to separate the note issue function from all other 
functions.) in the UK financial accounts, the Issue 
Department is included in the central government sector, 
while the Banking Department is in the banks’ sector. 
The Exchange Equalisation Account (EEA), the 
government account managed by the Bank which holds 
the official reserves of gold, convertible currencies and 
special drawing rights (SDRs), is not included in this 
table.

Timeliness
The figures aie shown at the third Wednesday of each 

month, and are those given in the weekly Bank Return 
published each Thursday and in the Friday edition of the 
London Gazette. The data are published in Financial 
Statistics one month in arrears.

Issue Department
The accounts of the Issue Department are concerned 

solely with the note issue (which is entirely fiduciary) and 
the backing for it. Thus the department’s only liabilities 
are Bank of England notes In issue - in circulation with 
the public, in commercial banks’ tills or held as a reserve 
by the Banking Department (through which issues and 
withdrawals of notes take place).

Assets are mainly public sector debt (including ways 
and means advances to the National Loans Fund) and 
commercial bills purchased as part of the Bank’s money 
market operations. Transfers between one form of debt 
and another provide a means for open market operations 
by the Bank in the gilt-edged market and in the money

market. In undenvrrting all new issues of government 
stock, the Bank take into the Issue Department's portfolio 
on the day of issue the amount of stock not taken up by 
the market and gradually sell it as demand arises. They 
also regularly buy in stocks in the year before their final 
redemption date.

Scope of headings
Government securities include holdings of British 

government and government-guaranteed securities. 
Treasury bills, ways and means advances to the National 
Loans Fund, the historic Treasury liability of £11 million 
(government debt in the Bank Return; for details see 
pages 56 to 57 of the Bank of England report and 
accounts for the year ended 28 February 1971) and any 
special Treasury liability.

Other secunties include;

refinance provided by the Issue Department in
1969-72 to the London and Scottish clearing 
banks under the arrangements for medium 
and long-term finance of exports and domestic 
shipbuilding (see the Bank o f England 
Quarterly Bulletin tor June 1972). Refinancing 
of special export and shipbuilding credits is no 
longer carried out by the Issue Department, 
the last credits held by the Issue Department 
having matured in March 1976, although some 
ECGD-backed promissory notes and 
shipbuilding credits have been acquired from 
banks as part of money market smoothing 
operations.
holdings of commercial bills and local authority 
bills and, on occasion, local authority deposits 
and bonds, acquired In the course of market 
operations; and miscellaneous securities.

Banking Department
Through the Banking Department, the Bank conducts 

its operations as a banker to the government, to the 
other UK banks, to overseas central banks and 
international organisations, and to a small number of 
other domestic institutions, private individuals and 
members of the staff. Special deposits (and, under the 
credit control arrangements in force from 1971 to 1981, 
supplementary special deposits), called for reasons of 
monetary policy, are held in the Banking Department; 
advances to the discount market are made through the 
Banking Department. The National Loans Fund also 
holds deposits with the Banking Department in 
connection with monetary control and money market 
smoothing operations.

Credit items in course of transmission are included in 
the deposits of the Banking Department, whilst debit 
items in course of collection are deducted.

Scope of headings
Public deposits are the balances held by the central 

government at the Bank of England and include the 
accounts of the Consolidated Fund, the National Loans 
Fund, the National Debt Commissioners and H.M. 
Paymaster General, together with dividend accounts, 
accounts connected with tax collection and various other 
government funds. Deposits held by local authorities and 
public corporations are included under reserves and 
other accounts. In tables 6.1 and 6.2, however, these
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deposits are included under public sector deposits.
Special deposits may be called from all UK banks with 

eligible liabiltties of £10 million or more. Prior to the 
introduction of new monetary control arrangements on 20 
August 1981, special deposits could be called from all 
banks and the large finance houses observing a common 
reserve asset ratio under the credit corrtrol arrangements 
introduced in 1971. Details of the special deposits 
scheme, and of the supplementary special deposits 
scheme, figures for which are included, were last given 
in the 1981 issue of the Explanatory Handbook. No 
special deposits have been called since July 1980.

Articles which were published in the Bank of England 
Quarterly Bulletin between 1971 and 1980 relating to the 
special and supplementary deposit schemes are 
available from the Bank of England, London EC2R 8AH. 
An article reviewing the supplementary special deposits 
scheme was published in the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin, Mar(^ 1982.

Bankers' deposits. Up to 19 August 1981, these 
constituted the current accounts held at the Bank by the 
banks and discount houses. From 20 August 1981, they 
additionally consist of non-operational cash ratio deposits 
for which all banks’ sector institutions with eligible 
liabilities averaging £10 million or more are liable.

Reserves and other accounts include deposit liabilities 
to overseas central banks, the dividend accounts of 
stocks managed by the Bank other than the direct 
obligations of the British government, local authority and 
public corporations accounts, and some UK private 
sector accounts.

Total liabilities are shown in column 5 and include the 
Bank’s capital - bank stock of £14.6 million held by the 
Treasury ■ which is not included in any of the sub-totals.

Government securities include holdings of government 
and government-guaranteed securities, adjusted for the 
amortisation of premia or discounts on a straight line 
basis over the period to maturity, and Treasury bills.

Advances and other accounts include market 
advances to the discount market, loans to customers and 
support loans to deposit-taking institutions. Provisions for 
losses are deducted.

Until the bank return for 20 July 1977, premises, 
equipment and other securities include all premises and 
equipment and were valued at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. At that date, premises were valued 
professionally on an open market value for existing use 
basis as described in the Bank of Englartd Annual Report 
and Accounts. Holdings of other securities, which are 
relatively small, include ordinary shares (e.g. those of 
special finance agencies such as the Agricultural 
Mortgage Corporation), local authority bills and bonds, 
and commercial bills. Listed and unlisted securities are 
included at cost less provisions. Further details of other 
securities are given in the Bank of England Annual 
Report and Accounts.

Notes artd coin complete the assets of the banking 
department. The holdings of coin and Scottish and 
Northern Irish notes account for the difference between 
this column and column two.

Breaks in the series
From 20 July 1977 there was a change in the basis of 

valuation of premises (see above).

Further references
The Bank of England Statistical Abstract, Number 1 

(1970) provides end-year figures for the years 1945-63, 
and monthly figures for 1964-69. Abstract Number 2 
(1975) provides mid-December figures for 1963-69 and 
monthly figures for 1970-74.

The Bank of England Annual Report and Accounts, 
published in July each year, gives a full balance sheet 
and further details in the notes to the accounts.

The Annual Abstract of Statistics table 17.1 gives a 
run of mid-December figures.

An article in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, for 
June 1967 - Bank of England liabilities and assets: 1696 
onwards - provides some figures for the years 1696 to 
1845, prior to the regular publication of the Bank Return 
in September 1844.

Table 6.4
Banks: summary of monthly reporting 
institutions

This table covers the business of the UK offices of 
those institutions which are UK banks and report 
monthly, other than money market dealing counterparties 
of the Bank of England which are authorised under the 
Banking Act 1987, whose figures are published 
separately in table 6.5. Figures on this basis start at mid- 
September 1983 when the coverage was extended to 
include the Trustee Savings Banks, the Banking 
Department of the Bank of England and eleven other 
new contributors which had previously reported at end- 
quarter only. The figures prior to mid-September 1983 - 
which were published in earlier issues of Financial 
Statistics - cover a narrower range of institutions. For a 
description of the background to these changes see the 
December 1983 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin, page 562.

The table is not comparable with table 6.1 and 6.2, 
which cover the whole of the banks’ sector. Also, the 
adjustments made in the banks’ sector tables to eliminate 
inter-bank transactions and transit items (see the notes 
to the banks’ sector tables) have not been made in this 
table. Up to September 1986 reporting day was the third 
Wednesday in each month, except in December when it 
was the second Wednesday. From October 1986 the 
reporting date is the month end.

Liabilities and assets are reported at the value 
standing in the reporting Institutions’ books. Liabilities 
and assets in currencies other than sterling are 
translated into sterling at the closing middle market spot 
rate on reporting days. The figures are therefore affected 
by movements in exchange rates.

Deposit liabilities include all credit balances on 
customers' accounts, including deposits by other banks 
(except deposits in connection with syndicated lending), 
overdrawn accounts with UK and overseas 
correspondents and deposits by overseas offices of the 
reporting institution (except working capital provided by 
head offices overseas). It also includes certificates of 
deposit and all liabilities in gold (which excludes bullion 
and coin deposited for safe custody).

Sight deposits comprise balances as defined above 
other than certificates of deposit, including interest- 
bearing deposits, which are transferable or withdrawable 
on demand without interest penalty (or interest 
indemnity). Also included are money immediately at call 
and money placed overnight.
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Tim0 deposits comprise all other deposits (except 
certificates ar)d other short-term paper, which are shown 
separately).

Certificates of deposit etc. and other short-term paper 
issued include promissory notes issued by the reporting 
institutions and instruments such as silver and other 
commodity receipts. Also included are unsubordinated 
capital market instruments (except debentures and 
secured loan stocks) of any maturity and subordinated 
loan stocks of less than five years’ original maturity: other 
subordinated loan stocks and debentures are included in 
capital and other funds.

items in suspense and transmission comprise credit 
balances not in customers’ names but relating to 
customers’ funds rather than to UK banks’ internal funds 
or to shareholders’ funds, together with standing orders 
and credit transfers debited to customers’ accounts, and 
other items for which the corresponding payment has not 
yet been made by the reporting institution. It includes 
credits in course of transmission to the reporting 
institutions’ own UK branches, UK branches of other 
banks and to banks and banking offices abroad.

Capital and other funds includes shareholders’ funds, 
working capital provided by overseas offices, together 
with all internal accounts {both liability and asset).

Cash rath deposits. Reporting institutions with eligible 
liabilities of £10 million or more, and/or balance sheet 
footings of £100 million or more, are liable to lodge, with 
the Bank of England non-operational, non-interest* 
bearing deposits of 0.35% (0.4% prior to 31 January 
1992) of their eligible liabilities (0.25% for institutions for 
which Northern Ireland is the main place of business In 
the United Kingdom). Adjustments to the amount of the 
cash ratio deposit each institution is required to hold take 
place in October and April each year, based on average 
eligible liabilities in the six months to September and 
March respectively.

Market hans includes all balances (including 
correspondent balances) with, and funds lent to. UK 
banks and to banks overseas, apart from trade or 
portfolio investments. This also includes holdings of 
sterling certifhates of deposit issued by, and sterling time 
deposits placed with, UK building societies, and funds 
lent to UK local authorities through the local authority 
money markets. Other funds lent through specialised 
financial markets or through brokers are included as 
advances.

Other UK banks Includes all money (including 
correspondent balances) lent to, or placed with, other UK 
banks. Overdrawn accounts are included under deposits.

Certifhates of deposit include holdings of promissory 
notes and other short-term paper issued by other UK 
banks, and holdings of stocks and bonds having an 
original maturity of less than one year which have been 
issued by other UK banks.

Market hans to overseas includes bills drawn under 
acceptance credit facilities opened by overseas banks 
(including overseas offices of the reporting institution) 
which the reporting institution has itself discounted, and 
certificates of deposit, promissory notes and other 
negotiable paper issued by overseas banks.

Bills Include bills, promissory notes and other 
negotiable paper (excluding certifhates o/depos/t owned 
by the reporting institution). It excludes bills connected 
with refinanceable lending under the special schemes for 
exports and shipbuilding and bills which the reporting 
institution has disposed of by rediscounting. Bills and
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notes are classified as sterling or other currencies 
according to the currency in which they are drawn. Also 
prior to October 1988, before withdrawal of this 
concession acceptances by the reporting institution which 
it has also discounted.

Advances include all balances with, and lending 
(whether against collateral or not) direct to, customers 
not included elsewhere. It includes the reporting 
institution’s own acceptances which it has also 
discounted, except for those drawn by banks overseas, 
and prior to October 1988 by another UK bank, which 
are entered under market loans. Own acceptances 
discounted are shown as advances to the party that 
requested the acceptance credit to be opened. 
Provisions for bad and doubtful debts are not deducted. 
Where the reporting institution participates in (or acts as 
manager or co-manager of) a loan financed by more than 
one institution, it includes only the reporting institution's 
participation for its own account, the loan being classified 
according to the ultimate borrower.

Advances to UK private sector, as well as instruments 
noted above, also includes all medium and long-term 
advances (i.e. with an original maturity of two years or 
over) at fixed rates for shipbuilding for UK ownership 
under Department of Trade and Industry guarantee; less

(i) any amounts refinanced
(ii) the amount of assistance accepted by UK 

banks under the occasional facility to sell to 
the Bank of England for subsequent 
repurchase, over two-year government- 
guaranteed shipbuilding paper.

Both secured and unsecured money with money 
brokers or gilt-edged jobbers on the Stock Exchange is 
included in advances to the UK private sector.

Advances to overseas, as well as instruments noted 
above, also Includes all medium and iong-term lending, 
whether refinanceable or not, at fixed rates for exports 
under direct ECXBD bank guarantee, and all export 
lending at rates related to base rate under ECGD 
comprehensive bank bills and notes and open account 
guarantee schemes; less

(I) any amounts refinanced
(ii) the amount of assistance accepted by banks 

under the occasional facility to sell to the Bank 
of England, for subsequent re-purchase, over 
two year government-guaranteed export credit 
paper.

Banking department lending to central government 
(net) comprises its holdings of all forms of central 
government debt (including bank notes), less its deposit 
liabilities to the National Loans Fund and Paymaster 
General.

Investments include all securities beneficially owned 
by the reporting institution. It includes securities which 
the reporting institution has lent (or pledged) but still 
beneficially owns, but excludes securities which the 
reporting institution has borrowed and holds or has re
lent but which it does not beneficially own.

British government stocks includes all stocks issued by 
the government and stocks of nationalised industries 
guaranteed by the government. On some occasions, the 
Bank of England relieves pressure on banks’ liquidity by 
purchasing British government securities from them, for 
subsequent re-sale. Holdings of British government 
securities reported in table 6.4 will have been affected by 
this assistance.
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Other public sector investments include stocks and 
bonds issued by local authorities which are listed on the 
Stock Exchange.

Other investments include all investments in banks' 
sector institutions which are subsidiaries or associates of 
the reporting institution, and deposits with overseas 
offices which have been invested in fixed assets such as 
premises and equipment.

Items in suspense include all debit balances not in 
customers’ names but related to customers’ funds rather 
than to the reporting institutions’ own internal funds, for 
example debit balances awaiting transfer to customers’ 
accounts.

Collections comprise cheques, etc, drawn on and in 
course of collection from other UK banks and debit items 
in transit between UK offices of the reporting institution. 
It includes cheques that have been credited to 
customers’ accourrts but are held overnight before being 
presented or paid into the reporting institution’s account 
with another UK bank but excludes cheques already 
passed to other UK banks for collection (these are 
entered as market loans to UK banks). It includes all 
collections on banks outside the United Kingdom and 
items in transit to overseas offices of the reporting 
institution, where the reporting institution is acting as 
principal and not as an agent for collection and where it 
has already given credit or value for the items.

Assets leased include all plant and equipment 
beneficially owned by the reporting institution which have 
been leased out under finance leases, including any 
leased to branches, subsidiaries or associates overseas.

Other miscellaneous assets include gold bullion and 
gold coin, it also includes other commodities (for 
example silver), land, premises, plant and equipment and 
other goods beneficially owned, including assets leased 
under operating leases.

Acceptances comprise all bills accepted by the 
reporting institution which are still outstanding, excluding 
any which the reporting institution has itself discounted 
(these are included within advances or market loans), but 
including any such discounts which have subsequently 
been rediscounted.

Table 6.5
Discount houses

This table shows the liabilities and assets of the group 
of specialised banking institutions that make up the 
money market dealing counterparties of the Bank of 
England authorised under the Banking Act 1987, and 
which are included in the UK banks’ sector. Prior to 
November 1981, the discount houses also included the 
money trading departments of five members of the 
banks’ sector (these departments were excluded from the 
returns that are used to compile table 6.4).

The discount houses borrow money mainly in the 
inter-bank market and employ it in a variety of mainly 
short-term financial instruments. Besides guaranteeing to 
underwrite the weekly Treasury bill tender (see notes to 
table 3.8), the discount houses make a secondary market 
in various short-term instruments. Including certificates of 
deposit and commercial bills.

The balance sheet of the discount houses can show 
considerable changes over time, reflecting not only 
changes in interest rate differentials but also the effects 
of monetary control arrangements. Funds placed by 
banks with the discount houses at call and on a secured

Banks and building societies

basis were included as reserve assets under the credit 
control arrangements preceding August 1981; with effect 
from the introduction of monetary control arrangements 
on 20 August 1981, each banks’ sector institution whose 
acceptances are eligible for discount at the Bank of 
England undertook to maintain a minimum of 4% of its 
eligible liabilities in secured money with members of the 
market; with effect from 18 August 1983, the daily 
minimum was reduced to 2.5%.

The column Other bills - Other public sector no longer 
appears in this table. However, the series AEKP and 
ATJP are obtainable from the Databank.

Tables 6.6 and 6.7
Analysis of bank lending to UK residents

The analysis was changed in May 1975 along with the 
other banking statistics. The principal differences 
between the old and new series were set out in the notes 
to table 10 in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, 
December 1975. The break in the series in November 
1981 is partly due to the change in the reporting 
population and partly due to the reclassification of certain 
borrowers as banks’ sector institutions which took them 
outside the scope of this analysis. For details of the 
institutions covered see notes to table 6.4 on page 60.

Before November 1983, the analysis was based as far 
as possible on the Central Statistical Office’s Standard 
Industrial Classification of 1968. Since then, the analysis 
is broadly based on the CSO’s Standard Industrial 
Classification of 1980. The main outlines of the analysis 
remain as before - manufacturing, financial, business and 
other services, persons - but there have been 
considerable changes in detail, and the number of sub
categories has been expanded from twenty-three to 
thirty. It is not therefore possible to compare figures for 
like sounding categories existing before the re
classification. The classification is based upon industries, 
irrespective of owner (that is private, local authority or 
government); loans are classified according to the main 
activity of the borrower. Lending to unincorporated 
businesses, etc, is allocated according to the trade or 
profession.

The analysis covers bans, advances and acceptances 
in both sterling and foreign currencies provided by 
reporting institutions to their customers but does not 
include funds placed through the local authority money 
markets. It also now includes banks’ holdings of sterling 
commercial paper which are included indistinguishably 
with loans and advances.

The figures for changes in bans, advances and 
acceptances in foreign currencies have been adjusted to 
exclude the change in the sterling value of existing 
business in foreign currency arising from fluctuations in 
exchange rates.

Tables 6.8-6.10
Building societies

These tables cover building societies as defined by the 
Building Societies Acts 1962 and 1986. Building societies 
have dominated the housing loans market for many 
years, though they have recently faced increasing 
competition, mainly from the banks and centralised 
mortgage lenders. Their lending is financed largely by 
receipts of shares and deposits which they acquire 
almost entirely from individuals in the personal sector in
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competition with the banks and national savings. Their 
success in attracting such funds largely depends on the 
relative attractiveness of their share and deposit interest 
rates (see table 13.12 and Section 13 generally). In 
recent years these receipts have increasingly been 
supplemented by borrowing in the wholesale market.

Compilation
Building society transactions from January 1987 are 

derived from figures prepared by the Building 
Commission on the basis of returns made to it by 
individual societies. The monthly figures previous to 
January 1987 are derived from different returns made to 
the Building Societies Association. Although the coverage 
and definitions of these two sources should be broadly 
the same, there may be some break in series at end- 
December 1986; thus any effect of the change of source 
is incorporated in the January 1987 flows.

The statistics in table 6.8 are based on monthly 
returns from approximately forty societies with assets 
amounting to 97% of total balance sheet assets. The 
data are collected and aggregated by the Building

Commission, who pass them to the Bank of 
England for inclusion In the monetary statistics and 
financial accounts. The figures are grossed-up to 
represent the whole population of societies.

The quarterly statistics in table 6.9 are based on the 
figures from the monthly returns supplemented by the 
results of quarterly returns processed by the Bank of 
England from a sample of thirty societies with assets 
amounting to over 94% of total building society assets. 
From September 1992 a revised quarterly return (with 
the same reporting population as the monthly return) is 
being collected by the Building Societies Commission, 
who pass the aggregated data to the Bank of England.

Up to and including 1986, the statistics for assets and 
liabilities outstanding at the end of each year in table 6.8 
are based on an annual return processed by the Bank of 
England. The returns were issued to the same sample of 
societies as the quarterly return. Each year the figures 
for annual holdings and quarterly transactions were 
reconciled with annual statutory returns made to the 
Registrar of Friendly Societies by all building societies. 
After 1986 the end-year figurers are taken from the
grossed-up comprehensive monthly return described 
above.

The analysis of new commitments and advances in 
table 6.10 was based, up to end-1980, on a stratified 
sample of fifty societies covering 90% of total assets. 
From the beginning of 1981, the return was redesigned 
and the sample reduced to the largest societies (fifteen 
in 1986 covering 88% of total assets). As before, the 
figures are grossed-up to represent all societies.

Quarterly figures of ‘save-as-you-earn’ (SAVE) 
schemes entered into with building societies are included 
in the figures for shares and deposits. These are shown 
separately in table S21 each quarter, which is based on 
supplementary quarterly returns from a sample of twenty- 
five societies with assets amounting to over 96% of total 
building society assets. For details on SAVE terms see 
page 42 and 43.

Further references
A monthly balance sheet similar to table 6.8 is first 

published each month by the Bank of England in their 
Monetary Statistics release. Long runs of quarterly

figures on mortgage advances, repayments of principal 
and net advances are given in table 9.4 - Loans for 
house purchase. This table gives separate figures for 
loans made by central government, local authorities, 
public corporations, insurance companies and pension 
funds, building societies, the banks and miscellaneous 
financial institutions. Similar figures are first published 
each quarter by the Council of Mortgage Lenders. 
Quarterly figures of both the number and the value of 
SAYE accounts opened and closed, as well as balances 
outstanding are shown alongside information on SAYE 
transacted through the Department for National Savings 
and Trustee savings bank in table S21.

Housing and Ckjnstruction Statistics, a quarterly 
publication by the Department of Environment, contains 
tables showing similar information to tables 6.8 to 6.10 
and, on both regular and occasional bases, a 
considerable amount of statistics on the housing market 
including data on the characteristics of mortgagors, 
mortgage advances and mortgaged property, including 
an Index of house prices. Part of the analysis of 
mortgages is based on the 'Five Per Cent Sample 
Survey of Building Society Mortgages, ’ which is 
described in a booklet by Andrew Evans with that title 
published as Studies in Official Statistics. NO 26 (HMSO, 
1975).

The Annual Report of the Building Societies 
Commission contains selected statistics from the 
aggregation of building societies’ statutory annual 
returns, which are for various accounting years ending 
between 1 February and the following 31 January.

The Annual Abstract of Statistics table 17.13 in 1991 
provides a long annual series of statistics which are also 
drawn by the Building Societies CJommission from the 
statutory returns, and the Digest of Welsh Statistics gives 
details of the number of mortgages granted annually in 
Wales.

The Building Societies Association’s monthly press 
release and The Council of Mortgage Lenders quarterly 
Housing Finance include detailed statistics on all aspects 
of building societies' operations. A compendium of 
building society statistics, published by the Building 
Societies Association, provides a long run of all available 
building society statistics including quarterly financial 
statistics, unadjusted and seasonally adjusted from 1955.

General information is provided in The Building 
Society Industry, a book by Mark Boleat (published by 
Allen and Unwin in 1986) and in The Development of 
the Building Societies Sector in the 1980’s in the Bank of 
England quarterly Bulletin, November 1990.

Tables 6.8 to 6.10
The material in these tables has been adapted to 

reflect the regime under which the societies have 
operated since the 1986 Building Societies Act. The 
contents of the tables were re-ordered with effect from 
June 1990; table 6.8 now shows the balance sheet 
(including a monthly series which is consistent with the 
monthly monetary statistics in Section 11), table 6.9 
shows further detail of retail liabilities and commercial 
assets, together with analyses of total shares and 
deposits (including commercial paper) and commercial 
assets by class and sector, and table 6.10 shows lending 
commitments, an analysis of these and of gross
advances by purpose, and the numbers of commitments 
and advances in each period.
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Table 6.8
Building societies

Retail shares and deposits. These are shares and 
deposits that are defined as ‘retail’ by the 1986 Building 
Societies Act, i.e. all shares and deposits that are neither 
transferable instruments (such as certificates of deposit) 
nor funds from corporate bodies, other building societies, 
friendly societies, trade unions, charities and 
administrators of approved retirement benefit schemes, 
nor large time deposits (over £50:000 and repayable 
within one year of deposit). In effect, ‘retail’ deposits are 
predominantly non-corporate funds raised outside the 
wholesale money markets. There is no substantial break 
of character at end-1986, since the distinction between 
"refa/r and non-retail shares and deposits came into 
being only at that date and the great majority of ’‘shares 
and deposits” were previously essentially "refa/r. 
Nonetheless some £0.7 billion was reallocated out of 
” retail shares and deposits” column into ”deposits and 
commercial paper in January 1987; this effect is
excluded from the flows shown.

Bank borrowing. Banks also lend to societies via take- 
up of the other non-retail instruments shown in the table.

Transit and suspense items. Previously included in 
"reserves, officid loans and other liabilities”, 
distinguishably from January 1987; before that date 
transit and suspense items are believed to be 
indistinguishably included in that item.

Interest accrued but not credited. Indistinguishable 
within "other liabilities and reserves” in the monthly
series.

Liquid assets : total. Consistent with the definition in 
the Building Societies Act 1986.

British government securities. The figures previously 
shown for the latest quarter’s gross purchases and sales 
of under five years stocks and five years and over stocks 
can be deduced from the net transactions here and net 
turnover data in table 12.4.

Other equals the previous "other short-term assets”, 
less bank bills and asset transit and suspense items 
(which are now distinguished separately). At end-1990 
comprised national savings £1 million, the remainder 
unidentified but believed to represent mainly mortgaged- 
backed securities issued by other lenders.

Transit and suspense items. Previously within "other 
short-term assets”. Before January 1987 they are 
believed to have been reported indistinguishably within 
"other short-term assets”.

Commercial assets (a technical term from the Building 
Societies Act 1986). Equals the previous "mortgages” 
series; mortgage (i.e. "Class 1” and "Class T )  and non
mortgage (i.e. "Class T )  commercial assets are now 
analysed in detail in table 6.9.

Tables 6.9 and 6.10
The seasonal adjustments are calendar-year
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constrained, unlike those applied to the bi 
elements in the monetary series in Section 
financial-year constrained.

Table 6.9
The analyses of gross flows now cover retail shares 

and deposits instead of total shares and deposits (see 
notes to Table 6.8), and Classes 1 and 2 commercial 
assets (i.e. mortgages) and Class 3 lending to 
individuals. Other Class 3 assets are shown only as a 
net flow. The total "net advances” is the series previously 
entitled "mortgages : net advances of principal.

Under commercial assets, interest earned and interest 
repayments are included indistinguishably within 
respectively gross advances and repayments of principal 
before 1987.

Commercial assets : other credHs/debits includes 
insurance premia, fines etc.

The classes of commercial assets are as defined in 
the Building Societies Act 1986. Class 1 assets are 
advances to individuals, secured on land for the 
residential use of the borrower; in addition, a Class 1 
asset has to be the first charge on the property. Class 2 
assets are advances secured on land which do not fulfil 
all the conditions of a Class 1 asset (e.g. a secured loan 
which is not a first charge on the property); Class 2 
assets therefore include lending to individuals secured 
other than by a first charge, lending to companies, 
unincorporated businesses and housing associations. 
Class 3 assets are loans (to individuals or companies 
etc.) not secured on a first or second charge on land, 
investment in subsidiaries and investments in land (other 
than land mainly occupied by a society itself, which is 
included in "other assets” in table 6.8). The business of 
subsidiaries - other than building society branches or 
subsidiaries in the UK offshore islands - is excluded from 
the "building societ/' statistics shown in these tables 
except to the extent that this business results in entries 
on the parent society’s balance sheet. Thus Class 3 
lending to individuals is consumer credit extended by a 
society itself; lending by societies’ consumer credit 
subsidiaries is reflected only in "other Class 3 assets", if 
the subsidiaries borrow from their parents.

Before 1988 all mortgages are classified as "Class 1" 
in these statistics, except for mortgage lending to 
industrial and commercial companies. The quarterly path 
of Class 3 lending in the first three quarters of 1987 is 
estimated.

Table 6.10
The analyses of new commitments and gross 

advances now cover just mortgages (i.e. Classes 1 and 
2 of commercial assets) and other lending to individuals 
(i.e. Class 3 consumer credit lending), whereas the 
analysis in the previous table 6.10 in principle also 
covered any other Class 3 commercial assets.
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Section 7
Other financial institutions

The other financial institutions (OFI) sector comprises 
all the financial companies and institutions that are not in 
the banks and building societies sector, apart from 
certain financial bodies which are deliberately classified 
to other sectors. For example, the National Savings Bank 
and the Exchange Equalisation Account are classified to 
central government because they are an integral part of 
its financial operations and the insurance activities of 
Lloyds underwriters are classified to the personal sector 
because of the difficulties of distinguishing them from the 
rest of the personal sector.

The main activity of OFIs is to obtain and redistribute 
funds. The groups of institutions which make up the 
sector are as follows.

Banking institutions in the Channel Islands and the 
Isle of Man which are not in the banks' sector.

Bank holding companies’ .
Credit unions'.
Export credit vehicles.
Factoring companies.
Finance leasing companies.
Financial holding companies.
Financial trusts.
Friendly societies.
Fund managers.
Gitt>edged market makers.
Gold dealers which are not in the banks’ sector.
Institutions not in the banks' sector whose main 

activity is to extend credit abroad.
Insurance companies (in the current accounts the 

long-term funds are part of the personal sector • 
see below).

Insurance holding companies*.
Investment trusts.
Mortgage finance vehicles.
Non-bank credit companies.
Pension funds (in the current accounts they are 

part of the personal sector - see below).
Property unrt trusts.
Securities dealers.
Special finance agencies.
Stock Exchange moneybrokers.
Unit trusts

- authorised
- unauthorised (including Channel Island unit 
trusts and other open ended funds).*

Venture and development capital companies.
See Data collection below.

Data collection
Data on OFIs are collected in two ways. The main 

groups of OFIs are asked to provide returns of their 
financial activities through regular sample or 
comprehensive surveys. These returns also provide 
information on the counterpart sectors to various 
transactions. This helps to get round the difficulty of 
obtaining direct information from other sectors, 
particularly the overseas and personal sectors.

Data on OFIs are also collected from returns of UK 
banks. From the beginning of 1982, the OFI sector has 
been included in the sector definitions employed by UK 
banks in reporting their borrowings and lending. This 
more comprehensive information is used to supplement

or replace that collected from direct surveys of OFI 
institutions.

It is recognised that the coverage of the OFI sector is 
incomplete. In particular, no information is explicitly 
collected from those institutions marked with an asterisk 
in the sector definitions above and data may be 
inadequate for some of the others. Plans are currently 
underway to extend reporting by OFIs and to clarify the 
coverage of the sector.

Long-term insurance and pension funds
Current income and expenditure of pension funds, and 

of long-term insurance funds, are included in the national 
accounts under the personal sector, but their financial 
transactions are treated as though the funds are OFIs. 
The balance of the funds' current income over 
expenditure, which is their net amount available for 
investment, is recorded in the financial accounts as an 
increase in the assets of the personal sector and the 
liabilities of the OFI sector. The funds remain the 
property of the personal sector in the form of this 
financial claim but their transactions in financial assets 
which match this claim are transactions of the OFI 
sector. Friendly societies are, in principle, treated in the 
same way as long-term insurance funds. Further 
explanation is given in the notes to Section 9.

Changes of sector
The scope of the OFI sector has varied as a result of 

administrative changes. The most important have been:
(a) in November 1979, the Trustee savings banks 

ordinary department was moved from the 
central government sector and amalgamated 
with the new department in the OFI sector. 
(For statistical purposes this change was 
regarded as taking place at the end of the 
third quarter 1979).
at the end of 1980, the National Savings Bank 
account was moved from the OFI sector into 
the central government sector.
At the end of 1979, the Crown Agents was 
moved from the OFI sector into the public 
corporations sector.
at the end of 1981, the Trustee savings banks 
as a whole were moved from the OFI sector 
into the banks’ sector.

Table 7.1
Sources and uses of funds of other financial 
institutions

This table is intended to show transactions in OFIs’ 
financial liabilities (sources of funds) separately from 
transactions in their financial assets (uses of funds). In 
principle, receipts from all sources including other OFIs 
are included, as are payments for all uses including 
payments to other OFIs. Property unit trusts’ receipts 
from sales of units for example are recorded as a source. 
The units are sold mainly to pension funds and these 
transactions are recorded again under other financial 
assets (UK) as a use of funds by pension funds. This 
treatment differs from that in the financial accounts (table 
1.8) where only the OFIs’ net transactions with other 
sectors are recorded. The table is not a completely 
unconsolidated sources and uses of funds account.



Other financial institutions

however, since not all transactions within the sector are
identified.

The table falls short of the full sources and uses 
presentation in not including saving, expenditure on 
physical assets (except land, property and ground rents, 
see below) and other capital account items. These are 
not estimated for OFIs separately on a quarterly basis. 
There are, therefore, no quarterly estimates of the 
financial surplus or deficit or of the balancing item as 
defined in the financial accounts. The residual in the 
table is only the difference between the total sources and 
total uses shown.

This table includes expenditure on land, property and 
ground rents and other fixed assets in the UK, which are 
treated in the national accounts as part of capital 
expenditure. The other items are the financial 
transactions with inter-sector transactions entered on 
both sides of the account. The difference between total 
uses of funds (excluding land, property and ground rents 
and other fixed assets in the UK) and total sources of 
funds therefore equals total financial transactions as 
shown in table 1.8.

Scope of headings
Bank borrowing includes advances and loans, bills 

discounted and from the third quarter of 1975, market 
loans.

Unit trust units comprises the net sales of units as 
shown in table 7.6 adjusted to exclude management 
charges and excluding unrtisation of investment trusts. 
The Identified transactions in unit trusts of other financial 
institutions are netted off the figures shown in table 1.8.

The heading property unit trust units and LAMIT 
comprises the sum of net sales of units as presented in 
table 7.5, and the net acquisition of Local Authorities 
Mutual Investment Trust units by local authorities pension 
funds as shown in table 7.10. Only the sales of property 
unit trust units to charities are included in the financial 
accounts table under miscellaneous domestic 
instruments.

Net inflow into life assurance and pension funds Is the 
balance which the funds have available for investment as 
a result of their current revenue and expenditure 
operations, which are included in the personal sector 
accounts. The balance is treated as paid by persons to 
OFIs in the financial account and its subsequent 
investment is accounted for In the OFI sector accounts. 
The annual figures are taken from the estimated revenue 
account of the funds; the quarterly figures are 
interpolations based on the funds’ total investment as 
recorded in their direct financial returns (as shown in 
table 7.9 for insurance company long-term funds and in 
table 7.10 for pension funds) with projections for quarters 
during the current year. Any differences between the 
annual revenue account balance or the quarterly 
interpolations or projections and the reported Investment 
totals contribute to the OFI sector balancing item.

Other liabilities includes other lending by financial 
institutions as included in table 1.7 and certain other 
miscellaneous liabilities. Short-term borrowing in the 
United Kingdom, and short-term borrowing and inter
company investment overseas, are included under the 
sub-headings UK and overseas respectively.

The accruals adjustment covers tax resen/es, the 
difference between the accruals and cash figures of

interest on bank advances and bank deposits, and 
changes in balances in respect of income tax on wages 
and salaries and national insurance contributions payable 
by OFIs.

Other liquid assets cover Treasury bills, tax 
instruments, local authority temporary debt, and up to the 
end of 1981, sight deposits by the Trustee savings banks 
with the Central Trustee Savings Bank.

British government securities includes transactions in 
Northern Ireland central government debt.

Local authority longer-term debt includes loans by 
local authority pension funds to their parent authority.

UK company securities and overseas securities. The 
transactions figures relate to estimates from the returns 
and are shown here after deduction of the costs of 
transactions.

Loans and mortgages for house purchase is the same 
item that appears in table 1.7 and includes loans by 
insurance companies, pension funds and miscellaneous 
financial Institutions.

Loans and mortgages: of/ierincludes loans by pension 
funds (other than those of local authorities) to the parent 
organisation, loans by finance houses and other loans 
and mortgages.

Other financial assets comprises the purchase of unit 
trust units by insurance companies and investment trusts, 
net sales of property unit trust units to pension funds, 
deposits with the Crown Agents, up to the end of 1979 
when the Crown Agents became a public corporation, 
and, up to the end of 1981, time deposits by Trustee 
savings banks with the Central Trustee Savings Bank (all 
of which are inter-OFI sector transactions) short-term 
assets and other investment in the United Kingdom and, 
other investment and short-term assets overseas. 
Investments in antiques and works of art are included 
under this heading although they are not strictly financial 
assets.

Compilation and timeliness
These are described in the notes to other tables that 

follow. This table is up-dated quarterly usually four 
months after the end of the period. More general notes 
on the derivation of OFI series for the financial 
instruments distinguished in the financial accounts are 
given under the notes to Section 1 (see page 14).

Further references
Summary figures for institutional investment are given 

in table 7.3. Further details are contained in CSO Bulletin 
Institutbnal Investment which is published about thirteen 
weeks after the quarter to which it relates.

The columns Deposits - NSB investment account 
AGQD, Deposits - Trustee savings banks AGQC, Other 
deposits AGQE and Official loans AAMP no longer 
appear in this table. However, the series are obtainable 
from the Databank.

Table 7.2
Turnover in securities by other financial 
institutions

This table shows turnover (i.e. purchases plus sales) 
for certain financial Institutions of:

UK ordinary shares 
other UK company securities 
overseas ordinary shares
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Other financial institutions

(d) other overseas company securities and 
government securities

Details are shown for pension funds, Insurance 
companies (long-term and other funds), investment trusts 
and unit trusts.

The figures comprise listed securities only and may be 
compared with turnover figures for the Stock Exchange 
shown in table 12.3, but it should be noted that 
institutions may not transact all their shares on the Stock 
Exchange. Complete figures are available in the detail 
shown only from 1979.

Table 7.3
Institutional investment

The first part of the table brings together figures from 
various tables in Section 7 to analyse total institutional 
investment in British government securities, UK ordinary 
shares, overseas ordinary shares and land, property and 
ground rents between the various types of institution. The 
second part of the table analyses investment in all the 
main types of financial asset between the main groups of 
institutions.

The figures for other financial assets include estimated 
costs incurred in share transactbns.

This information is also published in CSO Bulletin 
Institutional Investment about thirteen weeks after the 
quarter to which it relates.

Table 7.4
Non-bank credit companies

This table gives details of assets and liabilities of non
bank credit companies (excluding retailers, insurance 
companies and building societies which are covered 
elsewhere), ft was reconstructed in June 1983, using 
rebased data and, from the beginning of 1982, results 
from a new inquiry form to CSO.

The main business of non-bank credit companies is 
the direct financing of instalment credit sales of motor 
vehicles, caravans and household goods, mainly to 
persons; together with a substantial amount of farm, 
industrial and building plant and equipment to 
businesses. The main source of funds for these 
companies is from banks.

Coverage
The table covers finance houses and other specialist 

credit companies (including check traders and money 
lenders). They exclude authorised institutions under the 
Banking Act 1987 (which form the banks’ sector), 
retailers, building societies and insurance companies. 
There is a major break at the end of 1981 when several 
companies joined the banks’ sector as licensed deposit 
takers under the terms of the Banking Act 1979.

The figures in the table for Loans and Advances to 
Persons cover the two broad forms of credit:

loans for fixed sums to finance particular 
purchases
drawings on existing credit arrangements, 
often termed running accounts.

They do not include figures for accounts which should 
normally be settled in full by the end of the account 
period and where there are no formal credit

arrangements.
With fixed sum credit the purchaser normally makes a 

down payment and pays the balance in equal 
instalments, which include interest charges, over an 
agreed period. Fixed sum credit can be provided by a 
finance house or other specialist credit grantor either 
directly or with a retailer (or motor trader) acting as 
agent, or it can be provided by a retailer from his own 
resources. It may also be provided by a check trader, 
where the purchaser uses a trading check drawn on his 
account with the check trader, though this is becoming 
less common.

With running account credit the purchaser normally 
receives his account monthly, when he has the option of 
not paying in full, with interest being charged on any 
balance left unpaid. A common arrangement is for the 
purchaser to pay a fixed amount each month by standing 
order. The purchases may be made in a variety of ways. 
For example, the purchaser may sign the bill, or he may 
use some form of credit card (some of which are valid 
only for a particular retailer and some more generally), or 
he may use a special cheque book (normally valid only 
for a particular retailer). As for fixed sum credit, running 
account credit may be provided by the retailer from his 
own resources or it may be provided by a finance house 
or other specialist credit grantor. Credit from specialist 
grantors includes much of the credit obtained by cards 
for use only with particular retailers, because many 
retailers have arrangements for specialist grantors to run 
schemes for them or have set up separate subsidiary 
companies to operate their credit schemes.

Credit by means of cards issued by high street banks, 
such as Visa or Access, is not included. It is. however, 
shown separately in table 9.3 which brings together 
figures for total consumer credit and other personal 
sector borrowings.

Compilation
The figures in table 7.4 are obtained from quarterly 

returns to the Central Statistical Office from a panel of 
non-banks’ sector credit companies, grossed up on the 
basis of a ‘benchmark’ inquiry to all consumer credit 
grantors conducted in respect of 1976. A new quarterly 
inquiry covering the whole of the balance sheet was 
introduced at the beginning of 1982. The earlier figures 
are rather more approximate. In particular, data for some 
items were collected only annually and quarterly 
transactions for them have been interpolated.

The companies report levels (holdings and amounts 
outstanding) of their assets and liabilities. Net 
acquisitions are obtained by subtracting the level at the 
beginning of the quarter from the level at the end. When 
a company comes wrthin or leaves the scope of this 
inquiry, net acquisitions in the quarter are estimated on 
the basis of the new coverage. For this reason the 
figures for net acquisitions during the year do not always 
equal the differences in levels at the beginning and end 
of year.

Scope of headings
Certificates of deposit includes promissory notes and 

any other negotiable paper issued by the banks sector.
Other current assets includes items in suspense and 

debit items in course of collection.
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Loans and advances covers all types of lending, 
including instalment credit and checks, vouchers, etc. 
issued but not redeemed. It includes loans to 
unconsolidated subsidiary and associate companies of 
contributors to the inquiry. From end-1985, it excludes 
unearned credit charges (which comprise the interest 
payments due over the remaining loan period for fixed 
sum agreements at fixed rates of interest) and includes 
amounts outstanding on finance leases. Prior to this 
amounts outstanding on leases were included in Physicai 
assets in UK.

Block discounts is comprised of finance provided to 
retailers (and occasionally smaller amounts to other 
financial institutions) against the security of credit 
agreements initiated by them.

Persons includes unincorporated businesses.
Company and government securities includes 

investment in other companies in the contributor’s group.
Commercial bills includes promissory notes and other 

negotiable paper.
Borrowing includes borrowing from other companies In 

the contributor’s group.
Short-term borrowing from banks' sector excludes 

deposits.
Longer-term borrowir^g from banks’ sector includes 

deposits. (From the beginning of 1982, credit companies 
remaining outside the banks’ sector were no longer 
permitted to accept deposits as defined in the Banking 
Act 1979).

Other current liabilities includes items in suspense and 
credit items in course of transmission.

Capital issues includes preference shares and 
debentures as well as ordinary shares.

Use in the financial accounts
The figures for bans and advances are included In the 

financial accounts under other lending by financial 
instHutbns, block discounts being treated as lending to 
industrial and commercial companies. The figures for 
other current assets and other financial assets are 
treated as lending to industrial and commercial 
companies under miscellaneous domestb instruments. 
The figures for UK company and government securities 
are considered to relate mainly to company securities 
and are included under UK company securities. 
Investment in physical assets overseas is regarded in the 
national accounts as financial investment and the figures 
are included under miscellaneous overseas Instruments.

Other borrowing from UK is treated in the financial 
accounts as coming from industrial and commercial 
companies and persons equally; up to end-1981 the 
figures are included under deposits with other financial 
institutbns; from 1982 they are included under 
miscellaneous domestb instruments. Other borrowing 
from overseas is included under deposits with other 
financial institutions up to end-1981 and, from 1982, 
under overseas direct and other investment in UK. Other 
current liabilities is treated as due equally to industrial 
and commercial companies and persons and is included 
under miscellaneous domestb instruments.

Timeliness
The figures are normally published about three months 

after the quarter to which they relate.

Further references
Statistics of assets and liabilities are also published in 

Business Monitor SDQ7 - Assets and liabilities of finance 
houses and other credit companies, and annual figures 
are given in the Annual Abstract of Statistics (table 
17.15). Further details of personal sector borrowings are 
given in Financial Statistics table 9.3 and some monthly 
information is given Supplementary table S25.

Table 7.5
Property unit trusts

The statistics aim to cover all UK property unit trusts 
authorised under the terms of the Financial Services Act 
1986. The trusts are not allowed to promote themselves 
to the general public and participation is generally 
restricted to pension funds and charities. Property unit 
trusts invest predominantly in freehold or leasehold 
commercial property, yet may hold a small proportion of 
their investments in the securities of property companies. 
Their assets are held in the name of a trustee and are 
managed on a cooperative basis by a separate 
committee (elected by the unit holders) or company. 
Some investment is financed by long-term borrowing.

Data of transactions by the trusts have been collected 
since March 1966 and data of levels of assets and 
liabilities from end-1979. All these data have been 
published in Financial Statistbs.

Scope of headings
Property Investments are recorded as acquired or sold 

on the day of completion. They are valued on a cash 
basis and include the commission, etc, charges. Holdings 
of property are at book values.

Compilation and timeliness
Returns are collected and aggregated by the CSO. 

There are 22 property unit trusts of which 14 respond to 
CSO’s inquiry. The figures do not include estimates for 
non-response. The latest quarter’s figures are published 
about three months after the end of the quarter to which 
they refer, and end-year figures up to six months after 
the end of the year.

Further references
The Bank of England Statistbal Abstract. No.2 gives 

a run of figures for March 1966 to 1974 in table 19. The 
Annual Abstract of Statistics (table 17.16) publishes 
figures of end-year holdings of investments in property, 
other assets, short-term assets (net), and longer-term 
borrowing.

Tables 7.6 and 7.7
Unit trusts

The statistics cover unit trusts authorised by the 
Securities and Investments Board under the terms of the 
Financial Services Act 1986. They do not cover other 
unitised collective investment schemes (e.g. unauthorised 
funds run on unit trust lines by, for example, securities 
firms and merchant banks, designed primarily for the use 
of institutional investors) or those based offshore 
(Channel Islands, Bermuda etc.) or in other EEC Member
States.

The majority of unit trusts are required to invest at
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Other financial Institutions

least 90% of their assets in transferable securities traded 
on a recognised stock exchange. However Money Market 
trusts are permitted to invest wholly in cash or near cash 
instruments (building society and bank deposits, treasury
bills, short dated gilts etc.).

They are set up under trust deeds, the trustee usually 
being a bank or insurance company. The trusts are 
administered not by the trustees but by independent 
management companies. Units representing a share in 
the trust’s assets can be bought by the public from the 
managers or resold to them at any time. In the financial 
accounts, all transactions in unit trusts units, other than 
those identified on the returns of other OFIs, are 
assumed to bo with the personal sector.

Table 7.6
This table shows the total value of units sold by the 

managers of unit trusts to both institutions and persons, 
the value of units repurchased by managers, the total 
value of funds managed by the industry and the total 
number of unit holdings in existence at the month end.

Compilation
The statistics are compiled by the Unit Trust 

Association and cover unit trusts authorised by the 
Securities and Investment Board (1,430 trusts operated 
by 188 management companies in February 1992).

Scope of headings
Number of unit holdings excludes unit trusts linked to 

insurance policies.
Total funds are at market value plus the cost of buying 

securities for the portfolio, the managers' initial charge 
and accumulated undistributed dividends.

Timeliness
The latest month’s figures are released to the press by 

the Unit Trust Association about the 18th to 20th of the 
following month. The figures are published in Financial 
Statistics about two months after the month to which they 
relate.

Table 7.7
This table shows the amounts outstanding of liabilities 

and assets at the end of the calendar year and quarterly 
transactions in those liabilities and assets. The assets 
and liabilities are analysed by type, with a maturity 
analysis of British government securities.

Valuation
Holdings of listed securities at end-year are valued at 

market prices. Unlisted securities are at estimated 
current values and bills at maturity values. The figures 
include the investment currency premium where 
appropriate, up to third quarter 1979. Total investments 
overseas at end-1991 were £19,031 million; comprising 
USA and Canada £5,206 million, EC countries £5,752 
million, Australia and Far East £7,003 million and other 
countries £1,070 million.

Compilation
Since the first quarter of 1992 returns have been 

collected and aggregated by the CSO (before then they 
were initially collected and aggregated by the Unit Trust

Association and then by the Bank of England). Returns 
are received from about 1,137 of the 1,430 authorised 
trusts accounting for some 75% of total assets. As from 
end-1979 the statistics are grossed-up to cover all unit 
trusts authorised by the Securities and Investment Board.

Scope of headings: as for table 7.8.
Timeliness

The latest quarter's figures are published about three 
months after the end of the quarter to which they refer 
and end-year figures up to six months after the end of 
the year.

Further references
The Bank of England Statistical Abstracts. Numbers 1 

and 2 give a run of the figures of the years 1960 to 1974, 
and the Annual Abstract o f Statistics publishes figures 
(table 17.16), for the latest thirteen years, of end-year 
holdings of investment instruments at market valuation.

Table 7.8
Investment trusts

Investment trust companies acquire financial assets 
with money subscribed by shareholders or borrowed in 
the form of loan capital. They are not trusts in the legal 
sense, but are limited companies with two special 
characteristics: their assets consist of securities (mainly 
ordinary shares), and they are debarred by their articles 
of association from distributing capital gains as dividends. 
Shares of investment trusts are traded on the Stock 
Exchange and increasingly can be bought direct from the 
company.

The table covers investment trusts recognised as such 
by the Inland Revenue for tax purposes and some 
unrecognised trusts • about 220 trusts in all. Returns are 
received from about 114 companies accounting for some 
70% of the total assets of these trusts. Statistics are not 
sought from a few trusts whose assets are less than £5 
million (£1 million before 1982).

Compilation
Quarterly and annual returns are collected and 

aggregated by the CSO. As from end-1979 the statistics 
are grossed up to include estimates for non-respondents.

Valuation
Holdings of listed securities at end-year are valued at 

market prices. Unlisted securities are at estimated 
current values and bills and mortgages at maturity 
values. The figures include the investment currency 
premium where appropriate, up to third quarter 1979. 
Total investments overseas at end-1991 were £10,266 
million comprising USA £3,566 million, Canada £58 
million, EC countries £2,483 million, Japan £1.824 
million, Australia £239 million and other countries £2,096 
million.

Scope of headings
Short-term assets and liabilities. The quarterly 

transactions figures exclude contingent assets and 
liabilities such as claims on, or sums due to, the Inland 
Revenue and the liability for accrued loan interest and for

69



Other financial institutions

dividends proposed but not yet paid. They include (in 
other short-term assets) sums due from securities firms 
on account of securities sold and still awaiting settlement.

Other short-term liabilities includes sums due to 
securities firms on account of securities purchased and 
still awaKing settlement.

Reserves, provisions etc. includes dividends payable, 
and minority interest in subsidiaries.

Timeliness
The latest quarter’s figures are published about three 

months after the end of the quarter to which they refer, 
and end-year figures up to six months after the end of 
the year.

Further references
The Bank of England Statistical Abstracts provide a 

run of figures for the years 1960 to 1974, and an article 
showing integrated balance sheet and flow statistics for 
investment trust companies appeared in the June 1975 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin. The Annual Abstract 
of Statistics publishes figures in table 17.16, for the latest 
thirteen years, of end-year holdings of Investments at 
market value.

Table 7,9
Insurance companies

Insurance companies are active in both life assurance 
and non-life (general) insurance and they also operate 
the pension schemes of many other employers. All 
insurance business consists of a spreading of risks. 
Long-term business (mainly life assurance) has an 
emphasis on the spreading of risks over time, whereas 
general business is mainly concerned with the spreading 
of risks between persons and organisations.

Within long-term business the major part consists of 
life assurance, a large part of which offers a channel for 
saving that is not greatly different from the business of a 
unit trust. Long-term business also Includes permanent 
health insurance and capital redemption business.

Estimates for Lloyds underwriters are not included 
here but are covered in the personal sector.

Coverage
The figures cover insurers and friendly societies 

operating in the United Kingdom and include the pension 
schemes they operate on behalf of other companies.

Up until the fourth quarter of 1991 (for quarterly data) 
and end 1990 (for annual data), the Association of British 
Insurers (ABI) supplied the CSO with information relating 
to its members. This was supplemented by information 
from a small sample of non-ABI members, which the 
CSO collected. With effect from the first quarter of 1992 
for the quarterly inquiries and end 1991 for the annual 
ones the CSO now collects all the information from a 
sample of insurance companies. This covers both ABI 
members and non-members.

The Information collected allows representative 
estimates of investments and holdings of financial assets 
to be made for all insurers operating in the UK.

Response to the annual balance sheet inquiry is very 
high, particularly in respect of long-term funds. The

holdings of data are therefore very reliable. The samples 
for the inquiry into net acquisitions are slightly smaller 
and the figures not quite so reliable.

The returns prior to 1984 (in respect of holdings), or 
1985 (in respect of transactions), included assets held in 
respect of money remitted by overseas branches and 
subsidiaries, but they excluded direct investment by a UK 
company in its overseas branches or subsidiaries as well 
as financial assets held by. or on behalf of. these 
branches and subsidiaries (even if held in the United 
Kingdom). From 1984 (holdings) or 1985 (transactions) 
the coverage has been extended to include UK holding 
companies where insurance is the main activity of the 
holding company and its subsidiaries. Additionally where 
a UK company cannot separate figures for an overseas 
branch, such a branch is now covered by the figures.

Compilation
The figures of net acquisitions of assets are derived 

from a quarterly inquiry to insurance companies, and 
those of holdings are derived from an annual inquiry.

Valuation
Holdings of assets for calendar year-ends are 

generally at market values. Some items such as 
mortgages and loans and part of other investments, are 
at book values.

Net acquisitions are quoted at cash values. The 
annual figures quoted for total net assets under the net 
investment heading are on an accruals basis from 1985 
onwards.

Scope of headings
British government securities: index-linked were 

introduced in March 1981, but were sold only to pension 
funds and long-term funds of insurance companies prior 
to 1982.

Due to problems of disclosure within the individual 
types of British government securities from 1984 
onwards, the following has been done to the figures for 
other than long-term funds:

For the third quarter of 1984, securities over 
fifteen years and undated have been included 
with securities over five and up to fifteen 
years.
From the fourth quarter of 1984 to the fourth 
quarter of 1986 and in the third quarter of 
1987. index-linked gilts have been included 
with securities over fifteen years and undated.
For the year 1984, both index-linked gilts and 
securities over fifteen years and undated have 
been included with securities over five and up 
to fifteen years.
For the years 1985 and 1986, index-linked 
gilts have been included with securities over 
fifteen years and undated.

UK company securities: ordinary shares. For other 
than long-term funds these include unit trust units.

Policy and other loans to persons. Prior to 1985 
excludes other loans to individuals.

Agents’ and reinsurance balances net investment 
figures are derived from annual inquiries, so no quarterly 
figures are available. The series consists of net agents’ 
reinsurance and coinsurance balances, net outstanding
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accrued interest, dividends and rent and other debtors. 
Prior to 1984. no deductions were made for amounts due 
to reinsurance companies and agents.

Other assets includes overseas loans and mortgages 
and property, UK public corporations securities and, from 
the first quarter of 1985 direct investment, less the net 
increase in balances of overseas branches where their 
transactions are included in other columns. From the first 
quarter of 1986 British government securities 
denominated in foreign currency are included.

Debtors net of creditors net investment figures are 
only available annually. The series covers provision for 
taxation and recommended dividends and other creditors.

The end year holdings figures for debtors net of 
creditors includes net outstanding interest, dividends and 
rents and other debtors, these are then omitted from 
agents and reinsurance balances.

Prior to 1984 the series included only amounts 
receivable from Inland Revenue, outstanding interest, 
dividends and rents and other debtors. Because of the 
definitional change data on net acquisitions for 1984 are 
not available.

Timeliness
The quarterly net acquisitions figures in table 7.9 are 

normally published in Financial Statistics about four 
months after the quarter to which they relate. The annual 
holdings figures are normally first published towards the 
end of the year following that to which they relate.

Further references
A more detailed breakdown of these statistics appears 

in Business Monitor MQ5 - Insurance companies' and 
pension funds' investment, also published about four 
months after the quarter to which the statistics relate. A 
quarterly article describing the statistics appears in CSO 
Bulletin Institutional Investment, usually about three 
months after the relevant quarter.

The annual holdings figures will first appear in the 
CSO Bulletin Institutional Investment They will also 
appear in the third quarter issue of Business Monitor 
MQ5 each year ( the second quarter issue for 1984 and 
earlier years, the first quarter of 1992 for 1990 data). For 
1984 and later years, this monitor also gives information 
on liabilities. The Annual Abstract of Statistics, table 
17.18 (1993) also gives these holdings statistics from 
1980 onwards.

Tables 7.10
Pension funds

The estimates in table 7.10 cover the financial assets 
of the combined self-administered funded schemes of 
local authorities, the rest of the public sector and the 
private sector. These funds are generally run by boards 
of trustees on behalf of their members. Self-administered 
pension funds are distinct from those insured with 
insurance companies, which are included in the figures 
for insurance company long-term business in table 7.9. 
The main pension arrangements in the central 
government sector are unfunded and therefore excluded 
from these tables.

Funds of newly privatised companies are included with 
private sector funds from the beginning of the quarter 
following the date of their privatisation.

Compilation
The figures for net acquisitions of assets are derived 

from a quarterly inquiry and those for holdings from an 
annual inquiry. These inquiries are conducted by the 
Central Statistical Office. A panel of local authority, other 
public sector and self-administered private pension 
schemes are asked to complete returns. The statistics 
supplied by these contributors are then grossed up to 
produce figures for the whole of the UK self-administered 
pension industry. For the private sector funds a survey 
conducted by the Governments Actuary’s Department 
every four years is used for additional information on the 
population of furxfs. The inquiries became statutory 
under the Statistics of Trade Act, 1947 with effect from 
1991 for annual inquiries and the first quarter of 1992 for 
the quarterly one. As a result response rates have 
increased.

Where funds report holdings of assets at a date other 
than 31 December, adjustments are made to the data to 
make them correspond approximately to the end of the 
calendar year.

The series are reliable but subject to coverage, 
sampling and reporting errors.

Coverage - local authority funds
The figures relate to pension funds covering the 

employees of all local authorities in the United Kingdom 
including those funds covering employees of the 
abolished Metropolitan councils and the bodies 
succeeding them. From the second quarter of 1974 they 
exclude the funds of water, sewerage and drainage 
boards in England and Wales and trust ports whose 
parent bodies were transferred from the local authority 
sector to the public corporations sector, and the funds of 
local health services, whose parent bodies became part 
of the central government sector. Pension funds for the 
police and fire services are not supported by funds and 
are therefore excluded from the statistics.

Coverage - other public sector funds
The figures relate mainly to schemes covering 

employees of the nationalised industries. They include 
some funds which were set up before nationalisation and 
certain other funds.

From the fourth quarter of 1967 the estimates include 
the funded schemes of nationalised steel companies and 
from the fourth quarter of 1969 the Post Office Staff 
Superannuation Scheme. From the second quarter of 
1974 they include the funds of water, sewerage and 
drainage boards in England and Wales, and trust ports 
whose parent bodies were transferred on 1 April 1974 
from the local authorities sector to public corporatbns 
sector.

Coverage - private sector funds
The figures relate to self-administered pension funds 

of the private sector, including those of companies and 
non-profit-making bodies. Funds are wholly included in 
the long term funds of insurance companies are not 
included. Respondents to the inquiry are asked to make 
returns covering financial assets of funds whose 
investment policy is managed from within the United 
Kingdom, including the funds of any subsidiary 
companies. Some undertakings operate two or more 
pension funds; such undertakings have been treated as
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single funds.

Valuation
The annual Inquiries Into holdings ask funds to report 

their assets and liabilities wherever possible at current 
market value and, failing that, at written down book 
value. Transactions in assets and liabilities are reported 
at cash values in the quarterly inquiries. The annual 
figures quoted for total net assets under the Net 
Investment heading are on an accruals basis for 1985 
onwards.

Scope of headings
Short-term assets are those maturing within one year 

of originating date, including loans repayable at lenders’ 
option within one year of the date of issue, and money at 
call and short notice. They include cash in hand and 
deposits with banks, certificates of deposit Issued by the 
banks' sector, UK Treasury bills, local authority bills and 
temporary money, short-term assets with OFIs, other 
short-term assets held in both the United Kingdom and 
overseas and balances due to or from stockbrokers.

The treatment of balances with stockbrokers in table 
7.10 is as follows: as regards holdings, balances 
receivable from stockbrokers at the end of the year are 
included In other short-term assets and balances payable 
to stockbrokers are included in short-term liabilities. 
Transactions in amounts due to or from stockbrokers, 
however, are only collected net and so net acquisitions 
are shown under other short-term assets.

Long-term borrowing', net acquisitions relate to gross 
borrowing less repayments In the quarter.

British government securities: index-linked were 
introduced in March 1981, but were sold only to pension 
funds and long-term funds of insurance companies prior 
to 1982.
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UK local authority securities include loans by local 
authority pension funds to their parent authorities.

Other investments include items such as commodities, 
gold coins, works of art, insurance policies, unauthorised 
unit trusts, and Investments In overseas property. From 
the first quarter of 1986 British government securities 
denominated in foreign currency are Included.

Debtors net o f creditors are included in the annual but 
not the quarterly figures. The series consists of income 
accrued on investments, amounts receivable from Inland 
Revenue, other debtors, pensions due but not paid and 
other creditors.

Timeliness
The quarterly figures in tables 7.10 are published in 

Financial Statistics about four months after the end- 
quarter to which they relate. The annua! holdings figures 
are normally first published towards the end of the year 
following that to which they relate.

Further references
A more detailed breakdown of pension fund statistics 

appears in Business Monitor MQ5 - Insurance 
companies'and pension funds’ investment which is also 
published about four months after the end-quarter to 
which the statistics relate. A quarterly article describing 
these statistics appears in CSO Bulletin Institutional 
Investment about three months after the relevant 
quarter. The Annual Abstract of Statistics provides a long 
series of assets holdings statistics of combined pension 
funds (table 17.17, 1990). An article by P.J. Stibbard in 
the November 1979 issue of Statistical News - Pension 
funds and national accounting' - describes the treatment 
of pension funds in the national accounts.
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Section 8 
Companies

The company sector comprises privately controlled 
corporate enterprises organised for profit and resident in 
the United Kingdom. The term company is used for 
convenience rather than in a precise sense; the sector 
mainly comprises companies registered under the 
Companies Acts, but it includes other bodies with 
corporate status, i.e. a legal personality distinct from the 
persons that own it.

Industrial and commercial (I and C) companies are 
distinguished from financial companies and institutions 
because their economic functions are quite different. The 
income of financial companies and institutions is derived 
mainly from interest and dividends on, or transactions in. 
financial assets. The income of I and C companies is 
mainly derived from manufacturing, the provision of non- 
financial services and other trading activities in the 
United Kingdom. Although the title given to this section 
is ‘Companies’ it mainly relates to industrial and 
commercial companies. However, table 8.5 relates to 
financial companies and institutions, while table 8.7 
relates to securities issued by all types of company, and 
table 8.9 covers insolvencies for all companies and 
individuals. Financial transactions of financial companies 
and institutions are dealt with in Sections 6 and 7.

Industrial and commercial companies
In the national accounts, the term 'companies’ 

generally means those bodies which have: (a) corporate 
status (b) private control and (c) a policy of making 
profits. The 1 and C companies sector broadly comprises 
all corporate bodies, including property companies, other 
than public corporations, banks and other financial 
institutions (see below). The sector includes co-operative 
societies and private non-profit making bodies serving 
companies • whether or not they are incorporated - such 
as trade associations. The economic activities of the self- 
employed (unincorporated businesses) are excluded and 
are classified to the personal sector. Also included in the 
financial accounts are some minor financial institutions 
which fall by default into the I and C company sector 
because the necessary figures are not available to 
include them with financial companies and institutions.

The coverage of the 1 and C company sector has 
changed substantially over time because of 
nationalisation and privatisation, transfers of activities 
from the central government to private companies, 
liquidations, additions of newly incorporated companies 
and acquisitions of unincorporated businesses.

Financial companies and institutions
Financial companies and institutions are those 

companies and other corporate bodies which obtain and 
redistribute funds as their main activity. They are divided 
Into:

(a) banks and building societies (see also Section 6)
(b) other financial institutions (see Section 7)

In practice, the figures for other financial institutions 
cover the main groups for which there is substantial 
direct statistical reporting, particularly of their financial 
transactions.

In the financial accounts the financial transactions of 
life assurance companies and pension funds are included

with those of financial institutions. However, the 
appropriation accounts of life assurance and pension 
funds are included in the current account of the personal 
sector (see Section 9).

Layout
For the I and C companies sector, the appropriation 

account is shown in table 8.1, their sources and uses of 
capital funds are shown in table 8.2. An analysis of their 
net borrowing requirement is shown in table 8.3, and a 
selection of their holdings of liquid assets and liabilities 
is shown in table 8.4. A further table, 8.6, shows 
estimated holdings of selected current assets and 
liabilities by large I and C companies. The appropriation 
account of the financial companies and institutions sector 
is shown in table 8.5, with transactions in UK company 
securities given in table 8.7. Acquisitions and mergers of 
industrial and commercial companies within the United 
Kingdom are shown in table 8.8 and insolvencies in 
England and Wales are shown in table 8.9.

The tables are compiled by the Central Statistical 
Office. Tables 8.1 to 8.5 and 8.7 are part of, or are 
derived from, the national and financial accounts and 
therefore relate in principle to all economic units 
classified to the relevant sectors. Table 8.6 covers large 
I and C companies i.e. those with total net assets of 
more than £40.0 million at end 1987. Table 8.8 covers all 
I and C companies. Table 8.9 covers only England and 
Wales.

Some national accounts concepts
There are a number of features of the accounts of the 

companies and financial institutions sector which need to 
be borne in mind:

1. Geographical coverage.
The sector includes only units resident in the United 

Kingdom, so that it excludes the overseas branches and 
subsidiaries of UK companies but includes UK branches 
and subsidiaries of overseas companies. Under this 
definition, transactions between UK parent companies 
and their overseas branches and subsidiaries are not 
netted out by consolidation, but are included as 
transactions with the overseas sector, as are transactions 
of UK branches and subsidiaries of overseas parent 
companies with those parents. This affects the content of 
all the accounts.

In the appropriation account gross trading profits 
therefore comprise the profits arising in the United 
Kingdom of UK companies and of UK branches and 
subsidiaries of overseas parent companies. The profits 
(remitted and unremitted) of the overseas branches and 
subsidiaries of UK parent companies, and earnings of 
other overseas affiliates, are classified as income from 
abroad. Profits of the UK branches and subsidiaries of 
overseas parent companies, and earnings of other UK 
affiliates, are included in profits due abroad. Both these 
items affect the financial surplus or deficit, the balance 
on the capital account.

The capital account relates only to companies and 
branches resident in the UK and excludes capital 
expenditure by branches and subsidiaries overseas. The 
unremitted profits of those branches and subsidiaries
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represent an increase in the parent company’s stake in 
them and are included in the financial accounts as part 
of direct and other investment abroad. Similarly, the 
unremrtted profits of UK branches and subsidiaries of 
overseas parents are included in the financial accounts 
as part of overseas direct and other investment in the 
UK. This treatment is discussed In an article Financial 
balances of industrial and commercial companies, 
Economic Trends, December 1978.

2. Capital consumption.
In the national accounts, consumption of fixed assets 

(depreciation) is measured as the current replacement 
cost of the assets consumed. This means that the 
depreciation charges presently shown in individual 
company accounts are unsuitable for the national 
accounts because they are based on the book value of 
assets and are usually measured at historic cost. In the 
national accounts gross trading profits of I and C 
companies are strud< before providing for depreciation, 
but estimates of total income and saving • after providing 
for depreciation at replacement cost - are published 
annually In United Kingdom National Accounts. See also 
page 3.

3. Stock appreciation.
That part of profits, measured on the historic cost 

convention, which is due to the effect of price changes 
between the dates of purchase and use of stocks i.e. 
stock appreciation, should, in principle, be excluded from 
gross trading profits. This adjustment is required because 
appreciation in the value of stocks held by a business is 
not regarded as the result of economic activity. Stock 
appreciation should be included on the expenditure side 
of the operating (or production) account as an addition to 
expenditure recorded at historic cost; so that profit is the 
balance between revenue and current costs, where 
current costs reflect historic costs plus stock 
appreciation.

in practice, the balance taken into the appropriation 
account is shown before deducting stock appreciation; 
but supplementary figures of gross trading profits after 
deducting stock appreciation are also published and 
stock appreciation is deducted as a separate item in the 
calculation of gross domestic product. The undistributed 
income (or saving) of companies and financial institutions 
is similarly shown in the appropriation accounts before 
providing for depreciation and stock appreciation. 
Estimates of saving net of stock appreciation and net of 
both stock appreciation and capital consumption are 
published annually in United Kingdom National Accounts. 
The concepts of capital consumption and stock 
appreciation are discussed at greater length on pages 3 
and 4.

4. Gross trading profits of financial companies and
institutions.
For financial companies and Institutions, gross trading 

profits as defined in the national accounts are negative. 
This is because gross trading profits are struck before 
taking into account receipts and payments of interest 
(which are treated as transfer payments in the national 
accounts). Gross trading profits therefore exclude the 
larger part of the revenue of financial companies and 
institutions, which is earned by lending money at a higher 
rate of interest than the rate at which they borrow it. 
They are defined as receipts from sales less wages and
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salaries and purchases of goods and services from other 
enterprises. The only 'sales’ that banks make, for 
example, are their charges and commissions, which are 
small compared with their wages and other operating 
expenses. The gross trading profits of financial 
companies and institutions, in a national accounts sense, 
plus their net interest receipts equals profits in the more 
ordinary sense of the term.

Tables 8.1 to 8.5
In these tables only transactions crossing sector 

boundaries are recorded. In tables 8.1,6.2, 8.3 and 8.5 
transactions between companies or institutions within the 
sector are netted out and not included in the accounts, 
and table 8.4 relates only to claims on other sectors.

Timeliness
Most of the statistics for a particular quarter first 

appear in the issue of Financial Statistics published four 
months after the end of that quarter, e.g. the data for the 
second calendar quarter appear in the October issue, 
published at the end of October. Figures for some 
financial items in tables 8.2, 8.3 and 8.4 appear a month 
earlier.

Data sources
For I and C companies, annual gross trading profits 

are estimated from assessments to corporation tax. 
Quarterly figures, and figures for the most recent years, 
are based on a direct survey of companies, which from 
the second quarter of 1991 is statutory and run by the 
CSO. Gross domestic fixed capital formation and 
changes in stocks are estimated by direct surveys. Tax 
payments are derived from Inland Revenue data, and 
interest flows are estimated by calculating the 
companies’ share of total receipts or payments for each 
type of interest using balance sheet data, or by applying 
average interest rates to levels of borrowing and lending 
period by period. The main difference in the equivalent 
data for financial companies and institutions is that their 
gross trading profits are estimated for each group of 
institutions mainly using information provided by relevant 
trade associations or by direct surveys.

The sources for the financial account of I and C 
companies, on the other hand, are completely different 
to those for the financial account of financial companies 
and institutions. The latter is compiled almost entirely 
from direct returns provided by the companies and 
institutions. There are hardly any direct returns of this 
kind for I and C companies. Certain short-term items for 
them are obtained from a survey of financial assets and 
liabilities, formerly the company liquidity survey 
addressed to large companies.There are also direct 
returns for instalment credit granted by retailers and for 
certain overseas transactions (mainly direct investment). 
The remaining data for the financial account of I and C 
companies are estimated by a variety of indirect 
methods, mainly using counterpart information.

Other publications
The seasonally adjusted quarterly appropriation, 

capital and financial accounts of I and C companies are 
published with commentary by press notice about three 
months after the end of the quarter.
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Companies

Each issue of Economic Trends contains the 
seasonally adjusted appropriation, capital and, in 
summary form, financial accounts of I and C companies. 
The quarteriy National accounts article in the January, 
April, July and October issues of Economic Trends 
contains the unadjusted and seasonally adjusted 
appropriation accounts for I and C companies, financial 
companies and institutions and the consolidated 
companies and financial institutions sector, with 
commentary.

Annual series of the appropriation, capital and financial 
accounts for each sector appear annually in United 
Kingdom National Accounts - the 'Blue Book.'

Economic Trends for November 1974 contained an 
article entitled ’ Estimating companies' rate of return on 
capital employed’ , which described a number of different 
measures of rates of return. These estimates based on 
national accounts data have been updated annually; the 
latest estimates (for 1991) were published in CSO 
Bulletin 64/92 in September 1992. The Bank of England 
publishes estimated rates of return for various broad 
industry groups, based on a proprietary analysis of 
companies’ accounts. The latest article in the annual 
series 'Finance of large companies’ appeared in the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, November 1991. The 
differences between rates of return calculated from 
published accounts and from national accounts are 
discussed in an article in Economic Trends, August 1984.

Table 8.1
Appropriation account of industrial and 
commercial companies
Scope of headings and methodology

Gross trading profits relate to profits arising in the 
United Kingdom before providing for depreciation and 
stock appreciation and before deduction of tax and 
interest payments. The estimates seek to measure the 
actual profits accrued during the period. Estimates are 
based upon tax data and, for the latest periods, quarterly 
returns from a sample of companies.

Gross trading profits are the largest component of the 
appropriation account but the estimates have been 
among the weakest, especially for the most recent 
periods. The firmest estimates come from the Inland 
Revenue’s assessment to corporation tax. However, 
adjustments are necessary to convert these data to the 
national accounts definition, particularly as regards the 
treatment of short-term and bank interest. The delays in 
agreeing final assessments with taxpayers also means 
that these estimates are subject to revision, and must be 
projected forward two to four years by the use of a 
sample survey of company groups. These quarterly data 
have also been subject to deficiencies, and the sun/ey 
was extended and made statutory with effect from the 
second quarter of 1991.

Gross trading profits of the North Sea oil and gas 
sector are estimated by the Department of Trade and 
Industry on the basis of quarterly returns submitted by 
companies operating in the North Sea.

Sfodc appreciation is the part of the change in the 
value of stocks and work in progress which arises from 
increases In the prices at which stocks and work in 
progress are valued. A fuller explanation of these 
estimates, which are subject to a wide margin of error. Is

given on pages 3, 4 and 74.
Rent and non-trading income refers solely to income 

arising in the United Kingdom. It consists mainly of 
interest received on bank deposits held by companies, 
and rent received by property companies from letting 
land and buildings. Income from investments in other 
industrial and commercial companies is excluded.

Non-trading income is estimated either by using 
balance sheets to calculate companies’ share of total 
interest payments for Individual instruments or by 
multiplying the average levels of their interest-bearing 
deposits (eg derived from figures supplied by banks on 
returns they make to the Bank of England) by 
appropriate bank deposit rates.

Income from abroad is presented after deduction of 
depreciation and net of taxes paid abroad. I and C 
companies’ income from abroad consists of income on 
direct investment and on other investment including oil 
and export credit. Income on direct investment includes 
the earnings (whether remitted to the United Kingdom or 
not) of non-resident branches, the dividends and parent 
companies’ share of undistributed income of non-resident 
subsidiaries and associate companies, and interest on 
loans by UK parent companies to these non-resident 
affiliates.

Sample information on direct investment income is 
collected by the Central Statistical Office in the Overseas 
Transactions inquiry. The estimates are derived after 
imputing figures for concerns not approached in the 
sample.

Company sector portfolio income from abroad is 
derived from balance of payments information.

Income: unremitted profits consist of UK parent 
companies’ share of the undistributed income of non
resident subsidiaries and associate companies included 
in income from abroad. The retained earnings of non
resident branches and, prior to 1984, of non-reskfenl 
subsidiaries of UK oil companies are not included 
because data are not available.

Dividends on ordinary and preference shares relate to 
dividends paid after deduction of advance corporation tax 
(ACT); payments of ACT are included in payments of UK 
taxes on income. Payments of dividends to other 1 and 
C companies are excluded. Dividends paid by UK 
subsidiaries to their overseas parent companies are also 
excluded, since these are included in profits due abroad.

Inland Revenue provide figures of dividend payments 
for I and C companies, net of inter-company payments, 
based on tax data. An amount is added for payments by 
I and C companies to financial companies and 
institutions.

Other interest and current transfer payments consist 
largely of interest payments on bank advances bonds 
and debentures, including interest paid on import credit. 
Also included are royalties and licence fees paid by 
North Sea oil and gas companies which are treated as a 
form of property income paid by the oil companies to 
central government. Other items included are companies’ 
current transfers to charities and central government and 
co-operative society dividends and interest.

The Department of Trade and Industry provide figures 
for royalties and licence fees on oil and gas production. 
Estimates of interest payments are obtained in the same 
way as interest receipts, although Inland Revenue 
provide estimates of interest payments subject to the
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I deduction of tax at source.
Profits due abroadconsist of direct investment income 

due abroad and oil income due abroad.
The estimates of direct investment income due abroad 

include the whole of the profits of UK branches, 
subsidiaries and associate companies, whether 
distributed or not, accruing to non-resident parent 
companies. Profits are net of depreciation and UK tax. 
The estimates are obtained in the same way as those for 
direct investment irKx>me from abroad.

Unremitted profits of subsidiaries consist of non
resident parent companies’ share of the undistributed 
income of UK subsidiary and associate companies 
included in profits due abroad. Undistributed earnings of 
UK branches of non-resident companies are not included 
because data are not available.

Payments of UK taxes on income. These consist 
mainly of payments of corporation tax (including advance 
corporation tax) and Petroleum Revenue Tax.

Inland Revenue provide quarterly data on taxes paid 
by all companies and institutions. The series for I and C 
company tax payments is the residual of all companies 
and institutions’ payments after deducting financial 
companies and institutions’ taxes on income.

Undistributed income is the difference between total 
appropriation account income and payments of 
dividends, interest and other current transfers, profits due 
abroad and UK taxes on income, and is also described 
as 'saving before providing for depreciation, stock 
appreciation, and additions to tax and dividend reserves’.

The estimates for undistributed income are subject to 
a wide margin of error.

Table 8.2
Sources and uses of capital funds of 
industrial and commercial companies

This table shows an alternative presentation of the 
capital and financial accounts (i.e. table 1.10). It shows 
I and C companies’ sources of finance (such as 
undistributed income, bank borrowing and share issues) 
and how funds have been employed in the purchase of 
fixed assets, stocks and financial assets. It highlights I 
and C companies’ methods of borrowing and the 
disposition of the money raised.

Sources of funds
Undistributed income is the balance carried forward 

from the appropriation account, measured before 
providing for depreciation, stock appreciation, unremitted 
profits due from or to related concerns overseas, and 
additions to reserves (table 8.1).

Net unremitted profits comprises profits of UK 
subsidiaries of overseas parent companies which are due 
overseas but are retained in the UK less profits of 
overseas subsidiaries of UK parent companies which are 
due for payment in the UK but are retained overseas. 
More detailed definitions of these components are given 
in the notes to table 6.1.

Accruals adjustment comprises the increase in tax 
balances (i.e. tax collected by companies and not yet 
paid to the collecting government departments, mainly 
income tax, value added tax, national insurance 
contributions and, until 1973, purchase tax and selective 
employment tax) plus the difference between accruals of

local authority rates, North Sea oil royalties, central 
government expenditure on goods and services and 
interest on bank deposits and advances (the basis on 
which these items are entered in the national accounts) 
and the corresponding cash payments. See also notes 
on page 22 and 23.

Capital transfers (receipts) comprises investment 
grants, regional development grants and other capital 
transfer receipts. Figures are obtained mainly from 
government accounts.

Import and other credit received consists of domestic 
trade credit received from central government and public 
corporations, estimated from quarterly returns made by 
nationalised industries, and import credit (up to 
end-1982, when data collection ceased) and advance 
payments on exports, derived from balance of payments 
information. Other trade credit received by I and C 
companies, e.g. from unincorporated businesses, is not 
recorded. Trade credit extended to local authorities from 
1989 is included.

UK bank borrowing by I and C companies covers 
borrowing from banks by way of advances and loans 
(after addition of 40% of the excess of debit over credit 
transit items • see notes on page 56), commercial bills 
and market loans (repayable at short notice). The 
estimates are derived from banking statistics (see 
Section 6).

Other loans and mortgages comprises instalment 
credit received, loans from the public sector (including 
refinanced shipbuilding credits), loans by financial 
institutions (including loans by pension funds to their 
parent organisation), shares of retail co-operative 
societies, net sterling and foreign currency commercial 
paper liabilities and cash expenditure by the central 
government on acquiring certain I and C companies.

The estimates of instalment credit debt are derived 
from returns made to the Central Statistical Office by 
retailers. The source of the public sector loans figures is 
the public sector accounts. Loans by financial institutions 
are derived from returns made to the Bank of England 
and Central Statistical Office. The figures of cash 
expenditure by central government are obtained from 
government accounts.

Market capital issues comprise new money raised by 
issues for cash only of ordinary shares, preference 
shares and loan capital. The excludes transactions 
involving the exchange of company securities because 
no cash expenditure is incurred, and therefore no 
transaction needs to be recorded in the financial 
accounts. The figures cover public issues, offers for sale, 
issues by tender, placings and issues to shareholders 
and employees less redemptions.

The figures comprise issues by listed public 
companies and estimates of unlisted issues compiled by 
the Bank of England (see notes to tables 12.1 and 12.2).

Other capital issues: comprises issues connected with 
management buyouts and employee share schemes, 
and overseas direct investment in securities.

The figures include issues by Rolls Royce and British 
Leyland since third quarter 1980, which were taken up by 
central government and redemption of BT preference 
shares issued to Central Government at privatisation.

The estimates of overseas direct investment in 
securities cover net purchases of the share and loan 
capital of UK subsidiaries and associates by overseas
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parent companies, as Included in the balance of 
payments estimates under the heading overseas 
investment in UK private sector - direct investment The 
source of the estimates is the Central Statistical Office’s 
direct investment inquiry. The figures are adjusted to 
exclude acquisitions of independent companies by 
overseas parents.

Other overseas investment consists of that part of 
overseas investment in UK private sector in the balance 
of payments accounts which relates to I and C 
companies. Included are changes in branch 
indebtedness to head office and in inter-company 
accounts and borrowing abroad from banks etc. by UK 
companies. Excluded are inter-company investment 
taking the form of acquisition of UK company securities, 
which Is shown as overseas direct investment in 
securities, and profits retained by UK subsidiaries and 
associates of foreign parent companies (included In net 
unremitted profits). The treatment of unremitted profits 
differs from that used in table 1.10, where unremitted 
profits are included In overseas direct and other 
investment in UK

The source of the estimates of direct investment Is the 
direct investment inquiries by the Central Statistical 
Office.

Uses of funds
Capital transfers (payments) comprises taxes on 

capital and capital transfers to public corporations.
Gross domestic fixed capital formation and increase in 

book value of stocks: the quarterly sample inquiries 
conducted by the Central Statistical Office, and 
addressed to establishments in manufacturing industry 
and wholesale and retail distribution, form the basis of 
the quarterly estimates. The annual Census of 
Production provides benchmark Information for the 
manufacturing industries (divisions 2 to 4 of the 1980 
SIC), and there are supplementary annual inquiries to 
certain other industries.

Separate figures for I and C companies are obtained 
by aggregating the relevant components within each 
industry. In some Instances the industries are self
classifying; use Is made of the occasional very detailed 
benchmark inquiries to apportion estimates for other 
industries by sector.

Investment in UK company securities consists of:
(a) cash expenditure on acquiring independent 

companies within the United Kingdom. This 
series is based on reports of transactions 
published In the press and is derived from the 
Central Statistical Office's series on 
acquisitions and mergers within the UK (see 
notes to table 8.8).

(b) cash expenditure on portfolio investments in 
the United Kingdom. The figures up to 1986 
are estimates by the Bank of England and the 
Central Statistical Office, based on figures 
from the Central Statistical Office’s analysis of 
company accounts, and are very uncertain. 
Figures for 1987 onwards are based on the 
Central Statistical Office's survey of company 
liquidity and financial assets and liabilities 
surveys (see table 8.6), plus press reports.

Acquisitions financed by the issue of share and loan 
capital are excluded; these are not cash transactions and 
therefore do not feature in the financial accounts. 
Estimates of acquisitions financed in this way are 
included in table 8.8.

Direct investment in overseas securities consists of the 
acquisition by UK companies of share and loan capital in 
overseas subsidiaries and associates. The estimates are 
derived from the direct investment inquiry conducted by 
the Central Statistical Office. Also included are estimates 
of portfolio investment by I and C companies in overseas ' 
securities based on information from the Financial Assets 
and Liabilities Survey.

Other investment overseas consists of part of UK 
private investment overseas by I and C companies in the 
balance of payments accounts. It includes changes In 
branch indebtedness to head office and in inter-company 
accounts, and miscellaneous investment overseas. 
However, investment taking the form of acquisition of 
overseas company securities, which is shown as direct 
investment in overseas securities, and profits retained by 
overseas subsidiaries and associates of UK companies 
are excluded. These unremitted profits are included in 
undistributed income but are offset by being brought in 
again as a negative component in net unremitted profits. 
They are therefore counted neither as a source of funds 
nor as a use of funds; this treatment differs from that 
used in table 1.10, where the retained profits are 
included as income (saving) of 1 and C companies and 
as direct and other investment abroad. Thus the retained 
profits are recorded In those tables as if they had been 
remitted and re-lent to the subsidiary by the parent 
company, whereas in this table they are effectively 
ignored.

The source of the estimates for direct investment is 
the annual inquiry by the Central Statistical Office.

Export and other credit given comprises instalment 
credit extended by retailing companies, domestic trade 
credit extended to public corporations, export credit (up 
to end-1982, when data collection ceased) and advance 
payments on imports (lower coverage from end-1982).

Instalment credit extended by retailers is estimated 
from returns made by retailers to the Central Statistical 
Office. Credit extended to public corporations is 
estimated from returns made by nationalised industries. 
Advance payments on-imports are derived from balance 
of payments information as was export credit until data 
collection ceased at end-1982.

Bank deposits are gross deposits {less 60% of the 
excess of debit over credit transit items - see notes on 
page 56). The estimates are obtained from banks' sector 
statistics. ICCs transactions in certificates of deposit are 
included: these are estimated from the Financial Assets 
and Liabilities Survey but also include a proportion of the 
unidentified transactions. A description of the estimates 
for holdings of notes and coin is given on pages 15 and 
95.

British government securities: transactions in British 
government securities are derived from the holdings . 
figures of large I and C companies. The source is the 
Central Statistical Office, now Financial Assets and 
Liabilities Survey (see table 8.6).

Other liquid assets comprise Treasury bills, tax 
instruments, local authority temporary debt, deposits with 
building societies (including from second quarter 1983
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certificates of deposits and from fourth quarter 1983 
'wholesale' time deposits) and (prior to 1982) deposits 
with other financial institutions.

For periods up to end 1986 I and C companies’ 
transactions in Treasury bills are obtained as differences 
between consecutive figures of end-period holdings 
which are estimated by residual; identified holdings by 
the banks, building society, overseas and other financial 
institutions sectors are deducted from total market 
holdings, persons’ holdings being assumed to be 
negligible. Figures from 1987 to 1990 assumed to be 
zero based on the holdings identified in the Financial 
Assets and Liabilities Survey. Figures from 1991 onwards 
are from the Financial Assets and Liabilities Survey.

Transactions in local authority debt are taken from the 
local authorities' analysis of their debt (see tcibles 4.6 
and 4.7). Changes in deposits with building societies are 
obtained from the sector analysis by the societies of their 
deposits (see table 7.7).

Other financial assets comprise.

Other public sector: Northern Ireland central 
government debt (source: public sector 
accounts), repayment of loans by 1 and C 
companies to the British Steel Corporation 
(source: public corporation accounts), and 
other identified lending to the public sector.

Other UK domestic: other identified lending to 
financial institutions.

O verseas: m isce llaneous overseas 
instruments, namely other commercial short
term assets (net) from the balance of 
payments accounts, and the timing and 
coverage adjustments between the overseas 
sector figures in the financial accounts and the 
balance of payments accounts, other than 
those allocated to other sectors.

Balancing item is the balance on the accounts of the 
I and C companies sector and reflects statistical errors 
and omissions in the identified items throughout the 
appropriation, capital and financial accounts.

Two items which are not recorded in the financial 
accounts are changes in trade credit extended by I and 
C companies to other domestic sectors and company 
loans to the personal sector (e.g. loans to employees 
and unincorporated business), but possibly more 
important is the misallocation between sectors of certain 
recorded items. For example, company sector 
transactions in land and existing buildings are compiled 
from a range of industrial estimates, some are thought to 
be unreliably estimated. There is a general discussion on 
the sector balancing items on page 23.

Table 8.3
Net borrowing requirement of industrial and 
commercial companies

This table rearranges the sources and uses of capital 
funds in table 8.2 to show the items leading to the net 
borrowing requirement and how it is financed. The net 
borrowing requirement measures I and C companies’ 
need for external finance, net of liquid and certain other 
financial assets; it reflects the amount by which the
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companies’ expenditure on fixed assets, stocks, capital 
transfers (net), trade Investments, acquisition of 
subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, investment abroad 
and net trade credit exceeds the increase in their internal 
funds. The concepts underlying the net borrowing 
requirement are discussed in the sulicle Financial 
balances of industrial companies in Economic Trends, 
December 1978.

The seasonally adjusted series incorporate the 
seasonal factors, calculated by the Central Statistical 
Office, for the items from the appropriation and capital 
accounts and for various financial transactions series. 
Seasonal factors calculated by the Bank of England are 
used for monetary aggregates.

Most of the unadjusted series in this table are taken 
direct from table 8.2. The re-arrangements are detailed 
below.

Financial surplus or deficit comprises undistributed 
income plus capital transfers (receipts) less capital 
transfers (payments), gross domestic fixed capital 
formation and increase in book value of stocks.

Accruals adjustment is shown split between increase 
in tax balances and other. The components of each are 
described in the notes on the accruals adjustment In 
table 8.2.

Investment abroad is the total of direct investment in 
overseas securities and other investment overseas In 
table 8.2.

Other borrowing is the total of other loans and 
mortgages, market issues and other capital issues, 
overseas direct investment in securities and other 
overseas investment in table 8.2.

Financial assets: liquid comprises bank deposits, notes 
and coin, British government securities and other liquid 
assets from table 8.2.

Financial assets: other comprises other public sector 
financial assets, other UK domestic and overseas 
financial assets from table 8.2.

Net borrowing requirement is the total of all the 
borrowing and liquid asset items which finance it 
(columns 11 to 14). Alternatively it is the total of all the 
items leading to the requirement (columns 1 to 8) and 
the balancing item (column 9) with the opposite sign. 
Taking all the accounts, current and capital (as 
summarised by the financial surplus or deficit) and 
financial (as summarised by the remaining items in the 
table), the total of all flows into and out of the sector is 
zero.

Table 8.4
Selected liquid assets of Industrial and 
commercial companies

This table illustrates the relative importance of 
selected liquid assets of industrial and commercial 
companies, with bank advances shown for comparison. 
The categories broadly correspond with those used in the 
financial accounts and are compiled from the same 
sources.

Deposits with banks are consistent with the sector 
analysis of gross deposits shown in table 6.2, with the 
sterling and foreign currency deposits each split between 
certificates of deposit and other deposits. The notes in 
Section 6 give further information, including details of the 
changes in coverage.
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Deposits with building societies are obtained from the 
sector analysis of shares and deposits in table 6.9. The 
break in series at second quarter 1989 reflects the 
reclassification of Abbey National from a Building Society 
to a Bank.

Sterling Treasury bills are shown in table 3.7, analysed 
by sector. (See also other liquid assets in table 8.2).

Tax instruments are obtained from table 3.11 and 
include unidentified holdings by other sectors. The break 
at first quarter 1978 reflects identification of holdings by 
public corporations.

British government securities: holdings are derived 
from the Central Statistical Office, now Financial Assets 
and Liabilities Survey; figures are grossed up 
approximately to cover the whole company sector.

Local authority temporary debt: is shown in table 4.6, 
anaiysed by holder. Local authority longer term debt 
covers non-marketable debt only, as shown in table 4.7.

Bank advances comprises the bulk of lending to I and 
C companies shown in table 6.2 (sterling and foreign 
currency). The figures in table 6.2 also include lending 
other than by advances e.g. by purchase of securities.

financial
Table 8.5
Appropriation account 
companies and institutions
Scope of headings and methodology

Gross trading profits. These 'national accounts profits’ 
are calculated before providing for depreciation and stock 
appreciation, but the latter is estimated to be negligible. 
As stated in the introduction to Section 8, they are 
measured, in principle, by the difference between 
financial companies’ and institutions’ charges and 
commissions and their management expenses. Adding 
net interest received gives profits in the more ordinary 
sense.

In practice, a major difficulty is that there is no single 
source for estimating the gross trading profits of financial 
companies and institutions. The annual estimates are 
compiled from various sources using a number of 
different methods: for the banks’ sector, they are based 
on information collected by the Bank of England, whilst, 
for other financial companies and institutions, the figures 
are based on direct surveys, published annual accounts 
and information provided by relevant trade associations. 
In all cases, the Central Statistical Office makes a 
number of adjustments in order to bring the figures onto 
a national accounts basis. Quarterly estimates are largely 
obtained by interpolation and extrapolation from the 
annual figures. The resultant estimates are subject to a 
wide margin of error.

Rent and non-trading income. Interest receipts of the 
banks are composed mainly of interest on bank lending 
which are imputed by applying appropriate interest rates 
to the sector analysis of bank advances provided by the 
Bank of England.

Interest receipts of building societies are composed 
mainly of interest payments on mortgages for house 
purchase. The figures are supplied directly by the 
building societies.

Interest receipts of other financial companies and 
institutions comprise mainly receipts of investment 
income and receipts by finance houses on their lending, 
calculated mainly by applying appropriate interest rates

to advances or holdings.
Income from abroad comprises income from direct, 

portfolio and other investment abroad, including net 
earnings on dealings in euro-currency.

The source of the estimates of direct investment 
income is the inquiry by the Central Statistical Office; 
portfolio investment Income is derived from balance of 
payments information. Estimates of other investment 
income are based mainly on returns to the Bank of 
England.

Dividends and interest payments. Dividend payments 
are derived from quarterly information provided by the 
Inland Revenue. As with I and C companies, dividend 
payments are net of advance corporation tax, payments 
of which are included in UK taxes on income. Inland 
Revenue provides figures of interest payments subject to 
deduction of tax.

Other interest payments by banks are payments on 
deposits. These are obtained by applying appropriate 
interest rates to the sector analysis of deposits supplied 
by the Bank of England.

The building societies supply quarterly data on interest 
paid out, but some further calculation is necessary. Total 
interest (net of tax) is derived by adding interest paid out. 
interest accrued and credited to accounts, and other 
accrued interest not credited to accounts. Tax payments 
by the societies, calculated at the composite rate, are 
then added in to give total gross accrued interest.

As from November 1981 (see Section 6), interest 
payments by the remaining financial institutions have 
fallen to very small amounts. Prior to that, they included 
payments by finance houses and the Trustee savings 
banks on deposits placed with them. Finance houses 
licensed to take deposits and Trustee savings banks are 
now part of the banks' sector. Prior to January 1981, 
they also included payments on deposits in the National 
Savings Bank investment account, which became part of 
central government at that date.

Profits due abroad net of UK tax is composed entirely 
of payments on direct investment; the source of the 
estimates is the inquiry by the Central Statistical Office.

UK taxes on income. The annual figures are provided 
by Inland Revenue and consist of payments of 
corporation tax on taxable income, including advance 
corporation tax. For the quarterly figures, payments of 
corporation tax are assumed to be made in the first 
calendar quarter whilst ACT payments are assumed to 
be made when they are due and are calculated by 
applying the appropriate tax rate to the relevant dividend 
payments.

Undistributed income is the balancing item in the table, 
and is equivalent to saving before providing for 
depreciation, stock appreciation, unremitted profits due 
from or to related concerns overseas, and additions to 
reserves. This figure is subject to a wide margin of error.

Table 8.6
Liquidity of large industriai and commercial 
companies

The figures given in this table are estimates for all 
large UK industrial and commercial companies. Iri terms 
of total net assets, large industrial and commercial 
companies account for about three quarters of the 
industrial and commercial company sector as a whole.

This table now uses the results of the statutory annual
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Financial Assets and Liabilities Survey to all large 
industrial and commercial companies, which was 
introduced as part of the programme of improvements to 
economic statistics announced by the former Chancellor 
of the Exchequer on 17 May 1990. The first annual 
survey requested figures of holdings of specified assets 
and liabilities at 31 December 1990, though responding 
companies were allowed to give figures for their own 
balance sheet data in the 1990 accounting year. The 
largest companies were selected on the basis of total net 
assets in their published accounts for the 1987 
accounting year, including large companies formed 
subsequently by divestment or privatisation. This 
comprised about 650 companies each with total net 
assets of £40 million or more. Results from the second 
annual survey, requesting details of holdings of specified 
assets and liabilities at 31 December 1991, are now also 
used in the table.

The panel of contributors to the former Company 
Liquidity Survey are continuing to provide voluntary 
quarterly returns, but now use the Financial Assets and 
Liabilities format introduced for the annual survey. About 
220 companies provide voluntary quarterly returns and 
these have been used to calculate the results given here 
for the quarters of 1991 and 1992.

Method of compilation
The results up to end 1990 were based on a 

regression analysis of Company Liquidity Survey 
responses and companies' own published accounts in 
the 1982 accounting year. This was used to estimate 
figures for the fourth quarter of 1982 for those large 
industrial and commercial companies which were not 
contributing to the survey at that time. The time series 
had been built up from this fourth quarter 1982 starting 
point using the quarter on quarter changes given by the 
Company Liquidity Survey responses.

The statutory annual Financial Assets and Liabilities 
Survey results for end 1990 established that there had 
been a bias in the voluntary Company Liquidity Survey 
panel, which had resulted, in particular, in 
underestimation of the build up of overseas assets by 
manufacturing companies.

In order to provide a continuous series linking the new 
estimates for the end of 1990 from the statutory annual 
Financial Assets and Liabilities Survey to the old 
Company Liquidity Survey results, the latter have been 
revised from the first quarter of 1987 onwards. The new 
estimates were derived by interpolation between the old 
Company Liquidity Survey estimates for end 1986 and 
the new Financial Assets and Liabilities Survey estimates 
for end 1990, using the quarter on quarter changes in the 
old estimates together with some information from the 
published accounts of companies not on the Company 
Liquidity Survey panel.

The figures given for the fourth quarter of 1990 and 
the fourth quarter of 1991 are based on the results of the 
statutory annual survey and the voluntary survey is used 
to estimate figures for the Intervening quarters.

The table also publishes large UK industrial and 
commercial companies’ holdings of those assets and 
liabilities identified on the Financial Assets and Liabilities 
Survey form but not included in the total current assets 
and liabilities used to calculate the liquidity ratios. It 
should be noted that liabilities with a maturity of less than

80

Companies

one year are recorded as longer term liabilities if there is 
a contractual arrangement for renewal.

Quality
The results given for liquidity ratios and net current 

assets indicate the financial position of large UK 
industrial and commercial companies only with regard to 
those financial assets realisable in less than one year 
and those financial liabilities that may have to be repaid 
in one year, and which are covered in the Financial 
Assets and Liabilities Survey. They do not summarise the 
whole financial position of large industrial and 
commercial companies. Also the importance of the 
assets and liabilities covered in the survey varies 
between companies, depending on the levels of 
creditors, debtors and stockholdings, none of which are 
included in the survey. Furthermore, the results should 
not be taken to indicate the financial position of the UK 
industrial and commercial company sector as a whole.

Timeliness
The figures are first published in a CSO Bulletin about 

ten weeks after the end of each quarter. They are then 
included in the next issue of Financial Statistics about 
twelve weeks from the quarter end, i. e. the figures for 30 
June appear in Financial Sfaf/sf/cs first In the September 
issue.

Use in financial accounts
The Financial Assets and Liabilities Survey is used to 

provide estimates of I and C companies holdings of and 
transactions in British Government Securities,bank and 
building society certificates of deposits, sterling 
commercial paper, sterling Treasury Bills and Portfolio 
investment in overseas securities (see table 8.2).

Other publications
An article describing the old Company Liquidity 

Sun/ey, and reviewing its results since its inception in 
1970 until the middle of 1974, was published in 
Economic Trends No.253, November 1974. It included a 
comparison between the survey results and the 
equivalent statistics for all I and C companies from the 
financial accounts and shown in table 8.3. A further 
article in Economic Trends No.283, May 1977, updated 
the comparison to the end of 1976.

The British business article of 31 May 1985, Company 
liquidity in the first quarter introduced the results 
estimated for all large 1 and C companies. A technical 
note at the end of this article gives a more detailed 
description of how the estimates were derived.

A CSO Methodological Bulletin is being published in 
December 1992 giving more details about the Financial 
Assets and Liabilities Survey.

Table 8.7
Transactions in UK company securities

This table brings together quarterly estimates of 
transactions in UK company securities shown in the 
financial accounts so that the net transactions of each 
sector can be compared. It also shows how estimates of 
transactions by the personal sector, which is the residual 
item, are derived.

Capital issues include both United Kingdom and
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overseas issues. A detailed breakdown of other 
transactions by other financial institutions can be found 
in Section 7. A more detailed description of the make-up 
of this item is given in Section 1 on page 20 and 21.

Table 8.8
Acquisitions and mergers of industriai and 
commerciai companies within the United
Kingdom

The statistics of acquisitions and mergers of 
companies in this table are based on reports in the 
financiai press, supplemented by special inquiries to the 
companies to determine the timing, value and method of 
payment for particular transactions. In an acquisition, one 
company gains control of another by acquiring more than 
50% of the voting shares; in a merger, two companies 
combine by the formation of a new company with 
ownership of more than 50% of the voting shares in each 
of the two combining companies.

The table covers all acquisitions and mergers by 
United Kingdom industrial and commercial companies 
within the UK except acquisitions between subsidiaries of 
the same company group, which are not included 
because they relate to internal re-organisation, not to 
change of ownership and industrial restructuring.

Figures of acquisitions by financial companies are not 
included as compilation of such figures ceased at the 
end of 1979.

Method of compilation
As far as possible, the transactions are recorded for 

the date when they are finalised, e.g. when a bid is 
declared unconditional or a contract to purchase is 
signed. They are valued, in general, In terms of the 
expenditure at the time of the transaction but include any 
investment during the last twelve months in the acquired 
company. Where possible, the values are market values. 
Where this is not possible (e.g. where the acquired 
company is unlisted) the transaction is, in general, valued 
at the net book value of the acquired company. The 
figures from 1966 are calculated from a new database of 
transactions. Expenditure in the form of deferred 
payments is now recorded when those payments are 
made.

A merger is valued at the value of the smaller 
company’s share of the newly formed company.

Timeliness
The statistics for industrial and commercial companies 

are first published in a CSO Bulletin about seven weeks 
after the quarter end and are included in the next issue 
of Financial Statistics about eight weeks from the quarter 
end, i.e. the figures for the quarter ending 31 March 
appear in Financial Statistics first in the May issue.

Scope of headings
Number of companies acquired includes mergers.

Use in financial accounts
The figures for cash expenditure on acquiring 

independent companies (i.e. excluding cash payments 
between companies) are used as an estimate of 
payments by industrial and commercial companies to 
other sectors in the course of making acquisitions. Cash

expenditure on acquiring existing subsidiaries where the 
vendor is from another domestic sector is also identified 
separately for use in the Financial Accounts. The 
disposals by the counterpart sectors are measured 
separately from other sources with unidentified 
transactions assumed to be by the personnel sector.

Other publications
The CSO Bulletin, also provides more detailed 

information, including an analysis by size of transaction.
s

Table 8.9
Insolvencies in Engiand and Waies

Until 1986 procedures relating to insolvency were dealt 
with under the provisions of the Bankruptcy Acts 1914 
and 1926, the various Companies Acts and the 
Insolvency Act 1976. The Insolvency Act 1985 repealed 
the previous bankruptcy legislation and introduced a 
completely new system for individual insolvency and 
major changes to corporate insolvency law. The 
Insolvency Act 1986 consolidated and added to the 
Insolvency Act 1985. Thus the main legislation under 
which insolvencies are now dealt with is the Insolvency 
Act 1986.

Insolvent individuals are dealt with mainly under the 
Insolvency Act 1986 although some provisions still 
remain from the Bankruptcy Act 1914, the Bankruptcy 
(Amendment) Act 1926 and the Deeds of Arrangement 
Act 1914. A bankruptcy order utider the Insolvency Act 
1986 is made by the court on the petition of a creditor if 
it is satisfied that a debt of the debtor has not been paid 
or secured or there is no reasonable prospect of his 
paying it when it falls due. It may also be made on the 
petition of the debtor himself. Bankruptcy orders are 
equivalent to receiving orders made under the repealed 
legislation but the new legislation also adjudges the 
debtor bankrupt whereas adjudication was a further 
separate order under the old legislation. The bankruptcy 
order makes the Official Receiver, receiver and manager 
of the bankrupt's estate pending the appointment of an 
insolvency practitioner as trustee or the Official Receiver 
himself becoming trustee.

Administration orders, relate to deceased insolvents 
and are made under the insolvency Act 1986. These are 
included with bankruptcy orders.

Individual voluntary arrangements were introduced in 
the Insolvency Act 1986 to enable insolvent debtors to 
come to terms with their creditors with the minimum of 
formality and court involvement. The numbers of these 
are included in table 8.9.

Deeds of arrangement relate to arrangements between 
debtors and creditors that are reached without recourse 
to the courts under the Deeds of Arrangement Act 1914.

Insolvent companies are dealt with under the 
Companies Acts and the Insolvency Act 1986. There are 
two types of company liquidation that involve insolvency. 
The first are compulsory liquidations, which relate to 
winding-up orders made by the courts. The second are 
creditors' voluntary liquidatbns, in which the company 
and its creditors come to terms wKhout court proceedings 
and the resolution to wind up is then registered with 
Companies House. There is a third type of liquidation, 
members’ voluntary liquidations, but these do not involve 
insolvency and are therefore not included in the figures.

The Insolvency Act 1986 also introduced
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administration orders for companies and company 
voluntary arrangements. Both of these are not strictly 
insolvencies as they do not always lead to a company 
going into insolvency. If the company involved does 
eventually become insolvent it will register in the figures 
as either a compulsory liquidation or a creditor’s 
voluntary liquidation. Consequently administration orders 
and company voluntary arrangements are not recorded 
in the figures [as they are not strictly insolvencies].

Insolvent partnerships may be dealt with by two 
different procedures. The first procedure is when a 
bankruptcy order is made against one or more of the 
partners individually. The second procedure was 
introduced in the Insolvency Act 1986 and allows 
partnerships to be wound up as if a company. 
Bankruptcy orders may be made with or without a 
winding up order against the partnership.

Method of compilation
The insolvency figures are provided by the Department 

of Trade and Industry who collate the information from 
two sources. Figures for bankruptcies and compulsory 
winding-up orders are collected by the Insolvency 
Services, an Executive Agency of the Department of 
Trade and Industry, from the official receivers for the 
various courts. Figures for creditors’ voluntary liquidations 
are collected by Companies House, an Executive Agency
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of the Department of Trade and Industry. These are 
based on the notifications which companies are obliged 
to make within fourteen days of the resolution to wind-up.

Timeliness
Quarterly insolvency figures are available from the 

Department of Trade and Industry six weeks after the 
quarter end and are published on their behalf by the 
Association of British Chamber of Commerce in Business 
Briefing. They are also normally included in the next 
issue of Financial Statistics which is about eight weeks 
from the quarter end, i.e. the figures for the quarter 
ending 31 March appear in Financial Statistics In the May 
issue.

Other publications
The Annual Abstract of Statistics, 1991 (tables 17.27 

to 17.30) provides an eleven year run of annual totals for 
company liquidations of each type (including member’s 
voluntary liquidations), for bankruptcy orders and deeds 
of arrangement. The Annual Abstract of Statistics also 
includes the equivalent figures for company liquidations 
in Scotland and Northern Ireland - sequestrations (which 
relate, under Scottish law, to individual insolvents) in 
Scotland, and for bankruptcies and deeds of 
arrangement in Northern Ireland.

I
*40
H

I
i
1

m



03

9re

'Wind.

S 17.27
3taisfor 
amber's 
I deeds 
csalso 
datioDs 
(which
!nts) in 
ds of

Section 9 
Personal sector

The section on the personal sector is one of the 
shortest in Financial Statistics. This reflects the lack of 
direct statistical reporting by the sector rather than its 
lack of importance in the financial system.

The information used to construct accounts for the 
personal sector is collected mainly from the counterpart 
sector institutions concerned in the various transactions 
(e.g. public sector and financial institutions). In most 
other cases, estimates of personal sector transactions 
are obtained by residual from the estimated net 
transactions of all other sectors.

Definition of sector
The personal sector is made up mainly of individuals 

resident in the United Kingdom; it also includes all 
unincorporated private businessas, sole traders and 
partnerships, non-profit-making bodies serving persons, 
and private trusts.

The first component covers individuals living in 
households and in institutions as well as members of the 
armed forces stationed abroad.

Unincorporated businesses do not have a separate 
legal existence and sometimes their activities cannot be 
distinguished from the private activities of their 
proprietors. Thus they are part of the personal sector and 
cannot be completely separated from it. These 
businesses are largely engaged in distribution, the 
construction trades, agriculture or services (including the 
medical and legal professions).

Private non-profit-making bodies serving persons 
comprise universities, polytechnics (new universities), 
higher education colleges, grant maintained schools and 
non-profit-making schools and colleges, churches, 
charities, clubs and societies, trade unions, and private 
housing associations. Some of these bodies are 
incorporated under the Companies Acts but they are 
included in the personal sector if they are recognised as 
charitable for tax purposes and If their principal object is 
to provide services or benefits to individuals or other 
bodies in the personal sector.

Private trusts, other than for charitable purposes, are 
set up by individuals usually for named beneficiaries.

Long-term insurance and pension funds
A peculiarity of the financial accounts is the sector 

treatment of long-term insurance and pension funds. 
These are treated as part of the personal sector In the 
current account, but as part of the OFI sector in the 
capital and financial accounts. Amounts paid by 
employers Into these funds as premiums and 
contributions and the rent, dividend and interest that the 
funds receive are included in personal income. 
Contributions and premiums paid by emptoyees, 
policyholders etc. on their own behalf are transfers within 
the personal sector and are not Included In the sector 
accounts. They may be regarded as components of 
saving through the funds. The cost of administering the 
funds are treated as consumers’ expenditure. Transfers 
to the state pension scheme are included in National 
Insurance, etc. contributions. Pensions and other benefits 
paid out are also transfers within the personal sector and 
not included in the sector account. They may, 
nevertheless, be used to finance consumption or saving

other than through the funds. The balance of all these 
transactions represents the net amount saved through 
the funds and the net amount available for investment by 
the funds and is a major component of personal saving. 
It Is treated as financial investment by the personal 
sector in long-term insurance and pension funds in the 
OFI sector and is recorded in the personal sector 
financial account as an increase in persons’ claims on 
OFI’s and as a corresponding liability in the OFI sector 
account. The financial transactions of the funds (i.e. their 
investment of this money in securities, etc.), are recorded 
in the financial accounts of the financial institutions 
sector. The funds remain the property of persons in the 
form of a financial claim by the personal sector on them, 
but the assets held by the funds to match this liability to 
persons are assets of the financial institutions sector 
(and transactions in these assets are transactions by 
financial institutions). Friendly societies are. In principle, 
treated in the same way as long-term Insurance funds 
though data are in fact included only for the collecting 
friendly societies. Further discussion of the treatment is 
included in an article in the November 1979 issue of 
Statistical News - 'Pension funds and the national 
accounts’.

Nature of the estimates
Because there is no direct statistical reporting of 

financial transactions by the personal sector certain 
transactions cannot be recorded in the accounts, and 
others may be unreliable. The problem is most acute for 
transactions between the personal sector and companies 
(direct reporting by companies covers only a few items 
in the accounts) and for those items where the balance 
of transactions, after taking account of the public and 
overseas sectors, has to be allocated between the 
personal sector and industrial and commercial companies 
sector. Errors and omissions in the identified items of a 
sector’s accounts are reflected in the balances of the 
various accounts (e.g. saving, financial surplus ordeficifl 
and particularly in the balancing item between all the 
accounts. The nature of the unidentified transactions 
generally is explained in Section 1.

One item that is not recorded is trade credit (unpaid 
bills of households and unincorporated businesses) but 
this is not thought to be a major explanation for the 
balancing item. Another largely unrecorded item is 
company loans to the personal sector (e.g. loans to 
employees and to unincorporated businesses). But 
probably more important is the misallocation between 
sectors of certain recorded items. Figures for personal 
sector transactions in land and existing buildings and in 
gilt-edged and company securities are all obtained as 
residuals, some components in the calculation of which 
(e.g. net purchases by companies) are thought to be 
unreliable. Also, estimates of persons’ receipts of 
dividends and debt interest will reflect any inaccuracies 
in identifying payments between companies. All such 
errors and omissions find their way into the balancing 
items because of the accounting framework used.

The tables
The tables in this section comprise an income and 

expenditure account, table 9.1; a sources and uses of

83



- JcP

funds presentation of capital and financial transactions, 
table 9.2; a derived table highlighting consumer credit, 
table 9.3. Loans for house purchase are given in table
9.4 and, finally, amounts of certain selected liquid assets 
and liabilities held by persons, are given in table 93. 
Quarterly income and expenditure accounts are 
published as part of a press notice on personal income, 
expenditure and saving about thirteen weeks from the 
end of quarters, and are repeated about three weeks 
later in Financial Statistics. Some other information 
relating to the personal sector is published periodically as 
supplementary tables. These include details of SAVE 
schemes (table S21 - published four times per year). 
United Kingdom National Accounts. 1992 Edition, table 
4.9, shows an income and expenditure account which 
separates, as far as possible, those transactions which 
directly affect households (including their transactbns 
with the rest of the personsil sector) from those of the 
rest of the personal sector. An article in the September 
1981 issue of Economic Trends - ‘The household sectori 
- explains how these series have been derived from 
those for the personal sector as a whole and describes 
some of the main trends in the series. Experimental 
capital and financial accounts for the household sector 
are also presented.

Another article, ‘Committed and discretionary saving’, 
in the November 1901 issue of Economic Trends 
introduced a new presentation of personal saving splitting 
it as far as possible into its committed and discretionary 
elements. This analysis was shown in supplementary 
table SI 4 last published in the October 1988 issue of 
Financial Statistics.

Table 9.1
Personal income, expenditure and saving

This table shows how an important source of funds, 
personal sector saving, is generated. The columns show 
the various forms of income accruing to the personal 
sector, and the taxes and other deductions that are paid 
out of that income. Income after tax. national insurance 
contributions, community charge and other current 
transfers is called personal disposable income, and what 
remains after subtracting consumers' expenditure is 
defined as personal saving. Saving expressed as a 
percentage of total personal disposable income, the 
saving ratio, is also shown. A brief description of the 
items in this table is given below. For fuller details see 
United Kingdom National Accounts: Sources and 
Methods, Chapter 6A and the Notes and Definitions in 
United Kingdom Natbnal Accounts.

Wages, salaries, and forces'pay. Wages and salaries, 
which are by far the most important source of personal 
income, are estimated annually from an analysis of the 
PAYE tax deduction cards sent by employers to local tax 
offices after each financial year. Adjustments have to be 
made for earned income below the PAYE limit, for 
certain pension payments included in the PAYE returns, 
and to convert the information from a financial year to a 
calendar year basis. Quarterly figures are estimated by 
interpolation and extrapolation by reference to the 
Department of Employment’s index of average earnings 
allied with employment data. The figures for wages and 
salaries include estimates of income in kind and exclude 
expenses of employment. Forces' pay consists of pay

Personal sector

and allowances in cash and kind of members of the 
armed forces and auxiliary services.

Employers’ contributions include those made to the 
national insurance scheme, to the national health service 
and to the redundancy fund, as well as contributions to 
private pension schemes.

Current grants from general government cover all 
transfer payments by general government to the personal 
sector. The bulk of this item represents social security 
benefits to individuals such as national Insurance 
benefits, supplementary benefits and child benefit. But 
the item also includes grants to other parts of the 
personal sector such as universities.

Other personal income includes income from self- 
employment (before providing for depreciation and stock 
appreciation), rent, dividends and interest receipts net of 
payments of interest, transfers to charities by companies 
and financial institutions, transfers from overseas and an 
imputed charge for capital consumption of private non- 
profit-making bodies. Income from self-employment ■ 
which is the distributed and undistributed income of 
proprietors of unincorporated businesses (farmers, 
certain professions, and other sole traders and 
partnerships) and represents income before providing for 
depreciation and stock appreciation - is mainly estimated 
from details of income assessed for tax under Schedule 
D. An exception is income of farmers which is estimated 
from a production account of the agricultural industry as 
a whole, the 'national farm’. A rough deduction has been 
made for income accruing to agricultural businesses that 
are incorporated (i.e. companies). The dividend and 
interest income of persons from 1984 onwards is now 
based on the aggregation of separate calculations for 
each financial instrument. This means the estimates are 
improved in quality, being calculated directly rather than, 
as previously, by residual. An article explaining the new 
methodology and giving detailed figures by sector and 
financial instrument was published in the October 1992 
issue of Economic Trends. The personal sector figure 
represents net receipts after deducting payments by 
persons (e.g. bank and mortgage interest payments).

UK taxes on income represents amounts of tax 
actually paid by the personal sector, rather than the 
amounts received by Inland Revenue. Thus for tax 
assessed under Schedule E, and deducted through 
PAYE, amounts deducted by employers are included in 
the quarterly and annual figures rather than amounts 
handed over to Inland Revenue: there is usually a few 
weeks delay between deduction and payment to Inland 
Revenue. Tax liability which has accrued on income 
received (mainly income assessed under Schedule D) 
but which has not yet resulted in tax payments will 
therefore fall into the figures of personal saving that 
balance the account.

Social security contributions mostly comprises 
employers' (included as a component of personal 
income) and employees’ contributions. The contributions 
covered are those in respect of national insurance, the 
national health service, the redundancy fund and the 
maternity pay fund. See the notes to table 3.1 for more
details.

Other current deductions include transfers abroad and 
miscellaneous current transfers. The latter covers certain 
compulsory fees and fines paid by the personal sector to 
central government, for example, fees for passports and
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Total personal disposable income is defined as the 

sum of personal incomes before providing for 
depreciation, stock appreciation and additions to tax 
reserves less UK taxes on income, the community 
charge, and national insurance etc. contributions and
other current transfers.

Consumers' expenditure covers all personal 
expenditure on goods (durable and non-durable) and 
services, including the value of income in kind, imputed 
rents for owner-occupied dwellings and the purchase of 
second-hand goods less the proceeds of sales of used 
goods. It also includes final expenditure on goods and 
services for current use by private non-profit-making 
bodies serving persons. The following are not included: 
all business expenditure and expenses, interest and 
other transfer payments, improvements to dwellings, and 
the purchase of land and dwellings (and associated 
costs). These last two items are treated as capital 
expenditure.

Estimates of consumers' expenditure are built up 
commodity by commodity from a heterogeneous 
collection of sources. There are three broad types; 
statistics of supplies from manufacturers etc. which are 
used mainly to estimate expenditure on alcoholic drink 
and tobacco; sample surveys such as the National Food 
Survey, the Family Expenditure Survey and the 
International Passenger Survey which provide direct 
information on persons’ behaviour as consumers; and 
statistics of sales by retail shops and other outlets which 
often provide more reliable information on larger and less 
frequently purchased items, and are useful in making 
quarterly estimates.

Durable goods, shown separately because their 
purchase is often financed by the various forms of 
borrowing shown in table 9.2, consist of;

(a) cars, motor cycles and other vehicles
(b) furniture and floor coverings
(c) other durable goods.

The latter category comprises radio and television 
sets, audio and video equipment, musical instruments, 
photographic and optical equipment, household
appliances such as heating and domestic appliances, 
sewing machines and lawnmowers.

Personal saving is what remains of total personal 
disposable income after deducting consumers’
expenditure. Because personal saving is calculated as 
the difference between two large aggregates, the figure 
includes the net effect of estimation errors and omissions 
in their components and is therefore less reliable than 
others in the table.

Saving ratio is personal saving expressed as a 
percentage of total personal disposable income.

Table 9.2
Sources and uses of funds

This table brings together series from the capital and 
financial accounts of the personal sector (i.e. table 1.11) 
to show how funds are raised and how they are used to 
purchase tangible and financial assets.

Identified sources of funds
Saving is the balancing item transferred from table 9.1.

It is the difference between total personal disposable 
income and consumers’ expenditure, before providing for 
depreciation, stock appreciation and additions to tax 
reserves.

Capital transfers cover such items as grants received 
by universities and other private non-profit-making 
bodies, grants to farmers, mainly for farm improvements 
and field drainage, and local authority grants for the 
conversion and improvement of housing. From 1967 it 
includes a small amount of investment grants in respect 
of capital expenditure after 17 January 1966.

Total borrowing is the sum of bank borrowing, credit 
extended by retailers, loans for house purchase and 
other loans and mortgages.

Bank bomowing. which includes bank advances, and 
commercial bills and market loans from third quarter 
1975, is derived from banks’ sector statistics. It excludes 
loans for house purchase. Figures include both sterling 
and foreign currency items.

Loans for house purchase from local authorities are 
loans made for small dwellings acquisitions. Other public 
sector loans are those made by central government 
under various Housing Acts to private housing 
associations, and loans made by the Housing 
Corporation to housing societies. Loans from banks are 
compiled by the Bank of England from banking statistics. 
For a description of mortgage advances by building 
societies see notes to tables 6.8 to 6.9. Other loans for 
house purchase comprise loans from insurance 
companies (derived from figures shown in table 7.9), 
from pension funds, from Trustee savings banks (prior to 
their inclusion In the banks’ sector) and miscellaneous 
financial institutions. Figures are for net advances of 
principal. For further details see notes to table 9.4 below.

Other loans and mortgages comprise identified trade 
credit given by public corporations, loans from other 
financial institutions and the public sector, and other 
identified liabilities.

Accruals adjustment is the difference between 
accruals of community charge, subsidies, interest flows 
and value added tax (the basis on which these items are 
entered in the national income accounts) and the 
corresponding cash payments.

Balancing Hern is the difference between total 
identified sources and total identified uses of funds. H is 
explained under Nature of the estimates above.

Identified uses of funds
Capital transfers includes death duties, taxes on 

capital transfers, tax payments on short-term capital 
gains, payments of capital gains tax and a small amount 
of capital transfers to public corporations.

Investment in fixed assets and stocks covers mainly 
Investment in dwellings and other new buildings and 
works, but also investment in vehicles, ships and aircraft, 
plant and machinery by unincorporated businesses and 
non-profit-making bodies, and stocks held by 
unincorporated businesses.

Notes and coin are estimated from the total change in 
the amount of notes and coin in circulation less the 
amounts attributable to public corporations, financial 
institutions and the overseas sector; the remainder is 
divided, in the ratio 10;1, between the personal and 
industrial and commercial company sectors (with a 
special adjustment to allow for day-of-the-week effects).
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National savings include deposits with the National 
Savings Banks's ordinary account and, from 1 January 
1981, the investment account (NSBIA); Trustee savings 
bank’s ordinary departments up to third quarter 1979; 
national savings certificates (including index-linked 
issues); income bonds; deposit bonds; premium savings 
bonds; SAVE; yearly plan and gift tokens. Prior to 1980, 
the figures also include British savings bonds, defence 
bonds, national development bonds and savings stamps; 
these products are no longer on sale. Estimates of 
holdings by other sectors of income bonds and deposit 
balances in the NSBIA are provided by the Department 
for National Savings, the balance of transactions in these 
instruments and all transactions in other instruments are 
attributed to the personal sector, see tables 3.9 and 3.10.

Tax instruments are unincorporated businesses’ tax 
reserve certificates and certificates of tax deposit; the 
former have now been run off. Figures are obtained from 
government accounts, see table 3.11.

Local authority temporary debt is derived from local 
authority borrowing information, (see the notes on this 
item, line 19.4, in the matrix).

Deposits with banks are obtained from banking 
statistics but include also a small share of bank-issued 
certificates of deposit and commercial paper not 
positively identified.

Deposits with building societies come from statistics 
obtained from building societies but also include a small 
share of bank-issued certificates of deposit and 
commercial paper not positively identified. Up to third 
quarter 1978, apart from a small amount attributed to 
industrial and commercial companies and insurance 
companies, the net increases in shares and deposits are 
assumed to be held by persons. From the third quarter 
1978, a fuller sector analysis was made by building 
societies. See table 6.9 for details.

British government securities. Figures for personal 
sector transactions in British government securities are 
the residual item as shown in table 3.5, and therefore 
includes errors and omissions in the estimates of 
transactions of other sectors.

Other public sector debt. The local authority 
component is derived from total borrowing by local 
authorKies. Personal sector borrowing is taken as 
residual after borrowing by other sectors has been 
identified. Northern Ireland central government debt is 
also included.

Company securities also includes unit trust units and 
other identified assets. Transactions in company 
securities by persons is the residual item after identified 
transactions by other sectors have been taken into 
account.

Life assurance and pension funds. The relationship of 
these funds to the personal sector is explained in the 
introduction to this section. In the financial accounts the 
figure that is shown Is the balance of the funds’ revenue 
account, i.e. the net amount available for investment by 
the funds.

Table 9.3
Consumer credit and other personal sector 
borrowing

This table Is a disaggregation and re-arrangement of 
the nine headings described as borrowing in table 9.2. h 
was described in detail in an article In the September

1979 issue of Ecortomic Trends. The purpose of the 
table is to extract from those figures a measure of 
consumer credit, defined in principle as borrowing by 
consumers (i.e. the personal sector excluding 
unincorporated businesses and non-profit-making bodies 
serving persons) to finance current expenditure on goods 
and services (i.e. consumers’ expenditure in table 9.1) 
but excluding very short-term borrowing akin to trade 
credit. As is explained in the article, it is not possible to 
meet this definition precisely in practice; nevertheless the 
measure distinguished is thought to be a reasonably 
good overall indicator of consumer credit.

Data on the amount of credit outstanding and the 
increase in credit (ie net lending) are supplied both 
seasonally adjusted and unadjusted where seasonal 
patterns have been identified.

The table shows borrowing through bank credit cards 
as a separate memorandum item. These figures relate to 
borrowing through Access and Visa (except that 
borrowing through Trustcard, part of Visa, is included 
only from end-1981 when TSB joined the banks’ sector) 
and also all other bank credit and charge cards.

Some credit cards are issued by or on behalf of 
retailers. Borrowing through these cards is included in 
the table according to the type of institution financing the 
scheme. Some are banks, some are non-bank consumer 
credit companies, and in a few cases retailers finance 
their own schemes.

Repayment of borrowing through charge cards, i.e. 
through Iravel and entertainment’ cards such as Diners 
Club and American Express and through charge cards 
issued by retailers is normally made in full at the end of 
the month. This form of borrowing is akin to trade credit 
rather than consumer credit as defined here and strictly 
speaking it should be included in other borrowing on the 
right-hand side of the table. However, in practice this is 
not possible. Some data are not available and others are 
indistinguishably included in data for bank credit cards.

The consumer credit series has not been compiled for 
periods earlier than 1976 because the crucial separation 
of bank lending to the personal sector between that to 
households and Individuals and that to the remainder of 
the sector (mainly unincorporated businesses) was not 
made before then.

Scope of headings
Total consumer credit comprises:

(a) banks: total. This series comprises sterling 
lending to persons, households and individual 
trusts, derived from table 6.2, but excluding 
loans for house purchase which are shown 
separately (loans to unincorporated 
businesses are included in other).

(b) banks: credit card lending. The figures 
comprise borrowing through Access and Visa 
cards, (excluding Trustcard before end-1981) 
and also all other bank credit and charge 
cards.

(c) banks: loans on personal accounts. This series 
includes overdrafts and all other lending to 
persons as defined in (a) above, but excluding 
lending on credit cards.

(d) Trustee savings banks: prior to their inclusion 
in the banks’ sector (end-1981) the figures 
were derived from statistics recorded
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separately.
(e) building societies: This series includes building 

societies class 3 loans to consumers as shown 
in table 6.9.

(f) non-bank credit grantors. This series Is, since 
the rebasing of data on the results of a 
‘benchmark* enquiry in 1976 to alt consumer 
credit grantors, equal to the series loans and 
advances to persons In table 7.4.

(g) insurance companies: derived from Information 
used to compile table 7.9 and shown in more 
detail in Business Monitor MQ5. Figures are 
for net advances of principal.

(h) retailers. This series includes only consumer 
credit financed directly by retailers.

Other borrowing comprises:

(a) loans for house purchase have the same 
coverage as in table 9.2 and 9.4, where the 
detail is shown.

(b) banks: other lending by banks to the personal 
sector (e.g. to unincorporated businesses) is 
derived from table 6.2.

(c) other. This includes identified trade credit 
given by public corporations, other loans from 
other financial institutions and the public 
sector, and other identified domestic liabilities.

Total borrowing is the sum of consumer credit and the 
remainder of bank borrowing of the personal sector and 
other borrowing. It corresponds to the same aggregate 
shown in table 9.2.

Timeliness
Information on consumer cred/Y from the banks, non

bank credit grantors and retailers is generally available 
two months after the end of the quarter to which it 
relates. Complete detail is available four months after the 
end of the quarter to which it relates.

Table 9.4
Loans for house purchase

This table brings together the quarterly figures for 
loans for house purchase shown in the sector accounts. 
It also includes the small amount identified as lending by 
building societies to industrial and commercial 
companies. Net advances and outstanding lending by 
building societies, central government, local authorities, 
insurance companies and pension funds, the banks’ 
sector, Trustee savings banks (up to end-1981) when 
they became part of the UK bank sector), miscellaneous 
financial institutions and public corporations are shown 
separately. Gross advances and repayments are shown 
for building societies, central government, local 
authorities and insurance companies and pension funds. 
Gross advances only are shown for banks and (from the 
fourth quarter of 1990) miscellaneous financial 
institutions. This information is not available for public 
corporations; for banks and miscellaneous financial 
institutions it is not on a basis fully consistent with that of 
the net advances data for these sectors. However, 
estimates of gross advances by banks and 
miscellaneous financial institutions, and a description of 
their coverage, are included in press releases issued by 
the Council of Mortgage Lenders. In these releases

figures of miscellaneous financial institutions’ outstanding 
lending and net advances for house purchase prior to 
end-Q2, 1990 are constant population estimates whilst 
those in Financial Statistics are based on totals actually 
reported by a fluctuating population.

The figures for repayments to building societies are 
split between regular repayments, repayments on 
redemption and other lump sum repayments. Building 
society transactions from January 1987 are derived from 
figures prepared by the Building Societies Commission 
on the basis of returns made to it by individual societies. 
Before 1978 the estimates were made from samples 
which varied between about 50% and 80% of total 
assets. Annual figures from 1956 to 1962 are published 
in A compendium of Building Society Statistics, second 
Edition by the Building Societies Association. The 
monthly figures from 1978 to January 1987 are derived 
from different returns made to the Building Societies 
Association, these were based on a sample representing 
over 95% of total assets of all societies. Although the 
coverage and definitions of these two sources should be 
broadly the same, there may be some break in series at 
end-December 1986; thus any effect of the change of 
source is incorporated in the January 1987 flows. In July 
1989 Abbey National Building Society converted to a 
public limited company. From that date, its lending is 
classified as that of a bank whereas prior to that date it 
is classified as that of a building society.

Scope of headings
As from end-December 1986 (amounts outstanding) 

and the first quarter of 1987 (net advances) the series 
Miscellaneous financial institutions is split, giving 
separate figures for Bank subsidiaries and Other lenders 
within the category.

Bank subsidiaries comprises specialised mortgage 
finance companies in the UK, not consolidated with their 
parent banks but which act as departments of their 
parents (and are in general largely funded by them); 
together with non-bank sector banking institutions in the 
Channel Islands and Isle of Man which are members of 
UK-based banking groups.

Other comprises UK mortgage finance companies 
which are not subsidiaries of bank sector institutions, 
albeit they may borrow from the banks; together with 
Channel Islands and Isle of Man banking institutions 
outside the banks sector which are not connected with 
UK-based banking groups.

Table 9.5
Selected liquid assets

This table illustrates the relative importance of 
selected personal sector liquid assets, with bank 
borrowing shown for comparison. The categories broadly 
correspond with those used in the financial transactions 
accounts and are compiled from the same sources. 
Details of holdings of all assets and liabilities at 31 
December each year are given in supplementary table 
S2 - Balance sheets of the personal sector.

National savings comprises personal sector national 
savings contributing to the public sector borrowing 
requirement. Fuller details of amounts outstanding for 
each instrument are given in table 3.9 and these are 
described in the notes to that table. From fourth quarter 
1979 Trustee savings banks ordinary department
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Personal sector

deposits are excluded, while, from first quarter 1981, 
National Savings Bank Investment account deposits are 
Included.

Tax instruments covers net issues of certificates of tax 
deposit (to the personal sector) and tax reserve 
certificates in the years prior to 1979; see table 3.11. 
Local authority temporary debt is obtained from the 
sector analysis given in table 4.6.

Deposits with banks are consistent with the sector 
analysis of gross deposits shown in table 6.2. Sterling 
deposits are split between sight and time. Table 6.2 also 
gives deposits by individuals, households and individual 
trusts as a group. The notes to table 6.2 should be

consuited for further Information, including details of 
various changes in the coverage of the series.
Building societies consists of the item shares and 
deposits in table 6.9, excluding amounts deposited by 
industrial and commercial companies (shown in table 
8.4), Insurance companies, pension funds, the public 
sector and overseas residents.

Other relates to deposits with other deposit taking 
institutions. The series was discontinued after fourth 
quarter 1981 when licensed deposit taking institutions 
became part of the banks sector.

Bank borrowing is shown in table 6.2.
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Section 10 
Overseas sector

The balance of payments accounts are concerned with 
the economic transactions between the United Kingdom 
and the rest of the world. They record transactions 
between UK residents and non-residents, indicating the 
nature or purpose of the transactions which may involve 
a flow of real resources (i.e. goods or services) or of 
income; changes in foreign assets or liabilities; or 
transfer payments such as grants or gifts. The accounts 
of the United Kingdom Balance of Payments (the CSO 
'Pink Book) use the terminology and components set out 
in the international standards on balance of payments 
presentation established by the International Monetary 
Fund.

The overseas sector of the national accounts, 
including the financial transactions accounts (see table 
1.12), cover the same relationships and transactions as 
the balance of payments account but use terminology 
and components to facilitate comparison with the 
domestic sector accounts. The current balance in the 
balance of payments is described as net investment 
abroad in deriving gross national product and as the 
financial surplus or deficit in the financial transactions 
accounts. The transactions in UK external assets and 
liabilities, together with certain capital transfers such as 
Special Drawing Rights (see notes at table 10.7), 
correspond to the financial transactions of the overseas 
sector, although different components and financial 
instruments are distinguished. The relationship between 
the two presentations is published each year in Financial 
Statistics (see supplementary table S9 in the September 
1992 issue). In the past there have been minor coverage 
differences between the two presentations (e.g. because 
of timing or the use of different sources of information), 
but steps are now being taken to ensure complete 
congruence.

The United Kingdom is defined as including the Isle of 
Man, the Channel Islands and that part of the Continental 
Shelf deemed by international convention to belong to 
the United Kingdom. UK residents are defined as private 
persons other than visitors living in the United Kingdom, 
the UK government, local authorities, all commercial 
enterprises situated In the United Kingdom (including 
overseas companies’ branches and subsidiaries located 
in the United Kingdom, and all UK government officials 
and forces stationed abroad). See also the latest edition 
of United Kingdom Balance of Payments - the CSO 'Pink 
Book' and in paragraphs 15.115 - 15.123 of United 
Kingdom National Accounts: Sources and Methods 
(HMSO 1985).

Transactions are recorded when the ownership of 
goods or assets changes and when services are 
rendered. Under the conventions of the balance of 
payments accounts, credit (or positive) entries are 
recorded for exports of real resources (goods supplied 
and services rendered etc. to overseas residents) and for 
Income abroad; debit (or negative) entries are recorded 
for imports of goods and services and income due from 
the UK to overseas residents. For consistency, positive 
entries are also required for the flows which reduce 
foreign assets held by the United Kingdom or add to the 
UK’s liabilities to non-residents. Conversely the flows 
which add to the UK’s foreign assets or reduce its 
liabilities to non-residents are recorded as debit entries.

Because a flow in one direction (e.g. an export of 
goods) must be offset by another (e.g. an inflow of 
foreign currency), with the conventional use of plus and 
minus signs, in principle, all entries should sum to zero. 
In practice, however, a balancing item is included to 
offset the sum of errors and omissions.

The transactions in the UK balance of payments 
accounts are classified into two main groups.

1. Current account
This includes visible trade, i.e. exports and imports of 

goods; and also invisibles, namely services, interest, 
profits and dividends (also described in the national 
accounts as net property income from abroad), and most 
transfer payments (goods, services or financial rtems that 
are rendered without a reciprocal flow).

2. Transactions in UK external assets and 
liabilities

This covers direct and portfolio investment 
transactions and borrowing and lending overseas, 
including transactions in the official reserves, ft should be 
noted that investment, in this context, refers not only to 
transactions in physical capital but also to transactions in 
certain financial assets, e.g. company securities, and all 
financial flows between companies in the United 
Kingdom and their affiliates overseas.

Quality of data
The balance of payments estimates are compiled from 

a large number of different sources and the degree of 
accuracy varies considerably between items. All the 
invisible balances shown in table 10.1 contain some 
component series where a substantial amount ot 
estimation is involved although later estimates for 
financial and other services are based to a greater extent 
than in the past on direct inquiries to businesses. Where 
a balance is drawn between two aggregates and the 
balance is small in relation to the aggregates, such as 
the current balance, the proportionate error attached to 
the balance is also liable to be very substantial.

In table 10.2 direct and portfolio investment 
transactions are based on various inquiries and the share 
register survey and are thought to be adequately 
measured. Transactions by UK banks are taken from 
returns made to the Bank of England although errors 
may arise through failure to recognise non-resident 
status and in estimating transactions In sterling from 
assets and liabilities denominated In foreign currencies. 
Borrowing and lending transactions overseas, other than 
by banks and general government, contain significant 
omissions and coverage problems. Transactions of 
general government are based mainly on departmental 
accounts.

The series in tables 10.3, 10.6 and 10.7 are derived 
from official records. The levels in tables 10.4 and 10.5 
are taken from returns to the Bank of England and like 
transactions, may contain errors through failure to 
recognise non-resident status.
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Table 10.1
Summary balance of payments

This summary shows the two main groups of 
transactions mentioned above (current account and 
transactions in external assets and liabilities) together 
with allocations of Special Drawing Rights (SDRs), and 
the balancing item.

Allocation of Special Drawing Rights is the UK share 
of the allocation by the International Monetary Fund 
(IMF) of the reserve asset, SDRs, which first came into 
use on 1 January 1970. UK holdings of SDRs are 
included in the official reserves (see also notes to table 
10.7).

Balancing item is included to bring the sum of all the 
balance of payments entries to zero and represents the 
net total of errors and omissions in other items.

Table 10.2
Transactions In UK external assets and 
liabilities

The table provides further analyses of series HEPZ 
and HEQW in table 10.1. The types of transactions 
shown in table 10.2 are not necessarily independent of 
one another. For example, overseas direct investment in 
the UK may be financed by lending by a UK bank to the 
overseas resident making the investment. There would 
thus be a positive entry under HHBU offset by a negative 
entry in HEYN.

Changes in the sterling value of assets denominated 
in other currencies resulting purely from exchange rate 
movements are not recorded in the balance of payments 
accounts. The accounts record transactions valued at the 
time they took place.

A detailed reconciliatbn between the items described 
below, as shown in the balance of payments accounts, 
and the items in the financial accounts of the overseas 
sector is given in supplementary table S9.

Transactions in assets
UK direct investment overseas comprises mainly net 

investment by UK companies in their overseas branches, 
subsidiaries and associates, including the re-investment 
of retained profits. Transactions by public corporations 
are included but those of government departments are 
excluded. The figures also include real estate 
transactions by non-bank financial institutions and loans 
and mortgages to overseas residents by non-bank 
financial institutions.

UK portfolio investment overseas covers net 
purchases and sales of overseas government, municipal 
and company securities. It includes investment by UK 
banks in floating rate notes and bonds.

Lending etc. to overseas residents by UK banks 
covers external lending in foreign currencies and sterling, 
including that related to export credit. Prior to 1979 the 
figures only cover lending in sterling and certain long 
term export credit extended in foreign currencies; other 
foreign currency transactions being recorded on a net 
basis under liabilities.

Deposits and lending overseas by UK residents other 
than banks and general government includes deposits 
with banks covered by International Monetary Fund (IMF) 
cross-border banking statistics; plus extended coverage 
of US banks’ branches in Panama and the fiduciary

O v e r s e a s  s e c t o r

accounts of Swiss banks. Also included are transactions 
of the Commonwealth Development Corporation, 
advance and progress payments on imports and other 
overseas lending and short term assets. Until end-1982, 
when the Information ceased to be available, net export 
credit extended to overseas firms by unrelated UK firms 
is also included.

Official reserves consists of the sterling equivalent of 
the changes in the gold and convertible currencies and 
Special Drawing Rights held in the Exchange 
Equalisation Account, together with changes in the UK 
reserve position in the International Monetary Fund (IMF) 
(see also notes to table 10.3).

Other external assets of central government comprises 
mainly inter-government loans made by the UK, 
subscriptions to international lending bodies and export 
credit taken over by the Export Credits Guarantee 
Department (ECGD) from UK banks and suppliers 
following the settlement of insurance claims together with 
such credit acquired by the ECGD from UK banks under 
refinancing arrangements.

Transactions in liabilities
Overseas direct investment in the UKcomprise mainly 

net investment by overseas companies in their branches, 
subsidiaries or associated companies in the United 
Kingdom including the re-investment of retained profits. 
Also covered are miscellaneous property investments in 
the United Kingdom by overseas residents.

Overseas portfolio investment in the UK represents 
changes in the holdings by overseas residents of UK 
company securities, British government stocks and 
foreign currency notes and bonds, local authorities’ 
securities and public corporations foreign currency 
issues. UK company securities include securities issued 
abroad although international issues by oil companies 
were included under direct investment prior to 1980.

Borrowing etc. from overseas residents by UK banks 
covers foreign currency and sterling borrowing and 
deposits liabilities abroad. Priorto 1979, however, foreign 
currency borrowing is recorded net of foreign currency 
lending abroad; subsequently this lending is recorded 
under transactions in assets.

Borrowing from overseas by UK residents other than 
banks and general government covers transactions with 
banks abroad, covering predominantly borrowing from 
commercial banks in the reporting area covered by the 
IMF and borrowing from the European Investment Bank 
and the United States of America's Export-Import bank. 
Also included are identified trade aedit between 
unrelated companies (advance and progress payments 
on exports and import credit) and other liabilities 
including short-term transactions of investment and unit 
trusts and, from the beginning of 1982, miscellaneous 
financial institutions’ transactions with non-banks abroad.

Other external liabilities of general government covers 
transactions with the International Monetary Fund, 
borrowing from other monetary authorities, inter
government loans to the UK and foreign currency 
borrowing from banks overseas. Also included are 
sterling borrowing from and deposit liabilities to banks 
etc. overseas by local authorities, overseas holdings of 
Treasury bills and non-interest bearing notes issued by 
HM Government together with official short-term 
transactions.
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Table 10.3
Official reserves

The official reserves comprise gold, convertible 
currencies and SDRs held in the Exchange Equalisation 
Account, together with the United Kingdom reserve 
position in the IMF. Convertible currencies may be held 
in the form of financial instruments; securities are valued 
at historic cost but translated into US dollars as set out 
below. Transactions, drawings on or additions to the 
reserves, are translated into sterling at current market 
rates. There is thus a valuation difference between these 
transactions and the changes in the equivalent levels 
which are expressed in US dollars on the basis 
desCTibed below and then translated into sterling at end- 
period dollar/sterling middle-market closing rates.

In calculating the levels, non-dollar components are 
translated to dollars as follows:

Gold is valued at $42.2222 per fine ounce up to 
end-March 1979; thereafter gold was valued at the 
average of the London fixing price for the three 
months up to end-March, less 25%; since March 1980 
it has been valued at that price or at 75% of the final 
fixing price on the last working day in March, 
whichever is the lower.

Special Drawing Rights were valued at: 1 SDR = 
$1.20635 up to end-March’ 1979; thereafter at the 
average of the exchange rates in the three months to 
end-March, with the alternative from end-March 1980 
of at their actual dollar values on the last working day 
in March, whichever is the lower. (For further details of 
SDRs see notes to table 10.7.)

Non-dollar convertible currencies are translated to 
dollars at middle or central rates until end-March 1979, 
thereafter at the average of the exchange rates in the 
three months to end-March, with the alternative from 
end-March 1980 of at the rate on the last working day 
In March, whichever is the lower. (These translation 
practices are not the same as those used in the 
United Kingdom Balance of Payments Vink Book’, 
where gold is valued at end-year market rates from 
end-1978 and SDRs and convertible currencies are 
valued at cbsing middle market exchange rates.)
The effects of these annual revaluations have been

( in c re a s e  in  a s s e ts  -

T ow

/d e c r e a s e  +  ]

O dd

):

SDR*

$ rrtUion

C o n v s r t b l*
C L irtn a **

1979 ^ 8 3 •311$ -63 •1.314
1960 •3069 •3626 ♦50 4469
1961 ♦257 •272 ♦54 ♦475
1662 ♦4^16 ♦2.754 ♦245 ♦1^19
1663 •1.046 -1,351 ♦93 ♦212
1964 ♦979 ♦443 ♦79 ♦457
1966 ♦2111 ♦1166 ♦202 ♦743
196$ •2S0S •592 -442 •1471
1967 •2690 •695 •37$ -1619
1966 •2879 •676 •239 •1964
1969 ♦3525 ♦1003 ♦153 ♦2369
1990 ♦120$ •209 ♦7 ♦1407
1991 -66 •162 ♦41 ♦73

From July 1979 the official reserves include European 
Currency Units (ECUs) acquired when 20% of the gold 
and 20% of the dollar holdings in the official reserves 
were deposited on a swap basis with the European 
Monetary Co-operation Fund, the swap arrangement 
being renewed quarterly. As non-dollar convertible 
currencies these are valued as indicated above.

Table 10.4
External liabilities and claim s in sterling

This table, which is based on returns by the monetary 
sector and other financial institutions in the United 
Kingdom, brings together those figures which bear on the 
reserve role of sterling (t.e. other countries' and 
international organisations' holdings of sterling within 
their official reserves); figures of cash or similarly liquid 
funds held in the United Kingdom by other overseas 
holders, mainly commercial banks, companies and 
individuals; and the claims of the UK monetary sector 
and certain other institutions on overseas residents. The 
levels of liabilities and assets shown here correspond to 
transactions included in table 10.2. The breaks in the 
series are explained in the description of table 10.5 
below.

Exchange reserves in sterling are defined as funds 
held by central monetary institutions and international 
organisations other than the IMF. The funds comprise 
banking and money market instruments, i.e. deposits with 
the UK monetary sector and certain other institutions; 
holdings of sterling certificates of deposit; local authority 
short-term debt; British government stocks and non
interest bearing notes issued by HM Government.

Other holdings of sterling which countries may regard 
as part of their reserves are excluded. For example, 
some ear-marked funds, and holdings by official bodies 
not classified as central monetary inst'rtutions, are 
included in banking and money market liabilities to other 
holders; and holdings of other types of asset (for 
example equities) which are not covered by this table.

The holdings of British government stocks shown in 
table 10.4 are revalued at current market prices annually. 
Up to 1984 the revaluation took place in mid-November. 
From 1985, it occurs at end December. The effect of the 
revaluation, which is not included in the transactbns 
figures in table 10.2, is to add the following amounts to 
the levels from the fourth quarter of each year:

Year £  rn llion
1975 ♦63
197$ -54
1977 ♦215
1976 •106
1979 -69
I960 ♦122
1961 -61
1662 ♦420
1963 -20
1964 ♦29
1965 -33
196$ ♦195
1967 •170
1966 •345
1969 •375
1990 •249
1991 ♦123

Banking and money market liabilities to other overseas 
holders, like those held as part of exchange reserves, 
are the most liquid and normally the most variable of all 
the various types of sterling investments. They include 
the balances held by overseas banks and commercial 
concerns and those balances held by overseas 
governments where these are not classified as exchange 
reserves.

Banking and money market liabilities comprise:

deposits with the UK banks and with certain 
other institutions, including, before 1980, the 
Crown Agents for Overseas governments and 
Administrations
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holdings of local authority revenue bills and 
other temporary loans to local authorities with 
an original maturity of less than one year 
holdings of certificates of deposit derK>minated 
in sterling issued by UK banks 
Treasury bills

External claims in sterling (i.e. assets) reported by the 
banks and certain other institutions in the United 
Kingdom cover:

reporting institutions’ loans and advances to 
overseas residents together with balances 
held by them with overseas residents (e.g. 
deposits with banks overseas) 
commercial bills, promissory notes and other 
negotiable paper owned by the reporting 
institutions and drawn on overseas residents, 
together with outstanding acceptances given 
by the reporting institutions on behalf of 
overseas residents.

Loans, advances and balances include acceptances 
given by reporting institutions which they themselves 
have subsequently discounted.

Bills and acceptances include all sterling lending under 
ECGD special schemes for exports, including amounts 
refinanced by the government, Trustee savings banks 
and the Co-operative bank.

Timeliness
Data are published approximately one quarter in 

arrears.

Table 10.5
External liabilities and claims of United 
Kingdom in foreign currencies

The figures show gross liabilities to, and claims on. 
overseas banks and other overseas customers as 
reported by the monetary sector and certain other 
institutions and recorded in the books at the close of 
business on the last working day of calendar quarters. 
Amounts in foreign currency have been translated into 
sterling at the middle closing exchange rate on that day; 
the figures need to be interpreted with care, therefore, 
because fluctuations in exchange rates between 
reporting dates will affect the sterling valuation. The 
corresponding estimates of transactions between 
reporting dates are included in table 10.2. Forward 
commitments and unsettled spot deals are not included 
in the series.

Liabilities comprise deposits and advances received 
from overseas residents and negotiable dollar certificates 
of deposit issued in London.

Official liabilities in foreign currencies arising from 
short-term loans to the UK government and drawings on 
borrowing facilities made available to the UK government 
by overseas central banks are not included; however, 
overseas liabilities incurred by UK banks to finance on- 
lending to HM Government under two euro-dollar 
facilities of $2,500 million and $1,500 million and to 
public bodies under the exchange cover scheme are 
included.

Claims (i.e. assets) comprise deposits with, and 
advances to. overseas residents; commercial bills and 
other negotiable paper drawn on overseas residents;

ECGD special scheme lending for exports, foreign 
currency notes and gold bullion. Claims on overseas 
customers arising from acceptances were included until 
the end of 1974; thereafter they are excluded.

Figures shown under other banks include items which 
cannot be allocated; under liabilities these include 
unallocated certificates of deposit, even though these 
may be held by banks on behalf of their non-bank 
customers.

The following breaks in series have occurred.

From end-1977 onwards includes improved 
coverage of UK financial institutions reporting 
holdings of US dollar certificates of deposit. The 
resulting reduction in UK external liabilities at 
end-1977 was about £50 million.

From end-quarter one 1979 onwards 
incorporates other coverage changes. A 
comparable~1igure for total net liabilities at 
end-1978 would be about £300 million more than 
that shown.

From end-1981 onwards the reporting population 
is larger than before mainly resulting from the re
definition of the banking sector (see Section 6). 
(Also, the number of other financial institutions that 
report was increased at that date.) Data on both old 
and new bases are shown at this date. One of the 
effects of the change has been to increase the 
items unallocated by type of customer (shown 
under other banks). At end-quarter one 1983, a 
significant number of banks contributed to the 
quarterly banking statistics for the first time.

Timeliness
Data are published approximately one quarter in 

arrears.

Further references
A more detailed analysis of the most recent figures 

appears in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

Table 10.6
Outstanding government and other foreign 
currency borrowing

This table shows figures for the amount of public 
sector foreign currency borrowing and leasing 
outstanding at end-quarters: non-US dollar denominated 
debt has been translated to US dollars at the appropriate 
end-period middle market closing rates of exchange.

HMG short and medium-term borrowing covers the 
items shown under separate headings Securities (notes, 
bonds and bills)and Other. These two categories have 
now been combined under the one heading.

HMG short and medium-term borrowing comprises: 
bonds denominated in US dollars, deutshemarks, Swiss 
francs and yen, and sold to official holders of sterling in 
April 1977; an issue in New York in 1978 of $350 million 
of HM Government 7 and 15 year bonds; other public 
sector debt assigned to HMG (these assignments involve 
equal and offsetting reductions in other public sector 
borrowing under the exchange cover scheme); issues of 
$2,500 million and $4,000 million floating-rate notes in 
1985 and 1986 respectively; from October 1988. ECU 
Treasury bills, the bills being short-term instruments with 
a life to date of between one and six months; net
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drawings from UK banks and banks overseas on two 
Eurodollar facilrties of $2,500 million and $1,500 million; 
from February 1991 an ECU 2.5 billion issue of HM 
Government ten year bonds; from January 1992 the first 
issue of the 3 year HM Government ECU Treasury Note 
programme: and, any drawings made under the very 
short term financing facility of the European Monetary 
System.

IMF, consists of net drawings from the IMF, less other 
countries’ net purchases of sterling, but excluding 
transactions which affect the UK reserve position in the
IMF.

HMG long term borrowing consists of long-term 
government debt dating from the 1940’s, mainly taken 
from North America and including the wartime lend-lease 
arrangements.

Other public sector borrowing under the exchange 
cover scheme consists of not borrowing, primarily by UK 
public corporations and local authorities, under the 1969 
and subsequent exchange cover schemes (ECS). It 
includes any debt still owed under the scheme by 
privatised public corporations at the date of privatisation, 
together with certain debts incurred under the scheme by 
British Nuclear Fuels pic and the Northern Ireland central 
government. Foreign currency borrowed through UK 
banks and from abroad, and the issue of foreign currency 
securities are also included.

Other public sector uncovered borrowing comprises 
foreign currency borrowing by local authorities and public 
corporations outside the ECS and drawn down before 
end-March 1981. External sterling borrowing is included 
until 1979, when exchange controls were removed. Any 
debt still owed by a public corporation at the time of 
privatisation ceases to be a public liability at that point; 
thus a change in level does not reflect transactions only.

Other public sector debt composes the debt which was 
drawn outside the exchange cover scheme after March 
1981. Borrowing of this type was permitted only for the 
purpose of meeting specific commercial needs for foreign 
currency; it thus fell outside the definition of official debt, 
in addition, the column also includes financial leasing 
and transactions with overseas export credit agencies. 
The reduction in the level of borrowing at the end of the 
first quarter of 1987 reflects not only transactions but 
also the privatisation on 6 February 1987 of British 
Airways, whose debt then ceased to be a public liability. 
Up to the January 1988 issue, Financial Statistics shows 
a full breakdown of the debt covered under this heading; 
the 1987 Financial Statistics Explanatory Handbook 
provides more detailed notes.

Definitionally similar end-monthly levels of the whole 
spectrum of debt covered in this table can be found in 
table 17.2 of the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

Table 10.7
International Monetary Fund The operations 
of the IMF

The IMF was set up in 1944 and commenced 
operations in 1947 with the aim of promoting international 
monetary co-operation and to that end seeking to 
maintain orderly exchange arrangements and to provide 
for financial assistance to countries with balance of 
payments difficulties. Its financial resources are 
subscribed by members according to agreed quotas. 
Subscriptions are mainly in members’ own currencies but

are normally partly in reserve assets (formerly gold but 
now normally SDRs). The IMFs holding of a particular 
country’s currency is also affected by various types of 
drawings and repayments, including those made by other 
countries. Since May 1981 the reserve tranche position 
has been defined as the amount by which a country’s 
quota exceeds the IMFs holding of its currency net of 
balances acquired as a result of purchases from the IMF 
other than the reserve tranche itself. A country’s reserve 
tranche is regarded as part of its official reserves.

When a country has a balance of payments need it 
can draw foreign currency or SDRs from the IMF, 
purchasing them with an equivalent amount of its own 
currency. Drawings may be from the reserve tranche 
(taking the IMFs holdings of the country’s currency up to 
its quota); or from four credit tranches each equivalent to 
25% of quota (these drawings must be repaid and are 
subject to increasingly stringent conditions with regard to 
economic policy and performance); or from other facilities 
under which countries may be allowed to purchase from 
the IMF for certain purposes in addition to the reserve 
and credit tranches. These facilities include the 
compensatory financing facility, the buffer stock financing 
facility, the enlarged access policy, the extended fund 
facility and formerly the oil facility and the supplementary 
financing facility. They are discussed in more detail in the 
Quarterly Bulletin article cited below.

A purchase of another member’s currency will by 
reducing the IMF holdings of that currency either reduce 
that member’s obligation to repurchase its currency or 
increase its reserve tranche position.

Transactions affecting IMF holdings of 
sterling

The transactions affecting IMF holdings of sterling are 
categorised as follows:

(a) reserve tranche: UK net drawings (AIVA)
(b) reserve tranche: net drawings by other 

countries (AIVB). From the February 1986 
issue this series is designated reserve 
tranche: other net drawings and interest 
payments of sterling

(c) credit tranche: UK net drawings (AIVC)
(d) credit tranche: net drawings by other countries 

(AIVD)
special oil facility: UK net drawings (AIVE) 
maintenance of value payments (AIVF)
UK subscriptions in sterling (AiVG) 
other IMF sterling transactions (AIVH) 
total change in IMF holdings (AIVI » sum of 
items (a)to (h)

All these series are maintained on the CSO Databank, 
but since no transactions have taken place since 1980 in 
series AIVA, AIVC, AIVD and AIVH they are now omitted 
from Financial Statistics.

The sign convention follows that used in the balance 
of payments accounts; increase in IMF holdings of 
sterling i.e. increase in United Kingdom liabilities +, 
decrease in IMF holdings of sterling From 1972 
transactions are recorded at the rates of exchange at 
which the IMF accounted for its holdings at the time of 
the transaction (not necessarily the prevailing market 
rate).

Reserve tranche and credit tranches. Net drawings
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and interest payments of sterling.
Maintenance of value payments: the IMF maintains its 

accounts in SDRs. This unit of account is defined by the 
average of the exchange rates of a ‘basket’ of five major 
currencies broadly weighted according to their relative 
importance in world trade and finance. As the value of 
sterling falls, so more sterling has to be paid perbdically 
to the IMF to maintain IMF holdings of sterling constant 
in SDR terms. Correspondingly sterling is received back 
when the sterling exchange rate rises relative to the 
SDR.

UK subscriptions in sterling: subscription to the IMF +. 
Payments of increases in quotas under successive 
general reviews. Other IMF sterling transactions Indude] 
in 1972, the repurchase of £83 million of charges first 
paid in sterling, and in 1978 and 1980 payments to the 
IMF in the third and fourth IMF gold restitutions to 
members. The 1978 payment was repurchased in 1979; 
the 1980 payment fell into the reserve tranche and so 
was not subject to repurchase.

Further references
Table 10.1 includes figures representing the allocation 

of SDRs to the United Kingdom. SDRs are reserve 
assets created and distributed by decision of the 
members of the IMF. They first came into use in 1970 
and are created upon being allocated by the IMF to a 
member country and increase the size of that member's 
official reserves. SDRs are only used directly for 
settlements between official holders such as central 
banks. However, participant members countries also 
accept an obligation to provide convertible currency, 
when designated by the IMF to do so, to other 
participants in balance of payments need in exchange for 
SDRs up to a maximum which would take their SDR 
holdings to three times their own allocation.

A more detailed description of IMF operations and 
transactions with the United Kingdom is published in the 
December 1983 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin and more general descriptions of the operations 
of the IMF are to be found in a variety of IMF 
publications.
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Section 11 
Money stock

Monetary aggregates assumed a much greater 
importance in macro-economic policy in the late 1970’s 
and the 1980’s. A similar trend occurred in many 
countries culminating in several, including the United 
Kingdom, in publicly declared targets for monetary 
growth. The instruments through which monetary policy 
is pursued, such as interest rates, intervention in financial 
markets and controls on the financial system, can have 
widespread repercussions on the flow of funds 
throughout the economy.

There has been much argument amongst economists 
on why money matters (or indeed whether it does) and 
this debate has a bearing on how money should be 
defined and measured.

The quantity theory of money has a long history. It is 
embodied in the equation MV -  PT, the two sides of 
which are different expressions of the same concept. The 
monetary value of transactions in the economy can be 
expressed either as the stock of money available (M) 
multiplied by the average number of times each unit is 
used (the velocity of circulation V), or as the volume of 
transactions (T) multiplied by the average price level (P). 
The monetarist school of economists would argue that 
the velocity of circulation has' a natural level which is 
constant or changes only slowly; further the volume of 
transactions is determined by the supply of goods to the 
economy, which is exogenous, so that changes in the 
money supply are closely linked with a change in the 
price level, i.e. the rate of inflation. Moreover they 
assume that the money supply is exogenous and causes 
changes in the price level. There may be a period during 
which the velocity of circulation temporarily 
accommodates a change in the money supply, but after 
some time lag it will return to its natural level as prices 
adjust to the change in the money supply.

Economists following what might conveniently be 
termed a Keynesian philosophy, whilst agreeing that a 
change in the supply of money will tend to change its 
price relative to alternative assets, would differ from the 
monetarists on what constitute the alternatives to holding 
money. Whereas monetarists would include real assets 
in the alternatives, Keynesians would restrict these to 
other financial assets; they would argue that interest rate 
changes would bring about adjustments in liquidity 
preference and the portfolio of financial claims held. 
There might be indirect effects on the real economy but 
these would result from the effect of changes in interest 
rates on, for example, the demand for investment goods. 
Such economists would argue that the money supply, of 
itself, has little direct impact on the real economy and 
should be allowed to accommodate the level of demand
that interest rates and the level of economic activity 
require.

This Is an oversimplified summary largely ignoring, for 
example, the question of whether actual or prospective 
changes in the money supply affect expectations, and 
many economists would take a qualified or intermediate 
position. Insights may also be gained by considering the 
sectoral split of money holdings (shown in tables 11.7 
and 11.8) and the relationship between money and total 
wealth: see Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, August 
1990, pages 380-303, and (on MO) August 1992, pages 
305-313.

Definitions of Money
There is no single correct definition of money and 

there are many liquid assets which are not included in 
any of the UK monetary aggregates but which 
nevertheless need to be taken into account on occasions 
when interpreting monetary conditions. An article in the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin of December 1982 
discussed various liquid assets: those which are included 
in the aggregates and some which are not. An article in 
the Quarterly Bulletin of December 1983 discussed 
further some altemative definitions of 'broad money’.

Definitions of some of the aggregates were revised 
with the Chancellor’s budget of 13 March 1984. Details 
were given in an article in the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin, March 1984.

A new presentation of the measures of broad money
was introduced in May 1987. M4 was introduced to cover 
the sterling deposit liabilities of banks and building 
societies to the rest of the private sector, and holdings by 
the latter of notes and coin. M3 was renamed M3C and 
sterling M3 was renamed M3. PSL2 became MS. An 
article in the Quarterly Bulletin of May 1987 introduced 
the new presentation in detail. M3 and M3c (which 
comprised notes and coins In circulation with the public, 
together with all sterling and foreign currency deposits 
(including certificates of deposit) held with UK banks by 
the non-bank private sector) ceased to be published from 
July 1989 (along with M l) as a consequence of the 
breaks in series that were caused by Abbey National 
Building Society’s conversion to a public limited company 
(see Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, August 1989.) 
The definitions of the monetary aggregates were 
considered in 'Monetary aggregates in a changing 
environment: a statistical discussion paper’ (Discussion 
Paper 47) issued by the Bank of England in March 1990. 
Responses to the paper, and the Banks’ reaction to 
them, were described in an article in the August 1990 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin. As a result of the 
changes heralded in this article, non-interest-bearing M l 
is no longer published as an aggregate (although its 
components are still shown). The definition of M2 was 
changed slightly to make it a subset of M4. The changes 
made to M2 were the removal of deposits with the 
National Savings Bank, and building societies’ holdings 
of notes and coin. M4C and MS ceased to be published 
from March 1991, and were replaced by 'Liquid assets 
outside M4 (see Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin May 
1991). Data for a harmonised European definition of 
broad money {M3H), similar to M4, were introduced in 
the August 1992 Bulletin and appear in subsequent 
editions of the Bulletin.

Three definitions of the money stock are set out in this 
section.

MO, the narrowest measure, consists of notes and coin 
in circulation outside the Bank of England and bankers’ 
operational deposits at the Bank.

M2 was introduced in the summer of 1982, and 
comprises the UK non-bank non-building society (i.e. M4) 
private sector’s holdings of notes and coin and sterling 
retail deposits with the UK banks and building societies. 
Bank ‘retail’ deposits comprise all non-interest-bearing 
deposits plus 'chequable' sight or time deposits
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regardless of maturity (i.e. any accounts on which 
cheques may be drawn or from Owhich immediate 
payment may be made) plus other deposits (excluding 
certificates of deposit) of less than £100,000 and with 
less than one month to maturity (or requiring less than 
one month’s notice of withdrawal or withdrawable in this 
time without significant penalty). Building society ‘retail’ 
deposits within M2 incorporate transaction accounts and 
other deposits of loss than £100,000 and up to one 
month to maturity. From end-Decembor 1992 deposits in 
M2 are being redefined as essentially deposits collected 
by banks and building societies from the general public 
at an advertised rate of interest (see page 317 of Bank 
of England Quarterly Bulletin, August 1992).

All Tax Exempt Special Savings Accounts (TESSA’s), 
introduced in January 1991, are included in M2.

M4 comprises the UK non-bank non-building society 
(i.e. M4) private sector’s holdings of notes and coin, 
together with all sterling deposits (including certificates of 
deposit) held with UK banks and building societies by the 
M4 private sector.

A diagram showing the relatbnships among the 
monetary aggregates and their components is given on 
page 99.

Counterparts to money stock changes
Monetary aggregates are defined, in the main, as 

selections of the assets held by the UK private sector 
which are the liabilities of certain financial institutions. 
The total liabilities of these institutions are equal to the 
total of the claims on the opposite side of their balance 
sheets. Therefore, where the aggregate comprises a 
significant proportion of the liabilities of the institutions in 
question, as in the case of M4, it may also be analysed 
in terms of the assets held by the institutbns. Sometimes 
this can be a more helpful way of examining the relation 
of the aggregate's behaviour to other aspects of the 
economy, particularly if the institutions manage their 
liabilities to accommcbate changes in their assets, rather 
than the other way round. Thus the main counterpart to 
a change in M4 is bank and building society lending in 
sterling to the private and public sectors. However, banks 
and building societies form the residual source of lending 
to the public sector, so it is usually more helpful to 
consider bank and building society lending to the public 
sector in terms of the total borrowing requirement (the 
PSBR - see also Section 2) /ess that part financed from 
non-bank non-buibing society sources. Therefore the 
main counterparts to changes in M4 become the PSBR 
less pubib sector debt sales to the private sector and 
external and foreign currency finance of the pubib sector, 
and M4 lending to the private sector.

Changes in money stock (M4) are presented in table 
11.6 as an analysis of changes in domestb counterparts 
and in external and foreign currency counterparts. It is 
helpful to explain the construction of this table and to 
demonstrate these links by starting with the consolidated 
balance sheet of the banks and building societies. 
Simplifying slightly we have:
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UK b«nk« in d  buWktg

Sterling depoertt 
from: UK pubfic M ctor

UK private sector 
O ve rsev sector

Ag$4ts
Staring famfing 
to : UK pubfic

UK privata 
O i/arteaa

Foreign currency 
dapoaita

Foreign currency 
aaaeto

Hat norvdeposit 
fla rin g  and 
foreign currency

UK private sector sterling deposits are the main 
constituent of M4 (whbh also includes notes and coin 
held by the M4 private sector). By rearranging the other 
items in the above balance sheet, and introducing notes 
and coin in circulation with the public (that is, issues of 
notes and coin net of changes In UK banks’ and building 
societies’ holdings, which are part of their lending to the 
pubib sector) we have:-

Chengeo to U4
« change in:

phjs
Notes and coin in  cffculalioo w ith the pubfic 
UK privata sector starling deposits

« change in:
Starting lencfing to the:

UKpubficsectcr (lass the pubfic sector's starting deposits) 
UK private sector 
^ e rs e a s  sector

h$s  changes in:
^ e rs e a s  sector starting deposits 
Foraifpi currency deposits net of foreign 
currency assets

Nat Non-deposit foreign currency fiabibtias 
Net Non-dapoart starting labfiriea

Sterling lending to the UK pubib sector Is termed the 
pubib sector contributbn. it represents that part of the 
PSBR which is financed neither by the UK private sector 
(except via notes and coin) nor the overseas sector. It 
can therefore be expressed as:

th *  PSBR

tha H44 privata sacter's landing to tha pubfic sactor (mainly in tha form o f incraasad 
hddings of git-adgad stochs. T ra su ry  biUs. local authority dabl« national savings and 
carttictoas of tax daposit)

l0$$
tha axtamaf and foreigncurrancyfinanca of tha public sactor (inciiKting tha starting oouNsrpert 
of ^n sa c tio n s  in tha offidaf rasarvas, as wall as ovarsaas purchasas of pufafic sacSor dabt).

With some rearrangement of overseas sterling 
transactions, and some reversal of sign, we are now in 
a position to derive the broad relationships between M4 
and its counterparts:

d.

g

PSBR (datidt^.surpfijS ') 
h$s

public sactcr nat dabt sdas to  M4 pnvato sactor

axtamal and foraign currancy fin« ica  of tha pubfic sactor 
aguats

P ublic Saotor C onirtoutfon 
ptu$

bank and building sobaty landing to tha M4 privata sactor 
pka

axtamsi (ia w ith ovarsasts) and foraign o m n c y  aansactions of banks and bidding
soaafias (landing^, dapowts-} 

h$s
Nat non^dapoait starting habrtrtias of banks and building sodatlas 

aguais
Changa In kU

The domestic counterparts of M4 comprise items a, b, e, 
and g. Hem g, net non-deposit sterling liabilities (NNDLs), 
is the sterling component of capital and other internal 
funds less non-financial assets (see notes to tables 6.1 
and 6.2). Items c and f constitute the external and foreign 
currency counterparts (usually termed externals). The
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externals relate to alt the overseas and foreign currency 
finandal transactions of the public sector, banks and 
building societies. They will thus generally reflect by 
residual the balance of payments of the M4 private 
sector on current and capital account, and the M4 private 
sector’s foreign currency position at banks and building 
societies in the UK (but also reflect any balance of 
payments current account transactions by the UK public 
sector, such as earnings abroad etc, which also 
contribute with an opposite sign to the PSBR, and by the 
banks and building societies).

Calendar month statistics
A major change to the presentation of banking and 

monetary statistics took place in October 1986 with the 
move of the reporting date from mid-month to end month. 
The change and its implication for the figures were 
described in detail in a note (Banking and monatary 
statistics: a change in reporting dates) published in the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin of December 1986. 
The main aspects of the change as they affect Financial 
Statistics are described below.

Hitherto, information on the new calendar month basis 
was available only from the ninety or so largest banks 
and only from mid 1982. Two consequences flow from 
the comparatively short run of data on the new basis and 
their limited coverage. First, some of the detailed series 
cannot reliably be estimated separately for the months 
before October 1986. Second, with the exception of MO, 
the seasonal adjustment applied to calendar month data 
is less reliable for the first three years or so of the new 
series. For MO, where the series is derived from weekly 
information, a long run of data is available and the quality 
of the seasonally adjusted series is unaffected.

The notes in this handbook focus on the calendar 
month series. Information about the banking month data 
can be found in earlier handbooks.

Seasonal adjustment
Seasonally adjusted estimates of changes in the 

money slock are consistent with a process of adjustment 
of the whole financial accounts matrix and therefore take 
account of the constraints imposed by the process. In 
particular the same moving average procedure Is applied 
to ail series, so that the sum of the adjustments of all 
sectors for a particular asset or liability is zero and the 
sum of the adjustments on each column of the matrix is 
zero (so that, in the monetary statistics, seasonally 
adjusted M4 equals the sum of its seasonally adjusted 
counterparts).

For the purpose of Section 11, the adjustments are 
constrained to sum to zero over the financial year. 
Petroleum Revenue Tax (PRT) is treated in a special 
"deterministic" way from July 1983 to June 1989.

Seasonal adjustments to the components of the 
money stock (level) are calculated by summing the 
adjustments calculated for the changes and subtracting 
a moving average of the cumulated seasonals. This 
keeps the average level of the seasonally adjusted and 
unadjusted series closely in line but does mean that 
changes in seasonally adjusted levels are not equal to 
seasonally adjusted changes. For further information on 
seasonal adjustments, see the Bank of England 
Quarterly Bulletin February and August 1991 and 
February and August 1992.

Statistical sources
Several sources are drawn upon to produce the 

various monetary aggregates. The main ones include the 
monthly and quarterly balance sheet returns submitted by 
UK banks and building societies (see Section 6), similar 
returns from some other financial institutions (see 
Section 7), statistics of public sector finance (see 
Sections 2 to 5), and for the external accounts (see 
Section 10).

Quality
The quality of quarterly and, from October 1966, of 

monthly data appearing within the section is generally 
high, ^^s t of the information relates to UK banks where 
statistical coverage is nearly complete and the system of 
reporting is well integrated. The section on calendar 
month statistics above desaibes the quality of the 
monthly data before October 1986. The information 
relating to buildlr>g societies is based on a 
comprehensive monthly return and a quarterly form 
submitted by societies who account for over 97% of total 
building society assets. The sectoral allocation (including 
the allocation to the M4 private sector) of holdings of 
certificates of deposit and other issues of 0-5 year paper 
by banks and building societies (which are included in 
'deposits') is partly estimated. The existence of a 
discrepancy between sterling interbank lending and 
deposits is evidence of (minor) errors somewhere within 
M4 or its counterparts; the changes in it are generally 
less than 0.2% of M4 (see Economic Trends June 1992, 
page 101).

Tim eliness
A provisional indication of the percentage change in 

money aggregates is issued by the Bank of England in 
a press release, normally published on the 14th working 
day (around the 19th calendar day) of the following 
month. Full monthly figures are first issued in a Bank of 
England release. Monetary Statistics, approximately ten 
days later. They later appear in Financial Statistics and 
in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

Availability
Calendar quarter figures for M4 are available from the 

first quarter of 1963, M2 from the second quarter of 
1982, and for the counterparts of M4 as given in table 
11.6 from the second quarter of 1963.

Consistent calendar month series are available, 
generally, only from October 1986. However, some 
series have been constructed back to mid-1982 (see 
section on Calendar month statistics). MO, which is a 
monthly average series, is available from June 1969.

Further references
The Bank of England Statistical Abstract, Number 1 

(1970) and Number 2 (^975) gave longer runs of some 
figures quarterly from 1963 and banking monthly from 
1971. The figures shown are M l, M3C (and their 
components) and the relationship between M3C and the 
public sector borrowing requirement The Long Runs of 
Monetary Data booklet, published periodically by the 
Bank of England (latest issue July 1991, next due 
November 1992), contains the main quarterly series from 
the first quarter of 1963, calendar month series from
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mid-1982 and MO from 1969. The Economic Trends 
Annual Supplement also includes long runs, on a 
quarterly basis, of MO (back to the third quarter of 1969) 
and M4 (back to the third quarter of 1963). The 
counterparts to M4 are shown quarterly, starting at 
various periods from the first quarter of 1963, and 
calendar monthly, starting at various periods from July 
1982. The monthly publications Economic Trends and 
Monthly Digest of Statistics also give the main 
aggregates, wKh charts in the former.

Several articles have been published in the Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin describing aspects of the 
monetary aggregates, including 'DCE and the money 
supply - a statistical note’, March 1977; ‘A transactions 
demand for money’, March 1978; 'Seasonal adjustment 
of the monthly money statistics’, June 1978 (see also 
June 1981, June 1983, February 1989, February 1990, 
February and August 1991); 'External and foreign 
currency flows and the money supply’, December 1978; 
‘Components of private sector liquidity', September 1979 
(see also March 1983); ‘The monetary base - a statistical 
note’, March 1981; 'Transactions balances - a new 
monetary aggregate’, June 1982 (see also March 1983); 
'Compositbn of monetary and liquidity aggregates and 
associated statistics', December 1982; ‘Setting monetary 
objectives’, June 1983; ‘External flows and broad 
money’, December 1983; ‘Changes to monetary 
aggregates and the analysis of bank lending’, March 
1984; 'The statistical treatment of banks’ foreign currency 
capital’, June 1985; 'Financial change and broad money’, 
December 1986; 'Measures of broad money’, May 1987; 
‘Statistical consequences of the conversion of the Abbey 
National Building Society to a public limited company’, 
August 1989, 'Definitions of the monetary aggregates’ 
and 'The determination of the monetary aggregates', 
August 1990, 'Liquid assets outside M4, May 1991. and 
'Demand for MO revisited’, August 1992. There is also a 
discussion of monetary statistics in the report of the 
Statistics Users Conference on Financial Statistics held 
in November 1985. A report of the proceedings of this 
conference was given in the February 1986 issue of 
Statistical News. A further note in the November 1986 
issue summarises how the Central Statistical Office, 
other government departments and the Bank of England 
responded to the suggestions made at the conference for 
improvements to financial statistics.

A Memorandum on UK Monetary Statistics by the 
Bank of England was submitted to the House of 
Commons Treasury and Civil Service Committee and 
was published by HMSO, as part of the minutes of 
evidence taken from the Bank on 3 November 1980. This 
memorandum is in two parts. The first discusses various 
aspects of the quality of monetary statistics in the UK 
and the second compares and contrasts the approaches 
of the United Kingdom and the United States of America 
to collecting monetary statistics.

Table 11.1
Summary of monetary aggregates

The composition of, and the relationship between, 
these aggregates is shown in the table on page 99.

Table 11.2
Money stock

This table shows the amounts outstanding at the end 
of quarters and months of the components of M2, and 
M4.

Estimates of overseas residents’ holdings of notes and 
coin are available for calendar quarters only and these 
are excluded from the quarterly series for notes and coin 
in circulation with the public, with interpolated estimates 
being excluded from the monthly series.

The definition of bank deposits used is the same as 
that in the banking sector tables of Section 6. (See 
notes to tables 6.1 and 6.2).

Breaks in the series
Breaks occurred at end-March 1972 and 1973 

because new contributors were included in the banking 
statistics. Similarly, at end-December 1975 one 
contributor was excluded from the banking statistics (see 
notes to table 6.3), but the effect on the figures is very 
small. Dollar certificates of deposit held by UK residents 
(other than banks and building societies), so far as they 
can be identified, are included from end-March 1973; the 
coverage of these holdings was somewhat expanded 
from end-December 1977.

The introduction of new statistical returns in mid-May 
1975 also led to a slight break in the series for M l and 
M3 (see the June 1975 Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin page 162). The estimation previously needed to 
calculate M1 and M3 was reduced, and slight changes in 
the definitions of some items reported by the banks 
caused some inconsistencies with earlier figures. In 
particular, the definition of M1 was clarified by the 
replacement of 'current accounts’ (a term which had 
different meanings for different banks) by ‘sight deposits’, 
which is more precisely defined as funds available on 
demand, including money at call and money placed 
overnight. Also, private sector deposits with the discount 
market, which had previously all been included in M3an6 
M3C but not in M1, were included in M l if falling within 
the definition of sight deposits (about £100 million of 
such deposits were outstanding in mid-May 1975).

in the fourth quarter of 1981 the break caused by the 
switch between the old banking sector and the new 
monetary sector was reflected In levels series but 
excluded from the changes series. The calendar month 
data, unlike the previous banking month information, 
include data from those banks who report on a quarterly 
basis.

Abbey National Building Society’s conversion to a 
public limited company in July 1989 caused a minor 
break to the MO series and major breaks to Ml, M3 and 
M3c as a consequence of which these last three 
aggregates ceased to be published from June 1989 (see 
August 1989 Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin for 
further details). Further information on breaks can be 
found in Technical Series paper No. 23 'Breaks in 
Monetary Series', Bank of England, February 1989, and 
in the Bank’s periodic Long Runs of Monetary data 
booklet (latest issue July 1991, next due November 
1992).
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Relationships between the monetary aggregates and their components

ĉoin
âtes

N otes an d  co in  in  c irc u la t io n  
w ith  th e  M 4 p riv a te  se c to r

plus  M 4 p riv a te  se c to r n o n 
in te re s t b e a rin g  s te r lin g  s ig h t 
b a n k  d ep o sits

plus  M 4 p riv a te  se c to r- in te re st 
b e a rin g  s te rlin g  s ig h t b a n k  
d ep o sits

phis  M 4 p riv a te  se c to r s te r lin g  
tim e b a n k  d e p o s its (in c lu d in g  
s te rlin g  c e rtific a te s  o f d ep o sit)

plus  M 4 p riva te  se c to r h o ld in g s 
o f b u ild in g  so c ie ty  s h a re s  an d  
d ep o sits an d  s te r lin g  c e rtific a te s  
o f dep osit

n, equals M 4

N otes a n d  co in  in  c irc u la t io n  
o u ts id e  th e  B a n k  o f E n g la n d

p lu s  B a n k e rs  o p e ra tio n a l 
b a la n c e s  w ith  th e  B a n k  o f 
E n g la n d

equals  M O *

p lu s  M 4 p riv a te  se c to r 
in te re s t b e a rin g  re ta il 
s te r lin g  d e p o sits  w ith  b a n k s  
a n d  b u ild in g  so c ie tie s

equals  M 2

*M O is  ca lcu la te d  on  a  w e e k ly  averag ed  (W ed n esd ays) b a s is , 
ca lcu la te d  a t end  m o n th s .

A ll o th e r ag g reg ates a re
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Table 11.3
Changes in money stock

In table 11.3 the changes in the money stock may not 
equal the differences between the amounts outstanding. 
This is because changes in bank and building society 
liabilities arising directly from alterations in the 
composition of the reporting population, or from the use 
of new sources of information (as in the fourth quarter of 
1977 - see also notes to table 11.2), are re flect^ only in 
the levels and not in the changes. Small discrepancies in 
the quarterly figures also arise because the changes in 
notes and coin in circulation with the public do not allow 
for wastage and hoarding of coin; the amounts 
outstanding do allow for this. See also second paragraph 
of notes to Table 11.2. Finally the seasonally adjusted 
changes may not be the same as the differences 
between seasonally adjusted amounts outstanding, 
because of slight technical differences in the approach 
used to adjust the series (see Seasonal adjustment, 
above).

From the second calendar quarter 1975, all figures 
which include foreign currency items, have been adjusted 
to exclude the effect of movements in exchange rates.

See also notes to table 11.2 for details of breaks in 
series and other differences from tables in Section 6.

Table 11.4

MO comprises notes and coin in circulation outside the 
Bank of England plus bankers’ operational deposits with 
the Bank. The levels are calculated weekly, on 
Wednesdays. The level of targeted MO is calculated as 
the average of the levels on Wednesdays during each 
calendar month: the change equals the difference 
between the average levels.

Notes and coin in circulation outside the Bank of 
England comprise: (i) Bank of England notes in 
circulation, excluding holdings by the Bank of England 
Banking Department, (ii) Royal Mint coin outstanding, 
less Bank of England holdings, and (Hi) the fiduciary 
issues of the Scottish and Northern Irish banks. (To 
include their gross note issues would involve double 
counting, since Bank of England notes in circulation 
include those used as backing for issues by these banks 
in excess of their fiduciary issues).

Bankers'deposits with the Banking Department. Up to 
19 August 1981, bankers' deposits were held 
predominantly by the clearing banks, which used them to 
settle net claims between themselves and as a means of 
paying for their requirements of Bank of England notes. 
Other banks generally used their accounts with the 
clearing banks to fulfil these two functions and many of 
them did not hold deposits with the Bank of England. The 
level of bankers' deposits was also influenced by 
monetary control requirements (e.g. the London clearing 
banks’ agreement to hold an average of 1.5% of their 
eligible liabilities in the form of non-interest-bearing 
balances with the Bank, when Competition and Credit 
Control was introduced in 1971). From 20 August 1981, 
the new arrangements for monetary control took effect 
(for details, see the paper Monetary control - provisions, 
reprinted in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin, 
September 1981, pages 347 to 349). As part of these 
arrangements, bankers’ deposits were divided into two
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components: operational deposits retained voluntarily at 
the Bank for clearing and other purposes mentioned 
above, and non-operational cash ratio deposits. 
Operational deposits are still held predominantly by the 
clearing banks, but all UK banks’ with average eligible 
liabilities of £10 million or more are liable for cash ratio 
deposits. Cash ratio deposits, being fixed for six month 
periods, cannot be withdrawn and are excluded from MO.

Seasonal adjustment
The series notes and coin in circulation outside the 

Bank of England is seasonally adjusted. Bankers' 
operational deposits are not seasonally adjusted.

Sources
Figures for Bank of England liabilities are obtained 

from the Bank Return, which is published each 
Wednesday. Bankers' deposits are taken directly from 
this source (less their cash ratio deposits), as are the 
figures for Bank of England notes in circulation, which 
are the largest component of the first two columns in the 
table. Monthly estimates and from October 1986 weekly 
estimates of coin outstanding, net of an allowance for 
wastage, are obtained from the Royal Mint. Further 
details are given in the following articles in the Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin, The monetary base - a 
statistical note' (March 1981), 'Changes to monetary 
aggregates’ (March 1984) and ‘Banking and monetary 
statistics: a change in reporting dates’ (December 1986).

Table 11.5
Money stock and velocity of circulation

The velocity of circulation for a quarter, as published 
in this table, is derived as the ratio of gross domestic 
product at current market price, expressed at an annual 
rate, to the monthly average for the quarter of money 
stock. Data are seasonally adjusted.

To give a numerical example, the sources and 
methods used to arrive at the M4 velocity of circulation 
figure for fourth quarter 1990 are as foibws:
Data (£ rrtfions)

GDP rrw ka t pncas 
1000 0 4  -  13&05d

Sourca: E ccnctric Trtnds (M v d ) 1991 • p a g t 0, C A 08i

W4 laval (and-month): 
1990 Saplambar 

Octobar 
Novambar 
Dacambar

466.640
468.247
475,763
474,667

S o irca . Finanaai Statistics tib ia  11.2 (March 1901}

CalcuJatJon

GDP annuifraad: 138.058 x 4 •  552,232

tM  cantrad:
(466.840 ♦ 2x(460.247 ♦ 475.763) ♦ 474.867V6 -  471.591 

Valodly of d raJa ton  (M4) S52.232M71,591 •  1.17

The velocity of circulation figures published in 
Financial Statistics to March 1981 were calculated by 
using end-quarter data; from the April 1981 issue the 
calculation was revised and monthly money supply data 
were used.

The use of GDP (Gross domestic product) - or any 
other national income or expenditure aggregate e.g. total 
domestic expenditure or total final expenditure - in this 
calculation must be regarded as a crude approximation 
of what is ideally wanted - namely the total value of 
transactions In the economy involving money. These

4 .
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aggregates are strictly unsuitable because they exclude 
transfers between sectors and transactions within sectors 
(of which transactions in primary and intermediate output 
within the industrial and commercial sector are very 
important) and they include non-cash items such as 
imputed income and income in kind. Use of GDP 
assumes a stable relationship over time between GDP 
and total transactions.

Table 11.6
Counterparts to changes in M4

This table (see also introductory notes) sets out the 
accounting identities between;

domestic counterparts - comprising the public 
sector borrowing requirement, purchases of 
public sector debt by the UK private sector 
(other than banks and building societies, and 
excluding changes in its holdings of notes and 
coin) and sterling lending to the UK private 
sector,
external and foreign currency counterparts - 
comprising net sterling deposits from banks 
abroad, other overseas sterling deposits, 
sterling lending to overseas non-banks, 
external finance of the public sector, and 
banks’ and building societies' net foreign 
currency liabilities. From June 1975 this last 
item includes changes in the foreign currency 
component of capital, internal funds and 
reserves of all UK banks and building 
societies, less their foreign currency 
investments in UK banks and building 
societies and other non-financial assets in 
currencies other than sterling. Before June 
1975, net non-deposit liabilities in foreign 
currency are presented in aggregate with net 
non-deposit sterling liabilities. Changes in 
items denominated in foreign currency are 
calculated in transaction terms, i.e. after an 
adjustment has been made for the estimated 
effect of changes in the sterling value of 
foreign currencies;
changes in net non-deposit sterling liabilities 
comprising the sterling component of capital 
and interna] funds and reserves of all UK 
banks and building societies, /ess their sterling 
investments in UK banks and building 
societies and other non-financial sterling 
assets, together with residual errors arising 
from the exclusion of sterling transactions 
between institutions within the sector, 
changes in M4.

The public sector borrowing requirement is described 
in the notes to table 2.5. The net acquisition of central 
government debt by the M4 private sector is shown in 
greater detail by instrument in table 3.4.

Issue Department purchases of commercial bills. The 
Issue Department of the Bank of England acquires 
commercial bills in the course of its market operations. 
Although the Issue Department’s claim is on the banks 
which accepted the bills, in such circumstances it is, in 
effect, temporarily taking over some lending to the UK 
private sector which would otherwise be provided by the 
banking system. The underlying trends behind lending

and the growth in the money supply are therefore best 
shown by including such purchases with bank and 
building society lending to the rest of the M4 private 
sector. This treatment is followed in table 11.6 and differs 
from that in some other tables of Financial Statistics, e.g. 
table 3.4, where a pure sector approach is followed and 
Issue Department’s purchases of commercial bills are 
netted off from the private sector’s purchases of central 
government debt. A similar treatment is made of Issue 
Department’s transactions in promissory notes relatir>g to 
shipbuilding paper guaranteed by the Department of 
Trade and Industry.

The seasonally adjusted series do not always add up 
to the calendar year total which is the sum of the 
unadjusted quarterly figures (see Seasonal adjustment 
above).

Tables 11.7 and 11.8
Sectoral analysis of M4 and its sterling 
lending counterpart

These tables provide the sectoral analyses which are 
often useful in interpreting the changes in M4 and its 
sterling lending counterpart (see, for example, '^Financial 
change and broad money" in the Bank of England 
Quarterly Bulletin, December 1986 : the discussion there 
was mainly in terms of the now - discontinued aggregate, 
£M3, but applies mutatis mutandis to M4] see also 'The 
determination of the monetary aggregates'. Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin, August 1990.

The figures relate to the financial accounts matrix 
(Table 1.1) as follows. The change in each sector’s 
holding of M4 is the sum of the changes in its holdings 
of notes and coin (line 6 in the matrix), sterling deposits 
with banks (lines 21.1 and 21.2) and deposits with 
building societies (line 22); this relationship is shown 
diagrammatically within Table A of the National Accounts 
‘Blue Book’. Sterling lending to each sector is the sum of 
Issue Department transactions in bills etc. (line 15), bank 
lending in sterling (line 24.2), sterling loans for house 
purchase by building societies (line 27.1) and banks (part 
of line 27.2). any sterling lending by building societies 
identified as being other than for house purchase (part of 
line 29), and bank and building society holdings of UK 
company securities denominated in sterling (part of line 
31) and of sterling commercial paper (part of line 34). 
The seasonally adjusted series are calendar year 
constrained, as opposed to the rest of section 11 which 
is financial year constrained.

Table 11.9
Liquid assets outside M4

M4 is made up of sterling cash and deposits with 
banks and building societies in the United Kingdom, held 
by the M4 private sector (i.e. by UK residents other than 
the public sector, banks and building societies). The aim 
of this table is to illustrate the development of certain 
liquid assets outside M4: it provides data on a wider 
range of holder, currency, and sector or location of 
issuer. These series can be used as building blocks from 
which users of the monetary statistics can create their 
own aggregates if they wish. Among assets not covered 
by these statistics are certificates of deposit issued by 
banks abroad and foreign currency commercial paper, 
foreign currency medium-term notes and other foreign
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currency short-term paper issued in the United Kingdom 
or overseas.

When using the series as building blocks to create 
new aggregates, care should be taken over potential 
double-counting: see in particular the notes on UK 
offshore institutions and the overseas sector’s sterfing 
deposits. Also, in assessing the liquidity of those assets 
which are outside M4, it should be remembered that M4 
itself contains some comparatively illiquid elements (eg. 
M4 contains deposits of any maturity with banks and 
building societies, and certain paper and other capital 
market instruments of not more than five years’ original 
maturity - though in practice the great majority of M4 is 
of under three months’ residual maturity).

M4 private sector deposits
Steriing bank bills are commercial bills which are 

payable in sterling and have been accepted by a bank in 
the United Kingdom. They are thus very similar in status 
and liquidity to sterling certificates of deposit issued by 
UK banks (which are included in M4 if owned by the M4 
private sector). Holdings by the M4 private sector were 
comparatively sizeable in the periods in the 1970’s (up to 
June 1980) when the 'corset' was prompting 
disintermediation from the banking sector (see pages 
74-85 of the March 1982 Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin), but have subsequently been much smaller.

UK offshore institutions. At present about one third of 
the banking institutions in the Channel Islands and Isle of 
Man are treated as UK banks for statistical purposes, 
and the remainder are treated as ‘other financial 
institutions’ (OFIs) and thus as part of the M4 private 
sector. The distinction between the two groups is made 
according to whether the offshore institutions have opted 
to comply with the Bank of England’s monetary control 
arrangements (in which case they are treated as UK 
banks for statistical purposes and deposits by the M4 
private sector with these institutions are included within 
M4). Deposits with OFI offshore institutions are not 
included in M4', but the deposits of these institutions with 
the UK banking sector and building societies are included 
in M4. So, to the extent that these offshore OFIs take 
funds and redeposit them in the United Kingdom, there 
is no ‘leakage’ from M4. although the sectoral breakdown 
will record these deposits as being from the OFI sector 
rather than from the original source of funds. Adding 
deposits placed with these institutions by the M4 private 
sector to M4thus induces an element of double counting. 
Moreover, because of the nature of financial activity in 
the Channel Islands and Isle of Man, the series for the 
M4 private sector’s deposits probably include substantial 
amounts placed by local companies and trusts essentially 
on behalf of the overseas sector rather than on behalf of 
UK-or local-residents.

These 'OFI banks’ currently report only quarterly. 
Coverage of institutions in the Isle of Man and Jersey is 
only partial.

Sterfing deposit at banks in the BIS area. The 
territorial statistics published by the Bank for International 
Settlements (BIS) provide comprehensive data on 
international banking business conducted in the financial 
centres making up the BIS reporting area. The number 
of countries within this reporting area has increased over 
time; currently the statistics cover the positions of banks 
in twenty-four countries (see the notes to Table 13.1 in

Money stock

the February Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin). Data 
are collected only on a quarterly basis. BIS data are 
published four and a half months after the quarter-end 
and hence these series will be less timely than other 
series in the table. The identification of the UK M4 
private sector may not be precise (e.g. deposits from the 
UK offshore institutions which, as mentioned above, are 
part of the M4 private sector may be included in the BIS 
statistics as deposits from banks rather than from the M4 
private sector). Holdings of certificates of deposit are not 
generally covered by these statistics.

M4 private sector's holding of foreign currency 
deposits. Foreign currency deposits held by the M4 
private sector at banks in the United Kingdom or at UK 
offshore institutions - and even those held at banks 
abroad - may be destined to be spent in the United 
Kingdom or may represent a store of wealth which is 
relevant to UK economic activity. But any significant 
conversion of these deposits into steriing for spending in 
the United Kingdom would tend to raise the steriing 
exchange rate - subject to the constraints imposed by 
membership of the ERM - which in turn might have an 
offsetting effect on spending in the United Kingdom (see 
pages 525-529 of the December 1983 Bank of England 
Quarterly Bulletin).

Overseas sector’s sterling deposits
Deposits by overseas banks with banks in the United 

Kingdom include deposits from central monetary 
institutions (i.e. part of other countries’ official reserves) 
as well as deposits from commercial banks abroad. 
When combining series, users should be aware of 
potential double counting; for example sterling deposits 
at banks in the BIS area may in turn be placed by those 
banks as sterling deposits in UK banks or UK offshore 
institutions (or indeed at other banks in the BIS area). 
The overseas sector’s sterling deposits, particularly those 
held by non-banks in the United Kingdom, may be 
destined to be spent in the United Kingdom; equally they 
may simply be part of the overseas sector’s global liquid 
assets, held temporarily or for longer term in the UK as 
a store of value (but their conversion into foreign 
currency might nonetheless affect UK economic activity 
via an effect on the exchange rate; see pages 525-529 
of the December 1983 Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin).

M4 private sector holdings of public sector 
debt

Sterling treasury bills, which are issued with an original 
maturity of six months or less, are marketable and are 
likely to be considered liquid by their holders. LA 
temporary debt covers a variety of instruments, all with 
an original maturity of up to one year; in general, it would 
be viewed as fairly liquid. Certificates of tax deposit are 
not marketable; the return is greater when used to pay 
tax, so that their holders may not consider them liquid for 
other purposes. All gilts are marketable and therefore 
may be considered liquid by their holders. The degree of 
liquidity may be affected by the degree of capital 
certainty - which will tend to lesson the longer the 
remaining maturity. The maturity split of total gilts is 
shown under other assets.
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Other assets
sterling commercialpaper \s marketable paper issued 

with maturities of up to and including one year. The 
series here excludes paper issued by banks and building 
societies (because these issues are included in M4 if 
owned by the M4 private sector, and in the overseas 
sector's sterling deposits if owned by the overseas 
sector). It also excludes paper owned by banks and 
building societies. The series may include a small 
element owned by the overseas sector but is likely to be 
owned predominantly by the M4 private sector.

Sterling medium-term notes are marketable securities 
issued with original maturities of over one year and up to 
(and including) five years. Sterling medium-term notes 
have been issued only recently and hence the liquidity of 
this market is difficult to assess. They include both fixed 
and floating-rate notes; floating-rate assets are more 
capital-certain and therefore may be considered more 
liquid than fixed-rate assets. The series published here 
is the total of all issues except those by banks and 
building societies (which are included in M4 if owned by 
the M4 private sector and in the overseas sector’s 
sterling deposits if identified as being owned by the 
overseas sector). There are no data distinguishing bank, 
building society, public or overseas sector tiolding of this 
instrument: hence this series comprises all sectors’ 
holdings.

Other sterling paper maturing within one year. This 
series comprises all holdings of sterling (including 
eurosterling) bonds issued by the UK private sector and 
the overseas sector of original maturity of more than five 
years, which are due to mature within one year. The 
original maturities of the bonds can be bng, and few are 
due to mature in the next few years. But the 'liquidity' 
represented by such bonds approaching maturity will 
build up in due course. The liquidity of these issues 
before maturity varies with the size of the issue and with 
the issuer. For example, a large long-term issue by a 
quasi-sovereign institution may remain liquid and

marketable with the issuer perhaps adding stock by tap 
at later dates. On the other hand, a small issue with a 
shorter maturity by a company may soon become illiquid 
after its first year.

For some issuers there may also be the risk of default. 
The majority are floating-rate issues; floating-rate assets 
are more capital-certain and therefore may be considered 
more liquid than fixed-rate assets. There are no data 
distinguishing bank, building society, public or overseas 
sector holdings of this instrument; hence this series 
comprises all sectors’ holding.

Residual maturity breakdown of gilts. The maturity 
breakdown cannot be allocated into sectors and hence 
both series cover all holders of gilts.

Sterling unused credit facilities. H is sometimes argued 
that unused credit facilities may be seen by the potential 
borrower as a form of liquidity. However, the reported 
series may be misleading as an indicator of liquidity. 
Coverage is incomplete - notably, the unused portion of 
credit card holders' limits is not included. Some banks 
report no unitized facilities (although requests by 
borrowers to increase the credit limits are often met, and 
borrowers would probably expect them to be met). On 
the other hand, borrowers may have facilities with 
several institutions without ever intending to draw on 
them all simultaneously. Where a facility may be drawn 
in either sterling or foreign currency at the borrower’s 
option, it is reported in foreign currency facilities - so that 
potential sterling facilities may be larger than the sterling 
facilities figures suggest. The series here covers all 
sterling unused credit facilities reported by UK banks 
(except to other UK banks). A quarterly (end-February 
etc.) series is also available, which shows that at end- 
November 1991 £129 billion of the total was to the M4 
private sector and virtually all of the remaining £18 billion 
to the overseas sector. At end-November 1991 foreign 
currency unused credit facilities were £121 billion; of 
which £41 billion were to the M4 private sector and 
virtually all of the remaining £80 billion to the overseas 
sector.

or
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Section 12
Capital issues and Stock Exchange

The main purpose of the Stock Exchange is to ( 
an efficient maritet for the issue and trading of 
government, other UK public sector eind company 
securities, ft provides a mechanism for the raising of 
funds, in various forms and for varying periods, by many 
types of domestic borrowers, including the UK 
government and other bodies in the public and private 
sectors of the economy, notably the large number of 
limited liability companies whoso shares and bond issues 
are listed on the Stock Exchange, ft also provides a 
market for securities of overseas public authorities and 
Institutions and of overseas registered companies.

Share and loan capital
A company’s capital structure can be divided into three 

classes: loan capital, preference capital and equity 
capital. Loan capital (or bonds) includes debentures and 
unsecured ban stock. Interest is payable on bonds 
regardless of whether the company makes a profit. Some 
loan stocks are irredeemable - i.e. they will never have 
to be repaid (unless the company is wound up) - but 
most are redeemable. A debenture is a document which 
evidences the fact that the owner has lent money to a 
business for a specified period usually at a fixed rate of 
interest. Debentures are normally secured on some or all 
of the assets of the business; should the interest or 
capital appear to be in jeopardy, the assets securing the 
debentures can be sold to repay the debenture holders. 
Bond holders sometimes have the right to convert their 
holdings into ordinary shares after a certain time 
(convertible debentures or loan stocks).

Shareholders differ from bond holders in that they are 
members (owners) of the company, not lenders. There 
are two main types of share - preference shares and 
ordinary shares.

Preference shares usually entitle the shareholder to a 
fixed annual dividend out of post-tax profits payable in 
priority to the ordinary dividend. Dividends on preference 
shares are only payable if the company has adequate 
distributable profits. Most preference shares are 
'cumulative' - the liability for unpaid dividends must be 
carried forward to the next year; the ordinary 
shareholders cannot receive any dividend payment until 
the past and present preference dividend entitlement is 
fully met. Most preference shares are also given priority 
of repayment of capital on liquidation. A few preference 
shares are ‘participating’ - entitled to an additional 
dividend in certain circumstances. Some preference 
shares are convertible into ordinary shares; there are 
also 'redeemable' preference shares. Most preference 
shares, of all varieties, carry no votes at general 
meetings except in relation to varying their rights. Two or 
more classes of preference share (first, second etc.) may 
be issued, ranking in order of dividend and capital 
repayment.

Ordinary shares "equrty" constitute the majority of a 
normal company’s share capital - often the whole of it. 
They carry no right to a fixed dividend, the size of the 
dividend varying according to the profits made by the 
business. Ordinary shares thus form the 'risk capital’ of 
the firm, and the holders are its proprietors. They usually 
have voting rights - some companies have non-voting 
ordinary shares as well as voting ones. Occasionally the

ordinary shares are divided into a 'preferred' and a 
'deferred' class, the first being entitled to a certain 
minimum dividend, then the second similarly, then both 
to the same excess over the minimum, if profits permit. 
Some companies issue B shares which entitle holders to 
fully paid shares in lieu of dividend.

The new Issue market
Longer-term loan and equity finance is provided chiefly 

through the new issue market, the main sponsors being 
specialised issuing houses and stockbrokers acting as 
issuing houses. There are a number of ways in which 
new securities can be issued on behalf of a company, 
public authority or government.

A 'public issue' constitutes an offer of 
securities to the general public at a stated 
price. The advertisement for the issue consists 
of a detailed prospectus, usually published in 
a newspaper.
In an 'offer for sale’, the public is again invited 
to apply for shares on the basis of a 
prospectus, but in this case it is an issuing 
house or stockbroker who, having purchased 
the entire issue, is making the offer and not 
the company raising the new money.
The main feature of an 'issue by tender* is 
that the public is invited to state the price 
(above a certain minimum) and the amount for 
which it is tendering. The total issue is 
allocated at the highest price which will clear 
the Issue.
With 'placings', the securities of a company 
are acquired by the issuing houses and are 
placed with their own clients; they are usually 
finandat institutions such as investment trust 
companies, insurance companies and pension 
funds. In a Tinandal intermediaries placing”, 
shares are placed first with other financial 
intermediaries, who in turn distribute them to 
their own clients. There are restrictions on the 
proportion of large issues that can be placed, 
but recently these have been interpreted 
flexibly, according to market conditions.
With 'rights issues' shareholders are invited by 
way of a renounceable document to subscribe 
for further shares in proportion to their existing 
holdings, generally at a discount to the market 
price. An "open offer" is an offer to existing 
shareholders, which are not allotted to them 
on renounceable documents.
An ‘introduction’ does not raise new money; 
the primary object is to create a market in the 
shares in the company by obtaining a Stock 
Exchange listing.
‘Bonus issues' are also known as 
'capitalisation issues’ or 'scrip issues’. This 
type of issue does not result in the acquisition 
of any new funds for the business and merely 
represents the conversion of accumulated 
reserves into shares.
In a 'Vendor consideration issue’ a company 
is acquired, not by cash, but by the issue of
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Capital issues and Stock Exchange transactions

stocks or shares in the acquiring 
company.
In a Vendor placing’ stocks or shares issued 
by the purchasing company to a vendor are 
piaced by the vendor in order to obtain cash, 
as an alternative to the purchaser paying cash 
direct.

Tables 12-1-12.6
Capital issues and redemptions by United 
Kingdom borrowers and by subsidiaries 
abroad of UK companies and financiai 
institutions

The tabies cover issues in sterling or other currencies 
by United Kingdom borrowers (except Her Majesty's 
Government) and by the subsidiaries abroad of UK 
companies and financial institutions. The data covers 
issues on the London Stock Exchange, the Unlisted 
Securities Market, the Third Market (until December 
1990) and overseas stock exchanges, and issues in the 
euromarkets.

The series cover only issues which raise cash for the 
issuer. They exclude bonus issues, exchanges of one 
type of security for another and issues for donsiderations 
other than cash. Sales of shares by the Government 
where no new money is raised for the companies 
concerned are excluded for the same reason.

of the amounts raised are based on the 
prices at which securities are offered to the market. 
Subscriptions are recorded under the periods In which 
they are due to be paid. Redemptions including the buy
back and cancellation of ordinary shares are included but 
not the cancellation of shares in company liquidations. 
Conversion issues in lieu of cash repayment are included 
in the gross figures of both issues and redemptions.

Convertible preference shares, loan stocks, bonds and 
notes carry the right of conversion into, or subscription 
to, ordinary shares. The issue of shares and redemption 
of loan stocks, etc on conversion are not included.
The industrial analysis in table 12.3 is according to the 
primary occupation of the borrowing company or group 
and F3 based on the Standard Industrial Classification. 
The analysis in table 12.5 into the various types of 
financial institution is described in Sections 6 and 7.

Timeliness
The latest month’s figures are published in Financial 

Statistics about the end of the following month.

Method of compilation
The figures are compiled mainly from information 

published in the press or appearing in official Stock 
Exchange publications.

Further references
Annual figures are given in the Annual Abstract of 

Statistics, table 17.12 and in the Bank of England 
Statistical Abstract 1992, Part 1. Figures for varying 
series from 1945 to 1974 are available in the Bank of 
England Statistical Abstract, Numbers 1 and 2. Monthly 
data are published on the ninth working day of each 
month by the Bank of England. The data cover issues up 
to and including the previous month.

Table 12.7
Net amounts raised in sterling capital 
markets

This table covers sterling issues only. For UK 
borrowers the coverage, except for currency is the same 
as for tables 12.1-12.3. "Overseas borrowers" includes 
issues by the overseas subsidiaries of UK companies 
and financial institutions.

Timeliness
The latest months figures are published in Financial 

Statistics about the end of the following month.

Method of compilation
The figures are compiled mainly from information 

published in the press or appearing in official Stock 
Exchange publications.

Further references
Annual figures given in the Annual Abstract of 

Statistics, table 17.12 and in the Bank of England 
Statistical Abstract 1992, Part 1. Figures for varying 
series from 1945 to 1974 are available in the Bank of 
England Statistical Abstract, Numbers 1 and 2. Monthly 
data are published on the ninth working day of each 
month by the Bank of England. The data cover issues up 
to and including the previous month.

Tables 12.8 and 12.9
Stock Exchange transactions

In both tables, transactions are recorded at dealing 
(contract) dates rather than settlement dates. For periods 
up to September 1986, figures shown in table 12.5 
represent the sum of transactions between market 
members and non-members carried out through the 
medium of brokers. As from 27 October 1986 member 
firms became able to trade in dual capacity, i.e. dealing 
as principals as well as acting as brokers on behalf of 
customers. The measurement of Stock Exchange trade 
under the new rules was progressively refined until, from 
July 1987, a full split between inter-market and customer 
business is shown. For the interim period inter-market 
data covers only trade in gilt-edged securities carried out 
through inter-dealer brokers. No estimate of customer 
business in this period is shown; the residual between 
inter-market and total transactions includes an element 
of trade directly between market firms dealing as 
principals, as well as all customer business.

The content of the columns covering fixed interest 
securities has changed from time to time. For periods 
from July 1987:-

Other fixed interest: UK covers UK local authority and 
UK company debenture and loan stocks, convertibles 
and preferentials.

Other fixed interest: overseas covers sterling issues by 
overseas borrowers, bulldogs and all other fixed interest 
instruments traded.

There are certain transactions, mainly cash 
subscriptions to new issues and redemption payments on 
maturing stocks, which do not pass through stockbrokers 
and are not therefore included in stock exchange 
transactions measures. These have been eliminated as 
far as possible from the figures in table 12.6. In this table
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officiaf holders includes the Issue and banking 
departments of the Bank of England, the National Debt 
Commissioners, (excluding the National Savings Bank 
Investment Fund before 1981, the National Heritage 
Memorial Fund investment account and the Home-grown 
Sugar Beet (Research and Education) Investment Fund 
investment account, government departments, and the
Northern Ireland government.

The column Savings banks’ investment accounts no 
longer appears in this table. The data for the series in 
this column: AJCI, AJDI, AJCV and AJDV are obtainable 
from the Databank. Figures for financial institutions other 
than those listed are included within other holders 
(residual).

The banks ceased to provide Information on 
transactions in British government stock after the banking 
sector was enlarged and redefined In November 1981.

Holdings of British government stocks at end-March 
are mostly at nominal values, as in the annual article on 
the distribution of the national debt in the November 
issues (December issues prior to 1987) of the Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin.

Timeliness
The latest month’s figures for stock exchange 

transactions are published by the Stock Exchange during 
the following month; they appear in the subsequent issue 
of Financial Statistics.

Figures for transactions in British government stocks 
are published approximately six months after the end of 
the quarter to which they relate.

Further references
The figures for stock exchange transactions are also 

published in the London Stock Exchange Quality of 
Markets Monthly Fact Sheet and a slightly different 
analysis in the Stock Exchange Quarterly (formerly 
Quality of Markets Quarterly. Long runs of figures for 
both series (from September 1964 for stock exchange 
transactions and from June 1966 for British government 
stocks) to December 1974 are available in the Bank of 
England Statistical Abstract, Numbers 1 and 2.
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IS Section 13
Foreign exchange rates interest rates and security prices

This section provides monthly information on the main 
exchange rates, interest rates and security prices. The 
figures mostly relate to points in time or daily averages, 
but for some series (e.g. in tables 13.1,13.3 and 13.5) 
averages for longer periods are provided.

Tables 13.1 and 13.2
Exchange rates against sterling

Table 13.1 shows the sterling exchange rate index 
(ERI) against a basket of sixteen currencies (see below), 
and the averages of the mid-points between the spot 
buying and selling rates as recorded by the Bank of 
England at 16.00 each day, for thirteen major currencies
and the ECU.

Table 13.2 shows the mid-point between the spot 
buying and selling rates recorded by the Bank of England 
on the last working day of each month for the major 
currencies listed in table 13.1, plus the Austrian schilling 
and Norwegian krone. Also shown is the three-month 
forward margin for each currency against sterling, 
expressed both in terms of foreign currency and as a 
percentage per annum.

Spot and forward rates
Foreign exchange deals may be executed for 

settlement no more than two working days later, in which 
case they are generally termed spot deals, or for 
settlement at some future date, in which case they are 
termed forward deals. The rate for a forward deal is 
generally expressed by showing the amount by which the 
forward rate diverges from the spot rate, either in units of 
the appropriate foreign currency, or as a percentage per 
annum.

If the forward margin is negative the foreign currency 
is at a forward premium to sterling (i.e. it is more 
expensive) and sterling is at a forward discount to the 
particular foreign currency (i.e. it is cheaper).

Conversely, if the forward margin is positive the 
foreign currency is at a discount to sterling and sterling 
is at a premium to the currency.

For example, at end-December 1991, the spot US 
dollar/sterling rate was 1.8678, i.e. £1 would buy 1.8678 
US dollars for delivery within 2 days, and the 3-month 
forward margin was -3.11 cents, i.e. £1 would buy;

1.8678 - 0.0311 = 1.8367 US dollars

for delivery In three months time. Thus, the end-March 
1992 US dollar was less expensive than at 
end-December 1991.

Sterling exchange rate index (ERI)
Between the Bretton Woods Agreement in 1944 and 

the currency realignment of the Smithsonian Agreement 
in 1971, the US dollar provided a reasonably satisfactory 
benchmark against which changes in the value of other 
currencies could be measured. Since the early 1970’s, 
however, there have been much larger movements in 
exchange rates and it has ceased to be the case that 
dollar rates accurately indicate the overall changes in the 
exchange rate for a currency.

In order to assess this overall change, a weighted 
average of movements in cross-exchange rates against

a basket of other currencies is required, with the weights 
reflecting some assessment of the relative importance of 
the other currencies.

There are a number of ways of constructing a suitable 
matrix of weights. Most exchange rate indices use some 
form of trade weighting, often of a rather simple kind. 
The present ERI uses weights derived from 
disaggregated trade flows in manufactured goods in 
1985. The weights are designed to measure the impact 
of real exchange rate changes on the UK’s real 
manufacturing balance; they represent the relative 
importance of each of the other countries as competitors 
to the manufacturing sector of the UK.

The ERI
The present ERI was introduced with effect from 

Monday 3 January 1989 and the old index with 1975 as 
the base year was discontinued from that date. The base 
year for the new index is 1985, and it is calculated by 
geometrically weighting together bilateral exchange rates 
against sterling for all the currencies included in the 
previous index with the exception of Australia which has 
been dropped from the calculation. The ERI published 
here consists of monthly averages of the value of the 
ERI as calculated by the Bank of England at 16.00 each 
day. The weighting together of exchange rates can be 
expressed algebraically as

£ , = n c
isl

where = the price of one pound sterling in terms of 
currency i at time r, and is the weight of currency i in 
the sterling ERI. In practice, calculations use exchange 
rates vis-a-vis the US dollar, , relying on the

relationship = — .
£̂S

E, is the weighted basket of currencies, which is then 
converted into an index with the property that the 
average of the index taken over all working days in 1985 
(calculated using London closing rates) is 100. Thus the 
ERI at any time t is given by

/
ERI, = 100

\ 8 S

where Eg, is the arithmetic average of calculated using 
London closing rates for each working day in 1985. (In 
this calculation, Eg, « 11.349 expressed to 3 decimal 
places.)

Timeliness
Rates are published in Financial Statistics one month 

in arrears.

Further references
The calculation ofv the ERI is described in the 

November 1988 issue of the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin.

Middle market closing spot rates against sterling at 
weekly (Friday) and quarterly (average) intervals for the 
US dollar. Deutschmark, Japanese yen and the ECU.
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together with the effective exchange rate irxJices {based 
on 1985*100) for Sterling, US dollars. Deutchmarks and 
Japanese yen are published in the Bank of England 
Quarterly Bulletin. The Bank of England Statistical 
Abstract 1992, Part 1 shows quarterly average data for 
the middle market closing spot rates against sterling for 
these currencies plus the Swiss franc, French franc, lira, 
guilder and Belgian franc from 1970 1st quarter to 1991 
4th quarter (from 1980 1st quarter for the european 
currency unit) together with the effective exchange rate 
indices (based on 1985*100) for these currencies from 
1975 1st quarter onwards; it also shows end quarter 
rates for these currencies against the US dollar from 
1970 1st quarter to 1975 3rd quarter and quarterly 
average data thereafter. End-month exchange rate data 
for 1970-74 are published in the Bank of England 
Statistical Abstract, Number 2. The middle market closing 
spot and three-months fonvard sterlingAJS dollar rates 
are shown as at end-months for 1945-69 in the Bank of 
England Statistical Abstract, Number 1.

The three-months forward rate against sterling for the 
US dollar expressed as a percentage per annum at 
weekly (Friday) and quarterly (average) intervals is 
published in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin.

Table 13.3
Interest rate differentials and foreign 
exchange rates

This shows the interest rates on US Treasury bills and 
euro-dollar deposits in London; the interest rate 
differentials of local authority temporary loans and inter
bank sterling deposits on euro-dollar deposits in London; 
the price of gold at the 15.00 fixing in London; the 
exchange rate against Special Drawing Rights (SDRs) 
and the European Currency Unit (ECU) of sterling and 
the US dollar.

Interest on US Treasury bills shows the market selling 
rate in New York for three-monthly US Treasury bills, 
expressed as a yield (percent per annum of 365 days).

Interest on US dollar defX)sits in London (3 months) 
shows middle market dosing rates.

Interest rate differentials. These two columns provide 
a broad comparison between the returns on the different 
types of investment instruments, taking into consideration 
the cost of the accompanying foreign exchange 
transactions. All the calculations are based on three- 
month rates.

The comparisons are obtained by adding a forward 
premium (percent per annum) for sterling to, or 
subtracting a forward discount for sterling from, the 
interest rate for a particular sterling instrument (e.g. inter
bank deposits) and calculating the difference between 
the resultant figure and a comparable foreign currency 
instrument (e.g. euro-dollar deposits in London). Forward 
rates expressed in percent per annum terms are shown 
in table 13.2.

For example, at end-December 1991 interest on three- 
month euro-dollar deposits in London was 4.19% per 
annum and interest on three-month inter-bank sterling 
deposits was 10.91% per annum. Sterling was at a 
forward discount of 6.66% per annum against the US 
dollar. Thus the interest rate differential was:

10.91 - 4.19 - 6.66 -  0.06% per annum.
Conversely, at end-September 1984 interest on three-

month euro-dollar deposits in London was 11.44% per 
annum and interest on three-month inter-bank sterling 
deposits was 12.10% per annum. Sterling was at a 
forward premium of 0.74% per annum against the US 
dollar. Thus, the interest rate differential was:

11.44 + 0.74 - 12.10 -  0.08% per annum.
SDRs are valued in terms of a ‘basket’ of currencies. 

Since 1 January 1981, the basket has consisted of the 
currencies of five countries - USA, UK, France, Germany 
and Japan - weighted largely with regard to their relative 
importance in world trade and official reserves. Prior to 
that date a sixteen-currency basket was used.

The exchange rates for the SDR against all currencies 
fluctuate from day to day in response to exchange 
market movements. Once each business day, the IMF 
values the currency components of the basket at their 
market exchange rates for the US dollar at noon in 
London as reported by the Bank of England, and the 
sum of the dollar equivalents yields the rate of the SDR 
in terms of the US dollar. The SDR rate of any other 
currency can be arrived at by taking its official 
'representative' exchange rate against the dollar and 
calculating it against the dollar/SDR rate.

European Currency Unit (ECU) is also valued in terms 
of a basket of currencies. This basket consists of the 
currencies of those nine countries (UK, France, West 
Germany, Italy, Netherlands, Ireland. Belgium, Denmark 
and Luxembourg) which were members of the EC in 
March 1979 when the European Monetary System (EMS) 
came into effect. Since 17 September 1984, the Greek 
drachma has also been included in the basket, and from 
21 September 1989, the Portuguese escudo and the 
Spanish peseta have also been included.

Timeliness
Data are published in Financial Statistics one month in 

arrears.

Further references
Data at weekly (Friday) and quarterly (average) 

inten/als for US Treasury bills, US dollar deposits in 
London and the London gold price are published in the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin; quarterly average 
data for these series from 1970 1st quarter to 1991 4th 
quarter are shown in the Bank of England Statistical 
Abstract 1992, Parti. The Bank of England Statistical 
Abstract, Number 2 gives end-month information from 
1970-74. The Bank of England Statistical Abstract. 
Number 1 gives broadly similar data from 1945-69.

An article describing the foreign exchange market in 
London was published in the Bank of England Quarterly 
Bulletin in December 1980 and the results of surveys of 
turnover in the market were published in the September 
1986, November 1989 and November 1992 issues.

Table 13.4
British government securities: prices and 
yields
Financial Times - Actuaries securities price 
indices

The data are for the last Fridays of the months and 
are taken from daily series which appear in the Financial 
Times. The fixed interest indices are based on December
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1975-100 and the series started in January 1976. The 
index-linked index is based on April 1982-100 and the 
series starts in May 1981. Further details of the indices 
and their computation are given in A Guide to Financial 
Times Statistics published by Financial Times Business
Information Ltd.

Selected individual stocks
The series relate to stocks selected to represent a 

cross-section of the market and show figures for the last 
Friday in the month. Prices and yields are based on 
middle market prices at the close of official business.

The gross flatyieldon a security is the annual amount 
receivable in interest expressed as a percentage of the 
net price (\.e. the price excluding gross accrued interest). 
The net flatyield ls the gross flat yield less income tax at 
the standard rate. These yields are used mainly for 
irredeemable or undated stocks, where the absence of a 
fixed redemption date does not permit the calculation of 
any certain capital gain or loss; and they are comparable 
with rates of interest obtainable on deposits, mortgages 
and other investments that offer no capital gain or loss. 
For investors whose only concern is annual receivable 
Income (e.g. life interests) these yields are a measure of 
their return on dated securities also; but most investors 
in these stocks will be concerned, in addition to the 
annual income, with the capital gain or loss arising from 
the difference between the price at which they were 
purchased and the price at which they will be redeemed 
at a known date (or range of dates).

The gross redemption yield comprises the gross flat 
yield together with an apportionment of the calculated 
capital gain or loss on dated securities held to 
redemption; more precisely, it is the rate of interest 
which, if used to discount future dividends and the sum 
due at redemption, will make their present value equal to 
the present price of the stock. It is an appropriate 
measure of the gross annual return on these securities, 
if held to maturity, for investors who pay no tax (e.g. 
pension funds) or pay tax on income and capital profits 
at the same rate (e.g. security dealers). It provides a 
convenient means of comparing the annual return on 
dated securities with different nominal rates of interest.

The net redemption yield is similar to the gross 
redemption yield except that income tax at the standard 
rate is deducted from dividends. From April 1965 to 
March 1969 the net redemption yield allowed also for tax 
on capital gains to redemption. From May 1965 to March 
1969 capital gains between the lowest price at which 
stock was issued and the redemption price were exempt 
tax. Since March 1969 the calculation omitted capital 
gains tax because the tax was only levied on a minority 
of holdings of government stocks. From March 1969 to 
April 1971 the charge to capital gains tax was made only 
on stocks with less than one year to redemption and 
from then until July 1986 it was made only on stocks 
disposed of within one year of acquisition.

The net redemption yield grossed up at the standard 
rate of income tax is not an actual return to any class of 
holder. It provides, for those who pay tax only on income, 
a notional gross return on dated securities which can be 
compared with other gross returns containing no tax-free 
or low-taxed element, such as income (before tax) on 
investments which offer no capital gain or loss, for 
example deposits, or on which the capital gain or loss

cannot be calculated in advance, for example equities.
In calculating the yield on stocks with alternative 

redemption dates, redemption is assumed at the later 
date when the price (excluding gross accrued interest) is 
below par, that is when the flat yield is above the 
nominal rate, and at the earlier date when the price is 
above par.

The real gross redemption yields on index-linked 
British government securities are calculated by the 
method adopted by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries 
(see Bankof England Quarterly Bulletin, December 1983, 
page 484). The yields shown assume a constant annual 
rate of inflation from the date of the last published RPI of 
5%.

The nominal amount outstanding at end of year for 
each selected security is also shown. Details of issues at 
cash values and redemptions are shown in table 3.6.

Timeliness
Figures for the last Friday of the latest month are 

published in Financial Statistics about the end of the 
following month.

Table 13.5
British government securities

The table shows par yields for five-, ten- and twenty- 
year maturities derived from a mathematical model, and 
also the net price and gross flat yield tor 2.5% Consols. 
The data are averages of working days.

Method of calculation
The calculation of par yields was last described in an 

article in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin of 
February 1990. The mathematical model described in the 
article replaced an earlier one which had been used, with 
modifications, since the early 1970s. Only conventional 
dated stocks with a significant amount in issue and 
having more than one year to maturity are used; index- 
linked stocks, irredeemable stocks and stocks with 
existing conversion options are therefore not included.

Timeliness
Figures for the latest month appear in Financial 

Statistics about the end of the following month.

Further references
Monday yields from two to twenty-five years maturity 

are made available to market makers and dealers by the 
Bank of England on Tuesdays.

The Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin shows the 
calculated Par yields for Fridays and for quarterly 
averages of working days (and also the real gross 
redemption yield on 2.5% Index-Linked Treasury Stock 
2016). A twelve-year run of figures is given in the Annual 
Abstract of Statistics, table 17.10 and end-month yield 
figures are available (with some breaks In series) from 
January 1945 to December 1974 in the Bank of England 
Statistical Abstract, Numbers 1 and 2; the Bank of 
England Statistical Abstract 1992, Part 1 has monthly 
average data from January 1970. See also table 13.15 
for quarterly averages of yields on twenty-year long 
dated British government securities and 3.5% War Loan.
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Table 13.6
Certificates of tax deposit

For details of certificates of tax deposit 
table 3.11.

notes to

Table 13.7
Company security prices and yields 
Financial Times - Actuaries share indices

The figures are taken from the Financial Times - 
Actuaries share indices which have been published daily 
in the Financial 77mes since 26 November 1962. Details 
of the constituents are available from the Financial 
Times, Number One Southwark Bridge, London SE1 9HL 
and some notes on the computation of the indices are 
given in the booklet Guide to Financial Times Statistics 
published by Financial Times Business Information Ltd. 
The prices taken are middle market prices at ctose of 
business. The base date for each constituent sub-sector 
is given in the Financial Times every Saturday. Monthly 
and annual figures are arithmetic averages of those for 
working days.

Ordinary sharesJhese indices are weighted arithmetic 
averages of the percentage price changes of the 
constituent shares since the base date; weights for each 
constituent are the total market values of the shares 
issued at the base date modified to maintain continuity 
when capital changes occur, for example through rights 
issues, or when constituents change, for example when 
companies disappear owing to takeovers or new 
companies become large enough to qualify for the 
indices.

The industrial share index of 500 shares comprises 
three main sections - capital goods, a consumer group, 
another group (made up of chemicals, office equipment, 
shipping and transport, telephone networks and 
miscellaneous) and oils. To form the all-share index an 
index of ordinary shares of financial and property 
companies Is combined with an index of investment trust 
company shares, mining finance houses, overseas 
trading companies and the industrial (500) share index.

The table now incorporates a series for the FT-SE 100 
share index which is based on the 100 largest UK 
registered companies.

The aim of the FT-SE 100 index is to have sufficient 
coverage of the market to follow closely the FT-Actuaries 
All-share index, yet be small enough to calculate in real 
time throughout the Stock Exchange day. tt is used in 
support of futures contracts based on the UK equity 
market. It's method of calculation is similar to that of the 
All-share index.

The composition of the industrial, all-share and FT-SE 
100 indices varies from time to time.

Dividend yields are the totals of the last year’s 
dividends, up to the most recently declared, payable on 
the capital of constituents expressed as percentages of 
total market valuation.

Earnings yields.Earnlngs, as calculated from the latest 
available reports and accounts and interim statements 
are expressed as percentages of total market valuation. 
From August 1965 earnings are taken as gross profit 
less corporation tax and other charges and gross 
preference dividends; the yields given relate to earnings 
with corporation Xax at 40% up to 5 December 1967, at 
42.5% up to 7 May 1969, at 45% up to 29 November

1970, at 42.5% up to 30 March 1971 and then at 40%. 
Previously, earnings were taken as net profit (gross profit 
less income tax, profits tax and other charges and net 
preference dividends) grossed up for income tax. The 
average of yields in the first week of August 1965, on the 
old basis was 10.83% compared with 8.43% on the new.

In anticipation of the new imputation system of 
corporation tax (effective on 6 April 1973), from February 
1973 until April 1974, the earnings yield was calculated 
on the assumption of corporation tax at 50% and full 
distribution of earnings. From April 1974 corporation tax 
increased to 52% and from April 1985 it decreased to 
40% on which the calculation has since been based.

Preference stocks. The prices used are middle market 
prices at close of business adjusted for accrued interest 
less income teix at the standard rate. There are 20 
component stocks and the price index is one twentieth of 
the sum of the percentage changes in prices of these 
stocks. Yields are the arithmetic averages of those 
calculated on each stock. The Financial Times ceased 
publishing these data on 31 December 1990.

Debenture and ban stocks. Up to 16 March 1981 the 
index and yield for debenture and loan stocks were 
calculated from the price changes of fifteen stocks with 
an average term to maturity of about twenty years. The 
stocks were divided into three groups according to 
redemption date and the price factors and yields for the 
three groups were combined in a weighted average to 
provide a prbe index and gross redemption yield 
appropriate to a stock of exactly twenty years duration. 
From 17 March 1981 a rebased series has been 
published. Three separate redemption yields are now 
available for five, fifteen and twenty-five years. The 
series shown in this table is the redemption yield on 
twenty-five year stocks.

Financial Times industrial ordinary (30 
share) index

The index is geometric in construction. It is calculated 
and published by the Financial Times at hourly intervals 
from 10.00 to 15.00 with a closing index produced shortly 
after 17.00 based on prices collected after the end of 
normal trading. Figures in the table are closing figures. 
The base date is 1 July 1935, which equals 100. 
Constituents of the index are thirty market leaders, 
representing a cross-section of British industry. Dividend 
and earnings yield calculations are also geometric. (See 
also notes above.)

Timeliness
Figures for the latest month appear in Financial 

Statistics about the end of the following month.

Further references
As mentioned above, FT-Actuaries share indices are 

published daily in the Financial Times. The Bank of 
England Quarterly Bulletin carries a small range of FT- 
Actuaries share prices indices and yields for last working 
days of the month and Mondays of each week, rather 
than averages. Longer runs of figures appear in the 
Annual Abstract of Statistics, table 17.10.
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Table 13.8
Short-term money rates

Commercial bills: discount market buying rates - prime 
bank bills (3 months): with effect from August 1981, the 
figures shown are those applicable to bank bills eligible 
for discount at the Bank of England.

Commercial bills: discount market buying rates - trade 
bills (3 months): the rate at which trade bills are 
discounted depends on their quality. The figures shown 
are market rates for bills of good quality. Some trade bills 
are discounted at lower rates. The data are taken from 
daily series which appear in the Financial Times; no rate 
has been quoted since April 1991.

Selected retail banks: the data are rates set by 
Barclays Bank, Lloyds Bank. Midland Bank and National 
Westminster Bank. The deposit account rates are 
averages paid by the banks grossed up at the current 
rate of composite rate tax until March 1991 and 
thereafter at the standard rate of income tax. With effect 
from mid-1991, consistent data for this series is not 
generally available and it is no longer maintained.

Timeliness
Short-term money rates are widely published in the 

daily press. The figures for the last Friday in the latest 
month appear in Financial Statistics about the end of the 
following month.

Further references
Similar weekly series are published in the Bank of 

England Quarterly Bulletin and monthly figures of 
selected short-term money rates back to January 1945 
are available In the Bank of England Statistical Abstracts. 
Monthly average figures of selected money and bill rates 
for the latest twelve years appear in the Annual Abstract 
of Statistics \ab\6 17.9 (1987). See also table 13.15 for 
average quarterly figures for selected retail banks base 
rate and deposit account (7 days notice) rate and the 
three-months inter-bank rate.

Table 13.9
National Savings Bank: rate of interest on 
investment account

The investment account was introduced on 20 June 
1966. The minimum deposit was raised to £5 on 1 April 
1985. The maximum permitted holding has varied from 
time to time as follows:

Period
20 June 1966 -30 July 1969 
1 July 1969 - 5 June 1974 
6 June 1974 - 25 July 1977 
26 July 1977 - 29 January 1981 
30 January 1981 - 3 May 1984 
5 May 1984 - 15 July 1986 
16 July 1986 - 31 December 1989 
1 January 1990 to date

Maximum
£5,000
£ 10,000
Unlimited
£50,000
£200,000
£50,000
£100,000
£25,000

Interest is credited to accounts once a year on 31 
December. Prior to 1 January 1984 interest was credited 
on balances held for a complete calendar month. From 
1 January 1984 interest is payable on a daily basis. From 
1 January 1990 new holdings were restricted to personal 
savers and trustees for Individuals.

Table 13.10
Selected retail banks: base rates

The base rates of Barclays Bank, Lloyds Bank. 
Midland Bank and National Westminster Bank only are 
used to compile this table. Each of these has a single 
base rate, which may sometimes differ from those of the 
other banks. The rates of interest charged by the banks 
on much of their lending to customers are set at margins 
over their own base rates: the size of the margin 
depends on the nature and status of the customer. A 
change in base rate normally signifies a marked change 
in the level of short-term market rates; hertce base rate 
is widely used as an indicator of the broad level of 
interest rates. However, some bank lending Is at rates 
more closely related to money market rates which vary 
daily and some, for example to persons for house 
purchase, is at rates which vary less frequently than 
base rate. The only loans for which the banks charge 
uniform rates are those for ECGD-guaranteed exports 
and for domestic shipbuilding.

Timeliness
Changes in their base rates are announced individually 

by the banks and published in the financial press. 
Changes up to the beginning of the latest month are 
published in Financial Statistics about the end of the 
month.

A minimum lending rate of 12% was announced on 
Monday 14 January 1985; however, it lapsed at close of 
business the same day. Similarly a minimum lending rate 
of 14% was Invoked on Monday 8 October 1990 and 
lapsed at close of business that day. A minimum lending 
rate of 12% was invoked on Wednesday 16 September 
1992 and a minimum lending rate of 10% was 
announced on Thursday 17 September 1992.Since 20 
August 1981 MLR has not been posted continuously.

Further references
Base rates at dates of change are also given in the 

Annual Abstract of Statistics. The Bank of England 
Statistical Abstract 1992. Part 1 has monthly averages of 
base rates from October 1971 to June 1992 and the 
dates of changes in, successively, bank rate, minimum 
lending rate and base rates from 1970 to mid 1992. 
Quarterly average rates are shown in table 13.15.

Table 13.11
Finance house base rate

instalment credit finance houses specialise in the 
provision of hire-purchase and other instalment credit for 
the purchase of consumer durables and in the finance of 
industrial equipment.

The base rate was first published by the Finance 
Houses Association on 1 September 1970 and is 
calculated monthly. The rate is calculated by averaging 
the weekly averages of the three-month inter-bank rate 
in the preceding eight weeks, and rounding to the 
nearest one half per cent above. The data are taken from 
the Financial Times.

Timeliness
Changes in the base rate are announced by the 

Finance Houses Association and published in the press. 
The change takes effect on the first of the month and the
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new rate is normally published in Financisl Statistics 
about the end of the month.

Table 13.12
Building societies; rates of interest

In November 1984 The Building Societies Association 
ceased to advise rates of interest on shares and 
mortgages. The BSA rates were last published in the 
December 1985 issue. In subsequent issues average 
rates are calculated by the Building Societies 
Commission.

In general each building society has a range of share 
and mortgage accounts. As regards shares there Is a 
basic or ordinary share account together with a number 
of other share accounts some of whose rates may be 
linked to the society’s basic share rate by a stated 
differential. Similarly for mortgages there may be in 
addition to a basic mortgage rate other mortgage rates 
depending on the size of the advance, the nature or age 
of the property and the type of mortgage (e.g. 
repayment, endowment, etc.) and which are usually 
linked to the basic rate by a stated differential.

For both share and mortgage accounts therefore two 
rates are shown in table 13.12 ; a basic rate and an 
average rate. Rates shown are derived from monthly 
returns to the Registry of Friendly Societies by 
calculating for each rate a weighted average of the 
individual rates (using month-end share/mortgage 
balances) of those societies which comprised the 20 
largest at the beginning of the year. At the beginning of 
1984 those 20 societies accounted for some 07 percent 
of the total assets of all societies.

Rates shown reflect the position at the end of each 
month and being based on actual rates in force also 
reflect any timing differences that may exist between 
societies in their general implementations of new rates. 
When interest rates are changing it should be noted that 
for an individual society those for mortgages come into 
effect at varying dates, usually immediately for new 
accounts and at various dates afterwards for existing 
accounts depending on the terms of the mortgage and 
also on whether there is any intentional delay in 
Implementation. Because of this the basic mortgage rate 
is taken as that applying to the majority of accounts 
within a society rather than that simply affecting new 
accounts, while actual rates in force are reflected in the 
average rate.

The rates have been calculated from January 1984. 
No earlier data are available In these series.

Table 13.13
Public Works Loan Board: local authority 
interest rates

This table shows rates for loans to local authorities 
from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB). They are for 
fixed rate loans within the annual quota of loans available 
to local authorities from the PWLB. Rates are shown, for 
the operative date, for three types of loan:

loans repayable by half-yearly equal 
instalments of principal with interest paid on 
the decreasing balance of the principal; 
repayable by equal half-yearly instalments of 
principal and interest combined;

repayable at maturity; interest paid half-yearly.

Rates are determined by the Treasury and changes 
are also published in the London and Edinburgh 
Gazettes.

Table 13.14
other local authorities interest rates

The table shows rates for the four main types of local 
authority borrowing instruments.

Deposits with local authorities range mainly from two 
days to twelve months with a variety of option clauses. 
The series show the ranges over the day until May 1982 
and mid-morning rates thereafter.

Negotiable bonds have maturities at issue ranging 
from one year up to five years, the great majority being 
for just over one year. They are listed on the Stock 
Exchange.

Stock issues by local authorities are made on their 
behalf by brokers and issuing houses generally through 
public offers. The stocks are listed in the gilt-edged 
section of the Stock Exchange and are transferable free 
of stamp duty. Provided they were acquired after 13 
March 1984, local authority stocks are also exempt from 
capital gains tax when held for more than one year. The 
rate shown is an average of gross redemption yields on 
selected stocks.

Mortgages are unquoted borrowing instruments. The 
rates given are those for the beginning of the week 
following the last Friday in each period and are for 
mortgage business, generally in large amounts, 
transacted in London. Local authorities also issue 
unquoted bonds on similar terms.

Timeliness
Figures for the end of the last month are published in 

Financial Statistics about the end of the following month.

Further references
The Bank of England Statistical Abstract Numbers 1 

and 2 contain a run of monthly figures for three-month 
deposits between 1956 and 1974.

Table 13.15
Average money rates

The table shows average quarterly figures for certain 
money market rates and government stock yields.

Selected retail banks' base rate is the average over 
working days. The data are rates for the four banks listed 
in the notes to table 13.10. Details of dates of changes 
are given in table 13.10.

Selected retail banks' 7 day deposit rata ls an average 
over working days grossed up at the current rate of 
composite rate tax until March 1991 and thereafter at the 
standard rate of income tax.

Inter-bank rate (3 months) is the average of working
days.

British government securities 20-year calculated gross 
redemptbn yield Is calculated from the Bank of England 
model (see notes to table 13.5) and since the beginning 
of 1976 the figures are the average of all calculations 
made (every working day since January 1982).

3.5% War Loan flat yield, is calculated from closing 
prices (mean bid and offer prices) and is the average of
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working days.
Monthly figures appear in table 13.8 (Selected retail 

banks seven-day deposit rates and inter-bank rates), 
table 13.5 (calculated gross redemption yields) and table
13.4 (3.5% War Loan flat yield).



Section 14
e

Balance sheets
National and sector balance sheets, integrated with 

flows data, may be regarded as the final link in the chain 
of national income and expenditure accounts. Official 
work on producing a consistent set of balance sheets for 
all sectors of the economy started in 1975. The first 
results (balance sheets for the years 1966 to 1975) were 
published in an article 'National and sector balance 
sheets for the United Kingdom’ in Economic Trends, 
November 1980.

Annual data
Balance sheets including tangible assets for all sectors 

for the last eleven years are now published in Chapter 12 
of United Kingdom National Accounts, (the 'Blue BooK). 
Exceptionally, in 1991. these tables were published in the 
October edition of Economic Trends. The balance sheet 
of the personal sector in more detail is published in table 
S2 of the February issue of Financial Statistics.

Quarterly data 
Tables 14.1 to 14.4
Financial assets and liabilities of the non
bank private sector

These tables cover building societies, other non-bank 
financial institutions, industrial and commercial 
companies, and the personal sector. These are the only 
sectors for which comprehensive quarterly financial 
balance sheets are at present published. These data 
were introduced in a supplementary table in Financial 
Statistics August 1981 which gave quarterly data from 
end-1966 to end-1980. Annual figures had been 
published in an article entitled 'Financial wealth of the 
non-bank private sector* in Economic Trends, July 1981. 
Changes have since been made to some of the asset 
and liability groups shown in the tables and from the 
December 1991 edition of Financial Statistics they show 
the same financial instrument classifications as are used 
in the financial transaction accounts. Quarterly data from 
end-1975 are also available on the CSO Databank, and 
in some cases from 1963.

Consolidation
up to the November 1991 issue. Chapter 14 included 

a table (as table 14.1) showing the financial assets and 
liabilities of the non-bank private sector on a consolidated 
basis. In other words, the table only covered claims 
between members of the non-bank private sector and 
other sectors, i.e. public sector, banks or overseas. A 
description of consolidation is given in appendix 2 of the 
article in Economic Trends, July 1981.

Other data for financial assets and liabilities
Some statistics of financial assets and liabilities along 

with transactions data are published monthly in Financial 
Statistics. These series, wrth their frequency and form of 
analysis, are as follows.

Chapter 3 - Central government.
Treasury bills and tax instruments: quarterly levels and 
flows by holding sector. National savings: quarterly 
levels and flows by type of instrument.

Chapter 4 - Local authorities.
Longer-term debt: annual levels (financial year-end) 
and quarterly flows by type of debt and, for non- 
marketable debt, by holding sector. Temporary debt 
and investments: quarterly levels and flows by type of 
debt and sector.

Chapter 6 - Banks and building societies.
Liabilities and assets : quarterly levels and flows with 
deposits and loans outstanding analysed by sector 
and between amounts in sterling and in other 
currencies. Loans, advances and acceptances to UK 
residents: quarterly levels and flows by industrial 
classification.

Chapter 7 - Other financial institutions.
Annual levels and quarterly flows for the assets and 
liabilities of the following institutional groups: credit 
companies (excluding banks and building societies), 
property unit trusts, unit trusts, investment trusts, 
insurance companies and pension funds.

Chapter 9 - Personal sector.
Consumer credit, loans for house purchase, borrowing 
from banks and other borrowing: annual levels and 
quarterly flows; consumer credit and loans for house 
purchase analysed by type of lending institution.

Chapter 10 - Overseas sector.
Official reserves: quarterly levels and flows, (the levels 
being analysed by type of asset). UK position with 
IMF: monthly levels and flows, flows analysed by type 
of transaction.

Chapter 11 - Money stock.
Calendar quarter and monthly levels and flows for the 
various monetary aggregates. Detailed tables show 
analyses of the main aggregates by type of 
instrument.

Some other tables in Financial Statistics show only 
assets and liabilities. Table 8.6 is based on the quarterly 
survey of the liquidity of large industrial and commercial 
companies and analyses of their current assets and 
liabilities. Quarterly data for selected liquid assets of all 
industrial and commercial companies and for the 
personal sector are given in tables 8.4 and 9.5 
respectively. Quarterly data for external liabilities and 
claims are given in tables 10.4 and 10.5 and quarterly 
data for public sector foreign currency borrowing are 
given in table 10.6.

The statistics of assets and liabilities referred to here 
are not all consistent with the definitions used in the 
sector balance sheets. For example, some of the series 
are at book value rather than at market prices. Data 
collected from both the asset-holding and liability-holding 
institutions may differ (e.g. pension funds’ holdings of unit 
trust units); in the sector balance sheets, these 
differences are eliminated. The coverage of the series 
are not always the same as that of similar items in the 
balance sheet statistics. For example, in table 6.1, bank 
lending Includes investments in government stock and 
company securities which are shown separately in the 
sector balance sheets.
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Balance sheets 

Quality of data
As with transactions figures (see page 25), the quality 

of the balance sheet data varies between one instrument 
and another and, for particular instruments, between the 
various sectors issuing or holding the instrument. Data 
for sectors covered by regular returns of levels and/or 
flows are generally more reliable than those for other 
sectors such as, for the most part, industrial and 
commercial companies and the personal sector. Where 
a non-marketable instrument is held predominantly by a 
single sector, such as personal sector holdings of 
national savings, a reliable figure for the holding sector 
can usually be obtained from the records of the issuing 
sector. Issuing sectors can also often provide sectoral 
analyses of outstanding loans, but they cannot supply 
regular information on sectoral holdings of marketable 
instruments.

Of the sectors covered by quarterly returns, only 
banks and (from 1987) building societies supply complete 
quarterly balance sheet information. The quarterly returns 
from public corporations, local authorities and most other 
financial institutions only collect levels information for 
short-term instruments (i.e. those with less than one year 
from issue to maturity). For long-term instruments, the 
quarterly figures are generally only for transactions, but 
figures for end year levels of assets and liabilities are 
collected for the financial institutions. The figures for the 
intervening quarters have to be estimated by interpolation 
and their quality tends to be poorer. This is especially so 
for marketable instruments where price changes as well 
as ftows have to be taken into account in estimating end- 
quarter levels.

Changes in sector coverage
From 1 January 1981, the National Savings Bank 

investment account was reclassified from the other 
financial institutions (OFI) sector to the central 
government sector. Up to that date the deposits (£1,871 
million at end-1980) were included under savings bank 
deposits, as personal sector assets and OFI sector 
liabilities. Thereafter, they are included under national 
savings.

At the beginning of 1982, Trustee savings banks and 
some other deposit-taking institutions were transferred 
from the OFI sector to the monetary sector. From the 
end of the first quarter of 1982, their assets and liabilities 
are excluded from the OFI table.

Trade credit import and export (industrial and 
commercial companies and overseas sectors): from the 
beginning of 1983, estimates are no longer available for 
most pre-payments and credits with related concerns. 
The end-1982 values of these components were: 
overseas assets £4,742 million; overseas liabilities 
£4,340 million.

The balance sheet estimates are also affected by the 
sectoral changes, especially (since 1983) privatisation, 
which are mentioned In the methodological notes in 
United Kingdom Income and Expenditure (the Blue Book) 
(HMSO, annually).
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Annex 1
Supplementary tables

A list of supplementary tables and expected 
publication dates for the forthcoming year is to be found 
on the inside of the back cover of Financial Statistics. It 
may not always be possible to achieve the expected 
publication date.

To distinguish them from the regular monthly tables, 
supplementary tables have the prefix S or L.

The L tables were introduced during 1992 to show the 
latest figures for national accounting tables which, in the 
main body, had been frozen at an earlier stage to 
maintain consistency with other data in the financial 
accounts. Table L9.4, for example, shows the latest 
figures for loans for house purchase, while table 9.4 in 
the main body, remains consistent with tables in Chapter 
1 and is updated when the whole of the national 
accounts are updated.

S1 Debt of the public sector: nominal 
amount outstanding
Annually: February

An article describing these statistics was published in 
Economic Trends, May 1977.

National debt comprises the total liabilities of the 
National Loans Fund, full details of which are given each 
year in Consolidated Fund and National Loans Fund 
Accounts: Supplementary Statements. An annual article, 
analysing the national debt by instrument and holder, 
appears in the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin. The 
November 1991 issue article gave details of the 
distribution of national debt up to end-March 1991.

Foreign currency debt lor each sub-sector is valued at 
middle closing spot exchange rates on the last working 
day of March of each year. Much of the foreign currency 
debt of local authorities and public corporations has been 
contracted through the exchange cover scheme under 
which the Treasury guarantees the debt against 
depreciation of sterling vis-a-vis the currency in which the 
debt is denominated. Thus the market exchange rate 
valuation will overstate the liability of these authorities 
when sterling depreciates, but not the liability of the 
public sector as a whole.

Official holdings comprise debt held by the Bank of 
England, the National Debt Commissions, Government 
departments and other official holders. They Include 
marketable securities. Treasury bills, ways and means 
advances, terminable annuities (until 1979), other debt to 
the Bank of England, temporary deposits and from 1982, 
non-marketable stocks issued to the National Debt 
Commissioners.

Trustee savings banks: ordinary departments current 
accounts (as part of national savings) were included until 
20 November 1976 and savings accounts until 20 
November 1979. Thereafter the government's 
outstanding liabilities in respect of these deposits are 
shown in the table as Liability to Trustee savings banks.

Accrued interest, etc. on national savings includes 
accrued interest, index-linking and bonus as applicable 
for national savings certificates and SAVE contracts and, 
from 1981, National Savings Bank investment accounts.

Notes and coin in circulation exclude holdings by the 
Bank of England, which are included In net indebtedness 
of the central government to the Bank of England
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banking department.
Government-guaranteed stocks of nationalised 

industries. Although these stocks are liabilities of public 
corporations they cannot be distinguished from British 
government securities in the sector analysis of holdings.

Domestic private sector holdings are obtained by 
residual and contain some unidentified holdings by public 
sector bodies.

Contingent liabilities of central government are shown 
only where data are readily available and exclude 
guarantees of loans to the public sector. Further details 
are given in the Supplementary Statements for each 
year.

The components of this table are of reliable quality.
Figures are also now published for the net debt of the 

public sector, ie the gross debt less public sector liquid 
assets. The series was introduced in the March 1986 
issue of the Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin] annual 
data from end-March 1980 to 1991 were given in the 
November 1991 issue.

S2 Balance sheets of the personal sector
Annually: February

This table used to update, with some changes in 
detail, the corresponding table published in 'Personal 
sector balance sheets and currerrt developments in 
Inland Revenue estimates of personal wealth’. Studies in 
Official Statistics, No. 35 (HMSO).

Balance sheets for all sectors are now published in 
United Kingdom National Accounts (the Blue Book) and 
for the non-bank Private Sectors, in Chapter 14 of 
Financial Statistics, using the same instrument 
classifications as the financial transactions accounts. 
Table S2 shows the Personal Sector balance sheet with 
more detail for national savings and some other 
instruments. It also provides an opportunity for including 
data for tangible assets where not available at the time 
of the previous Blue Book.

Total consumer credit is not separately distinguished 
in this table but the amount of credit outstanding 
quarterly is shown in table 9.3.

At end-1975, Trustee savings bank deposits in 
ordinary departments were included in national savings, 
and deposits in special investment departments were 
excluded. From November 1976, current accounts were 
excluded from national savings, and In November 1979 
savings accounts were excluded.

National Savings Bank investment accounts are 
included in national savings from January 1981.

Bank lending excludes loans for house purchase,
which are shown separately.

Several series were affected by the transfer of Trustee 
savings banks and other deposit-taking institutions from 
the other financial institutions sector to the new monetary 
sector (now UK banks) at the beginning at 1982.

S3 Annual financial accounts matrix
Annually: July

The table shows an analysis by sector and by type of 
asset of the latest year’s financial transactions in the 
same format as in table 1.1. For description of categories 
etc., see notes commencing on page 12 of Section 1.
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ûde

tetails
each

Jfthe
liquid
1986
inual
ithe

Dr

s in 
onal 
s in 
isin

din 
and 
i of 
lent 
nts. 
vith 
her 
ling 
me

led
ing

in
gs.
3re
3re
79

jre

>e,

ee
»m
iry

of
le
js

Supplementary tables

S4 National debt: nominal amount 
outstanding
Annually: June (July 1992)

The figures included here represent the total nominal 
liabilities of the National Loans Fund calculated as 
outstanding at 31 March each year, analysed by 
instrument and maturity. The table shows details for the 
most recently completed financial year, where the figures 
are provisional, and for the three previous financial years. 
Full details are given in Consolidated Fund and National 
Loans Fund Accounts: Supplementary Statements 
(normally published annually in December). These 
figures are included in supplementary table S1 and the 
Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin for December also 
contains an article on the distribution of the national debt.

The sterling valuation of debt payable in external 
currencies has been made at the following rates:

1
1967
1966
1969
1990
1991 
1

USS
1.4780
1.6042
1.6645
1.68S5
1.S4S5
1 7365
1.7350

C«n 6 
2 0646 
2 0966 
2 3243 
2.0116 
1.9261 
2 0144 
2.0647

ecu

1.S36S 
1 3642 
1 4426 
1.3975

S9 Reconciliation of the financial accounts 
and the balance of payments accounts
Annually: September

The table, which is shown in a matrix-style 
presentation, shows for the latest year how the figures in 
the financial
accounts relate to those in the balance of payments 
accounts. The financial accounts, as shown in table 1.12, 
analyse financial transactions with the overseas sector by 
category of instrument. A different classification is 
adopted for the balance of payments accounts which are 
required to identify and record transactions between 
residents of the United Kingdom and overseas residents 
in a way which is suitable for analysing the economic 
relationship between the UK economy and the rest of the 
world. Some of the data for the financial accounts are not 
obtained directly from the balance of payments accounts 
but are derived from government accounts and financial 
institutions.

The columns in this reconciliation are based on the 
headings shown in table 1.12 of Financial Statistics or 
table 11.15 of United Kingdom National Accounts: rows 
are based on tables 10.1, and 10.2 of Financial Statistics 
or tables 1.1 and 8.1 of United Kingdom Balance of 
Payments. The numbering of the columns follows that of 
the financial accounts, i.e. line numbers in table 1.1. The 
entries in the first row of the matrix are the sum of the 
relevant column items and those in the first column are 
the sum of the relevant line items. Finartcial surplus or 
deficit equals, apart from the change in sign, the current 
balance in the balance of payments accounts plus (in 
earlier years) capital transfers.

S10 Local authority loan debt: residual 
maturity analysis
Annually: December 1991

The figures shown in these tables are based mainly on 
returns of outstanding debt made by local authorities to 
the Chartered Institute of Public Rnance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA).

Local authorities are asked to provide a maturity 
analysis only of their market borrowing. The Public 
Works Loan Board provide an analysis of their loans 
outstanding with local authorities and the results from the 
two sources are combined to provide an analysis of total 
local authority loan debt. All instalment debt, (including 
annuity loans) is classified by repayment dates instead of 
final instalment dates. The table shows a four year time 
series summary at national and UK level.

S11 Pension funds: analysis of assets and 
liabilities by size of fund
Annually: November/December (February in 1990)

This table shows an analysis of the assets and 
liabilities of pension funds according to their size. The 
figures are a further breakdown of the holdings figures in 
table 7.12 and the notes to that table give details of 
coverage and methods of compilation.

The size bands given in the table are for total financial 
assets less liabilities (at market values). The bands relate 
to the sizes of funds which p>ertained at 31 March 1979 
for local authority funds, and at 31 December 1978 for 
other public sector and for private sector funds. The 
number of funds in each size band is the number of 
companies etc. identified as having funds, although many 
have more than one. For private sector funds the number 
in the smallest size band is an estimate. Funds where 
the parent company has been privatised are included in 
the private sector from the year in which privatisation 
took place, if that occurred by the end of September, or 
from the following year if privatisation was In October or 
later. The number of funds are changed accordingly.

Short-term assets (net) includes both long-term 
borrowing and short-term borrowing as negative items.

UK company securities includes units of authorised 
unit trusts.

Other investments includes loans and mortgages.
The second part of the table shows the number of 

funds within each size band for each of the latest six 
years. In this part the size is shown at 31 March of each 
year for local authority funds or 31 December of each 
year for other public sector funds. For private sector 
funds the analysis is only available for 31 December 
1978.

SI 2 Treasury analysis of public expenditure
Annually: November

The table covers the past five years using the 
definitions and classifications of the latest public 
expenditure White Paper (The Government's Expenditure 
Plans). The Treasury figures for all years are in effect 
estimates of what expenditure would have been if 
definitions and classifications, including the aibcation of 
functbns to spending authorities, had been the same as 
in the current year.

The Chancellor’s Autumn Statement, 1989 (Cm 879) 
introduced a new planning total for public expenditure. 
Up to November 1989, S I 2 relates to the old definitbn, 
which comprised the expenditure of central government 
and local authorities (excluding transfers between them), 
together with the net market and overseas borrowing by 
nationalised industries and most other public 
corporations. For certain public corporations the planning 
total includes their capital expenditure but excludes 
government grants and lending to them. In the new
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planning total, local authority expenditure is replaced by 
transfers from and credit approvals issued by central 
government (see notes to table 2.4 for further details). 
Central government and local authority finance to 
nationalised industries and other public corporations, 
together with their market and overseas borrowing is 
included in public corporations. Privatisation proceeds 
count as negative expenditure in the planning total. 
Differences in the coverage of the planning total and 
general government expenditure are detailed in the notes 
to table 2.4 and in Appendix C to Chapter 21 of the 1990 
White Paper (Cm 1021). The final line of table S i 2 gives 
the estimate of the planning total based on national 
account figures and is derived using the adjustmerrts in 
table 2.4. The 'Adjustment' line of table SI 2 shows the 
residual difference between the public expenditure 
planning total as measured by national accounts and 
Treasury sources.

S13 Public sector accounts by subsector
Twice yearly: July and November

This table is primarily intended to show the outturn 
figure corresponding to the estimated outturn in table 6.7 
of the Financial Statement and Budget Report (FSBR). 
It is normally intended to be published twice yearly, first 
in June with the first estimates of outturn for the financial 
year and second in November to take on revisions 
arising in the UK National Accounts - 'Blue BooK. Time 
series relating to figures In the final (public sector) 
column appear monthly in table 2.7. The layout of both 
tables will change with changes to the FSBR table.

The sign convention for these tables Is in line with 
table 6.7 of the Financial Statement and Budget Report 
(FSBR). The signs of the series on the CSO Databank 
are unaffected. The convention for these tables is now as 
follows:

Financial deficit and net borrowing, positive; financial 
surplus and net debt repayment, negative.

Other financial transactions: net acquisition of financial 
assets and reduction in liabilities, positive; net disposal of 
assets and increase in liabilities, negative; ie the financial 
accounts convention.

On this basis the Public sector borrowing requirement 
equals the financial deficit plus financial transactions 
(net). Sector receipts and sector payments are shown 
positive. Following from this most of the components of 
the first four columns can be seen in the first three tables 
of Sections 3, 4 and 5. and tables 2.1, 2.2 and 2.5. The 
exceptions are as follows.

Interest and dividends within the public sector are 
separated from other interest flows and are shown net on 
the receipts side of the account. Payments by public 
corporations to general government are shown 
separately in table 5.1, but others are not identified.

Current and capital grants and net lending within the 
public sector are also separated out, and shown as net 
flows.

Capital grants within the public sector includes 
transfers from public corporations shown as 
miscellaneous capita! receipts (ADCB) in table 4.2, and 
included in capital transfers to other sectors (ADSG) in 
table 5.2.

Lending within the public sector includes PDC 
advances by central government to public corporations.

Miscellaneous financial transactions comprises the

Supplementary tables

balancing items less ACJS (table 3.3) less ADGK (table 
4.3) plus ADEE (table 4.3) plus ADTC plus ADTK plus 
ADTL (all from table 5.3).

Contributions to public sector borrowing requirement 
are explained in more detail in the footnotes to table 2.5.

S14 Personal sector: committed and 
discretionary saving
Annually: In abeyance; last published October 1988

These tables update the figures given in the article on 
Committed and discretionary saving In Ecor)omic Trends, 
November 1981, with information consistent with the 
latest edition of United Kingdom National Accounts.

Saving is defined in the national accounts as the 
balance of current income and expenditure. The analysis 
shows how the saving balance is accounted for by 
transactions on capital and financial accounts and how 
the latter may be divided into committed and 
discretionary transactions.

The analysis aims to define committed transactions as 
those which are regular and which result from an Initial 
decision. Regular savings schemes tend to be of this 
kind, as do regular repayments of borrowing. The 
analysis aims to define discretionary transactions as 
those which do not involve a commitment to follow an 
initial decision with further instalments. New borrowing, 
for example, is discretionary as is depositing in bank 
current accounts. The exact line between committed and 
discretionary transactions is somewhat arbitrary and the 
picture is further complicated because K is not always 
possible, with the available data, to make the division 
according to the preferred definitions.

Committed items
Net saving through life assurance and superannuation 

schemes excludes single premiums for individual life 
policies and associated administrative costs.

Repayments of borrowing for house purchase 
comprises regular payments of building society loans and 
all repayments of local authority loans and insurance 
company loans.

Discretionary items
Single premiums for individual life policies is net of 

associated administrative costs.
Securities comprises overseas and company 

securities, British government securities, unit trust units, 
local authority longer-term debt, other public sector debt 
and other identified assets.

Liquid assets comprises notes and coin, bank 
deposits, national savings and deposits with building 
societies excluding those defined as committed saving.

Borrowing for house purchase comprises gross 
borrowing from building societies, insurance companies 
and local authorities, redemptions and other lump sum 
payments to building societies and net borrowing from 
other institutions.

Other borrowing comprises gross borrowing from 
retailers and finance houses, net borrowing from banks 
and other institutions, and other liabilities.

S21 Save as you earn
Quarterly : Jan, April, July, Nov. (March 1991)

This table brings together the quarterly statistics for 
the save-as-you-earn (SAVE) schemes operated by the 
building societies, the Department for National Savings
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and Trustee savings banks. Details are given of numbers 
of accounts opened and closed and the numbers 
outstanding and the value of contributions, withdrawals 
and the balance outstanding.

523 Public expenditure, revenue and 
borrowing
Annually. November

This is a summary table showing public expenditure, 
revenue and borrowing consistent with the data included 
in Sections 2 to 5. The presentation of this table follows 
that shown in tables 2.4. 2.5 and 2.6 of chapter 2 of the 
Financial Statement and Budget Report (FSBR). This 
table enables the forecast for the financial year to be 
compared with the outturns. Debt repayment is shown 
elsewhere as sectoral borrowing requirement with sign 
reversed.

524 Finances of the public sector
Annually: November

The presentation of this table follows that shown in 
table 1.2 of chapter 1 of the Financial Statement and 
Budget Report (FSBR) . It summarises the receipts and 
expenditure of the public sector and enables the forecast 
for the financial year to be compared with the outturns.

Some of the receipts shown are cash receipts by the 
government and are not on a national accounts or 
accrued basis. In order to articulate with the national 
accounts the accruals adjustments are included in other 
taxes and royalties (CJOl) and in other receipts (ABLJ).

Inland Revenue receipts are shown in Table 3.14 and 
Customs and Excise receipts are shown in Table 3.15. 
They are on a cash basis.

Other taxes and royalties include Motor vehicle duties 
net of export relief and driving licences; accrued Northern 
Ireland rates; gas levy; sugar levy; ECSC production 
levy, LRT levy; fines and penalties by Customs and 
Excise and fees under the Consumer Credit Act. Bus fuel 
rebates and accruals adjustments and central and local 
government refunds of VAT.

Total expenditure taxes is the total defined in the 
national accounts (Table 2.1) and is on an accrued basis.

North Sea Corporation fax is included before advance 
corporation tax set off as shown in the footnotes. The 
latter is included In other Corporation tax. See table 1.3 
of Inland Revenue Statistics 1986.

Petroleum revenue tax includes supplementary 
petroleum tax as well as net advance petroleum tax 
(Table 3.14).

Oil royalties are cash receipts by Department of 
Energy (Table 3.16) (excluding licence fees). The 
accruals adjustment is included in other taxes and 
royalties.

Other taxes and royalties includes the adjustment for 
advance corporation tax set off against North Sea 
corporation tax, accrual adjustment on royalties and IBA 
levy.

Total taxes and royalties comprise all the above items 
and is on a national accounts or accrued basis.

Social Security contributions are accrued national 
insurance, health, redundancy and maternity funds 
contributions (Table 2.1).

Interest and dividends are receipts by central and local 
government excluding intra sector transactions.

Gross trading surplus and rent comprise both central 
and local government trading surpluses or deficits and 
rent income, including oil licence fees.

Other receipts include miscellaneous current transfers, 
other capital receipts, imputed charge for consumption of 
non-trading capital and all the (net) accruals adjustments 
necessary to put this account back to a cash receipts 
basis.

Expenditure is shown starting from the public 
expenditure planning total plus general government gross 
debt interest and public corporations market and 
overseas borrowing. Other national accounts adjustments 
include list III public corporations capital expenditure 
along with the other adjustments detailed in Table 2.4. 
The companion Table S i2 which shows the Treasury 
analysis of public expenditure gives further details of 
departmental expenditure and shows the outturns 
included in the FSBR.

S25 Lending by finance houses and other 
specialist credit grantors, building societies 
and on bank credit cards
Monthly

This table was introduced in September 1992 and 
replaced the table on credit business previously shown 
in Chapter 7. Table S25 links the broader coverage 
series (shown in more detail in table 9.3) with the 
narrower coverage monthly series. The narrower 
coverage series only includes lending by finance houses 
and other specialist credit grantors (including some which 
are also authorised under the terms of the Banking Act 
1987), building societies in respect of unsecured loans to 
persons permitted under the terms of the Building 
Societies Act 1986 and on bank credit cards (operated 
under the VISA and Mastercard systems). It does not 
include consumer credit agreements in the form of loans 
by banks on personal accounts, loans on charge cards 
and some types of credit card, insurance company loans 
to individuals and loans by retailers.

The table now includes figures for net lending rather 
than simple changes in amounts outstanding. The latter 
were distorted by revaluations of the debt, for example 
those resulting from amounts written off during the 
period. The net lending series are now adjusted to 
remove distortions caused by revaluations to ensure a 
consistent approach with the broader coverage series.

Further details on credit are contained in the CSO 
Bulletin on credit business.

ot

Tables S5-S8 are no longer published
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Annex 2

Financial account codes

Line
number

APITAL ACCOUNT
Saving
Capital transfers (net receipts)
Gross domestic fixed cap i^  formation 
increase in value of stocks and work in progress

Financial surplus or deficit 
FINANCIAL ACCOUffT 

Notes and cdn 
Sterling Treasury bills 
British government securities 
Natiortal savings 
Tax instruments
Net government indebtedness to Banking Department 
Northern Irelartd centra) government debt 
Government liabilities under exchange cover scheme 
Other public sector financing:

Non-marketable debt 
Short-term assets

Issue Department transactions in bills, etc 
Government foreign currency debt 
Other government overseas financing 
Official reserves

Local authority debt:
Temporary 
Foreign curren^
Sterling securities 
Other sterling debt

Public corporations debt:
Foreign currency 
Sterling

Deposits with banks:
Sterling sight 
Sterling time 
Foreign currency

Deposits with building societies 
Deposits with other financial institutions

Bank lending (excluding public sector):
Foreign currency 
Sterling

Credit extended by retailers 
Identified trade credit:

Domestic 
Import and export 

Loans for house purchase:
Building societies 
Other

Other public sector lending 
Other lending by financial institutions

Unit trust units 
UK company securities 
Overseas securities

Life assurance and pension funds 
Miscellaneous domestic instruments

Direct arfo other investment abroad 
Overseas direct and other investment in UK 
Miscellaneous overseas instruments

Accrues adjustment

Total financial transactions 
BALANCING ITEM

30
31
32

33
34

35
36
37

38

Public sector
Financial companies 

and institutions

Central Local Public 
govern- author- corpor- 

ment ities ations Banks
Building

societies

Other
financi^

insti
tutions

39
40

Industrial
arfo

commercial
companies Persons Overseas

1 AAAA AAAE AAAI AAAM AAAQ AAAU -AIMG
2 AAAB AAAF AAAJ AAAN AAAR AAAV -AAAZ
3 AAAC AAAG AAAK AAAO AAAS AAAW
4 AAAD AAAL AAAP AAAT AAAX

5 AABA AABB AABD AABF AABG AABH AABI

AACB
AACC
AACD
AACE
AACF
AACG
AACH
AACI

AADP

AACK
AACL
AACM
-AIPA

AAEB
AAEC
AAED

AAIA
AAFB
AAFC
AAGB
AAFD

AAJB
AAJC
AAJD

AAJE
•AACG
AAKI

AAEE AAFE

AAEY
AAFF
AAIP

AAKJ

■AAKQ
AAJH

AADC

AADD
ABEC

AAEF
AAEG
AAEH
AAEI

AAFG

AAFH
ADKU

AAJI
AAJJ
AAJK
AAJL

AAFJ AAJM

AHJM
AHJQ
AHJT
CJHE
AHJX

AQSB

AH JR

AHJH
AHJI

AACP AAEJ AAFK AAJN

AADG AAEK AAFL AAJO
AADH AAEL AAFM AAJP AQUL
AACR AAEM AAFN AAJQ

AAKK AQXP
AACS

AAJR

RFAN

AAJS -AHKQ
AAFO

AACA RRBI AAFP
AACT AAFQ

AAQG
AADK AAEO AAFR AAJT
AADL AAEP AAFS AAKD -CUBR
CULP AQON AAHX AQOO AQSC

AADI ADNR AAFT AAJU AQSD
AADJ AAJV AHJJ

AACW
AACX AAEQ AAHY AAKE AQSE

AAJX
AAJY

AACY AAFV AAKF

AACZ AAER AAFW AAJZ AQSG

AAOA AAES AAFX AAKA AQSH
AADB AAET AAFY AATA

AQTH
AQTS
AQTT
CJGF
AQTI

-DXKC AQTJ

AAME
AQTK
■AAMZ
ACMM

AQTU
AAMF
AQTV
AQTW

AABK
AANl

AQTX
AQTY
AQT2

ASLB
AQUB

AQUC
AQUD

AAML
AAMM

AAMO
AQPF
AQUF

AALS
AQUG
AQUH
•AALV
AQUI
AQUJ
AALY
AALZ

AQTR

AQUK

AANB
AANC
AAOC
AAOD
AANE

AAOE
ABHK

AAOV
AAOQ
AANF

AAOF

ADKX

AAOH

AANI
AANJ
RCIP

AANL
AANM

AANN
AANO
AANP

AAOI
AAOJ

AAPB

AAPC
AAPD
AAPE

AAPF

AAQK

AAQC

AAQD

AAPH

AAPI
AAPJ
AAPK

AAPL
AAPM

AAPN
AAPO
-AAPP

AAPQ

■AAQG
AAQH

Relationship between lines: 1+2-3-4b5; 6to3S»39: 39+40^5. 
Acquisition of assets or reduction in liabilities is shown positive: 

sale of assets or increase in liabilities negative.

120

AASD
AAAB
AARC

■AASH
AASK
AARD
•AACM
AIPA

AARG
AARH

AARI

AARJ
AARK

AARL
AARM
AQNU

AARO
AARP

AARQ
AARR

AASB

AANR AAPS AART
AAOK AAPT

-AALS
AANT AAPV AARU
AANU AAPW AARV

AAPX
AANV AAPY AASC

AANW -AAQN AARW
AANX AAQL AARX
AANY AARY

AANZ AAPZ

AAOA AAOA AARZ
AAOB AAOB AASA
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iRP
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Abbey National 58, 95 
Acceptances 62, 92 
Accruals adjustments: 
central government 36, 37, 41 
companies 76, 78 
local authorities 49 
national accounts 22, 23 
other financial institutions 66 
personal sector 85 
public corporations 54, 116, 119 
timing of transactions 11 

Acquisitions 81 
Administration orders 81 
Advances 19, 60, 61, 62, 64, 67, 68, 76,

79, 85, 92 
Agriculture 47, 84 
Antiques and works of art 66 
Appropriation account: a 
companies 74, 75, 76
financial companies and institutions 79 
public sector 53

6

Balance sheets 6 
Balance of payments 89, 90,
Balancing item 6, 9, 12, 14,

49, 59, 66, 78,
89, 90

Bankers deposits 60 
Bank holding companies 65 
Bank of England: 
banking department 18, 19,

61, 100
issue department 17, 35, 59 
minimum lending rate 111 
net government indebtedness to Banking 
department 15,16 
Banks sector:
advances and loans by 19, 62, 64, 76,

79, 85, 87
advances to overseas 61
assets and liabilities 13,14
base rates 110, 112
borrowing from 64, 66, 68, 76, 85
breaks 57, 58,60
capital 58, 60
reserves 58
consolidation adjustment 57 
definition 56 
deposits with 77, 78,11, 18, 40

60, 61, 76,
79, 86, 88

20, 62, 63lending 19, 
quality 57

56 57
valuation 58 
Bank subsidiaries 87 
Banking returns 56 
Banking institutions 65
banks 110, 112 
finance houses 110 

Betting and gaming 47 
Borrowing from overseas

Borrowing requirement 
central government 35, 37, 38, 40,

41, 43, 44
companies 73
local authorities 49, 50 
public corporations 54, 55 
public sector 9, 10, 31, 96, 97,

101
Breaks in series 57, 58, 60, 98 
British government securities 10,

15, 35/ 38, 40, 45, 
64, 66, 70, 71, 77, 
79, 86, 108, 109, 
112

Building Societies 
borrowing from banks 64 
compilation 63 
interest rates 112 
seasonal adjustment 64

Capital account 5, 9, 29, 36, 49, 53 
Capital consumption 3, 30, 74 
Capital expenditure 23, 74
Capital gains 11
Capital gains tax 46, 53,

117 Capital funds 61
22, 23, 37, Capital issues 20, 68, 76
79, 83, 85, Capital receipts 23, 37

Capital transfers 5, 53, 'i
85, 118

Capital transfer tax 46
Car tax 47

38, 59, 60, Central government
accruals 36, 37, 41
balancing item 37
borrowing requirement 35, 37, 38,

40, 41, 43, 44
capital account 37 
current account 36, 37 
financial account 36, 37, 38 
financial transactions 13 
funds and accounts 44, 45 
national loans fund 35, 38, 39, 43,

44, 45, 48
national savings 38 
privitisation proceeds 32 
seasonal adjustment 31 
tax instruments 35, 38 
treasury bills 35, 38, 39, 40 
timeliness 31

Certificates of deposit 43, 58, 61,
67, 96, 97, 98

Channel Islands 86, 87, 89, 102 
Charge cards 86 
Charities 58, 75, 83 
Churches 58, 83 
Classification o:
Clubs 58, 83 
Commercial bills

assets 9,10
59, 68, 92,

110
64, 76, 101,
49, 84

68

Commercial paper 
Community charge 
Companies
accrual adjustments 76, 78 
acquisitions and mergers 81 
appropriation account 73

iz
>A
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1 ,

balancing item 79 
borrowing requirement 73

18, 20, 54, 55, 66, 
70, 83, 86, 110, 117

38

definition 73 
insolvencies 81 
liquid assets 78, 79 
national accounts concepts 73, 74 
quality 80 
sources 74, 76, timeliness 74, 80, 81, 82 
uses of funds 76 
Composite rate tax 45 
Consolidated fund 35, 43, 44, 45, 60,

116, 117
Consumer credit 86 
Consximers expenditure 5, 85 
Cooperative societies 51 
Corporation tax 45, 53, 75, 79, 110 
Coverage differences 22 
Credit cards 119 
Credit control 59, 60
Credit facilities 103 
Credit by retailers 19,54, 74 
Credit tranche 93, 94
Credit unions 65
Crown agents 54, 65, 66, 91
Crown estates 30
Current account 
central government 36, 37 
local authorities 49 
overseas 89

Customs duties 44, 46, 47
Debentures 61, 75, 104, 110
Debt interest 30, 37, 39, 44
Departmental balances 45 
Departmental expenditure 47 
Departmental revenue 47 
Deposit liabilities 60 
Deposits
by overseas banks 102 
cash ratio 61
with banks 11, 18,40, 41, 58, 59, 60,

61, 76, 77, 78, 79, 86, 88 
with building societies 18, 78, 86 
with other financial institutions 19 
Depreciation 3, 60, 74 
Development land tax 53 
Direct investment 75, 78 
Direct investment overseas 89, 90 
Discount houses 62 
Discrepancies 22 
Distribution 83 
Dividends 75, 79, 83, 84 
Dividends yields 110 
DNS 40
Dollar certificates 58 
Domestic deposits 58 
Domestic income 1 
Domestic product 1, 2 
Durable goods 85
Earnings yields 110 
Employers contributions to 
national insurance and pension funds 
Equipment 60 
Estate duty 46
European coal and steel community 22 
European currency units 91, 108 
European monetary system 108 
Exchange cover scheme 16, 39, 54, 93

84

Exchange equalisation account
39, 44, 45, 

58, 98, 107 
movements 89 47
vehicles 65 38,77

Exchange rate 
Exchange rate 
Excise duties 
Export credit 
Export credit
Factor cost 4 
Factoring companies 65 
Farms 58
Final consiimption 37, 49 
Finance leasing 37 
Finance leasing companies 
Finance holding companies 
Finance houses 119 
Financial account 
accruals 11, 22 
asset categories (diagram) 28 
balancing item 22, 23 
bank deposits 11 
bank lending 20
british government securities 10,

15classification of assets 9, 10 
company securities 20 
credit extended by retailers 19 
deposits with banks 18 
deposits with building societies

18, 19
deposits with other financial 
institutions 19 
forecasting 9
government foreign currency debt 
government overseas financing 16, 
life assurance and pension funds

21, 22
loans for house purchase 20 
main flows (diagram) 26 
matrix 116
miscellaneous domestic instruments

21, 22
net presentation 10
notes and coin 15
official reserves 17
overseas direct and other investment
in UK 22

public corporations debt 18 
public sector financing 16 
sector financial accounts 15 
sign convention 10 
sources and methods 13 
sterling treasury bills 15 
tax instruments 16 
timeliness 12 
trade credit 11transactions in financial assets 14 
unit trust units 20 
valuation 11
Financial assets and liabilities 
survey 15, 74, 77,

Financial accounts 
public sector 53 
Financial assets 9,114
Financial liabilities 9, 49,114 
Financial surplus or deficit 6, 11,14, 23, 29, 53, 54,

59, 66, 74, 78, 83 
Financial trusts 65 Fixed interest securities 106 
Forecasting 9 
Foreign currency debt 39

78, 80

14, 65,
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65

Foreign currency transit items 
Foreign currency deposits 57,102
Forward deals 107 
Friendly societies 65 
Fund managers 65
Gas levy 47 General government 
capital account 29 
current account 29 
debt 29financial account 29 
Gifts 4, 89Gilt-edged market makers 
Gilts 44, 70 
Gold 91 Gold dealers 65 
Government debt to Overseas 15 
Government financing 17
Government foreign currency debt 15, 16,17
Government indebtedness to banking 
department 15, 16 Government securities 59, 60 
Grants 4, 30, 37, 49, 84, 89, 118 
Gross domestic fixed capital formation

49, 53, 74, 77 
Gross domestic product 
Gross flat yield 109 
Gross national product 
Gross redemption yield 
Gross trading profits 
Gross trading surplus

1, 4, 6, 23, 100
6
109, 110 

4, 73, 74, 75, 
36, 49, 119

79

IMF 39, 93
Import credit 54, 75, 76
Income from abroad 73, 75, 79
Income and expenditure account 5
Income tax 45
Inheritance tax 46
Inland Revenue duties 45, 46
Insolvencies 81, 82
Insurance companies 65, 67, 70, 87
Insurance funds 65
Inter bank difference 18
Inter-bank market 62
Inter-bank transactions 60
Interest and dividends 36, 39, 39, 44,

49, 53, 64, 75, 79, 83, 84, 119 
Interest rate 108, 110, 112 
Investment abroad 22, 78 
Investment trusts 65, 67, 69 
Investment in UK 22 
Invisibles 89 
Isle of Man 87, 89, 102
Land tax 46 
Lending to 
overseas 59, 90 
private sector 38, 59 
Licence fees 47, 53, 76 
Life assurance and pension funds 37 
Life insurance policies 46 
Liquid assets 10, 101 
Lloyds underwriters 70 
Loan capital 104 
Loan stocks 105 
Loans
for house purchase
other 67, 68, 76,

Local authorities 
bills 59,60

20, 66, 85, 86,

bonds 59, 60 
borrowing requirement 50 
capital account 49 
current account 49 
commercial bills 60 
debt 17, 20, 66, 78, 79, 86, 88, 

102, 117 
deposits 59 
financial account 49 
funds 71 
grants 37 interest rates 112 
investments 51, 52 
loans by 20
pension funds 21, 22, 73
securities 71
short term assets 49

Maintaince of value payments 94
Market prices 4
Market loans 61
Maternity pay 36
Mergers 81
MIRAS 45Miscellaneous assets 62 
Miscellaneous current transfers 36 
Miscellaneous domestic instruments

11, 21, 22, 66, 68
Miscellaneous overseas instruments

22
Money rates 111, 112 
Money stock 
breaks 98 
changes 100 
counterparts 96 
definition 95 
MO 95 

98
95, 98 
95
95, 96, 97, 98, 101

quality 97seasonal adjustment 97, 100 
sources 100 
timeliness 97
velocity of circulation 100 

Mortgages 76
Mortgage finance vehicles 65 
Mortgage finance companies 87
National accounts 1, 30, 73, 74
National debt 116, 117
National Debt Commissioners account

44
National Enterprise Board 20, 21, 73 
National expenditure 2, 3, 23 
National income 1, 3, 23 
National insurance 5, 17, 35, 36,

44, 45, 47
Nalional loans fund 35, 38, 39, 43,

44, 45, 48, 59, 60, 61, 116,
117

National product 1, 2, 3 
National Savings Bank 65, 111, 115 
National savings- definitions 41
National savings 16, 32, 38, 40,

42, 43, 85, 86 
Nationalisation 73 
Nationalised industries 55 
Negotiable bonds 51 
Net presentation 10 
Net redemption yield 109 
Net investment abroad 89

41,
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Non-bank credit companies 67 
Non-bank consumer credit companies

86, 87
Non-bank private sector 54, 57, 114 
Non-deposit liabilities 58, 59, 96 Non
domestic rates 36, 37, 44, 49 
Non-trading capital 37, 49 
Non-trading income 75 
Non-trading profit 79
Northern Ireland central government debt

16, 38, 45
Northern Ireland Works Loan Board 50 
Northern Ireland Funds and account 44 
Notes and coin 10, 11, 15,38, 60, 77,

85, 96, 99, 116
Official reserves 17, 59, 89, 90, 91 
Other financial institutions 
accruals adjustment 66 
credit business 67, 68 
definitions 65 
insurance companies 70, 71 
investment trusts 65, 67, 70, 87 
loans by 20
non-bank credit companies 67 
pension funds 71, 72 
property unit trusts 68 
securities 66, 67 
sources 65, 66
timeliness 66, 68, 70, 71, 72 
unit trusts 68, 69 
valuation 69, 70, 72 
Overseas direct investment 77 
Overseas sector 
balance of payments 90 
definition 89 
quality 89 
sign convention 93 
timeliness 92 
Overseas securities 21, 66
Partnerships 58, 83 
PAYE 84
Paymaster General's Account 44 
Pension funds 29, 30, 65, 66, 67, 70,

71, 76, 117
Personal disposable income 84, 85 
Personal sector 
borrowing 85, 86, 87 
current account 73 
definition 93 
grants 37 
insurance funds 83 
loans by companies 78 
pension funds 65, 83 
saving 40, 41, 84, 118 
sources 85 
timeliness 87
Petroleum revenue tax 46, 97
Portfolio investment 21, 89, 90
Preference stocks 110
Premises 60
Private trusts 83
Private sector funds 71
Privitisation 30, 32, 38, 44, 53, 71,

73, 115
Profits due abroad 75, 76, 74, 79 
Property income from abroad 1, 3 
Property unit trusts 65, 68 
Public corporations debt 17, 18, 20 
Public Dividend capital 38, 54 
Public expenditure planning total 30 
Public expenditure-Treasury analysis

117

Public sector 
accounts 32 
borrowing 55
borrowing requirement 6, 9, 10, 29,

31, 101, 118borrowing requirement- financing31, 32, 54
debt 18, 41, 45, 55, 59, 93, 101, 116
deposits 31, 60 
financing 16, 18, 39 
finances 119 
funds 71 
investments 62 
loans by 20 
pensions 22, 29, 37 
Public Works Loan Board 17, 50, 51,

112
Quality of data-general 6, 8 
Quantity theory 95
Rates 30
Redundancy fund 36
Rent 36, 49, 75, 79, 83, 119Reserves 60, 70
Reserve ratios 57
Reserve tranche 93, 94
Residual error 6, 12, 22, 23, 57
Retail deposits 64
Retail shares 64
Retailers 87
Revenue bills 51
Royalties 36, 47, 53, 76, 119
Salaries 84
Saving 4, 5, 9, 74, 83, 85 
Saving ratio 84 
SAVE 62, 84, 119 
Seasonal adjustment

15
56, 57, 64, 75, 
78, 97, 100

Sector accounts 
Securities 60 
Security dealers 58, 65 
Share capital 104 
Shares 104, 105 
Shipbuilders' relief 47 
Shipbuilding credits 38, 59 
Short-term paper 61 
Sign convention 10, 93 
Social security benefits 37 
Social security contributions 36,

44, 84, 119
Sole traders 83 
Sources 
banks 13
building societies 
central government 
companies 14
financial accounts 12, 13 
local authorities 13 
personal sector 14 
public corporations 13 
overseas sector 14 
Sources of funds 10 
Special finance dealers 65 
Special deposits 59, 60 
Special Drawing Rights 17, 39, 59,

89, 90, 91, 108
Spot deals 107 
Stamp duties 46 
Standing orders 57 
Sterling deposits 58, 59 
Sterling lending 58
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sterling securities 20 
Sterling transit items 57 
Sterling securities 20 
Stock appreciation 3/ 4, 74, 75 
Stock exchange 20 
Stock Exchange moneybrokers 65 
Stock Exchange transactions 105,106 
Stocks 37, 39, 53, 59, 61, 62, 77,

85
Subsidies 37, 49, 53 
Supply expenditure 48 
Suspence items 62, 64

78,

78,

79

Tax deposit accounts 43 
Tax instruments 16, 35, 38, 43,

79,86
Tax reserve certificates 43 
Tax reserves 66 
Taxes on capital 37, 53 
Taxes on expenditure 29, 35, 36 
Taxes on income 36, 53, 75, 76,
Tessas 96
Timing differences 22
Timing of transactions 11
Trade credit 11, 19, 54, 55, 78, 83, 115
Trade debtors 54, 55
Trade unions 58, 83
Trading profit 4
Trading surplus 53

Transfer payments 75, 77, 89 
Transfers 1, 4, 49, 59, 76, 83, 119 
Transit items 64
Treasury bills 15, 35, 38, 39, 40

40, 59, 60, 62, 66, 78, 79, 102 
Trustee Savings Bank 35, 40, 60, 65,

66, 86, 87, 92, 116
Undistributed income 53, 76, 77, 
Unincorporated businesses 58, 83 
Unit trusts 65, 67, 68 
Unit trust units 20, 22, 66 
Universities 58 
Unremitted profits 75, 76, 77

79

Valuation 11
Valuation adjustments 58
Value added 1
VAT 30, 46, 49
Velocity of circulation 100
Venture companies 65
Visible trade 89
Wages 84
Ways and means advances 
Work in progress 53 
Write offs 54, 58

59
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Central Statistical Office
AN EXECUTIVE AGENCY OF G O VER NM ENT

Do you need detailed Product Information?
Do you know about

BUSINESS MONITORS?
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Business Monitors are designed for businesses and 
others undertaking market research of all kinds. 
They provide statistics on manufacturing, energy, 
mining, service and distributive industries. The CSO 
regularly questions thousands of UK businesses on 
their output and performance. Some 800,000 inquiry 
forms are sent out each year, and the statistics are 
collated and presented by expert government 
statisticians using accepted statistical techniques.

There are over 300 titles in the series variously 
published at monthly, quarterly or yearly intervals. 
Business Monitors are the primary and often the only 
source of the information they contain.

Business Monitors can help you to:

Monitor business trends

Identify successful products 

Assess your efficiency

Identify new markets

Pinpoint seasonal factors in your business 

Market your products

Compare the price of your products with those 
of your industry or sector

•  I

H O W  TO  ORDER BUSINESS M O NITO RS

If
Ring the CSO Library on:

0633 812973 and ask for our information brochure,“HMSO  
Publishes for the CSO*\ This includes a complete list of Business

Monitors and an order form.



HMSO publications are available from:

HMSO Publications Centre 
(Mail, fax and telephone orders only)
PO Box 276, London, SW8 5DT 
Telephone orders 071 -873 9090 
General enquiries 071 -873 0011 
(queuing system in operation for both numbers) 
Fax orders 071-873 8200

HMSO Bookshops
49 High Holborn, London. WC1V6HB 
(counter sen/ice only)
071 -873 0011 Fax 071 -873 8200
258 Broad Street. Birmingham. B1 2HE
021-643 3740 Fax 021-643 6510
Southey House, 33 Wine Street. Bristol. BS1 2BQ
0272 264306 Fax 0272 294515
9-21 Princess Street. Manchester, M60 8AS
061-834 7201 Fax 061 -833 0634
16 Arthur Street. Belfast, BT1 4GD
0232 238451 Fax 0232 235401
71 Lothian Road. Edinburgh, EH3 9AZ
031-2284181 Fax 031-229 2734

HMSO’s Accredited Agents 
(see Yellow Pages)

and through good booksellers

'• I ‘
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